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INTRODUCTORY NOTE

Domestication and Merger Transaction

As previously announced, Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp. (“CHFW” and, after the Domestication as described below, “New Surrozen”), a
Cayman Islands exempted company, entered into that certain Business Combination Agreement (the “Business Combination Agreement”), dated
April 15, 2021, by and among CHFW, Perseverance Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Merger Sub”), and Surrozen, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, which was subsequently renamed Surrozen Operating, Inc. (“Surrozen Operating” also referred to as “Legacy Surrozen”). On August 11,
2021 (the “Closing Date”), as contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement and described in the section titled “Domestication Proposal”
beginning on page 178 of the final prospectus and definitive proxy statement, dated July 15, 2021 (the “Proxy Statement/Prospectus”) and filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), CHFW filed a notice of deregistration with the Cayman Islands Registrar of Companies, together
with the necessary accompanying documents, and filed a certificate of incorporation and a certificate of corporate domestication with the Secretary of
State of the State of Delaware, under which CHFW was domesticated and continued as a Delaware corporation, changing its name to “Surrozen, Inc.”
(the “Domestication”).

As a result of and upon the effective time of the Domestication, among other things, (1) each of the then issued and outstanding shares of Class A
ordinary shares, par value $0.0001 per share, of CHFW (the “CHFW Class A ordinary shares”), and Class B ordinary shares, par value $0.0001 per
share, of CHFW, automatically converted, on a one-for-one basis, into a share of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of New Surrozen (the
“New Surrozen Common Stock”); (2) each then issued and outstanding warrant of CHFW issued in the CHFW IPO (the “IPO warrants”) automatically
converted into a warrant to acquire one share of New Surrozen Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share on the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in the IPO Warrant Agreement (the “New Surrozen IPO Warrants”); and (3) the governing documents of New Surrozen were
replaced by the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws (each as defined below).

On the Closing Date, as contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement and described in the section titled “Business Combination
Proposal” beginning on page 141 of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus, New Surrozen consummated the merger transaction contemplated by the Business
Combination Agreement, whereby Merger Sub merged with and into Surrozen Operating, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub ceased and
Surrozen became the surviving corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of New Surrozen (the “Merger” and, together with the Domestication, the
“Business Combination”).

As a result of and upon the closing of the Business Combination (the “Closing”), among other things, (i) each share of preferred stock, par value
$0.0001 per share of Surrozen Operating and each share of common stock, par value $0.0001 of Surrozen Operating (“Surrozen Common Stock”), and
preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of Surrozen Operating (“Surrozen Preferred Stock,” and together with Surrozen Common Stock, “Surrozen
Stock”) (other than dissenting shares) was canceled and converted into the right to receive a number of shares of New Surrozen common stock equal to
the number of shares of common stock of Surrozen Operating (including preferred stock on an as converted to common basis) multiplied by the
Exchange Ratio, with any fractional share amounts to be paid out in cash based on the CHFW Share Value of $10.00 per share. The Exchange Ratio is
0.175648535, which is the result of the (i) Equity Value Per Share (defined as $200,000,000 divided by the fully diluted capitalization of Surrozen
Operating immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger or $1.756485 per share), divided by (ii) the $10.00 per share CHFW Share Value. Each
outstanding equity award to purchase Surrozen Common Stock (whether vested or unvested) was assumed by New Surrozen and converted into
comparable equity awards that are exercisable for shares of New Surrozen Common Stock, as applicable, with the number of shares of New Surrozen
common stock subject to each equity award equal to the product of the number of shares subject to the equity award immediately prior to the Merger
multiplied by the Exchange Ratio, rounded down to the nearest whole number (and, with regard to options that are intended to qualify as “incentive
stock options” under Section 422 of the Code, in a manner compliant with Section 424(a) of the Code) with corresponding adjustments to the option
exercise prices, rounded up to the nearest whole cent.

Holders of 6,754,242 CHFW Class A ordinary shares exercised their right to redeem their shares for cash in connection with the Business
Combination, at a redemption price of approximately $10.00 per share, for an aggregate redemption amount of $67.5 million.



The foregoing description of the Business Combination does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the
Business Combination Agreement, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.1, and is incorporated herein by reference.

PIPE Financing

As previously announced, on April 15, 2021, concurrently with the execution of the Business Combination Agreement, CHFW entered into
subscription agreements (the “Subscription Agreements”) with certain investors (collectively, the “PIPE Investors”) pursuant to, and on the terms and
subject to the conditions of which, the PIPE Investors collectively subscribed for 12,020,000 units with each unit consisting of one share of New
Surrozen Common Stock at $10.00 per share and one-third of one redeemable warrant representing the right to purchase one share of New Surrozen’s
common stock at $11.50 per share (the “New Surrozen PIPE Warrants”) for aggregate gross proceeds of $120,200,000 (the “PIPE Financing”). The
PIPE Financing was consummated substantially concurrently with the Closing. Immediately after giving effect to the Business Combination and the
PIPE Financing, there were 35,027,475 shares of New Surrozen Common Stock, 3,211,327 New Surrozen IPO Warrants and 4,006,661 New Surrozen
PIPE Warrants outstanding. New Surrozen Common Stock and New Surrozen IPO Warrants trade on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) under
the symbols “SRZN” and “SRZNW,” respectively.

Defined Terms

Terms used but not defined herein, or for which definitions are not otherwise incorporated by reference herein, shall have the meaning given to
such terms in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus and such definitions are incorporated herein by reference.

As used hereafter in this Current Report on Form 8-K, unless otherwise stated or the context indicates otherwise, the terms the “Company,”
“Registrant,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to New Surrozen, or Surrozen, Inc. (formerly known as Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp.), after giving
effect to the Business Combination.

 
Item 1.01. Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

Indemnification Agreements

New Surrozen entered, and expects to continue to enter into, indemnification agreements with its directors, executive officers, and other
employees as determined by its board of directors (the “Board”). Each indemnification agreement provides for indemnification and advancements by
New Surrozen of certain expenses and costs, if the basis of the indemnitee’s involvement was by reason of the fact that the indemnitee is or was a
director, officer, employee, or agent of New Surrozen or any of its subsidiaries or was serving at New Surrozen’s request in an official capacity for
another entity, to the fullest extent permitted by the laws of the state of Delaware.

The foregoing description of the indemnification agreements does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the
indemnification agreements, the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.8 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Investors’ Rights Agreement

On the Closing Date, in connection with the consummation of the Business Combination and as contemplated by the Business Combination
Agreement, New Surrozen entered into the Investors’ Rights Agreement (the “Investors’ Rights Agreement”) with the Sponsor and certain other initial
stockholders (collectively, with each other person who has executed and delivered a joinder thereto, the “IRA Parties”), pursuant to which the IRA
Parties are entitled to registration rights in respect of certain shares of New Surrozen Common Stock and certain other equity securities of New Surrozen
that are held by the IRA Parties from time to time. The material terms of the Investors’ Rights Agreement are described in the section of the Proxy
Statement/Prospectus beginning on page 158 titled “Business Combination Proposal—Related Agreements— Investor Rights Agreement.” Such
description is qualified in its entirety by the text of the Investors’ Rights Agreement, which is included as Exhibit 10.5 to this Current Report on
Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.



Item 2.01. Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

The disclosure set forth in the “Introductory Note” above is incorporated into this Item 2.01 by reference. On August 10, 2021, the Business
Combination was approved by the shareholders of CHFW at the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders (the “Shareholder Meeting”). The
Business Combination was completed on August 11, 2021.

FORM 10 INFORMATION

Item 2.01(f) of Current Report on Form 8-K states that if the registrant was formerly a shell company, as CHFW was immediately before the
Business Combination, then following the closing of the transaction in which the registrant ceases to be a shell company, the registrant must disclose the
information that would be required if the registrant were filing a general form for registration of securities on Form 10. Accordingly, New Surrozen is
providing the information below that would be included in a Registration Statement on Form 10 if it were to file such a Form 10. Please note that the
information provided below relates to the combined company after the consummation of the Business Combination unless otherwise specifically
indicated or the context otherwise requires.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Current Report on Form 8-K, or some of the information incorporated herein by reference, may be considered forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or New Surrozen’s future financial or operating performance, business
strategy, and objectives of management for future operations. For example, statements about the benefits of the Business Combination, the competitive
environment, and the expected future performance (including future revenue) and market opportunities of New Surrozen are forward-looking
statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “should,” “expect,” “intend,” “will,” “estimate,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “predict,” “potential,” or “continue,” or the negatives of these terms or variations of them or similar terminology. Such forward-
looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors which could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or
implied by such forward looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based upon estimates and assumptions that, while considered
reasonable by New Surrozen and its management, as the case may be, are inherently uncertain. Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially
from current expectations include, but are not limited to: (1) the outcome of any legal proceedings that may be instituted against New Surrozen; (2) the
ability to recognize the anticipated benefits of the Business Combination; (3) costs related to the Business Combination; (4) changes in applicable laws
or regulations; (5) the possibility that New Surrozen may be adversely affected by other economic, business, and/or competitive factors; (6) the limited
operating history of New Surrozen; (7) New Surrozen’s product candidates may fail in pre-clinical or clinical development or suffer delays that
materially and adversely affect their commercial viability; (8) the possibility that COVID-19 may adversely affect the results of operations, financial
position, and cash flows of New Surrozen; (9) New Surrozen’s financial and business performance following the Business Combination, including
financial projections and business metrics; and (10) other risks and uncertainties set forth in the section entitled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 55 of
the Proxy Statement/Prospectus and incorporated herein by reference.

Nothing in this Current Report on Form 8-K should be regarded as a representation by any person that the forward-looking statements set forth
herein will be achieved or that any of the contemplated results of such forward-looking statements will be achieved. You should not place undue reliance
on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date they are made. New Surrozen does not undertake any obligation to update or revise any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities
laws.

In addition, statements that “New Surrozen believes” or “Surrozen Operating believes” and similar statements reflect New Surrozen’s or Surrozen
Operating’s beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based upon information available to New Surrozen or Surrozen Operating,
as the case may be, as of the date of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus, and while New Surrozen or Surrozen Operating, as the case may be, believes such
information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and such



statements should not be read to indicate that such party has conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant
information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.

Business and Properties

The business and properties of New Surrozen are described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the section entitled “Information about
Surrozen” beginning on pages 255 and 301, respectively, which are incorporated herein by reference.

Risk Factors

The risk factors related to the business and operations of New Surrozen and the Business Combination are set forth in the Proxy
Statement/Prospectus in the section entitled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 55, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Selected Historical Financial Information

The selected historical financial information and other data for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020 for Legacy Surrozen are included in
the Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the section titled “Selected Historical Financial Information of Surrozen” beginning on page 49 of the Proxy
Statement/Prospectus and are incorporated herein by reference. The unaudited condensed interim financial statements as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 for
Legacy Surrozen set forth in Exhibit 99.1 hereto have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and
pursuant to the regulations of the SEC.

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2020 is set forth in Exhibit 99.2 hereto.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Legacy Surrozen for the fiscal year is set forth in the
Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the section titled “Surrozen’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
beginning on page 301 of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus and are incorporated herein by reference as they relate to Results of Operations for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The following discussion and analysis provides additional information that Surrozen management
believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of Legacy Surrozen’s results of operations and financial condition. Legacy Surrozen’s
condensed interim financial statements and related notes included in Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and Legacy Surrozen’s financial
statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2020 included in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus.

This discussion and analysis should also be read together with “Information About Surrozen” and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial information as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 included elsewhere (or incorporated by reference) in this Current Report and
Legacy Surrozen’s financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2020 included in the proxy statement/prospectus, which are
incorporated herein by reference. In addition to historical financial analysis, this discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements based
upon current expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions, as described under the heading “Forward-Looking Statements.” Actual
results and timing of selected events may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors,
including those set forth under “Risk Factors” included elsewhere (or incorporated by reference) in this Current Report on Form 8-K. Unless the
context otherwise requires, references in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” to “we,”
“us,” “our,” and “the Company” are intended to mean the business and operations of Legacy Surrozen.



Overview

We are discovering and developing biologic drug candidates to selectively modulate the Wnt pathway, a critical mediator of tissue repair, in a
broad range of organs and tissues. Building upon the seminal work of our founders and scientific advisors who discovered the Wnt gene and key
regulators of the Wnt pathway, we have made breakthrough discoveries that we believe will overcome previous limitations in harnessing the potential of
Wnt biology. These breakthroughs enable us to rapidly and flexibly design tissue-targeted therapeutics that modulate Wnt signaling. As a result of our
discoveries, we are pioneering the selective activation of Wnt signaling, designing and engineering Wnt pathway mimetics, and advancing tissue-
specific Wnt candidates. Our lead product candidates are multi-specific, antibody-based therapeutics that mimic the roles of naturally occurring Wnt or
R-spondin proteins, both of which are involved in activation of the Wnt pathway. Given Wnt signaling is essential in tissue maintenance and
regeneration throughout the body, we have the potential to target a wide variety of severe diseases, including certain diseases that afflict the intestine,
liver, retina, cornea, lung, kidney, cochlea, skin, pancreas and central nervous system. Our strategy is to exploit the full potential of Wnt signaling by
identifying disease states responsive to Wnt modulation, design tissue-specific therapeutics, and advance candidates into clinical development in
targeted indications with high unmet need. Our unique approach and platform technologies have led to the discovery and advancement of two lead
product candidates. We are currently conducting preclinical studies and plan to initiate a Phase 1 clinical trial in 2022 for SZN-1326, our candidate in
development for moderate to severe inflammatory bowel disease, or IBD, with ulcerative colitis, or UC, as our first proposed indication. Furthermore,
we plan to initiate a Phase 1 clinical trial in 2022 for SZN-043, our candidate in development for severe alcoholic hepatitis, or AH. We expect to
nominate additional lead candidates and advance them into the clinic in 2023 and beyond.

Since our inception in 2015, we have devoted substantially all of our efforts and financial resources to organizing and staffing our company,
business planning, raising capital, developing and optimizing our Wnt therapeutics platform, identifying potential product candidates, undertaking
research and development activities, engaging in strategic transactions, establishing and enhancing our intellectual property portfolio, and providing
general and administrative support for these operations.

We have no products approved for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue to date, and we continue to incur significant research and
development and other expenses related to our ongoing operations. Our ability to generate product revenue sufficient to achieve profitability, if ever, will
depend on the successful development of any future product candidates, which we expect will take a number of years.

The Business Combination

On August 11, 2021, the Business Combination, as described in the Introductory Note to this Current Report on Form 8-K, was consummated and
it is expected to be accounted for as a reverse recapitalization. Legacy Surrozen will be considered the accounting predecessor and the combined entity
will be the successor SEC registrant, meaning that Legacy Surrozen’s financial statements for previous periods will be disclosed in the registrant’s future
periodic reports filed with the SEC. Under this method of accounting, CHFW will be treated as the acquired company for financial statement reporting
purposes. The most significant change in the successor’s future reported financial position and results are expected to be an estimated net increase in
cash and cash equivalents (as compared to Legacy Surrozen’s balance sheet at June 30, 2021) of approximately $123.1 million, including $120.2 million
in gross proceeds from the private investment in public equity of New Surrozen, or PIPE Financing, after deducting estimated transaction costs at
approximately $22.0 million. See “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information” included in Exhibit 99.2 to this Current Report
on Form 8-K.

Following the Business Combination, New Surrozen is an SEC-registered and Nasdaq-listed company, which will require New Surrozen to hire
additional personnel and implement procedures and processes to address public company regulatory requirements and customary practices. Surrozen
expects to incur additional annual expenses as a public company for, among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees, and
additional internal and external accounting, legal, and administrative resources, including increased personnel costs, audit and other professional service
fees.



Key Trends, Opportunities and Uncertainties Affecting Results of Operations

From our inception through June 30, 2021, we financed our operations primarily with $133.1 million in net cash proceeds from private placements
of our redeemable convertible preferred stock. We have incurred net losses in each year since inception. During the three and six months ended June 30,
2021, we incurred net losses of $12.7 million and $25.7 million, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, we used
$23.2 million and $12.2 million of cash in operations, respectively. As of June 30, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $113.7 million, and we do not
expect positive cash flows from operations for the foreseeable future.

As of June 30, 2021, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $25.4 million. We estimate, based on our current operating plan,
that our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, together with the net proceeds from the Business Combination and the PIPE
Financing described above, will be sufficient to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months from
the date of this Current Report on Form 8-K. We have based this projection on assumptions that may be inaccurate and as a result, we may utilize our
capital resources sooner than we expect.

We expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future and expect to incur increased expenses as we expand our pipeline and advance our
product candidates through clinical development and regulatory submissions. Specifically, in the near term we expect to incur substantial expenses
relating to our planned Phase 1 clinical trials, the development and validation of our manufacturing processes, and other research and development
activities.

We will need substantial additional funding to support our continuing operations and pursue our development strategy. Until such time as we can
generate sufficient revenue from sales of our product candidates, if ever, we expect to finance our operations through public or private equity offerings,
debt financings or other capital sources, including government grants, potential collaborations with other companies or other strategic transactions. We
may be unable to raise additional funds or to enter into such agreements or arrangements on favorable terms, or at all. Our ability to raise additional
funds may be adversely impacted by potential worsening global economic conditions and the disruptions to, and volatility in, the credit and financial
markets in the United States, or U.S. and worldwide resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken to slow its spread, including severely
diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates, and
uncertainty about economic stability. If the equity and credit markets deteriorate, it may make any necessary debt or equity financing more difficult,
more costly and more dilutive. If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may have to
significantly delay, scale back, or discontinue the development of our product pipeline or other research and development initiatives. We also could be
required to seek collaborators for our product pipeline and any future product candidates at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable or on
terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available or relinquish or license on unfavorable terms our rights to our product pipeline and any
future product candidates in markets where we otherwise would seek to pursue development or commercialization ourselves.

The amount and timing of our future funding requirements will depend on many factors including the pace and results of our development efforts.
We cannot assure that we will ever be profitable or generate positive cash flow from operating activities.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for preclinical studies and clinical trials, as
well as for commercial manufacture if any of our product candidates obtains marketing approval. We also rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third
parties to manufacture, package, label, store, and distribute our product candidates and, if marketing approval is obtained, our products. We believe that
this strategy allows us to maintain a more efficient infrastructure by eliminating the need for us to invest in our own manufacturing facilities, equipment,
and personnel while also enabling us to focus our expertise and resources on the development of our products.

The global COVID-19 pandemic continues to rapidly evolve, and we will continue to monitor the COVID-19 situation closely. The extent of the
impact of the COVID-19 on our business, operations and clinical development timelines and plans remains uncertain, and will depend on certain
developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak and its impact on our preclinical development activities, planning for regulatory
submissions and clinical trials, clinical research organizations, or CROs, third-party manufacturers, other third parties with whom we do business, and, if
we obtain regulatory approval to commence dosing in humans, trial enrollment, trial sites.



In addition, the pandemic has impacted and may continue to impact regulatory authorities and our key scientific and management personnel. The
ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or a similar health epidemic is highly uncertain and subject to change. To the extent possible, we are
conducting business as usual, with necessary or advisable modifications to employee travel and most of our employees working remotely. We will
continue to actively monitor the rapidly evolving situation related to COVID-19 and may take further actions that alter our operations, including those
that may be required by federal, state or local authorities, or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees and other third parties with
whom we do business. At this point, the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may affect our business, operations and clinical development
timelines and plans, including the resulting impact on our expenditures and capital needs, remains uncertain.

Stanford License Agreements

Below is a summary of the key terms for our agreements with The Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University, or Stanford. For a
more detailed description, see Note 6 to our unaudited condensed interim financial statements included in Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on
Form 8-K.

In March 2016, we entered into a license agreement with Stanford, or the 2016 Stanford Agreement, which was amended in July 2016, October
2016 and January 2021, pursuant to which we obtained from Stanford, a worldwide, exclusive, sublicensable license under certain patents, rights, or
licensed patents and technology related to our engineered Wnt surrogate molecules to make, use, import, offer to sell and sell products that are claimed
by the licensed patents or that use or incorporate such technology, or licensed products, for the treatment, diagnosis and prevention of human and
veterinary diseases. The 2016 Stanford Agreement covers two patent families and any patents that grant from these families are predicted to expire in
2035 and 2037, absent any patent term adjustments or extensions. In consideration for this license, we paid Stanford a nominal upfront fee and issued an
aggregate of 241,688 shares of our common stock to Stanford, the University of Washington and two co-inventors of the licensed patents. In addition,
we agreed to pay Stanford nominal annual license maintenance fees which are creditable against earned royalties owed to Stanford for the same year, an
aggregate of up to $0.9 million for the achievement of specified development and regulatory milestones, and an aggregate of up to $5.0 million for
achievement of specified sales milestones. Stanford is also entitled to receive royalties from us equal to a very low single digit percentage of our and our
sublicensees’ net sales of licensed products that are covered by a valid claim of a licensed patent. Additionally, we agreed to pay Stanford a sub-teen
double digit percentage of certain consideration we receive as a result of granting sublicenses to the licensed patents and, if we are acquired, a one-time
change of control fee in the low six figures. Stanford retains the right under the 2016 Stanford Agreement, on behalf of itself, Stanford Hospital and
Clinics, the University of Washington and all other non-profit research institutions, to practice the licensed patents and technology for any non-profit
purpose. The licensed patents and technology are additionally subject to a non-exclusive, irrevocable, worldwide license held by the Howard Hughes
Medical Institute to practice the licensed patents and technology for its research purposes, but with no right to assign or sublicense.

In June 2018, we entered into another license agreement with Stanford, or the 2018 Stanford Agreement, pursuant to which we obtained from
Stanford, a worldwide, exclusive, sublicensable license under certain patent rights related to our surrogate R-spondin proteins, or the licensed patents, to
make, use, import, offer to sell and sell products that are claimed by the licensed patents, or licensed products, for the treatment, diagnosis and
prevention of human and veterinary diseases, or the exclusive field. The 2018 Stanford Agreement covers one patent family, and any patents that grant
from this family are predicted to expire in 2038, absent any patent term adjustment or extension. Additionally, Stanford granted us a worldwide,
non-exclusive, sublicensable license under the licensed patents to make and use licensed products for research and development purposes in furtherance
of the exclusive field and a worldwide, non-exclusive license to make, use and import, but not to offer to sell or sell, licensed products in any other field
of use. In consideration for these licenses, we paid Stanford a nominal upfront fee. We also agreed to pay Stanford nominal annual license maintenance
fees which are creditable against earned royalties owed to Stanford for the same year, and an aggregate of up to $0.425 million for the achievement of
specified development and regulatory milestones. Stanford is also entitled to receive royalties from us equal to a sub-single digit percentage of our and
our sublicensees’ net sales of licensed products. Additionally, we agreed to pay Stanford a one-time payment in the low six figures for each sublicense
of the licensed patents that we grant to a third party and, if we are acquired,



a one-time nominal change of control fee. Stanford retains the right under the 2018 Stanford Agreement, on behalf of itself, Stanford Health Care,
Lucile Packard Children’s Hospital at Stanford and all other non-profit research institutions, to practice the licensed patents for any non-profit purpose.
The licensed patents are additionally subject to a non-exclusive, irrevocable, worldwide license held by the Howard Hughes Medical Institute to exercise
any intellectual property rights with respect to the licensed patents for research purposes, including the right to sublicense to non-profit and
governmental entities but with no other rights to assign or sublicense.

Under each of the 2016 Stanford Agreement and the 2018 Stanford Agreement, or Stanford Agreements, we agreed to use commercially
reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize licensed products and we agreed to achieve certain funding and development milestones by certain
dates. Unless earlier terminated, each Stanford Agreement will continue until the expiration of the patents licensed under such Stanford Agreement. We
may terminate either Stanford Agreement at any time for any reason by providing at least 30 days’ written notice to Stanford. Stanford may terminate
either Stanford Agreement if we breach certain provisions of that Stanford Agreement and fail to remedy such breach within 90 days after written notice
of the breach given by Stanford.

UCSF License and Option Agreements

Below is a summary of the key terms for our agreements with The Regents of the University of California, or UCSF. For a more detailed
description, see Note 6 to our unaudited condensed interim financial statements included in Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K.

In September and October 2016, we entered into two license and option agreements with UCSF pursuant to which we obtained non-exclusive
licenses from UCSF for internal research and antibody discovery purposes and an option to negotiate with UCSF to obtain a non-exclusive license under
UCSF’s rights in the applicable library to make, use, sell, offer for sale and import products incorporating antibodies identified or resulting from our use
of such library, or licensed products. Our SZN-1326 candidate comprises a VHH domain isolated from the phage display llama VHH single domain
antibody library. In consideration for the license and option rights under each UCSF Agreement, we paid UCSF a nominal option issue fee and agreed to
pay UCSF a nominal annual option maintenance fee.

In January 2020, we amended and restated our license and option agreements with UCSF, to provide non-exclusive licenses to make and use a
certain human Fab naïve phage display library and to make and use a certain phage display llama VHH single domain antibody library for internal
research and antibody discovery purposes and an option to negotiate with UCSF to obtain a non-exclusive license under UCSF’s rights in the applicable
library to make, use, sell, offer for sale and import products incorporating antibodies identified or resulting from our use of such library, or licensed
products. If we exercise the option under the UCSF Agreement, we and UCSF will negotiate in good faith the terms of a commercial license agreement
in addition to the pre-agreed terms which include payment to UCSF of a nominal license issue fee, nominal annual license maintenance fees, nominal to
low six figure milestone payments for the achievement of a specified regulatory milestone event for each licensed product, nominal annual minimum
royalties, which are creditable against earned royalties for the same year, and earned royalties equal to a sub-single digit percentage of our and our
sublicensees’ net sales of licensed products.

Unless earlier terminated, each UCSF Agreement will continue until four years from its execution date and we may exercise the option to
negotiate a commercial license at any time during that term. Additionally, we may extend each UCSF Agreement for any additional four years by paying
UCSF a nominal term extension fee. We may terminate either UCSF Agreement at any time for any reason by providing at least 60 days’ written notice
to UCSF. UCSF may terminate either UCSF Agreement if UCSF reasonably believes we are in material breach of such UCSF Agreement and we fail to
remedy such breach within 60 days after written notice of such breach given by UCSF. Additionally, the UCSF Agreements will automatically terminate
in the event of our bankruptcy.

Distributed Bio Subscription Agreement

Below is a summary of the key terms for our agreement with Distributed Bio. For a more detailed description, see Note 6 to our unaudited
condensed interim financial statements included in Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K.



In September 2016, we entered into, and in January 2019 we amended, an antibody library subscription agreement with Distributed Bio, or the
Distributed Bio Agreement, in which we obtained from Distributed Bio a non-exclusive license to use Distributed Bio’s antibody library to identify
antibodies directed to an unlimited number of our proprietary targets and to make, use, sell, offer for sale, import and exploit products incorporating the
antibodies that we identify, or licensed products. Our SZN-1326 candidate incorporates a binding component isolated from the Distributed Bio antibody
library. In consideration for the rights granted to us under the Distributed Bio Agreement, we paid Distributed Bio a nominal upfront fee and an
additional nominal fee upon entering into the amendment. We agreed to pay Distributed Bio an annual fee in the low six figures after the first three
years. Additionally, we agreed to pay Distributed Bio an aggregate of $5.9 million for each licensed product that achieves specified development,
regulatory and commercial milestones and royalties equal to a very low single digit percentage of our and our sublicensees’ net sales of licensed
products. Our obligation to pay royalties will end for each licensed product ten years after its first commercial sale.

Unless earlier terminated, the Distributed Bio Agreement will continue for an initial four-year term and will thereafter automatically renew for
additional one-year terms. We may terminate the Distributed Bio Agreement for convenience at any time by providing written notice to Distributed Bio.
We and Distributed Bio may terminate the Distributed Bio Agreement for the other party’s material breach and failure to cure such breach within 60
days after notice of such breach.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

We have not generated any revenue from the sale of our products, and we do not expect to generate any revenue unless and until we obtain
regulatory clearance or approval of, and commercialize, our product candidates.

Operating Expenses

We classify operating expenses into two main categories: (i) research and development expenses and (ii) general and administrative expenses.

Research and Development Expenses

Since our inception, we have focused significant resources on our research and development activities. Our research and development expenses
consist of external and internal expenses incurred in connection with our research activities and development programs.

External expenses include:
 

 •  costs incurred under agreements with third parties, including CROs and other third parties conducting research and development
activities on our behalf;

 

 •  costs of outside consultants, including their fees, stock-based compensation and related travel expenses;
 

 •  costs of laboratory supplies and acquiring, developing and manufacturing drug candidate materials; and
 

 •  license payments under our license agreements made for intellectual property used in research and development activities.

Internal expenses include:
 

 •  personnel-related costs, including salaries, bonuses, benefits and stock-based compensation for individuals involved in our research
and product development activities; and

 

 •  facilities, depreciation, and other allocated costs, which include rent and insurance.



We expect our research and development expenses will increase significantly for the foreseeable future as we identify and develop product
candidates, in particular as we seek to initiate clinical trials and pursue regulatory approval and commercialization for SZN-1326 and SZN-043.

Research and development expenses are recognized as they are incurred. Non-refundable advance payments for services that will be used or
rendered for future research and development activities are recorded as prepaid expenses and recognized as an expense as the related services are
performed. We track external expenses by stage of program, clinical or preclinical. However, we do not track internal expenses on a program specific or
stage of program basis because these costs are deployed across multiple programs and, as such, are not separately classified.

We have entered, and may continue to enter, into license agreements to access and utilize certain molecules. We evaluate if the license agreement
is an acquisition of an asset or a business. To date, none of our license agreements have been considered to be an acquisition of a business. For asset
acquisitions, the upfront payments to acquire such licenses, as well as any future milestone payments made before product approval, are immediately
recognized as research and development expenses when due, provided there is no alternative future use of the rights in other research and development
projects.

The successful development of our product candidates is highly uncertain. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate the nature, timing or costs
required to complete the remaining development of SZN-1326 and SZN-043 or any future product candidates. This is due to the numerous risks and
uncertainties associated with the development of product candidates, many of which are outside of our control, including those associated with:
 

 •  the timing and progress of preclinical and clinical development activities;
 

 •  the number and scope of preclinical and clinical programs we decide to pursue;
 

 •  our ability to maintain our current research and development programs and to establish new ones;
 

 •  establishing an appropriate safety profile with IND-enabling studies;
 

 •  the number of sites and patients included in the clinical trials;
 

 •  the countries in which the clinical trials are conducted;
 

 •  per patient trial costs;
 

 •  successful patient enrollment in, and the initiation of, clinical trials, as well as drop out or discontinuation rates, particularly in light
of the current COVID-19 pandemic environment;

 

 •  the successful completion of clinical trials with safety, tolerability and efficacy profiles that are satisfactory to the FDA or any
comparable foreign regulatory authority;

 

 •  the number of trials required for regulatory approval;
 

 •  the timing, receipt and terms of any regulatory approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;
 

 •  our ability to establish new licensing or collaboration arrangements;
 

 •  the performance of our future collaborators, if any;
 

 •  establishing commercial manufacturing capabilities or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers;
 

 •  significant and changing government regulation and regulatory guidance;
 

 •  the impact of any business interruptions to our operations or to those of the third parties with whom we work, particularly in light of
the current COVID-19 pandemic environment;

 

 •  launching commercial sales of our drug candidates, if approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others; and
 

 •  maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of the drug candidates following approval.



Any changes in the outcome of any of these variables could mean a significant change in the costs and timing associated with the development of
our drug candidates.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs, including salaries, bonuses, benefits and stock-based
compensation expense for personnel in executive, finance, human resources, business and corporate development, legal, and other administrative
functions. General and administrative expenses also include legal fees, professional fees paid for accounting, auditing, consulting, tax, investor relations
services, insurance costs, and facility costs not otherwise included in research and development expenses, and following the Business Combination, will
include public company expenses such as costs associated with compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and those of the Nasdaq listing
rules.

We expect that our general and administrative expenses will increase significantly for the foreseeable future as we expand our operating activities
and prepare for clinical trials of our product candidates, increase our headcount and support our operations as a public company and our growth,
including increased expenses related to legal, accounting, insurance, regulatory and tax-related services associated with maintaining compliance with
exchange listing and SEC requirements, directors and officers liability insurance premiums and investor relations activities.

Other Income

Other income consists primarily of interest earned on our cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the periods presented (in thousands):
 
   Three Months Ended June 30,   $   Six Months Ended June 30,   $  
   2021   2020   Change   2021   2020   Change  
Operating expenses:        

Research and development   $ 10,265  $ 5,424  $ 4,841  $ 18,866  $ 10,076  $ 8,790 
General and administrative    2,395   1,545   850   6,825   3,254   3,571 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    12,660   6,969   5,691   25,691   13,330   12,361 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (12,660)   (6,969)   (5,691)   (25,691)   (13,330)   (12,361) 
Other income    7   2   5   16   76   (60) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (12,653)  $ (6,967)  $(5,686)  $ (25,675)  $ (13,254)  $(12,421) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Research and Development Expenses

The following table summarizes our research and development expenses for the periods presented (in thousands):
 
   Three Months Ended June 30,    $    Six Months Ended June 30,    $  
   2021    2020    Change    2021    2020    Change  
External expenses (1)   $ 6,052   $ 2,210   $3,842   $ 10,366   $ 3,606   $6,760 

Internal costs:             
Personnel expenses (including stock-based compensation)    2,902    2,077    825    5,873    4,133    1,740 
Facilities and other expenses    1,311    1,137    174    2,627    2,337    290 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total research and development expenses   $ 10,265   $ 5,424   $4,841   $ 18,866   $ 10,076   $8,790 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) In future periods when clinical trial expenses are incurred, external expenses will be broken out between our clinical programs and preclinical

programs.



The increase of $4.8 million in research and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2021, compared to the three months ended
June 30, 2020, is due in part to the $3.8 million increase in external expenses as we continue to invest in research and development activities related to
SZN-1326 and SZN-043 and the $1.0 million increase in personnel-related expenses and other expenses as a result of a higher headcount.

The increase of $8.8 million in research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2021, compared to the six months ended
June 30, 2020, is due in part to the $6.7 million increase in external expenses as we continue to invest in research and development activities related to
SZN-1326 and SZN-043 and the $2.1 million increase in personnel-related expenses and other expenses as a result of a higher headcount.

General and Administrative Expenses

The increase of $0.8 million in general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2021, compared to the three months
ended June 30, 2020, is primarily attributable to the $0.5 million increase in personnel-related expenses due to an increase in headcount and the
$0.2 million increase in professional service fees and consulting services to support the growth of our operations

The increase of $3.6 million in general and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2021, compared to the six months ended
June 30, 2020, is primarily attributable to the $2.2 million increase in professional service fees and consulting services to support the growth of our
operations and the $1.3 million increase in personnel-related expenses and other expenses due to an increase in headcount and options granted to the
employees.

Other Income

The increase of $5,000 in other income for the three months ended June 30, 2021, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2020, is due to the
increase in interest income on our money market funds and marketable securities.

The decrease of $60,000 in other income for the six months ended June 30, 2021, compared to the six months ended June 30, 2020, is due to the
decrease in interest income on our money market funds and marketable securities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, we have not generated any revenue from product sales and have incurred significant net operating losses and negative cash flows
from operations. As of June 30, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $113.7 million. During the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, we used
$23.2 million and $12.2 million in cash flows from operations, respectively. We anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable
future because of additional costs and expenses related to our research and development activities, including increased expenses from pipeline
advancement and advancement of our product candidates into and through clinical development and associated regulatory submissions, and increased
general and administrative expenses as we scale our organization. We have historically financed our operations primarily through private placements of
redeemable convertible preferred stock. Through June 30, 2021, we raised aggregate net financing proceeds of approximately $133.1 million.

We had cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments of $25.4 million as of June 30, 2021. In connection with the consummation of the
Business Combination and PIPE Financing on August 11, 2021, we received gross proceeds of approximately $144.7 million.

We believe, based on our current operating plan, that our existing cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments, together with the net
proceeds from the Business Combination and PIPE Financing described above, will be sufficient to fund our operations for at least the next 12 months
from the date of this Current Report on Form 8-K. Our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to successfully secure
sources of financing and ultimately achieve profitable operations. Insufficient liquidity may require us to relinquish rights to product candidates at an
earlier stage of development or on less favorable terms than we would otherwise choose.



Funding Requirements

To date, we have not generated any revenue. We do not expect to generate any meaningful revenue unless and until we obtain regulatory approval
and commercialize SZN-1326 and SZN-043 or any future product candidates, and we do not know when, or if, that will occur. We will continue to
require additional capital to develop SZN-1326 and SZN-043 and fund operations for the foreseeable future. Since our inception in 2015, we have
devoted substantially all of our efforts and financial resources to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, developing and
optimizing our Wnt therapeutics platform, identifying potential product candidates, undertaking research and development activities, engaging in
strategic transactions, establishing and enhancing our intellectual property portfolio, and providing general and administrative support for these
operations. We expect our expenses to continue to increase in connection with our ongoing activities as we continue to advance SZN-1326 and SZN-043
into clinical development and regulatory approval. In addition, upon the completion of the Business Combination, we expect to incur additional costs
associated with operating as a public company.

We will need to raise substantial additional capital through public or private equity offerings, debt financings or other capital sources, including
government grants, potential collaborations with other companies or other strategic transactions. There can be no assurance that sufficient funds will be
available to us at all or on attractive terms when needed from these sources. If we are unable to obtain additional funding from these or other sources
when needed, it may be necessary to significantly reduce expenses through reductions in staff and delaying, scaling back operations, or stopping certain
research and development programs.

We have based our projections of operating capital requirements on assumptions that may prove to be incorrect and we may use all our available
capital resources sooner than we expect. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with research, development and commercialization
of pharmaceutical products, we are unable to estimate the exact amount of our operating capital requirements. Our future funding requirements will
depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:
 

 •  the scope, rate of progress, results and costs of researching and developing our lead product candidates or any future product
candidates, conducting preclinical studies, in particular our current ongoing preclinical studies of SZN-1326 and SZN-043;

 

 •  the outcome, costs, and timing of involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for our lead product candidate or our other product
candidates;

 

 •  the number and scope of clinical programs we decide to pursue;
 

 •  the cost of acquiring, licensing, or investing in product candidates and technologies;
 

 •  the costs associated with securing and establishing commercialization;
 

 
•  our ability to maintain, expand, and defend the scope of our intellectual property portfolio, including the amount and timing of any

payments we may be required to make, or that we may receive, in connection with the licensing, filing, prosecution, defense, and
enforcement of any patents or other intellectual property rights;

 

 •  our need and ability to retain key management and hire scientific, technical, business, and medical personnel;
 

 •  the effect of competing products and product candidates and other market developments;
 

 •  the timing, receipt, and amount of sales from SZN-1326 and SZN-043 and any future product candidates, if approved;
 

 •  our need to implement additional internal systems and infrastructure, including financial and reporting systems;
 

 •  the economic and other terms, timing of, and success of any collaboration, licensing, or other arrangements which we may enter in
the future; and

 

 •  the effects of the disruptions to and volatility in the credit and financial markets in the U.S. and worldwide from the COVID-19
pandemic.



If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders will experience dilution. If we raise additional capital through debt
financing, we may be subject to covenants that restrict our operations including limitations on our ability to incur liens or additional debt, pay dividends,
repurchase our common stock, make certain investments, and engage in certain merger, consolidation, or asset sale transactions. Any debt financing or
additional equity that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable to us or our stockholders. If we are unable to raise additional funds when needed,
we may be required to delay, reduce, or terminate some or all of our development programs and clinical trials. We may also be required to sell or license
to others our rights to SZN-1326 and SZN-043 and any future product candidates or discovery programs in certain territories or indications that we
would prefer to develop and commercialize ourselves.

Summary of Statements of Cash Flows

The following table sets forth the primary sources and uses of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash for the periods presented below (in
thousands):
 

   Six Months Ended June 30,  
   2021    2020  
Net cash used in operating activities   $ (23,212)   $ (12,225) 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    7,198    (167) 
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities    (118)    49,979 

Cash Used in Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities of $23.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was primarily due to the use of funds in our operations
and the resulting net loss of $25.7 million and a net change of $0.2 million in our net operating assets and liabilities, partially offset by $2.6 million in
non-cash charges. The net change in our operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a net decrease in prepaid expenses, accounts payable,
accrued liabilities and lease liabilities. Cash used in operating activities of $12.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to the
use of funds in our operations and the resulting net loss of $13.3 million and a net change of $0.7 million in our net operating assets and liabilities,
partially offset by $1.7 million in non-cash charges.

Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities

Cash provided by investing activities of $7.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 consisted primarily of $8.7 million of proceeds from
the maturities of marketable securities, offset by $1.1 million of cash used for the purchase of marketable securities and $0.4 million of cash used for the
purchase of property and equipment. Cash used in investing activities of $0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 related to the purchase of
property and equipment.

Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities of $0.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 consisted primarily of $0.4 million of cash used for the
transaction costs in connection with the Business Combination, offset $0.3 million of the proceeds from the exercise of options. Cash provided by
financing activities of $50.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 consisted of $49.9 million of net proceeds from the issuance and sale of
shares of our Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock and $0.1 million of proceeds from the exercise of options.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

As of June 30, 2021, we have lease obligations consisting of two operating leases for our operating facilities. The leases expire in November 2021
and in April 2025. Under the terms of the leases, we had lease obligations consisting of $10.0 million in payments through 2025 as of June 30, 2021.

We are party to license or subscription agreements pursuant to which we have in-licensed various intellectual property rights. The license
agreements obligate us to make certain milestone payments related to achievement of specified events, as well as royalties in the low single-digit
percentages based on sales of licensed products. The payment obligations under the license agreements are contingent upon future events, such as our
achievement of specified milestones or generating product sales. As of June 30, 2021, we were unable to estimate the timing or likelihood of achieving
these milestones or generating future product sales.



We enter into contracts in the normal course of business with third-party vendors for preclinical research studies, research supplies, and other
services and products for operating purposes. These contracts generally provide for termination on notice, and therefore we believe that our
non-cancelable obligations under these agreements are not material.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since the date of our incorporation, we have not engaged in any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in the rules and regulations of the
SEC.

Critical Accounting Policies, Significant Judgments and Use of Estimates

Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Our
estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe that the accounting policies discussed below
are critical to understanding our historical and future performance, as these policies relate to the more significant areas involving management’s
judgments and estimates.

While our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to our unaudited condensed interim financial statements included in
Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K, we believe that the following critical accounting policies are most important to understanding and
evaluating our reported financial results.

Research and Development Expense

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs consist of external and internal expenses directly
attributable to the conduct of research and development programs. The external expenses include the costs of services provided by outside contractors,
clinical research organizations and contract manufacturing organizations. The internal expenses include the costs of salaries, payroll taxes, stock-based
compensation, employee benefits, materials, supplies, depreciation on and maintenance of research equipment, and the facility costs for laboratory space
used for research and development activities, such as rent, utilities, insurance, repairs and maintenance, depreciation, and general support services.

We have entered into and may continue to enter into, license agreements to access and utilize certain technology. In each case, we evaluate if the
license agreement results in the acquisition of an asset or a business. To date, none of our license agreements have been considered an acquisition of a
business. For asset acquisitions, the upfront payments to acquire such licenses, as well as any future milestone payments made before product approval
that do not meet the definition of a derivative, are immediately recognized as research and development expense when they are paid or become payable,
provided there is no alternative future use of the rights in other research and development projects

Accrued Research and Development Expense

We record accruals for estimated costs of research, preclinical, and manufacturing development, within accrued expenses which are significant
components of research and development expenses. A substantial portion of our ongoing research and development activities is conducted by third-party
service providers. We accrue the costs incurred under agreements with these third parties based on estimates of actual work completed in accordance
with the respective agreements. We determine the estimated costs through discussions with internal personnel and external service providers as to the
progress, or stage of completion or actual timeline (start-date and end-date) of the services and the agreed-upon fees to be paid for such services.
Payments made to third parties under these arrangements in advance of the performance of the related services are recorded as prepaid expenses until the
services are rendered.



If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from the estimate, we adjust accrued expenses or prepaid expenses
accordingly, which impact research and development expenses. Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts
actually incurred, our understanding of the status and timing of services performed relative to the actual status and timing of services performed may
vary and may result in reporting amounts that are too high or too low in any particular period.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

We recognize stock-based compensation expense for all stock-based awards. Stock-based compensation costs are estimated at the grant date based
on the fair value of the equity for financial reporting purposes and recognized as expense, net of actual forfeitures when occur, on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period.

We calculate the fair value of options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which requires the use of various highly subjective
assumptions as follows:
 

 •  Fair Value of Common Stock—See the subsection titled “Common Stock Valuations” below.
 

 

•  Expected Term—We have opted to use the “simplified method” for estimating the expected term of options, whereby the expected
term equals the arithmetic average of the mid-point between the vesting date and the end of contractual term of the option (generally
ten years). The expected term for nonemployee awards is calculated based on the remaining contractual life to measure the
remaining life of an award.

 

 

•  Expected Volatility—Due to our limited operating history and a lack of company-specific historical and implied volatility data, we
have based our estimate of expected volatility on the historical volatility of a group of similar companies that are publicly traded.
The comparable companies were chosen based on their similar size, stage in the life cycle or area of specialty. The historical
volatility data was computed using the daily closing prices for the selected companies’ shares during the equivalent period of the
calculated expected term of the stock-based awards. We will continue to apply this process until a sufficient amount of historical
information regarding the volatility of our own stock becomes available.

 

 •  Risk-Free Interest Rate—The risk-free rate assumption is based on the U.S. Treasury zero coupon issued in effect at the time of grant
with maturities similar to the expected term of our options.

 

 •  Expected Dividend Yield—We have not issued any dividends in our history and do not expect to pay dividends on our common stock
over the life of the options and therefore have estimated the dividend yield to be zero.

We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the expected volatility, expected terms and interest rates utilized for our stock-based compensation
expense calculations on a prospective basis.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, stock-based compensation expense was $0.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively. For the
three and six months ended June 30, 2020, stock-based compensation expense was $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2021, we
had $6.6 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation costs, which we expect to recognize over an estimated weighted-average period of
3.34 years. We expect to continue to grant options and other stock-based awards in the future, and to the extent that we do, our stock-based
compensation expense recognized in future periods will likely increase.

Common Stock Valuations

Given the absence of a public trading market of our common stock, and in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Practice Guide, Valuation of Privately Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation, or the Practice Aid, our board of directors exercised
reasonable judgment and considered numerous and subjective factors to determine the best estimate of fair value of our common stock, including, but
not limited to:
 

 •  relevant precedent transactions involving our capital stock;
 

 •  contemporaneous valuations performed by third-party specialists;



 •  rights, preferences, and privileges of our redeemable convertible preferred stock relative to those of our common stock;
 

 •  actual operating and financial performance;
 

 •  current business conditions and financial projections;
 

 •  likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or a sale of our business;
 

 •  the lack of marketability of our common stock, and the illiquidity of stock-based awards involving securities in a private company;
 

 •  market multiples of comparable publicly-traded companies;
 

 •  stage of development;
 

 •  industry information such as market size and growth; and
 

 •  U.S. and global capital and macroeconomic conditions.

The Practice Aid identifies various available methods for allocating enterprise value across classes and series of capital stock to determine the
estimated fair value of common stock at each valuation date. In accordance with the Practice Aid, we considered the following methods:
 

 

•  Option Pricing Method, or OPM. Under the OPM, shares are valued by creating a series of call options with exercise prices based on
the liquidation preferences and conversion terms of each equity class. The estimated fair values of the preferred and common stock
are inferred by analyzing these options. This method is appropriate to use when the range of possible future outcomes is so difficult
to predict that estimates would be highly speculative, and dissolution or liquidation is not imminent.

 

 
•  Probability-Weighted Expected Return Method, or PWERM. The PWERM is a scenario-based analysis that estimates value per share

based on the probability-weighted present value of expected future investment returns, considering each of the possible outcomes
available to us, as well as the economic and control rights of each share class.

For valuations performed in 2020, based on our early stage of development, the difficulty in predicting the range of possible outcomes at the time
of the valuations, and other relevant factors, in accordance with the Practice Aid, we determined that a Hybrid OPM and OPM, respectively, were the
most appropriate method for allocating our enterprise value to determine the estimated fair value of our common stock.

For valuations performed beginning in 2021, in accordance with the Practice Aid, we used a hybrid approach of the OPM and the PWERM
methods to determine the estimated fair value of our common stock as a result of the increasing likelihood of the occurrence of certain discrete events,
such as a potential initial public offering, improving market conditions and receptivity of the market to initial public offerings. The enterprise value
determined under the OPM and PWERM methods was weighted according to our board of directors’ estimate of the probability of the occurrence of a
certain discrete event as of the valuation date. The resulting equity value for the common stock was then divided by the number of shares of common
stock outstanding at the date of the valuation to derive a per share value on a non-marketable basis. In order to determine the fair value of our common
stock on a marketable basis, we then applied a discount for lack of marketability which we derived based on inputs including a company-specific
volatility rate, a term equal to the expected time to a future liquidity event and a risk-free rate equal to the yield on treasuries of similar duration.

Application of these approaches involves the use of estimates, judgment and assumptions that are highly complex and subjective, such as those
regarding our expected future revenue, expenses, cash flows, discount rates, market multiples, the selection of comparable companies and the
probability of future events. Changes in any or all of these estimates and assumptions, or the relationships between those assumptions, impact our
valuations as of each valuation date and may have a material impact on the valuation of common stock. The assumptions underlying these valuations
represent our management’s best estimate, which involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management



judgment. As a result, if factors or expected outcomes change and we use significantly different assumptions or estimates, our stock-based compensation
expense could be materially different. Following the closing of the Business Combination, the fair value of our common stock will be determined based
on the quoted market price of our common stock.

We reassessed the determination of the fair value of the common shares for financial reporting purposes underlying the grants made in 2020. This
analysis revised our implied equity value and stock compensation expense for equity awards for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect for
the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amounts more likely than not to be realized. Realization of the future tax benefits is dependent on our ability to generate sufficient taxable income within
the carryforward period. Because of our recent history of operating losses, management believes that recognition of the deferred tax assets arising from
the above-mentioned future tax benefits is not likely to be realized and, accordingly, has provided a full valuation allowance. During the year ended
December 31, 2020, our valuation allowance increased $9.6 million.

We assess all material positions taken in any income tax return, including all significant uncertain positions, in all tax years that are still subject to
assessment or challenge by relevant taxing authorities. Assessing an uncertain tax position begins with the initial determination of the position’s
sustainability and is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is more likely than not of being realized upon ultimate settlement. As of each balance
sheet date, unresolved uncertain tax positions must be reassessed, and we will determine whether (i) the factors underlying the sustainability assertion
have changed and (ii) the amount of the recognized tax benefit is still appropriate. The recognition and measurement of tax benefits requires significant
judgment. Judgments concerning the recognition and measurement of a tax benefit might change as new information becomes available. Our
unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would not have an impact on our effective tax rate assuming we continue to maintain a full valuation allowance
position. We do not expect our unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly over the next 12 months.

Our policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to the underpayment of income taxes as a component of income tax expense or benefit. To
date, there have been no interest or penalties charged in relation to unrecognized tax benefits.

Emerging Growth Company Status

The Company is an emerging growth company (“EGC”), as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). The
JOBS Act permits companies with EGC status to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards,
delaying the adoption of these accounting standards until they would apply to private companies. The Company has elected to use this extended
transition period to enable us to comply with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies
until the earlier of the date the Company (i) is no longer an EGC or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided
in the JOBS Act. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting standards as
of public company effective dates.

In addition, the Company intends to rely on the other exemptions and reduced reporting requirements provided by the JOBS Act. Subject to
certain conditions set forth in the JOBS Act, if, as an EGC, we intend to rely on such exemptions, we are not required to, among other things: (i) provide
an auditor’s attestation report on our system of internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;
(ii) provide all of the compensation disclosure that may be required of non-emerging growth public companies under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act; (iii) comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board; and
(iv) disclose certain executive compensation-related items such as the correlation between executive compensation and performance and comparisons of
the Chief Executive Officer’s compensation to median employee compensation.



The Company will remain an EGC under the JOBS Act until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year (a) of 2025, which is year in which the
fifth anniversary of CHFW’s initial public offering will occur, (b) the year in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.07 billion, or
(c) the year in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer; or (ii) the date on which the Company has issued more than $1.00 billion in
non-convertible debt securities during the prior three-year period.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to our unaudited condensed interim financial statements included in Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K for more
information about recent accounting pronouncements, the timing of their adoption and our assessment, to the extent they have been made, of their
potential impact on our financial condition and results of operations and cash flows.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We have not, to date, been exposed to material market risks given our early stage of operations. Upon commencing commercial operations, we
expect to be exposed to foreign currency translation and transaction risks and potentially other market risks, including those related to our valuation of
financial instruments, among others.

Interest Rate Risk

The market interest risk in our financial positions represents the potential loss arising from adverse changes in interest rates. As of June 30, 2021,
we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $25.4 million, consisting of interest-bearing money market funds and marketable securities,
for which the fair value would be affected by change in U.S. interest rates. However, due to the short-term maturities and the low-risk profile of our
investments, an immediate 10% change in the interest rate would not have a material effect on the fair value of our cash equivalents and short-term
investments.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Given our early stage of
operations, if our costs become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we will not be able to fully offset such higher costs. Our inability or failure
to do so could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of New Surrozen Common Stock immediately following
consummation of the Business Combination by:
 

 •  each person known by New Surrozen to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of outstanding New Surrozen Common Stock;
 

 •  each of New Surrozen’s current named executive officers and directors; and
 

 •  all current executive officers and directors of New Surrozen as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined according to the rules of the SEC, which generally provide that a person has beneficial ownership of a security
if he, she, or it possesses sole or shared voting or investment power over that security, including options and warrants that are currently exercisable or
exercisable within 60 days as specified in the footnotes to the table below. Unless otherwise indicated, New Surrozen believes that each person named in
the table below has sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock beneficially owned by such person.



Name and Address of
Beneficial Owners (1)   

Shares
Beneficially
Owned (2)    

Percentage
of Total
Voting
Power  

Directors and Executive Officers     
Craig Parker(4)
Chief Executive Officer and Director    702,594    1.89% 
Wen-Chen Yeh (5)
Chief Scientific Officer    298,602    * 
Charles Williams (6)
Chief Financial Officer    175,649    * 
Trudy Vanhove (7)
Chief Medical Officer    158,084    * 
Anna Berkenblit (8)
Director    35,129    * 
Tim Kutzkey (3)
Director    9,409,779    25.82% 
Shao-Lee Lin (8)
Director    35,129    * 
David Woodhouse (8)
Director    35,129    * 
Mary Haak-Frendscho (8)
Director    35,129    * 
Mace Rothenberg (8)
Director    35,129    * 
Christopher Y. Chai (8)
Director    35,139    * 
All directors and executive officers as a group (11 persons) (9)    10,995,481    29.17% 

 
 * less than 1% beneficial ownership
 

Name and Address of
Beneficial Owners (1)   

Shares
Beneficially
Owned (2)    

Percentage
of Total
Voting
Power  

5%+ Holders     
Consonance Life Sciences (10)    5,359,667    14.71% 
Baker Bros. Advisors LP (11)    3,333,333    9.15% 
Entities affiliated with the Column Group (12)    9,409,779    25.82% 
The Regents of the University of California (13)    2,080,451    5.71% 
Entities affiliated with Hartford HealthCare (14)    1,950,004    5.35% 

 
(1) Unless otherwise noted, the business address of each of the directors and officers is 171 Oyster Point Boulevard, Suite 400, South San Francisco,

California 94080.
(2) The beneficial ownership is based on 36,440,758 shares of New Surrozen Common Stock outstanding following the closing of the Business

Combination, the closing of the PIPE Financing and redemption of 6,754,242 CHFW Class A ordinary shares.
(3) Includes: (a) (i) 4,106,072 shares of New Surrozen Common Stock received by The Column Group III, LP (“TCG III”) as an equityholder of

Surrozen and (ii) 4,637,041 shares of New Surrozen Common Stock received by The Column Group III-A, LP (“TCG III-A” (b) (i) 234,818
shares of New Surrozen Common Stock underlying PIPE Units held by TCG III and (ii) 265,182 shares of New Surrozen Common Stock
underlying PIPE Units acquired in the PIPE Financing by TCG III-A; and (c) (i) 78,272 shares of New Surrozen Common Stock underlying PIPE
Warrants held by TCG III and (ii) 88,394 shares of New Surrozen Common Stock underlying PIPE Warrants held by TCG III-A, LP. The Column
Group III GP, LP (“TCG III GP”), is the general partner of each of TCG III and TCG III-A. Dr. Kutzkey, David Goeddel and Peter Svennilson are
the Managing Partners of TCG III GP and as



 
such may each be deemed to share voting and investment power with respect to the securities held by each of TCG III and TCG III-A and
disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities except to the extent of his pecuniary interests therein. The address for the entities listed herein is 1
Letterman Drive, Building D, Suite DM-900, San Francisco, CA 94129.

(4) Consists of 702,594 shares of New Surrozen common stock issuable pursuant to stock options exercisable within 60 days of May 1, 2021.
(5) Consists of (a) 219,560 shares of New Surrozen common stock and 79,041 shares of New Surrozen common stock issuable pursuant to stock

options exercisable within 60 days of May 1, 2021.
(6) Consists of 175,648 shares of New Surrozen common stock subject to restricted stock awards.
(7) Consists of 158,083 shares of New Surrozen common stock subject to restricted stock awards.
(8) Consists of 35,129 shares of New Surrozen common stock subject to restricted stock awards.
(9) Consists of Craig Parker, Trudy Vanhove, Wen-Chen Yeh, Charles Williams, Anna Berkenblit, Christopher Chai, Tim Kutzkey, Shao-Lee Lin,

David Woodhouse, Mary Haak-Frendscho and Mace Rothenberg.
(10) Includes (a) 1,451,000 shares of New Surrozen common stock, which gives effect to the contribution by the Sponsor, effective as of the closing of

the Business Combination, to CHFW of 759,000 Class B ordinary shares for no consideration on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
in the Sponsor Letter Agreement, (b) 434,000 Class A ordinary shares underlying private placement units acquired by Sponsor in the private
placement that closed simultaneously with the IPO, (c) 144,667 shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying New Surrozen warrants and (d)
(i) 2,497,500 shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying PIPE Units and (ii) 832,500 shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying
PIPE Warrants. Consonance Life Sciences is governed by a board of managers consisting of Mitchell J. Blutt, Benny Soffer and Kevin Livingston.
As such, Mitchell J. Blutt, Benny Soffer and Kevin Livingston have voting and investment discretion of the shares held by Consonance Life
Sciences and may be deemed to have shared beneficial ownership of the shares held by Consonance Life Sciences. Each of Mitchell J. Blutt,
Benny Soffer and Kevin Livingston disclaims beneficial ownership of the reported shares other than to the extent of any pecuniary interest he may
have therein, directly or indirectly.



(11) Includes (a) (i) 2,315,223 shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying PIPE Units and (ii) 771,741 shares of New Surrozen common stock
underlying PIPE Warrants, in each case held by Baker Brothers Life Sciences, L.P. (“BBLS”) and (b) (i) 184,777 shares of New Surrozen common
stock underlying PIPE Units and (ii) 61,592 shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying PIPE Warrants, in each case held by 667, L.P.
(“667”, and together with BBLS, the “BBA Funds”). Baker Bros. Advisors LP (“BBA”), is the investment adviser to the BBA Funds and has sole
voting and investment power with respect to the securities held by the BBA Funds and thus may be deemed to beneficially own such securities.
Baker Bros. Advisors (GP) LLC (“BBA-GP”), is the sole general partner of BBA and thus may be deemed to beneficially own the securities held
by the BBA Funds. The principals of BBA-GP are Julian C. Baker and Felix J. Baker, who may be deemed to beneficially own the securities held
by the BBA Funds. The address for BBA, BBA-GP, Julian C. Baker and Felix J. Baker and the BBA Funds is 860 Washington Street, 3rd Floor,
New York, NY 10014.

(12) Includes: (a) (i) 4,106,072 shares of New Surrozen common stock received by The Column Group III, LP (“TCG III”) as an equityholder of
Surrozen and (ii) 4,637,041 shares of New Surrozen common stock received by The Column Group III-A, LP (“TCG III-A” (b) (i) 234,818 shares
of New Surrozen common stock underlying PIPE Units held by TCG III and (ii) 265,182 shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying PIPE
Units acquired in the PIPE Financing by TCG III-A; and (c) (i) 78,272 shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying PIPE Warrants held by
TCG III and (ii) 88,394 shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying PIPE Warrants held by TCG III-A, LP. The Column Group III GP, LP
(“TCG III GP”), is the general partner of each of TCG III and TCG III-A. Dr. Kutzkey, David Goeddel and Peter Svennilson are the Managing
Partners of TCG III GP and as such may each be deemed to share voting and investment power with respect to the securities held by each of TCG
III and TCG III-A and disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities except to the extent of his pecuniary interests therein. The address for the
entities listed herein is 1 Letterman Drive, Building D, Suite DM-900, San Francisco, CA 94129.

(13) Includes: (a) 1,747,118 shares of New Surrozen common stock received by The Regents of the University of California (“UC”) as an equityholder
of Surrozen and (b) (i) 250,000 shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying PIPE Units held by UC and (ii) 83,333 shares of New Surrozen
common stock underlying PIPE Units acquired in the PIPE Financing by UC. The address for UC is 1111 Franklin Street, 6th Floor, Oakland, CA
94607.

(14) Includes: (a) (i) 535,002 shares of New Surrozen common stock received by Hartford HealthCare Endowment, LLC (“HHC Endowment”) as an
equityholder of Surrozen and (ii) 535,002 shares of New Surrozen common stock received by Hartford HealthCare Corporation Defined Benefit
Master Trust (“HHC Pension”); (b) (i) 330,000 shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying PIPE Units held by HHC Endowment and (ii)
330,000 shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying PIPE Units acquired in the PIPE Financing by HHC Pension; and (c) (i) 110,000
shares of New Surrozen common stock underlying PIPE Warrants held by HHC Endowment and (ii) 110,000 shares of New Surrozen common
stock underlying PIPE Warrants held by HHC Pension. David Holmgren serves as Chief Investment Officer of Hartford HealthCare and may be
deemed to hold voting and/or dispositive control over the shares held by HHC Endowment and HHC Pension. The address for Hartford
HealthCare is 80 Seymour Street - Cheney Bldg, Hartford, CT 06102.

Directors and Executive Officers

New Surrozen directors and executive officers after the consummation of the Business Combination are described in the Proxy
Statement/Prospectus in the section entitled “Management of New Surrozen Following the Business Combination” beginning on page 331 and that
information is incorporated herein by reference. The information set forth in the section entitled “Election of Director” in Item 5.02 of this Current
Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.



In connection with the consummation of the Business Combination, each of CHFW’s officers and directors prior to the Business Combination
ceased serving the company. Each of Craig Parker, Anna Berkenblit, M.D., Tim Kutzkey, Ph.D., Shao-Lee Lin, M.D., Ph.D., David J. Woodhouse,
Ph.D., Mary Haak-Frendscho, Ph.D., Mace Rothenberg, M.D., and Christopher Y. Chai were elected to the Board in connection with the Business
Combination. After the Closing, effective August 11, 2021, the Board appointed Tim Kutzkey, Ph.D. as the Chair of the Board.

Director Independence

The listing standards of Nasdaq require that a majority of the Board be independent. The Board determined that each of Christopher Y. Chai, Anna
Berkenblit, M.D., Shao-Lee Lin, M.D., Ph.D., David J. Woodhouse, Ph.D., Mary Haak-Frendscho, Ph.D., Tim Kutzkey, Ph.D., and Mace Rothenberg
M.D. qualify as independent directors, as defined under Nasdaq listing rules.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Following the Closing, the standing committees of the Board consist of an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and
corporate governance committee.

Christopher Y. Chai, David J. Woodhouse, Ph.D., and Tim Kutzkey, Ph.D. serve on the audit committee of the Board. Each of the members of the
audit committee satisfy the independence requirements of Nasdaq and the rules and regulations of the SEC applicable to audit committee members.
Mr. Chai is the chair of the audit committee and qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” within the meaning of SEC regulations. The
description of the audit committee included in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the section entitled “Management of New Surrozen Following the
Business Combination—Committees of Our Board of Directors—Audit Committee” beginning on page 335 is incorporated herein by reference.

Mary Haak-Frendscho, Ph.D., Anna Berkenblit, M.D., and Shao-Lee Lin, M.D., Ph.D. serve on the compensation committee of the Board.
Dr. Haak-Frendscho is the chair of the compensation committee. Each member of New Surrozen’s compensation committee is independent under the
rules and regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq listing standards applicable to compensation committee members and a “non-employee director” as defined
in Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The description of the compensation
committee included in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the section entitled “Management of New Surrozen Following the Business Combination—
Committees of Our Board of Directors—Compensation Committee” beginning on page 335 is incorporated herein by reference.

Tim Kutzkey, Ph.D., Christopher Y. Chai, and Mace Rothenberg M.D. serve on the nominating and corporate governance committee of the Board.
Dr. Kutzkey is the chair of the nominating and corporate governance committee. Each member of New Surrozen’s nominating and corporate governance
committee is independent under the rules and regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq listing standards applicable to nominating and corporate governance
committee members. The description of the nominating and corporate governance committee included in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the section
entitled “Management of New Surrozen Following the Business Combination—Committees of Our Board of Directors—Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee” beginning on page 336 is incorporated herein by reference.

Executive Compensation

The section entitled “Surrozen’s Executive Compensation” beginning on page 319 of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus is incorporated herein by
reference and is updated and, as applicable, superseded by the descriptions below of “Changes to Named Executive Officer Compensation” and the
adoption of a “Management Severance Plan.”

Changes to Named Executive Officer Compensation

On August 12, 2021, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of New Surrozen (the “Compensation Committee”) approved certain
adjustments to the annual base salary and annual target bonus amounts for each of our named executive officers.

Effective August 12, 2021, (a) Mr. Parker’s annual base salary increased to $547,000, his annual target bonus increased to 50% of his increased
annual base salary, (b) Mr. Williams’ annual base salary increased to $415,000, his annual target bonus increased to 40% of his increased annual base
salary; and (c) Dr. Yeh’s annual base salary increased to $420,000 and bonus increased to 40% of his increased annual base salary.



Management Severance Plan

On August 12, 2021, the Compensation Committee approved a management severance plan (the “Severance Plan”) for members of the New
Surrozen management team at the level of Vice President or higher. The Severance Plan provides benefits summarized below in connection with a
termination of a participant’s employment by New Surrozen for a reason other than cause or the participant’s resignation for “good reason” (an
“Involuntary Termination”). Separate benefit levels apply in the event of (i) an Involuntary Termination that is (A) within 3 months prior to or
(B) twelve months following a “change in control” of New Surrozen (a “CIC Termination”) and (ii) an Involuntary Termination that is not a CIC
Termination (a “Standard Termination”).



Title   Standard Termination Benefit   CIC Termination Benefit

Chief Executive Officer

  

12 months base salary
12 months benefits continuation
No equity acceleration

  

18 months base salary
1.5X target bonus
18 months benefits continuation
Full “double trigger” vesting acceleration of outstanding equity awards
Code Section 280G “net better of” cut-back

Chief Medical Officer

  

9 months base salary
9 months benefit continuation
No equity acceleration

  

12 months base salary
1X target bonus
12 months benefits continuation
Full “double trigger” vesting acceleration of outstanding equity awards
Code Section 280G “net better of” cut-back

Chief Scientific Officer

  

9 months base salary
9 months benefit continuation
No equity acceleration

  

12 months base salary
1X target bonus
12 months benefits continuation
Full “double trigger” vesting acceleration of outstanding equity awards
Code Section 280G “net better of” cut-back

Chief Financial Officer

  

9 months base salary
9 months benefit continuation
No equity acceleration

  

12 months base salary
1X target bonus
12 months benefits continuation
Full “double trigger” vesting acceleration of outstanding equity awards
Code Section 280G “net better of” cut-back

Senior Vice President

  

6 months base salary
6 months benefits continuation
No equity acceleration

  

9 months base salary
0.75X target bonus
9 months benefits continuation
Full “double trigger” vesting acceleration of outstanding equity awards
Code Section 280G “net better of” cut-back

Vice President

  

6 months base salary
6 months benefits continuation
No equity acceleration

  

6 months base salary
0.5X target bonus
6 months benefits continuation
Full “double trigger” vesting acceleration of outstanding equity awards
Code Section 280G “net better of” cut-back



Equity Incentive Plan

At the Shareholder Meeting, the shareholders of CHFW approved the Surrozen, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan”).
The description of the Equity Incentive Plan set forth in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus section entitled “Incentive Award Plan Proposal” beginning on
page 191, is incorporated herein by reference. A copy of the full text of the Equity Incentive Plan is filed as Exhibit 10.6 to this Current Report on Form
8-K and is incorporated herein by reference. New Surrozen expects that the Board will make grants of awards under the Incentive Equity Incentive Plan
to eligible participants.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

At the Shareholder Meeting, the shareholders of CHFW approved the Surrozen, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). The description
of the ESPP set forth in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus section entitled “Employee Stock Purchase Plan Proposal” beginning on page 199 is
incorporated herein by reference. A copy of the full text of the ESPP is filed as Exhibit 10.7 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated
herein by reference. New Surrozen expects that the Board will make grants of awards under the ESPP to eligible participants.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The description of certain relationships and related transactions is included in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the section entitled “Certain
Relationships and Related Person Transactions” beginning on page 343, which is incorporated herein by reference.

The information set forth in the section entitled “Indemnification Agreements” in Item 1.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated
herein by reference.

Legal Proceedings

The description of legal proceedings is included in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the section entitled “Information about Surrozen—Legal
Proceedings” on page 301, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Market Price and Dividends on the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

The New Surrozen Common Stock and New Surrozen IPO Warrants trade on Nasdaq under the symbols “SRZN” and “SRZNW,” respectively, in
lieu of the ordinary shares, warrants, and units of CHFW. New Surrozen has not paid any cash dividends on its shares of capital stock to date. It is the
present intention of the Board to retain all earnings, if any, for use in New Surrozen’s business operations and, accordingly, the Board does not anticipate
declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future. The payment of cash dividends in the future will be dependent upon New Surrozen’s revenue and
earnings, if any, capital requirements, and general financial condition. The payment of any cash dividends is within the discretion of the Board. Further,
the ability of New Surrozen to declare dividends may be limited by the terms of financing or other agreements entered into by it or its subsidiaries from
time to time.

Dividends

The Company has not paid dividends on the Common Stock to date and does not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The
payment of cash dividends in the future will be dependent upon revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The
payment of any dividends will be within the discretion of the Board. It is the present intention of the Board to retain all earnings, if any, for use in the
Company’s business operations and, accordingly, the Board does not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Information about unregistered sales of New Surrozen’s equity securities is set forth under Item 3.02 of this Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by reference.



Description of Registrant’s Securities

A description of the New Surrozen Common Stock and warrants is included in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the section entitled “Description
of New Surrozen Securities” beginning on page 350, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

The information set forth in the section entitled “Indemnification Agreements” in Item 1.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated
herein by reference. Further information about the indemnification of New Surrozen’s directors and officers is set forth in the Proxy
Statement/Prospectus in the section titled “Description of New Surrozen Securities—Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Officers and
Directors” beginning on page 353 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Financial Statements, Supplementary Data, and Exhibits

The information set forth under Item 9.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

The information set forth under Item 4.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.

 
Item 3.02. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities.

The disclosure set forth in the “Introductory Note” above is incorporated herein by reference. The securities issued in connection with the
Business Combination and PIPE Financing were not be registered under the Securities Act, in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by
Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

 
Item 3.03. Material Modification to Rights of Security Holders.

On the Closing Date, in connection with the consummation of the Business Combination, New Surrozen filed its certificate of incorporation (the
“Certificate of Incorporation”) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and adopted its amended and restated bylaws (the “Bylaws”).

Copies of the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws are included as Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2, respectively, to this Current Report on
Form 8-K and are incorporated herein by reference.

 
Item 4.01. Change in the Registrant’s Certifying Accountant.

On August 12, 2021, the Audit Committee of New Surrozen’s board of directors approved the engagement of Ernst & Young LLP (“E&Y”) as New
Surrozen’s independent registered public accounting firm to audit New Surrozen’s financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2021. E&Y
previously served as the independent registered public accounting firm of Legacy Surrozen prior to the Business Combination. Accordingly, Marcum
LLP (“Marcum”), CHFW’s independent registered public accounting firm prior to the Business Combination, was informed on August 12, 2021 that it
would be replaced by E&Y as New Surrozen’s independent registered public accounting firm.

Marcum’s report of independent registered public accounting firm dated March 31, 2021 (except for the restatement discussed in Notes 2, 3, 9 and
Note 10, as to which the date is May 14, 2021) to the financial statements of CHFW in Proxy Statement/Prospectus, on the CHFW balance sheet as of
December 31, 2020, the related statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the period from August 21, 2020 (CHFW’s
inception) through December 31, 2020 and the related notes to the financial statements did not contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, and
were not qualified or modified as to uncertainties, audit scope or accounting principles.



During the period from August 21, 2020 (CHFW’s inception) through December 31, 2020 and the subsequent interim period through August 12, 2021,
there were no “disagreements” (as such term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K) with Marcum on any matter of accounting principles or
practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedures, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Marcum, would
have caused Marcum to make reference thereto in its reports on CHFW’s financial statements for such periods. During the period from August 21, 2020
(CHFW’s inception) through December 31, 2020 and the subsequent interim period through August 12, 2021, there have been no “reportable events” (as
such term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K).

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and the subsequent interim period through August 12, 2021, (i) CHFW did not both (a) consult with
E&Y as to the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be
rendered on the CHFW’s financial statements and (b) receive a written report or oral advice that E&Y concluded was an important factor considered by
CHFW in reaching a decision as to such accounting, auditing, or financial reporting issue; and (ii) CHFW did not consult E&Y on any matter that was
either the subject of a “disagreement” (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and the related instructions) or a “reportable
event” (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K) other than the material weakness in internal controls identified by management
related to the accounting for warrants issued in connection with CHFW’s initial public offering, which resulted in the restatement of CHFW’s financial
statements as set forth Amendment No. 2 to CHFW’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the SEC on May 14, 2021.

The Company has provided Marcum with a copy of the disclosures made by the registrant in this Item 4.01 in response to Item 304(a) of
Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and requested that Marcum furnish the Company with a letter addressed to the SEC
stating whether it agrees with the statements made by the registrant in this Item 4.01 in response to Item 304(a) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange
Act and, if not, stating the respects in which it does not agree. A letter from Marcum is attached hereto as Exhibit 16.1.

 
Item 5.01 Changes in Control of Registrant.

The information set forth above in the “Introductory Note” and Item 2.01 is incorporated herein by reference.

 
Item 5.02 Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory

Arrangements of Certain Officers.

The information set forth above in the sections titled “Directors and Executive Officers,” “Director Independence,” “Committees of the Board of
Directors,” and “Executive Compensation” in Item 2.01 is incorporated herein by reference. In addition, the Equity Incentive Plan and the ESPP became
effective upon the Closing. The material terms of the Equity Incentive Plan and the ESPP are described in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus in the
sections entitled “Incentive Award Plan Proposal” and “Employee Stock Purchase Plan Proposal,” respectively, which are incorporated herein by
reference.

 
Item 5.05 Amendments to the Registrant’s Code of Ethics, or Waiver of a Provision of the Code of Ethics.

In connection with the Business Combination, on August 12, 2021, the Board approved and adopted a new Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
applicable to all employees, officers, and directors of New Surrozen. A copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics can be found in the Investors
section of New Surrozen’s website at https://www.surrozen.ethicspoint.com.

 
Item 5.06 Change in Shell Company Status.

As a result of the Business Combination, New Surrozen ceased being a shell company. The material terms of the Business Combination are
described in the section entitled “Business Combination Proposal” of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus, and are incorporated herein by reference. Further,
the information set forth in the “Introductory Note” and under Item 2.01 is incorporated herein by reference.



Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.
 

(a) Financial Statements of Business Acquired.

The audited financial statements of Legacy Surrozen as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020 and the related notes are included
in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus beginning on page F-59 of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus and are incorporated herein by reference.

The unaudited condensed interim financial statements of Legacy Surrozen and related notes as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 are filed as Exhibit 99.1
to this Current Report on Form 8-K and are incorporated herein by reference.

 
(b) Pro Forma Financial Information.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and year ended December 31, 2020 is
filed as Exhibit 99.2 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

 
(c) Exhibits
 
Exhibit
No.   Description

2.1†
  

Business Combination Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2021, by and among CHFW, Perseverance Merger Sub Inc., and Surrozen, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39635), filed with the SEC on April 15, 2021).

3.1*   Certificate of Incorporation of Surrozen, Inc.

3.2*   Bylaws of Surrozen, Inc.

4.1
  

Specimen Warrant Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-248844),
filed with the SEC on September 16, 2020).

4.2

  

Warrant Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2020, between Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp. and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39587), filed with the SEC on
October 6, 2020).

4.3
  

Specimen Unit Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-248844), filed
with the SEC on September 16, 2020).

4.4
  

Specimen Ordinary Share Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-248844), filed with the SEC on September 16, 2020).

4.5*   Certificate of Corporate Domestication of Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp.

10.1

  

Sponsor Letter Agreement, dated as of November 18, 2020, by and among Consonance Life Sciences and Consonance-HFW Acquisition
Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39635), filed with the SEC on April 15,
2021).

10.2
  

Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39635), filed
with the SEC on April 15, 2021)).

10.3†
  

Form of Surrozen, Inc. Transaction Support Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 001-39635), filed with the SEC on April 15, 2021).

10.4
  

Form of Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp. Transaction Support Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39635), filed with the SEC on April 15, 2021).

10.5*
  

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2021, by and among Surrozen, Inc., Consonance Life Sciences, and certain other
investors.

10.6+*  Surrozen, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreement thereunder.

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521117200/d41318dex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1804591/000095010320018108/dp136513_ex0403.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1804591/000095010320019734/dp138407_ex0401.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1804591/000095010320018108/dp136513_ex0403.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1804591/000095010320018108/dp136513_ex0403.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521117200/d41318dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521117200/d41318dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521117200/d41318dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521117200/d41318dex104.htm


Exhibit
No.   Description

10.7+*   Surrozen, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

10.8*   Form of Indemnification Agreement.

10.9
  

Promissory Note dated April 5, 2021, issued by Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp. to VG Acquisition Sponsor LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-254772), filed with the SEC on May 13, 2021).

10.10††

  

Amended and Restated License and Option Agreement for Llama Single Domain Antibody Phage Library, dated as of January 17, 2020,
by and between Regents of the University of California and Surrozen, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-256146), filed with the SEC on July 7, 2021).

10.11††

  

Amended and Restated License and Option Agreement for Human Naïve Fab Library, dated as of January 17, 2020, by and between
Surrozen, Inc. and Regents of the University of California (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-4/A (File No. 333-256146), filed with the SEC on July 7, 2021).

10.12††

  

Antibody Library Subscription Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2016, by and between Distributed Bio, Inc. and Surrozen, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-256146), filed with the SEC on
July 7, 2021).

10.13††

  

First Amendment to the Antibody Library Subscription Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2016, by and between Distributed Bio, Inc.
and Surrozen, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-256146), filed
with the SEC on July 7, 2021).

10.14††

  

Exclusive (Equity Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2016, by and between the Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University
and Surrozen, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-256146), filed
with the SEC on July 7, 2021).

10.15††

  

Amendment No. 1 the Exclusive (Equity Agreement, dated as of July 5, 2016, by and between the Board of Trustees of the Leland
Stanford Junior University and Surrozen, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4/A
(File No. 333-256146), filed with the SEC on July 7, 2021).

10.16††

  

Amendment No. 2 to the Exclusive (Equity Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2016, by and between the Board of Trustees of the Leland
Stanford Junior University and Surrozen, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4/A
(File No. 333-256146), filed with the SEC on July 7, 2021).

10.17††

  

Amendment No. 3 to the Exclusive (Equity Agreement, dated as of January 19, 2021, by and between the Board of Trustees of the Leland
Stanford Junior University and Surrozen, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4/A
(File No. 333-256146), filed with the SEC on July 7, 2021).

10.18††

  

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of June 6, 2018, by and between Surrozen, Inc. and The Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford
Junior University (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4/A (File No. 333-256146), filed
with the SEC on July 7, 2021).

16.1*   Letter from Marcum LLP.

21.1*   List of Subsidiaries.

99.1*   Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements and Related Notes of Legacy Surrozen, Inc. as of June 30, 2021 and 2020.

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1804591/000119312521159847/d127117dex1021.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521198826/d40894dex109.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521198826/d40894dex1010.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521198826/d40894dex1011.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521198826/d40894dex1012.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521198826/d40894dex1013.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521198826/d40894dex1014.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521198826/d40894dex1015.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521198826/d40894dex1016.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1824893/000119312521198826/d40894dex1017.htm


Exhibit
No.   Description

99.2*   Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information of Surrozen, Inc. at June 30, 2021.

104
  

Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

 

* Filed herewith.
 

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
 

† Schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or
exhibit will be furnished to the SEC upon request.

 

†† New Surrozen has redacted provisions or terms of this Exhibit pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(10). New Surrozen agrees to furnish an
unredacted copy of the Exhibit to the SEC upon its request.



SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
 

SURROZEN, INC.
 
By:  /s/ Craig Parker

 Name: Craig Parker
 Title: Chief Executive Officer

Dated: August 17, 2021



Exhibit 3.1
 

  
Delaware

The First State   
Page 1

I, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED IS A TRUE
AND CORRECT COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF DOMESTICATION OF “CONSONANCE-HFW ACQUISITION CORP.”, FILED IN THIS
OFFICE THE TENTH DAY OF AUGUST, A.D. 2021, AT 4:12 O`CLOCK P.M.
 

   

    
    Jeffrey W. Bullock, Secretary of State
    
    

6155644 8100D     Authentication: 203889534
SR# 20212939940
     

Date: 08-10-21

You may verify this certificate online at corp.delaware.gov/authver.shtml     



  
Delaware

The First State   
Page 1

I, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED IS A TRUE
AND CORRECT COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF “SURROZEN, INC.” FILED IN THIS OFFICE ON THE TENTH DAY OF
AUGUST, A.D. 2021, AT 4:12 O`CLOCK P.M.
 

   

    
    Jeffrey W. Bullock, Secretary of State
    
    

6155644 8100D     Authentication: 203889534
SR# 20212939940
     

Date: 08-10-21

You may verify this certificate online at corp.delaware.gov/authver.shtml     



State of Delaware   
Secretary of State   

Division of Corporations   
Delivered 04:12 PM 08/10/2021   

FILED 04:12 PM 08/10/2021   CERTIFICATE OF CORPORATE DOMESTICATION
SR 20212939940 - File Number 6155644   OF CONSONANCE-HFW ACQUISITION CORP.

Pursuant to Section 388
of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”)

Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp., presently a Cayman Islands exempted company (the “Company”), DOES HEREBY CERTIFY:

1. The Company was first incorporated on August 21, 2020 under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

2. The name of the Company immediately prior to the filing of this Certificate of Corporate Domestication with the Secretary of State of the State
of Delaware in accordance with Section 388 of the DGCL was Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp.

3. The name of the Company as set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation being filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in
accordance with Section 388(b) of the DGCL is “Surrozen, Inc.”

4. The jurisdiction that constituted the seat, siege social, or principal place of business or central administration of the Company, or any other
equivalent thereto under applicable law, immediately prior to the filing of this Certificate of Corporate Domestication in accordance with the provisions
of Section 388 of the DGCL was the Cayman Islands.

5. The domestication has been approved in the manner provided for by the document, instrument, agreement or other writing, as the case may be,
governing the internal affairs of the Company and the conduct of its business or by applicable non-Delaware law, as appropriate.

The corporate domestication of the Company shall be effective upon the filing of this Certificate of Corporate Domestication and the Certificate of
Incorporation in accordance with Section 388 of the DGCL and with the Secretary of State of Delaware.

[Signature page follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Certificate to be executed by its duly authorized officer on this 10th day of August, 2021.
 

CONSONANCE-HFW ACQUISITION CORP., a
Cayman Islands exempted company

By:  /s/ Gad Soffer
 Name: Gad Soffer
 Title: Chief Executive Officer



State of Delaware     
Secretary of State   CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION   

Division of Corporations   OF   
Delivered 04:12 PM 08/10/2021   SURROZEN, INC.   

FILED 04:12 PM 08/10/2021     
SR 20212939940 - File Number 6155644     

I.

The name of this corporation is Surrozen, Inc. (the “Company”).

II.

The address of the registered office of the Company in the State of Delaware is The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange Street in the City of
Wilmington, County of New Castle, Delaware 19801 and the name of the registered agent of the Company at such address is The Corporation Trust
Company.

III.

The purpose of the Company is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a corporation may be organized under the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”).

A. This Company is authorized to issue two classes of stock to be designated, respectively, “Cammon Stock” and “Preferred Stock.” The total
number of shares which the Company is authorized to issue is 510,000,000 shares. 500,000,000 shares of which shall be Common Stock, having a par
value per share of $0.0001. 10,000,000 shares of which shall be Preferred Stock, having a par value per share of $0.0001.

B. The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board of Directors”)
is hereby expressly authorized to provide for the issue of all or any of the shares of the Preferred Stock in one or more series, and to fix the number of
shares and to determine or alter for each such series, such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designation, preferences, and
relative, participating, optional, or other rights and such qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof, as shall be stated and expressed in the
resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors providing for the issuance of such shares and as may be permitted by the DGCL. The Board
of Directors is also expressly authorized to increase or decrease the number of shares of any series subsequent to the issuance of shares of that series, but
not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding. In case the number of shares of any series shall be decreased in accordance with the
foregoing sentence, the shares constituting such decrease shall resume the status that they had prior to the adoption of the resolution originally fixing the
number of shares of such series. The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares
thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of the stock of the Company entitled to vote thereon,
without a separate vote of the holders of the Preferred Stock, or of any series thereof, unless a vote of any such holders is required pursuant to the terms
of any certificate of designation filed with respect to any series of Preferred Stock.

C. Each outstanding share of Common Stock shall entitle the holder thereof to one vote on each matter properly submitted to the stockholders of
the Company for their vote; provided, however, that, except as otherwise required by law, holders of Common Stock shall not be entitled to vote on any
amendment to this Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designation filed with respect to any series of Preferred Stock) that relates
solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the holders of such affected series are entitled, either separately or together as
a class with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon by law or pursuant to this Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate
of designation filed with respect to any series of Preferred Stock).
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V.

The name and mailing address of the incorporator are as follows:
 
Name   Address    
Gad Softer

  
1 Palmer Square, Suite 350
Princeton, NJ 08540   

For the management of the business and for the conduct of the affairs of the Company, and in further definition, limitation and regulation of the
powers of the Company, of its directors and of its stockholders or any class thereof, as the case may be, it is further provided that:

A. MANAGEMENT OF BUSINESS. The management of the business and the conduct of the affairs of the Company shall be vested in its Board of
Directors. The number of directors which shall constitute the Board of Directors shall be fixed exclusively by resolutions adopted by a majority of the
authorized number of directors constituting the Board of Directors.

B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors under specified
circumstances, upon the filing of this Certificate of Incorporation, the directors shall be divided into three classes designated as Class I, Class II and
Class III, respectively. The Board of Directors is authorized to assign members of the Board of Directors already in office to such classes at the time the
classification becomes effective. At the first annual meeting of stockholders following the initial classification of the Board of Directors, the term of
office of the Class I directors shall expire and Class I directors shall be elected for a full term of three years. At the second annual meeting of
stockholders following such initial classification, the term of office of the Class II directors shall expire and Class II directors shall be elected for a full
term of three years. At the third annual meeting of stockholders following such initial classification, the term of office of the Class III directors shall
expire and Class III directors shall be elected for a full term of three years. At each succeeding annual meeting of stockholders, directors shall be elected
for a full term of three years to succeed the directors of the class whose terms expire at such annual meeting.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section, each director shall serve until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified or until
his or her earlier death, resignation or removal. No decrease in the number of directors constituting the Board of Directors shall shorten the term of any
incumbent director.

C. REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS.

1. Subject to the rights of any series of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors under specified circumstances, neither the Board of
Directors nor any individual director may be removed without cause.

2. Subject to any limitation imposed by applicable law, any individual director or directors may be removed with cause by the affirmative
vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the voting power of all then-outstanding shares of capital stock of the
Company entitled to vote generally at an election of directors.
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D. VACANCIES. Subject to any limitations imposed by applicable law and subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, any
vacancies on the Board of Directors resulting from death, resignation, disqualification, removal or other causes and any newly created directorships
resulting from any increase in the number of directors, shall, unless the Board of Directors determines by resolution that any such vacancies or newly
created directorships shall be filled by the stockholders and except as otherwise provided by applicable law, be filled only by the affirmative vote of a
majority of the directors then in office, even though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors, and not by the stockholders. Any director elected in
accordance with the preceding sentence shall hold office for the remainder of the full term of the director for which the vacancy was created or occurred
and until such director’s successor shall have been elected and qualified.

E. BYLAW AMENDMENTS.

1. The Board of Directors is expressly empowered to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Company. Any adoption, amendment or
repeal of the Bylaws of the Company by the Board of Directors shall require the approval of a majority of the directors then in office. The stockholders
shall also have power to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Company; provided, however, that, in addition to any vote of the holders of any class
or series of stock of the Company required by law or by this Certificate of Incorporation, such action by stockholders shall require the affirmative vote
of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the capital stock of the
Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.

2. The directors of the Company need not be elected by written ballot unless the Bylaws so provide.

3. No action shall be taken by the stockholders of the Company except at an annual or special meeting of stockholders called in accordance
with the Bylaws, and no action shall be taken by the stockholders by written consent or electronic transmission.

4. Advance notice of stockholder nominations for the election of directors and of business to be brought by stockholders before any
meeting of the stockholders of the Company shall be given in the manner provided in the Bylaws of the Company.

5. In the event that a member of the Board of Directors of the Company who is not an employee of the Company, or any partner, member,
director, stockholder, employee or agent of such member, other than someone who is an employee of the Company (collectively, the “Covered
Persons”), acquires knowledge of any business opportunity matter, potential transaction, interest or other matter, unless such matter, transaction or
interest is presented to, or acquired, created or developed by, or otherwise comes into the possession of, a Covered Person expressly and solely in
connection with such individual’s service as a member of the Board of Directors of the Company (a “Corporate Opportunity”), then the Company,
pursuant to Section 122(17) of the DGCL and to the maximum extent permitted from time to time under Delaware law, (i) renounces any expectancy
that such Covered Person offer an opportunity to participate in such Corporate Opportunity to the Company and (ii) to the fullest extent permitted by
law, waives any claim that such opportunity constituted a Corporate Opportunity that should have been presented by such Covered Person to the
Company or any of its affiliates. No amendment or repeal of this paragraph shall apply to or have any effect on the liability or alleged liability of any
officer, director or stockholder of the Company for or with respect to any opportunities of which such officer, director or stockholder becomes aware
prior to such amendment or repeal.
 

3



VII.

A. The liability of the directors for monetary damages shall be eliminated to the fullest extent under applicable law.

B. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Company is authorized to provide indemnification of (and advancement of expenses to)
directors, officers and agents of the Company (and any other persons to which applicable law permits the Company to provide indemnification) through
Bylaw provisions, agreements with such agents or other persons, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise in excess of the
indemnification and advancement otherwise permitted by such applicable law. If applicable law is amended after approval by the stockholders of this
Article VI to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of a director to the Company
shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as so amended.

C. Any repeal or modification of this Article VII shall only be prospective and shall not affect the rights or protections or increase the liability of
any director under this Article VII in effect at the time of the alleged occurrence of any act or omission to act giving rise to liability or indemnification.

VII.

A. Unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if and only
if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any state court located within the State of Delaware or, if and only if
all such state courts lack subject matter jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) and any appellate court therefrom shall be the
sole and exclusive forum for the following claims or causes of action under the Delaware statutory or common law: (A) any derivative claim or cause of
action brought on behalf of the Company; (B) any claim or cause of action for breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer
or other employee of the Company, to the Company or the Company’s stockholders; (C) any claim or cause of action against the Company or any
current or former director, officer or other employee of the Company , arising out of or pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, this Certificate of
Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Company (as each may be amended from time to time); (D) any claim or cause of action seeking to interpret, apply,
enforce or determine the validity of this Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Company (as each may be amended from time to time,
including any right, obligation, or remedy thereunder); (E) any claim or cause of action as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware; and (F) any claim or cause of action against the Company or any current or former director, officer or other
employee of the Company , governed by the internal-affairs doctrine, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the court having
personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. This Section A of Article VIII shall not apply to claims or causes of action
brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”), or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.

B. Unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the federal district courts
of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the 1933 Act,
including all causes of action asserted against any defendant named in such complaint. For the avoidance of doubt, this provision is intended to benefit
and may be enforced by us, our officers and directors, the underwriters to any offering giving rise to such complaint, and any other professional entity
whose profession gives authority to a statement made by that person or entity and who has prepared or certified any part of the documents underlying
the offering.
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C. Any person or entity holding, owning or otherwise acquiring any interest in any security of the Company shall be deemed to have notice of and
consented to the provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation.

IX.

A. The Company reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner
now or hereafter prescribed by statute, except as provided in paragraph B. of this Article IX, and all rights conferred upon the stockholders herein are
granted subject to this reservation.

B. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation or any provision of applicable law which might otherwise permit a
lesser vote or no vote, but in addition to any affirmative vote of the holders of any particular class or series of the capital stock of the Company required
by law or by this Certificate of Incorporation or any certificate of designation filed with respect to a series of Preferred Stock, the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to alter, amend or repeal Articles VI, VII, VIII
and IX.

*    *    *    *
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Surrozen, Inc. has caused this Certificate of Incorporation to be executed this 10th day of August, 2021.
 

SURROZEN, INC.

By:  /s/ Gad Soffer
 Name: Gad Soffer
 Title: Sole Incorporator
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BYLAWS

OF

SURROZEN, INC.
(A DELAWARE CORPORATION)

ARTICLE I

OFFICES

Section 1. Registered Office. The registered office of the corporation in the State of Delaware shall be in the City of Wilmington,
County of New Castle.

Section 2. Other Offices. The corporation may also have and maintain an office or principal place of business at such place as may
be fixed by the Board of Directors, and may also have offices at such other places, both within and without the State of Delaware as the
Board of Directors may from time to time determine or the business of the corporation may require.

ARTICLE II

CORPORATE SEAL

Section 3. Corporate Seal. The Board of Directors may adopt a corporate seal. If adopted, the corporate seal shall consist of a die
bearing the name of the corporation and the inscription, “Corporate Seal-Delaware.” Said seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile
thereof to be impressed or affixed or reproduced or otherwise.

ARTICLE III

STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Section 4. Place of Meetings. Meetings of the stockholders of the corporation may be held at such place, either within or without the
State of Delaware, as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion,
determine that the meeting shall not be held at any place, but may instead be held solely by means of remote communication as provided
under the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”).
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Section 5. Annual Meetings.

(a) The annual meeting of the stockholders of the corporation, for the purpose of election of directors and for such other business as may
properly come before it, shall be held on such date and at such time as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors. Nominations of
persons for election to the Board of Directors of the corporation and the proposal of business to be considered by the stockholders may be made at an
annual meeting of stockholders: (i) pursuant to the corporation’s notice of meeting of stockholders (with respect to business other than nominations); (ii)
brought specifically by or at the direction of the Board of Directors; or (iii) by any stockholder of the corporation who was a stockholder of record at the
time of giving the stockholder’s notice provided for in Section 5(b) below, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who complied with the notice
procedures set forth in Section 5. For the avoidance of doubt, clause (iii) above shall be the exclusive means for a stockholder to make nominations and
submit other business (other than matters properly included in the corporation’s notice of meeting of stockholders and proxy statement under Rule 14a-8
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder (the “1934 Act”)) before an annual meeting of
stockholders.

(b) At an annual meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be conducted as is a proper matter for stockholder action under
Delaware law and as shall have been properly brought before the meeting.

(i) For nominations for the election to the Board of Directors to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder
pursuant to clause (iii) of Section 5(a) of these Bylaws, the stockholder must deliver written notice to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of
the corporation on a timely basis as set forth in Section 5(b)(iii) and must update and supplement such written notice on a timely basis as set forth in
Section 5(c). Such stockholder’s notice shall set forth: (A) as to each nominee such stockholder proposes to nominate at the meeting: (1) the name, age,
business address and residence address of such nominee, (2) the principal occupation or employment of such nominee, (3) the class and number of
shares of each class of capital stock of the corporation which are owned of record and beneficially by such nominee, (4) the date or dates on which such
shares were acquired and the investment intent of such acquisition, (5) such other information concerning such nominee as would be required to be
disclosed in a proxy statement soliciting proxies for the election of such nominee as a director in an election contest (even if an election contest is not
involved), or that is otherwise required to be disclosed pursuant to Section 14 of the 1934 Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder
(including such person’s written consent to being named as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected); and (B) the information required by
Section 5(b)(iv). The corporation may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information as it may reasonably require to determine the
eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as an independent director of the corporation or that could be material to a reasonable stockholder’s
understanding of the independence, or lack thereof, of such proposed nominee.
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(ii) Other than proposals sought to be included in the corporation’s proxy materials pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the 1934 Act, for
business other than nominations for the election to the Board of Directors to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder pursuant to
clause (iii) of Section 5(a), the stockholder must deliver written notice to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation on a timely
basis as set forth in Section 5(b)(iii), and must update and supplement such written notice on a timely basis as set forth in Section 5(c). Such
stockholder’s notice shall set forth: (A) as to each matter such stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, a brief description of the business
desired to be brought before the meeting, the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting, and any material interest (including any anticipated
benefit of such business to any Proponent (as defined below) other than solely as a result of its ownership of the corporation’s capital stock, that is
material to any Proponent individually, or to the Proponents in the aggregate) in such business of any Proponent; and (B) the information required by
Section 5(b)(iv).

(iii) To be timely, the written notice required by Section 5(b)(i) or 5(b)(ii) must be received by the Secretary at the principal
executive offices of the corporation not later than the close of business on the ninetieth (90th) day nor earlier than the close of business on the one
hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting; provided, however, that, subject to the last sentence
of this Section 5(b)(iii), in the event that the date of the annual meeting is advanced more than thirty (30) days prior to or delayed by more than thirty
(30) days after the anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so received not earlier than the
close of business on the one hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the
ninetieth (90th) day prior to such annual meeting or the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is
first made. In no event shall an adjournment or a postponement of an annual meeting for which notice has been given, or the public announcement
thereof has been made, commence a new time period for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary provided herein, for the first annual meeting following the initial public offering of common stock of the corporation, a stockholder’s notice
shall be timely if received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than the close of business on the later of the
ninetieth (90th) day prior to the scheduled date of such annual meeting or the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement of the
date of such annual meeting is first made or sent by the corporation.

(iv) The written notice required by Section 5(b)(i) or 5(b)(ii) shall also set forth, as of the date of the notice and as to the stockholder
giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal is made (each, a “Proponent” and collectively, the
“Proponents”): (A) the name and address of each Proponent, as they appear on the corporation’s books; (B) the class, series and number of shares of the
corporation that are owned beneficially and of record by each Proponent; (C) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding (whether
oral or in writing) with respect to such nomination or proposal between or among any Proponent and any of its affiliates or associates, and any others
(including their names) acting in concert, or otherwise under the agreement, arrangement or understanding, with any of the foregoing; (D) a
representation that the Proponents are holders of record or beneficial owners, as the case may be, of shares of the corporation entitled to vote at the
meeting and intend to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person or persons specified in the notice (with respect to a notice
under Section 5(b)(i)) or to propose the business that is specified in the notice (with respect to a notice under Section 5(b)(ii)); (E) a representation as to
whether the Proponents intend to deliver a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of a sufficient number of holders of the corporation’s voting
shares to elect such nominee
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or nominees (with respect to a notice under Section 5(b)(i)) or to carry such proposal (with respect to a notice under Section 5(b)(ii)); (F) to the extent
known by any Proponent, the name and address of any other stockholder supporting the proposal on the date of such stockholder’s notice; and (G) a
description of all Derivative Transactions (as defined below) by each Proponent during the previous twelve (12) month period, including the date of the
transactions and the class, series and number of securities involved in, and the material economic terms of, such Derivative Transactions.

For purposes of Sections 5 and 6, a “Derivative Transaction” means any agreement, arrangement, interest or understanding entered into by, or on behalf
or for the benefit of, any Proponent or any of its affiliates or associates, whether record or beneficial:

(w) the value of which is derived in whole or in part from the value of any class or series of shares or other securities of the corporation,

(x) which otherwise provides any direct or indirect opportunity to gain or share in any gain derived from a change in the value of securities of the
corporation,

(y) the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss, manage risk or benefit of security value or price changes, or

(z) which provides the right to vote or increase or decrease the voting power of, such Proponent, or any of its affiliates or associates, with respect
to any securities of the corporation,

which agreement, arrangement, interest or understanding may include, without limitation, any option, warrant, debt position, note, bond, convertible
security, swap, stock appreciation right, short position, profit interest, hedge, right to dividends, voting agreement, performance-related fee or
arrangement to borrow or lend shares (whether or not subject to payment, settlement, exercise or conversion in any such class or series), and any
proportionate interest of such Proponent in the securities of the corporation held by any general or limited partnership, or any limited liability company,
of which such Proponent is, directly or indirectly, a general partner or managing member.

(c) A stockholder providing written notice required by Section 5(b)(i) or (ii) shall update and supplement such notice in writing, if
necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided in such notice is true and correct in all material respects as of (i) the record date
for the meeting and (ii) the date that is five (5) business days prior to the meeting and, in the event of any adjournment or postponement thereof, five
(5) business days prior to such adjourned or postponed meeting. In the case of an update and supplement pursuant to clause (i) of this Section 5(c), such
update and supplement shall be received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than five (5) business days after
the record date for the meeting. In the case of an update and supplement pursuant to clause (ii) of this Section 5(c), such update and supplement shall be
received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than two (2) business days prior to the date for the meeting, and,
in the event of any adjournment or postponement thereof, two (2) business days prior to such adjourned or postponed meeting.
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(d) Notwithstanding anything in Section 5(b)(iii) to the contrary, in the event that the number of directors in an Expiring Class (as defined
below) is increased and there is no public announcement of the appointment of a director to such class, or, if no appointment was made, of the vacancy
in such class, made by the corporation at least ten (10) days before the last day a stockholder may deliver a notice of nomination in accordance with
Section 5(b)(iii), a stockholder’s notice required by this Section 5 and which complies with the requirements in Section 5(b)(i), other than the timing
requirements in Section 5(b)(iii), shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions in such Expiring Class created
by such increase, if it shall be received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than the close of business on the
tenth (10th) day following the day on which such public announcement is first made by the corporation. For purposes of this section, an “Expiring
Class” shall mean a class of directors whose term shall expire at the next annual meeting of stockholders.

(e) A person shall not be eligible for election or re-election as a director, unless the person is nominated in accordance with either clause
(ii) or (iii) of Section 5(a). Except as otherwise required by law, the chairperson of the meeting shall have the power and duty to determine whether a
nomination or any business proposed to be brought before the meeting was made, or proposed, as the case may be, in accordance with the procedures set
forth in these Bylaws and, if any proposed nomination or business is not in compliance with these Bylaws, or the Proponent does not act in accordance
with the representations in Sections 5(b)(iv)(D) and 5(b)(iv)(E), to declare that such proposal or nomination shall not be presented for stockholder action
at the meeting and shall be disregarded, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such nominations or such business may have been solicited or
received.

(f) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 5, in order to include information with respect to a stockholder proposal in the
proxy statement and form of proxy for a stockholders’ meeting, a stockholder must also comply with all applicable requirements of the 1934 Act and the
rules and regulations thereunder. Nothing in these Bylaws shall be deemed to affect any rights of stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the
corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the 1934 Act; provided, however, that any references in these Bylaws to the 1934 Act or the
rules and regulations thereunder are not intended to and shall not limit the requirements applicable to proposals and/or nominations to be considered
pursuant to Section 5(a)(iii) of these Bylaws.

(g) For purposes of Sections 5 and 6,

(i) “public announcement” shall mean disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or
comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to
Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the 1934 Act; and

(ii) “affiliates” and “associates” shall have the meanings set forth in Rule 405 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“1933 Act”).
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Section 6. Special Meetings.

(a) Special meetings of the stockholders of the corporation may be called, for any purpose as is a proper matter for stockholder action
under Delaware law, by (i) the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, (ii) the Chief Executive Officer, or (iii) the Board of Directors pursuant to a
resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of authorized directors (whether or not there exist any vacancies in previously authorized
directorships at the time any such resolution is presented to the Board of Directors for adoption).

(b) The Board of Directors shall determine the time and place, if any, of such special meeting. Upon determination of the time and place, if
any, of the meeting, the Secretary shall cause a notice of meeting to be given to the stockholders entitled to vote, in accordance with the provisions of
Section 7. No business may be transacted at such special meeting otherwise than specified in the notice of meeting.

(c) Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are
to be elected (i) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (ii) by any stockholder of the corporation who is a stockholder of record at the time of
giving notice provided for in this paragraph, who shall be entitled to vote at the meeting and who delivers written notice to the Secretary of the
corporation setting forth the information required by Section 5(b)(i). In the event the corporation calls a special meeting of stockholders for the purpose
of electing one or more directors to the Board of Directors, any such stockholder of record may nominate a person or persons (as the case may be), for
election to such position(s) as specified in the corporation’s notice of meeting, if written notice setting forth the information required by Section 5(b)(i)
of these Bylaws shall be received by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than the close of business on the later of
the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such meeting or the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement is first made of the date of the
special meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board of Directors to be elected at such meeting. The stockholder shall also update and
supplement such information as required under Section 5(c). In no event shall an adjournment or a postponement of a special meeting for which notice
has been given, or the public announcement thereof has been made, commence a new time period for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described
above.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 6, a stockholder must also comply with all applicable requirements of the
1934 Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to matters set forth in this Section 6. Nothing in these Bylaws shall be deemed to affect
any rights of stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the 1934 Act; provided,
however, that any references in these Bylaws to the 1934 Act or the rules and regulations thereunder are not intended to and shall not limit the
requirements applicable to nominations for the election to the Board of Directors to be considered pursuant to Section 6(c) of these Bylaws.
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Section 7. Notice of Meetings. Except as otherwise provided by    law, notice, given in writing or by electronic transmission, of each
meeting of stockholders shall be given not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting to each
stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting, such notice to specify the place, if any, date and hour, in the case of special meetings, the
purpose or purposes of the meeting, and the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxy holders may be
deemed to be present in person and vote at any such meeting. If mailed, notice is given when deposited in the United States mail, postage
prepaid, directed to the stockholder at such stockholder’s address as it appears on the records of the corporation. Notice of the time, place,
if any, and purpose of any meeting of stockholders may be waived in writing, signed by the person entitled to notice thereof, or by
electronic transmission by such person, either before or after such meeting, and will be waived by any stockholder by his or her attendance
thereat in person, by remote communication, if applicable, or by proxy, except when the stockholder attends a meeting for the express
purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or
convened. Any stockholder so waiving notice of such meeting shall be bound by the proceedings of any such meeting in all respects as if
due notice thereof had been given.

Section 8. Quorum. At all meetings of stockholders, except where otherwise provided by statute or by the Certificate of
Incorporation, or by these Bylaws, the presence, in person, by remote communication, if applicable, or by proxy duly authorized, of the
holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. In the
absence of a quorum, any meeting of stockholders may be adjourned, from time to time, either by the chairperson of the meeting or by
vote of the holders of a majority of the shares represented thereat, but no other business shall be transacted at such meeting. The
stockholders present at a duly called or convened meeting, at which a quorum is present, may continue to transact business until
adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough stockholders to leave less than a quorum. Except as otherwise provided by statute
or by applicable stock exchange rules, or by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, in all matters other than the election of
directors, the affirmative vote of the majority of shares present in person, by remote communication, if applicable, or represented by proxy
at the meeting and entitled to vote generally on the subject matter shall be the act of the stockholders. Except as otherwise provided by
statute, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares present in
person, by remote communication, if applicable, or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote generally on the election of
directors. Where a separate vote by a class or classes or series is required, except where otherwise provided by the statute or by the
Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, a majority of the outstanding shares of such class or classes or series, present in person, by
remote communication, if applicable, or represented by proxy duly authorized, shall constitute a quorum entitled to take action with
respect to that vote on that matter. Except where otherwise provided by statute or by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the
affirmative vote of the majority (plurality, in the case of the election of directors) of shares of such class or classes or series present in
person, by remote communication, if applicable, or represented by proxy at the meeting shall be the act of such class or classes or series.
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Section 9. Adjournment And Notice Of Adjourned Meetings. Any meeting of stockholders, whether annual or special, may be
adjourned from time to time either by the chairperson of the meeting or by the vote of a majority of the shares present in person, by remote
communication, if applicable, or represented by proxy at the meeting. When a meeting is adjourned to another time or place, if any, notice
need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the time and place, if any, thereof are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is
taken. At the adjourned meeting, the corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. If
the adjournment is for more than thirty (30) days or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice
of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting.

Section 10. Voting Rights. For the purpose of determining those stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of the stockholders,
except as otherwise provided by law, only persons in whose names shares stand on the stock records of the corporation on the record date,
as provided in Section 12 of these Bylaws, shall be entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders. Every person entitled to vote shall have
the right to do so either in person, by remote communication, if applicable, or by an agent or agents authorized by a proxy granted in
accordance with Delaware law. An agent so appointed need not be a stockholder. No proxy shall be voted after three (3) years from its date
of creation unless the proxy provides for a longer period.

Section 11. Joint Owners of Stock. If shares or other securities having voting power stand of record in the names of two (2) or more
persons, whether fiduciaries, members of a partnership, joint tenants, tenants in common, tenants by the entirety, or otherwise, or if two
(2) or more persons have the same fiduciary relationship respecting the same shares, unless the Secretary is given written notice to the
contrary and is furnished with a copy of the instrument or order appointing them or creating the relationship wherein it is so provided, their
acts with respect to voting shall have the following effect: (a) if only one (1) votes, his or her act binds all; (b) if more than one (1) votes,
the act of the majority so voting binds all; (c) if more than one (1) votes, but the vote is evenly split on any particular matter, each faction
may vote the securities in question proportionally, or may apply to the Delaware Court of Chancery for relief as provided in the DGCL,
Section 217(b). If the instrument filed with the Secretary shows that any such tenancy is held in unequal interests, a majority or even-split
for the purpose of subsection (c) shall be a majority or even-split in interest.
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Section 12. List of Stockholders. The Secretary (or the corporation’s transfer agent or other person authorized by these Bylaws or
by law) shall prepare and make, at least ten (10) days before every meeting of stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to
vote at said meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the
name of each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, (a) on a
reasonably accessible electronic network, provided that the information required to gain access to such list is provided with the notice of
the meeting, or (b) during ordinary business hours, at the principal place of business of the corporation. In the event that the corporation
determines to make the list available on an electronic network, the corporation may take reasonable steps to ensure that such information is
available only to stockholders of the corporation. The list shall be open to examination of any stockholder during the time of the meeting
as provided by law.

Section 13. Action Without Meeting.

No action shall be taken by the stockholders except at an annual or special meeting of stockholders called in accordance with these
Bylaws, and no action shall be taken by the stockholders by written consent or by electronic transmission.

Section 14. Organization.

(a) At every meeting of stockholders, the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, or, if a Chairperson has not been appointed or is absent,
the President, or, if the President is absent, a chairperson of the meeting chosen by a majority in interest of the stockholders entitled to vote, present in
person or by proxy, shall act as chairperson. The Secretary, or, in his or her absence, an Assistant Secretary directed to do so by the President, shall act as
secretary of the meeting.

(b) The Board of Directors of the corporation shall be entitled to make such rules or regulations for the conduct of meetings of
stockholders as it shall deem necessary, appropriate or convenient. Subject to such rules and regulations of the Board of Directors, if any, the chairperson
of the meeting shall have the right and authority to prescribe such rules, regulations and procedures and to do all such acts as, in the judgment of such
chairperson, are necessary, appropriate or convenient for the proper conduct of the meeting, including, without limitation, establishing an agenda or
order of business for the meeting, with consultation by the Lead Independent Director (as defined below), rules and procedures for maintaining order at
the meeting and the safety of those present, limitations on participation in such meeting to stockholders of record of the corporation and their duly
authorized and constituted proxies and such other persons as the chairperson shall permit, restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for the
commencement thereof, limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants and regulation of the opening and closing of the polls
for balloting on matters which are to be voted on by ballot. The date and time of the opening and closing of the polls for each matter upon which the
stockholders will vote at the meeting shall be announced at the meeting. Unless and to the extent determined by the Board of Directors or the
chairperson of the meeting, meetings of stockholders shall not be required to be held in accordance with rules of parliamentary procedure.
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ARTICLE IV

DIRECTORS

Section 15. Number And Term Of Office. The authorized number of directors of the corporation shall be fixed in accordance with
the Certificate of Incorporation. Directors need not be stockholders unless so required by the Certificate of Incorporation. If for any cause,
the directors shall not have been elected at an annual meeting, they may be elected as soon thereafter as convenient at a special meeting of
the stockholders called for that purpose in the manner provided in these Bylaws. Each director shall serve until his or her successor is duly
elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal. No decrease in the number of directors constituting the Board
of Directors shall shorten the term of any incumbent director.

Section 16. Powers. The business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors,
except as may be otherwise provided by statute or by the Certificate of Incorporation.

Section 17. Classes of Directors. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors
under specified circumstances, the directors shall be divided into three classes designated as Class I, Class II and Class III, respectively.
The Board of Directors is authorized to assign members of the Board of Directors already in office to such classes at the time the
classification becomes effective. At the first annual meeting of stockholders following the initial classification of the Board of Directors,
the term of office of the Class I directors shall expire and Class I directors shall be elected for a full term of three years. At the second
annual meeting of stockholders following such initial classification, the term of office of the Class II directors shall expire and Class II
directors shall be elected for a full term of three years. At the third annual meeting of stockholders following such initial classification, the
term of office of the Class III directors shall expire and Class III directors shall be elected for a full term of three years. At each succeeding
annual meeting of stockholders, directors shall be elected for a full term of three years to succeed the directors of the class whose terms
expire at such annual meeting.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 17, each director shall serve until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified or until his
or her earlier death, resignation or removal. No decrease in the number of directors constituting the Board of Directors shall shorten the term of any
incumbent director.

Section 18. Vacancies. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, and subject to the rights of the holders of any
series of Preferred Stock, any vacancies on the Board of Directors resulting from death, resignation, disqualification, removal or other
causes and any newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the number of directors shall, unless the Board of
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Directors determines by resolution that any such vacancies or newly created directorships shall be filled by stockholders, be filled only by
the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, even though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors, or by a sole
remaining director, and not by the stockholders, provided, however, that whenever the holders of any class or classes of stock or series
thereof are entitled to elect one or more directors by the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, vacancies and newly created
directorships of such class or classes or series shall, unless the Board of Directors determines by resolution that any such vacancies or
newly created directorships shall be filled by stockholders, be filled by a majority of the directors elected by such class or classes or series
thereof then in office, or by a sole remaining director so elected, and not by the stockholders. Any director elected in accordance with the
preceding sentence shall hold office for the remainder of the full term of the director for which the vacancy was created or occurred and
until such director’s successor shall have been elected and qualified. A vacancy in the Board of Directors shall be deemed to exist under
this Bylaw in the case of the death, removal or resignation of any director.

Section 19. Resignation. Any director may resign at any time by delivering his or her notice in writing or by electronic transmission
to the Secretary, such resignation to specify whether it will be effective at a particular time. If no such specification is made, it shall be
deemed effective at the time of delivery to the Secretary. When one or more directors shall resign from the Board of Directors, effective at
a future date, a majority of the directors then in office, including those who have so resigned, shall have power to fill such vacancy or
vacancies, the vote thereon to take effect when such resignation or resignations shall become effective, and each Director so chosen shall
hold office for the unexpired portion of the term of the Director whose place shall be vacated and until his or her successor shall have been
duly elected and qualified.

Section 20. Removal.

(a) Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors under specified circumstances neither the
Board of Directors nor any individual director may be removed without cause.

(b) Subject to any limitation imposed by applicable law, any individual director or directors may be removed with cause by the affirmative
vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the voting power of all then-outstanding shares of capital stock of the
Company entitled to vote generally at an election of directors.

Section 21. Meetings.

(a) Regular Meetings. Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be
held at any time or date and at any place within or without the State of Delaware which has been designated by the Board of Directors and publicized
among all directors, either orally or in writing, by telephone, including a voice-messaging system or other system designed to record and communicate
messages, facsimile, telegraph or telex, or by electronic mail or other electronic means. No further notice shall be required for regular meetings of the
Board of Directors.
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(b) Special Meetings. Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, special meetings of the Board of Directors may be
held at any time and place within or without the State of Delaware whenever called by the Chairperson of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or a
majority of the authorized number of directors.

(c) Meetings by Electronic Communications Equipment. Any member of the Board of Directors, or of any committee thereof, may
participate in a meeting by means of conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the
meeting can hear each other, and participation in a meeting by such means shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

(d) Notice of Special Meetings. Notice of the time and place of all special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be orally or in writing,
by telephone, including a voice messaging system or other system or technology designed to record and communicate messages, facsimile, telegraph or
telex, or by electronic mail or other electronic means, during normal business hours, at least twenty-four (24) hours before the date and time of the
meeting. If notice is sent by US mail, it shall be sent by first class mail, charges prepaid, at least three (3) days before the date of the meeting. Notice of
any meeting may be waived in writing, or by electronic transmission, at any time before or after the meeting and will be waived by any director by
attendance thereat, except when the director attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction
of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

(e) Waiver of Notice. The transaction of all business at any meeting of the Board of Directors, or any committee thereof, however called
or noticed, or wherever held, shall be as valid as though it had been transacted at a meeting duly held after regular call and notice, if a quorum be present
and if, either before or after the meeting, each of the directors not present who did not receive notice shall sign a written waiver of notice or shall waive
notice by electronic transmission. All such waivers shall be filed with the corporate records or made a part of the minutes of the meeting.

Section 22. Quorum and Voting.

(a) Unless the Certificate of Incorporation requires a greater number, and except with respect to questions related to indemnification
arising under Section 44 for which a quorum shall be one-third (1/3) of the exact number of directors fixed from time to time, a quorum of the Board of
Directors shall consist of a majority of the exact number of directors fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors in accordance with the Certificate
of Incorporation; provided, however, at any meeting whether a quorum be present or otherwise, a majority of the directors present may adjourn from
time to time until the time fixed for the next regular meeting of the Board of Directors, without notice other than by announcement at the meeting.
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(b) At each meeting of the Board of Directors at which a quorum is present, all questions and business shall be determined by the
affirmative vote of a majority of the directors present, unless a different vote be required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws.

Section 23. Action Without Meeting. Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, any action
required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if
all members of the Board of Directors or committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission, and such
writing or writings or transmission or transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors or committee. Such
filing shall be in paper form if the minutes are maintained in paper form and shall be in electronic form if the minutes are maintained in
electronic form.

Section 24. Fees and Compensation. Directors shall be entitled to such compensation for their services as may be approved by the
Board of Directors, including, if so approved, by resolution of the Board of Directors, a fixed sum and expenses of attendance, if any, for
attendance at each regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors and at any meeting of a committee of the Board of Directors.
Nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any director from serving the corporation in any other capacity as an officer,
agent, employee, or otherwise and receiving compensation therefor.

Section 25. Committees.

(a) Executive Committee. The Board of Directors may appoint an Executive Committee to consist of one (1) or more members of the
Board of Directors. The Executive Committee, to the extent permitted by law and provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors shall have and
may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the corporation, and may authorize
the seal of the corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it; but no such committee shall have the power or authority in reference to
(i) approving or adopting, or recommending to the stockholders, any action or matter (other than the election or removal of directors) expressly required
by the DGCL to be submitted to stockholders for approval, or (ii) adopting, amending or repealing any Bylaw of the corporation.

(b) Other Committees. The Board of Directors may, from time to time, appoint such other committees as may be permitted by law. Such
other committees appointed by the Board of Directors shall consist of one (1) or more members of the Board of Directors and shall have such powers
and perform such duties as may be prescribed by the resolution or resolutions creating such committees, but in no event shall any such committee have
the powers denied to the Executive Committee in these Bylaws.
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(c) Term. The Board of Directors, subject to any requirements of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock and the provisions of
subsections (a) or (b) of this Section 25, may at any time increase or decrease the number of members of a committee or terminate the existence of a
committee. The membership of a committee member shall terminate on the date of his or her death or voluntary resignation from the committee or from
the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may at any time for any reason remove any individual committee member and the Board of Directors
may fill any committee vacancy created by death, resignation, removal or increase in the number of members of the committee. The Board of Directors
may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the
committee, and, in addition, in the absence or disqualification of any member of a committee, the member or members thereof present at any meeting
and not disqualified from voting, whether or not he or they constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors to
act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member.

(d) Meetings. Unless the Board of Directors shall otherwise provide, regular meetings of the Executive Committee or any other committee
appointed pursuant to this Section 25 shall be held at such times and places as are determined by the Board of Directors, or by any such committee, and
when notice thereof has been given to each member of such committee, no further notice of such regular meetings need be given thereafter. Special
meetings of any such committee may be held at any place which has been determined from time to time by such committee, and may be called by any
Director who is a member of such committee, upon notice to the members of such committee of the time and place of such special meeting given in the
manner provided for the giving of notice to members of the Board of Directors of the time and place of special meetings of the Board of Directors.
Notice of any special meeting of any committee may be waived in writing or by electronic transmission at any time before or after the meeting and will
be waived by any director by attendance thereat, except when the director attends such special meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the
beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Unless otherwise provided by the
Board of Directors in the resolutions authorizing the creation of the committee, a majority of the authorized number of members of any such committee
shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the act of a majority of those present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be
the act of such committee.

Section 26. Lead Independent Director. The Chairperson of the Board of Directors, or if the Chairperson is not an independent
director, one of the independent directors, may be designated by the Board of Directors as lead independent director to serve until replaced
by the Board of Directors (“Lead Independent Director”). The Lead Independent Director will: serve as chairperson of Board of Directors
meetings in the absence of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors; establish the agenda for meetings of the independent directors;
coordinate with the committee chairs regarding meeting agendas and informational requirements; preside over meetings of the independent
directors; preside over any portions of meetings of the Board of Directors at which the evaluation or compensation of the Chief Executive
Officer is presented or discussed; preside over any portions of meetings of the Board of Directors at which the performance of the Board of
Directors is presented or discussed; and coordinate the activities of the other independent directors and perform such other duties as may
be established or delegated by the Chairperson of the Board of Directors.
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Section 27. Organization. At every meeting of the directors, the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, or, if a Chairperson has not
been appointed or is absent, the Lead Independent Director, or if the Lead Independent Director is absent, the Chief Executive Officer (if a
director), or, if a Chief Executive Officer is absent, the President (if a director), or if the President is absent, the most senior Vice President
(if a director), or, in the absence of any such person, a chairperson of the meeting chosen by a majority of the directors present, shall
preside over the meeting. The Secretary, or in his or her absence, any Assistant Secretary or other officer or director or other person
directed to do so by the Chairperson of the Board, the Lead Independent Director or the President, shall act as secretary of the meeting.

ARTICLE V

OFFICERS

Section 28. Officers Designated. The officers of the corporation shall include, if and when designated by the Board of Directors, the
Chief Executive Officer, the President, one or more Vice Presidents, the Secretary, the Chief Financial Officer and the Treasurer. The
Board of Directors may also appoint one or more Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers and such other officers and agents with
such powers and duties as it shall deem necessary. The Board of Directors may assign such additional titles to one or more of the officers
as it shall deem appropriate. Any one person may hold any number of offices of the corporation at any one time unless specifically
prohibited therefrom by law. The salaries and other compensation of the officers of the corporation shall be fixed by or in the manner
designated by the Board of Directors.

Section 29. Tenure And Duties Of Officers.

(a) General. All officers shall hold office at the pleasure of the Board of Directors and until their successors shall have been duly elected
and qualified, unless sooner removed. Any officer elected or appointed by the Board of Directors may be removed at any time by the Board of Directors.
If the office of any officer becomes vacant for any reason, the vacancy may be filled by the Board of Directors.

(b) Duties of Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders (subject to
Section 14) and at all meetings of the Board of Directors, unless the Chairperson of the Board of Directors or the Lead Independent Director has been
appointed and is present. Unless an officer has been appointed Chief Executive Officer of the corporation, the President shall be the chief executive
officer of the corporation and shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, have general supervision, direction and control of the business and
officers of the corporation. To the extent that a Chief Executive Officer has been appointed and no President has been appointed, all references in these
Bylaws to the President shall be deemed references to the Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer shall perform other duties commonly
incident to the office and shall also perform such other duties and have such other powers, as the Board of Directors shall designate from time to time.
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(c) Duties of President. The President shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders (subject to Section 14) and at all meeting of the
Board of Directors, unless the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, the Lead Independent Director, or the Chief Executive Officer has been appointed
and is present. Unless another officer has been appointed Chief Executive Officer of the corporation, the President shall be the chief executive officer of
the corporation and shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, have general supervision, direction and control of the business and officers of
the corporation. The President shall perform other duties commonly incident to the office and shall also perform such other duties and have such other
powers, as the Board of Directors shall designate from time to time.

(d) Duties of Vice Presidents. The Vice Presidents may assume and perform the duties of the President in the absence or disability of the
President or whenever the office of President is vacant. The Vice Presidents shall perform other duties commonly incident to their office and shall also
perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer, or, if the Chief Executive Officer has not
been appointed or is absent, the President shall designate from time to time.

(e) Duties of Secretary. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the stockholders and of the Board of Directors and shall record all acts
and proceedings thereof in the minute book of the corporation. The Secretary shall give notice in conformity with these Bylaws of all meetings of the
stockholders and of all meetings of the Board of Directors and any committee thereof requiring notice. The Secretary shall perform all other duties
provided for in these Bylaws and other duties commonly incident to the office and shall also perform such other duties and have such other powers, as
the Board of Directors shall designate from time to time. The President may direct any Assistant Secretary or other officer to assume and perform the
duties of the Secretary in the absence or disability of the Secretary, and each Assistant Secretary shall perform other duties commonly incident to the
office and shall also perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors or the President shall designate from time to time.

(f) Duties of Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer shall keep or cause to be kept the books of account of the corporation
in a thorough and proper manner and shall render statements of the financial affairs of the corporation in such form and as often as required by the Board
of Directors or the President. The Chief Financial Officer, subject to the order of the Board of Directors, shall have the custody of all funds and
securities of the corporation. The Chief Financial Officer shall perform other duties commonly incident to the office and shall also perform such other
duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors or the President shall designate from time to time. To the extent that a Chief Financial
Officer has been appointed and no Treasurer has been appointed, all references in these Bylaws to the Treasurer shall be deemed references to the Chief
Financial Officer. The President may direct the Treasurer, if any, or any Assistant Treasurer, or the Controller or any Assistant Controller to assume and
perform the duties of the Chief Financial Officer in the absence or disability of the Chief Financial Officer, and each Treasurer and Assistant Treasurer
and each Controller and Assistant Controller shall perform other duties commonly incident to the office and shall also perform such other duties and
have such other powers as the Board of Directors or the President shall designate from time to time.
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(g) Duties of Treasurer. Unless another officer has been appointed Chief Financial Officer of the corporation, the Treasurer shall be the
chief financial officer of the corporation and shall keep or cause to be kept the books of account of the corporation in a thorough and proper manner and
shall render statements of the financial affairs of the corporation in such form and as often as required by the Board of Directors or the President, and,
subject to the order of the Board of Directors, shall have the custody of all funds and securities of the corporation. The Treasurer shall perform other
duties commonly incident to the office and shall also perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors or the President
shall designate from time to time.

Section 30. Delegation Of Authority. The Board of Directors may from time to time delegate the powers or duties of any officer to
any other officer or agent, notwithstanding any provision hereof.

Section 31. Resignations. Any officer may resign at any time by giving notice in writing or by electronic transmission to the Board
of Directors or to the President or to the Secretary. Any such resignation shall be effective when received by the person or persons to
whom such notice is given, unless a later time is specified therein, in which event the resignation shall become effective at such later time.
Unless otherwise specified in such notice, the acceptance of any such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. Any
resignation shall be without prejudice to the rights, if any, of the corporation under any contract with the resigning officer.

Section 32. Removal. Any officer may be removed from office at    any time, either with or without cause, by the affirmative vote of
a majority of the directors in office at the time, or by the unanimous written consent of the directors in office at the time, or by any
committee or by the Chief Executive Officer or by other superior officers upon whom such power of removal may have been conferred by
the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VI

EXECUTION OF CORPORATE INSTRUMENTS AND VOTING OF SECURITIES OWNED BY THE CORPORATION

Section 33. Execution Of Corporate Instruments. The Board of Directors may, in its discretion, determine the method and
designate the signatory officer or officers, or other person or persons, to execute on behalf of the corporation any corporate instrument or
document, or to sign on behalf of the corporation the corporate name without limitation, or to enter into contracts on behalf of the
corporation, except where otherwise provided by law or these Bylaws, and such execution or signature shall be binding upon the
corporation.
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All checks and drafts drawn on banks or other depositaries on funds to the credit of the corporation or in special accounts of the corporation shall
be signed by such person or persons as the Board of Directors shall authorize so to do.

Unless authorized or ratified by the Board of Directors or within the agency power of an officer, no officer, agent or employee shall have any
power or authority to bind the corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge its credit or to render it liable for any purpose or for any amount.

Section 34. Voting Of Securities Owned By The Corporation. All stock and other securities of other corporations owned or held
by the corporation for itself, or for other parties in any capacity, shall be voted, and all proxies with respect thereto shall be executed, by
the person authorized so to do by resolution of the Board of Directors, or, in the absence of such authorization, by the Chairperson of the
Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, or any Vice President.

ARTICLE VII

SHARES OF STOCK

Section 35. Form And Execution Of Certificates. The shares of the corporation shall be represented by certificates, or shall be
uncertificated. Certificates for the shares of stock, if any, of the corporation shall be in such form as is consistent with the Certificate of
Incorporation and applicable law. Every holder of stock represented by certificate in the corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate
signed by or in the name of the corporation by the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, or the President or any Vice President and by the
Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer or the Secretary or Assistant Secretary, certifying the number of shares owned by him in the corporation.
Any or all of the signatures on the certificate may be facsimiles. In case any officer, transfer agent, or registrar who has signed or whose
facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent, or registrar before such
certificate is issued, it may be issued with the same effect as if he were such officer, transfer agent, or registrar at the date of issue.

Section 36. Lost Certificates. A new certificate or certificates shall be issued in place of any certificate or certificates theretofore
issued by the corporation alleged to have been lost, stolen, or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming
the certificate of stock to be lost, stolen, or destroyed. The corporation may require, as a condition precedent to the issuance of a new
certificate or certificates, the owner of such lost, stolen, or destroyed certificate or certificates, or the owner’s legal representative, to agree
to indemnify the corporation in such manner as it shall require or to give the corporation a surety bond in such form and amount as it may
direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the corporation with respect to the certificate alleged to have been lost,
stolen, or destroyed.
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Section 37. Transfers.

(a) Transfers of record of shares of stock of the corporation shall be made only upon its books by the holders thereof, in person or by
attorney duly authorized, and, in the case of stock represented by certificate, upon the surrender of a properly endorsed certificate or certificates for a
like number of shares.

(b) The corporation shall have power to enter into and perform any agreement with any number of stockholders of any one or more classes
of stock of the corporation to restrict the transfer of shares of stock of the corporation of any one or more classes owned by such stockholders in any
manner not prohibited by the DGCL.

Section 38. Fixing Record Dates.

(a) In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any
adjournment thereof, the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the
record date is adopted by the Board of Directors, and which record date shall, subject to applicable law, not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten
(10) days before the date of such meeting. If no record date is fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to
notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or if notice
is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to
notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a
new record date for the adjourned meeting.

(b) In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or
allotment of any rights or the stockholders entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock, or for the purpose of
any other lawful action, the Board of Directors may fix, in advance, a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the
resolution fixing the record date is adopted, and which record date shall be not more than sixty (60) days prior to such action. If no record date is fixed,
the record date for determining stockholders for any such purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the
resolution relating thereto.

Section 39. Registered Stockholders. The corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its
books as the owner of shares to receive dividends, and to vote as such owner, and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other
claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof,
except as otherwise provided by the laws of Delaware.
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ARTICLE VIII

OTHER SECURITIES OF THE CORPORATION

Section 40. Execution Of Other Securities. All bonds, debentures and other corporate securities of the corporation, other than stock
certificates (covered in Section 35), may be signed by the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, the President or any Vice President, or
such other person as may be authorized by the Board of Directors, and the corporate seal impressed thereon or a facsimile of such seal
imprinted thereon and attested by the signature of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary, or the Chief Financial Officer or Treasurer or an
Assistant Treasurer; provided, however, that where any such bond, debenture or other corporate security shall be authenticated by the
manual signature, or where permissible facsimile signature, of a trustee under an indenture pursuant to which such bond, debenture or
other corporate security shall be issued, the signatures of the persons signing and attesting the corporate seal on such bond, debenture or
other corporate security may be the imprinted facsimile of the signatures of such persons. Interest coupons appertaining to any such bond,
debenture or other corporate security, authenticated by a trustee as aforesaid, shall be signed by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer of
the corporation or such other person as may be authorized by the Board of Directors, or bear imprinted thereon the facsimile signature of
such person. In case any officer who shall have signed or attested any bond, debenture or other corporate security, or whose facsimile
signature shall appear thereon or on any such interest coupon, shall have ceased to be such officer before the bond, debenture or other
corporate security so signed or attested shall have been delivered, such bond, debenture or other corporate security nevertheless may be
adopted by the corporation and issued and delivered as though the person who signed the same or whose facsimile signature shall have
been used thereon had not ceased to be such officer of the corporation.

ARTICLE IX

DIVIDENDS

Section 41. Declaration Of Dividends. Dividends upon the capital stock of the corporation, subject to the provisions of the
Certificate of Incorporation and applicable law, if any, may be declared by the Board of Directors pursuant to law at any regular or special
meeting. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the capital stock, subject to the provisions of the Certificate of
Incorporation and applicable law.

Section 42. Dividend Reserve. Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any funds of the corporation available
for dividends such sum or sums as the Board of Directors from time to time, in their absolute discretion, think proper as a reserve or
reserves to meet contingencies, or for equalizing dividends, or for repairing or maintaining any property of the corporation, or for such
other purpose as the Board of Directors shall think conducive to the interests of the corporation, and the Board of Directors may modify or
abolish any such reserve in the manner in which it was created.
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ARTICLE X

FISCAL YEAR

Section 43. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XI

INDEMNIFICATION

Section 44. Indemnification of Directors, Executive Officers, Other Officers, Employees and Other Agents.

(a) Directors and Executive Officers. The corporation shall indemnify its directors and executive officers (for the purposes of this Article
XI, “executive officers” shall have the meaning defined in Rule 3b-7 promulgated under the 1934 Act) to the extent not prohibited by the DGCL or any
other applicable law; provided, however, that the corporation may modify the extent of such indemnification by individual contracts with its directors
and executive officers; and, provided, further, that the corporation shall not be required to indemnify any director or executive officer in connection with
any proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such person unless (i) such indemnification is expressly required to be made by law, (ii) the proceeding was
authorized by the Board of Directors of the corporation, (iii) such indemnification is provided by the corporation, in its sole discretion, pursuant to the
powers vested in the corporation under the DGCL or any other applicable law or (iv) such indemnification is required to be made under subsection (d).

(b) Other Officers, Employees and Other Agents. The corporation shall have power to indemnify its other officers, employees and other
agents as set forth in the DGCL or any other applicable law. The Board of Directors shall have the power to delegate the determination of whether
indemnification shall be given to any such person to such officers or other persons as the Board of Directors shall determine.

(c) Expenses. The corporation shall advance to any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened,
pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that he is or was a director
or executive officer, of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director or executive officer of another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, prior to the final disposition of the proceeding, promptly following request therefor, all expenses
incurred by any director or executive officer in connection with such proceeding provided, however, that if the DGCL requires, an advancement of
expenses incurred by a director or executive officer in his or her capacity as a director or executive officer (and not in any other capacity in which
service was or is rendered by such indemnitee, including, without
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limitation, service to an employee benefit plan) shall be made only upon delivery to the corporation of an undertaking (hereinafter an “undertaking”), by
or on behalf of such indemnitee, to repay all amounts so advanced if it shall ultimately be determined by final judicial decision from which there is no
further right to appeal (hereinafter a “final adjudication”) that such indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified for such expenses under this section or
otherwise.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise determined pursuant to paragraph (e) of this section, no advance shall be made by the corporation
to an executive officer of the corporation (except by reason of the fact that such executive officer is or was a director of the corporation in which event
this paragraph shall not apply) in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, if a determination is reasonably
and promptly made (i) by a majority vote of directors who were not parties to the proceeding, even if not a quorum, or (ii) by a committee of such
directors designated by a majority vote of such directors, even though less than a quorum, or (iii) if there are no such directors, or such directors so
direct, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion, that the facts known to the decision-making party at the time such determination is made
demonstrate clearly and convincingly that such person acted in bad faith or in a manner that such person did not believe to be in or not opposed to the
best interests of the corporation.

(d) Enforcement. Without the necessity of entering into an express contract, all rights to indemnification and advances to directors and
executive officers under this Bylaw shall be deemed to be contractual rights and be effective to the same extent and as if provided for in a contract
between the corporation and the director or executive officer. Any right to indemnification or advances granted by this section to a director or executive
officer shall be enforceable by or on behalf of the person holding such right in any court of competent jurisdiction if (i) the claim for indemnification or
advances is denied, in whole or in part, or (ii) no disposition of such claim is made within ninety (90) days of request therefor. To the extent permitted by
law, the claimant in such enforcement action, if successful in whole or in part, shall be entitled to be paid also the expense of prosecuting the claim. In
connection with any claim for indemnification, the corporation shall be entitled to raise as a defense to any such action that the claimant has not met the
standards of conduct that make it permissible under the DGCL or any other applicable law for the corporation to indemnify the claimant for the amount
claimed. Neither the failure of the corporation (including its Board of Directors, independent legal counsel or its stockholders) to have made a
determination prior to the commencement of such action that indemnification of the claimant is proper in the circumstances because he has met the
applicable standard of conduct set forth in the DGCL or any other applicable law, nor an actual determination by the corporation (including its Board of
Directors, independent legal counsel or its stockholders) that the claimant has not met such applicable standard of conduct, shall be a defense to the
action or create a presumption that claimant has not met the applicable standard of conduct.

(e) Non-Exclusivity of Rights. The rights conferred on any person by this Bylaw shall not be exclusive of any other right which such
person may have or hereafter acquire under any applicable statute, provision of the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, agreement, vote of stockholders
or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in his or her official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding office. The
corporation is specifically authorized to enter into individual contracts with any or all of its directors, officers, employees or agents respecting
indemnification and advances, to the fullest extent not prohibited by the DGCL, or by any other applicable law.
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(f) Survival of Rights. The rights conferred on any person by this Bylaw shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director or
executive officer and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.

(g) Insurance. To the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL or any other applicable law, the corporation, upon approval by the Board of
Directors, may purchase insurance on behalf of any person required or permitted to be indemnified pursuant to this section.

(h) Amendments. Any repeal or modification of this section shall only be prospective and shall not affect the rights under this Bylaw in
effect at the time of the alleged occurrence of any action or omission to act that is the cause of any proceeding against any agent of the corporation.

(i) Saving Clause. If this Bylaw or any portion hereof shall be invalidated on any ground by any court of competent jurisdiction, then the
corporation shall nevertheless indemnify each director and executive officer to the full extent not prohibited by any applicable portion of this section that
shall not have been invalidated, or by any other applicable law. If this section shall be invalid due to the application of the indemnification provisions of
another jurisdiction, then the corporation shall indemnify each director and executive officer to the full extent under any other applicable law.

(j) Certain Definitions. For the purposes of this Bylaw, the following definitions shall apply:

(i) The term “proceeding” shall be broadly construed and shall include, without limitation, the investigation, preparation,
prosecution, defense, settlement, arbitration and appeal of, and the giving of testimony in, any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative.

(ii) The term “expenses” shall be broadly construed and shall include, without limitation, court costs, attorneys’ fees, witness fees,
fines, amounts paid in settlement or judgment and any other costs and expenses of any nature or kind incurred in connection with any proceeding.

(iii) The term the “corporation” shall include, in addition to the resulting corporation, any constituent corporation (including any
constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger which, if its separate existence had continued, would have had power and authority to
indemnify its directors, officers, and employees or agents, so that any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of such constituent
corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such constituent corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this section with respect to the resulting or
surviving corporation as he would have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued.
 

23



(iv) References to a “director,” “executive officer,” “officer,” “employee,” or “agent” of the corporation shall include, without
limitation, situations where such person is serving at the request of the corporation as, respectively, a director, executive officer, officer, employee,
trustee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise.

(v) References to “other enterprises” shall include employee benefit plans; references to “fines” shall include any excise taxes
assessed on a person with respect to an employee benefit plan; and references to “serving at the request of the corporation” shall include any service as a
director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director, officer, employee, or agent with
respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants, or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be
in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner “not opposed to the best
interests of the corporation” as referred to in this section.

ARTICLE XII

NOTICES

Section 45. Notices.

(a) Notice To Stockholders. Written notice to stockholders of stockholder meetings shall be given as provided in Section 7 herein.
Without limiting the manner by which notice may otherwise be given effectively to stockholders under any agreement or contract with such stockholder,
and except as otherwise required by law, written notice to stockholders for purposes other than stockholder meetings may be sent by US mail or
nationally recognized overnight courier, or by facsimile, telegraph or telex or by electronic mail or other electronic means.

(b) Notice To Directors. Any notice required to be given to any director may be given by the method stated in subsection (a), as otherwise
provided in these Bylaws, or by overnight delivery service, facsimile, telex or telegram, except that such notice other than one which is delivered
personally shall be sent to such address as such director shall have filed in writing with the Secretary, or, in the absence of such filing, to the last known
post office address of such director.

(c) Affidavit Of Mailing. An affidavit of mailing, executed by a duly authorized and competent employee of the corporation or its transfer
agent appointed with respect to the class of stock affected, or other agent, specifying the name and address or the names and addresses of the stockholder
or stockholders, or director or directors, to whom any such notice or notices was or were given, and the time and method of giving the same, shall in the
absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts therein contained.

(d) Methods of Notice. It shall not be necessary that the same method of giving notice be employed in respect of all recipients of notice,
but one permissible method may be employed in respect of any one or more, and any other permissible method or methods may be employed in respect
of any other or others.
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(e) Notice To Person With Whom Communication Is Unlawful. Whenever notice is required to be given, under any provision of law or
of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the corporation, to any person with whom communication is unlawful, the giving of such notice to such
person shall not be required and there shall be no duty to apply to any governmental authority or agency for a license or permit to give such notice to
such person. Any action or meeting which shall be taken or held without notice to any such person with whom communication is unlawful shall have the
same force and effect as if such notice had been duly given. In the event that the action taken by the corporation is such as to require the filing of a
certificate under any provision of the DGCL, the certificate shall state, if such is the fact and if notice is required, that notice was given to all persons
entitled to receive notice except such persons with whom communication is unlawful.

(f) Notice to Stockholders Sharing an Address. Except as otherwise prohibited under DGCL, any notice given under the provisions of
DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws shall be effective if given by a single written notice to stockholders who share an address if
consented to by the stockholders at that address to whom such notice is given. Such consent shall have been deemed to have been given if such
stockholder fails to object in writing to the corporation within sixty (60) days of having been given notice by the corporation of its intention to send the
single notice. Any consent shall be revocable by the stockholder by written notice to the corporation.

ARTICLE XIII

AMENDMENTS

Section 46. Amendments. Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 44(h) of these Bylaws or the provisions of the Certificate of
Incorporation, the Board of Directors is expressly empowered to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the corporation. The stockholders
also shall have power to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the corporation; provided, however, that, in addition to any vote of the
holders of any class or series of stock of the corporation required by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation, such action by stockholders
shall require the affirmative vote of the holders of at least sixty- six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the voting power of all of the
then- outstanding shares of the capital stock of the corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a
single class.
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ARTICLE XIV

LOANS TO OFFICERS

Section 47. Loans To Officers. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW, THE CORPORATION
MAY LEND MONEY TO, OR GUARANTEE ANY OBLIGATION OF, OR OTHERWISE ASSIST ANY OFFICER OR OTHER
EMPLOYEE OF THE CORPORATION OR OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES, INCLUDING ANY OFFICER OR EMPLOYEE WHO IS
A DIRECTOR OF THE CORPORATION OR ITS SUBSIDIARIES, WHENEVER, IN THE JUDGMENT OF THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS, SUCH LOAN, GUARANTEE OR ASSISTANCE MAY REASONABLY BE EXPECTED TO BENEFIT THE
CORPORATION. THE LOAN, GUARANTEE OR OTHER ASSISTANCE MAY BE WITH OR WITHOUT INTEREST AND
MAY BE UNSECURED, OR SECURED IN SUCH MANNER AS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS SHALL APPROVE,
INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, A PLEDGE OF SHARES OF STOCK OF THE CORPORATION. NOTHING IN
THESE BYLAWS SHALL BE DEEMED TO DENY, LIMIT OR RESTRICT THE POWERS OF GUARANTY OR WARRANTY
OF THE CORPORATION AT COMMON LAW OR UNDER ANY STATUTE.
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SURROZEN, INC.
CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY

I hereby certify that:

I am the duly elected and acting Secretary of Surrozen, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”); and

Attached hereto is a complete and accurate copy of the Bylaws of the Company as duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company by
Unanimous Written Consent dated [                        ], 2021 and said Bylaws are presently in effect.

This Certificate of Secretary may be executed via facsimile, electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S.
federal ESIGN Act of 2000, Uniform Electronic Transactions Act or other applicable law) or other transmission method and will be deemed to have
been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes. Signed on [                        ], 2021.
 

 
 

Secretary
 

27



Exhibit 4.5

Delaware
                The First State    Page 1 

I, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED IS A TRUE
AND CORRECT COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF DOMESTICATION OF “CONSONANCE-HFW ACQUISITION CORP.”, FILED IN THIS
OFFICE THE TENTH DAY OF AUGUST, A.D. 2021, AT 4:12 O’CLOCK P.M.
 

   

    
    Jeffrey W. Bullock, Secretary of State
    
    

6155644 8100D     Authentication: 203889534
SR# 20212939940
     

Date: 08-10-21

You may verify this certificate online at corp.delaware.gov/authver.shtml     
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    Jeffrey W. Bullock, Secretary of State
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SR# 20212939940
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State of Delaware   
Secretary of State   

Division of Corporations   
Delivered 04:12 PM 08/10/2021   

FILED 04:12 PM 08/10/2021   CERTIFICATE OF CORPORATE DOMESTICATION
SR 20212939940 - File Number 6155644   OF CONSONANCE-HFW ACQUISITION CORP.

Pursuant to Section 388
of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”)

Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp., presently a Cayman Islands exempted company (the “Company”), DOES HEREBY CERTIFY:

1. The Company was first incorporated on August 21, 2020 under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

2. The name of the Company immediately prior to the filing of this Certificate of Corporate Domestication with the Secretary of State of the State
of Delaware in accordance with Section 388 of the DGCL was Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp..

3. The name of the Company as set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation being filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in
accordance with Section 388(b) of the DGCL is “Surrozen, Inc.”

4. The jurisdiction that constituted the seat, siege social, or principal place of business or central administration of the Company, or any other
equivalent thereto under applicable law, immediately prior to the filing of this Certificate of Corporate Domestication in accordance with the provisions
of Section 388 of the DGCL was the Cayman Islands.

5. The domestication has been approved in the manner provided for by the document, instrument, agreement or other writing, as the case may be,
governing the internal affairs of the Company and the conduct of its business or by applicable non-Delaware law, as appropriate.

The corporate domestication of the Company shall be effective upon the filing of this Certificate of Corporate Domestication and the Certificate of
Incorporation in accordance with Section 388 of the DGCL and with the Secretary of State of Delaware.

[Signature page follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Certificate to be executed by its duly authorized officer on this 10th day of August, 2021.
 

CONSONANCE-HFW ACQUISITION CORP., a
Cayman Islands exempted company

By:  /s/ Gad Soffer
 Name: Gad Soffer
 Title: Chief Executive Officer



State of Delaware   
Secretary of State   CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

Division of Corporations   OF
Delivered 04:12 PM 08/10/2021   SURROZEN, INC.

FILED 04:12 PM 08/10/2021   
SR 20212939940 - File Number 6155644   

I.

The name of this corporation is Surrozen, Inc. (the “Company”).

II.

The address of the registered office of the Company in the State of Delaware is The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange Street in the City of
Wilmington, County of New Castle, Delaware 19801 and the name of the registered agent of the Company at such address is The Corporation Trust
Company.

III.

The purpose of the Company is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a corporation may be organized under the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”).

IV.

A. This Company is authorized to issue two classes of stock to be designated, respectively, “Common Stock” and “Preferred Stock.” The total
number of shares which the Company is authorized to issue is 510,000,000 shares. 500,000,000 shares of which shall be Common Stock, having a par
value per share of $0.0001. 10,000,000 shares of which shall be Preferred Stock, having a par value per share of $0.0001.

B. The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board of Directors”)
is hereby expressly authorized to provide for the issue of all or any of the shares of the Preferred Stock in one or more series, and to fix the number of
shares and to determine or alter for each such series, such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designation, preferences, and
relative, participating, optional, or other rights and such qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof, as shall be stated and expressed in the
resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors providing for the issuance of such shares and as may be permitted by the DGCL. The Board
of Directors is also expressly authorized to increase or decrease the number of shares of any series subsequent to the issuance of shares of that series, but
not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding. In case the number of shares of any series shall be decreased in accordance with the
foregoing sentence, the shares constituting such decrease shall resume the status that they had prior to the adoption of the resolution originally fixing the
number of shares of such series. The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares
thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of the stock of the Company entitled to vote thereon,
without a separate vote of the holders of the Preferred Stock, or of any series thereof, unless a vote of any such holders is required pursuant to the terms
of any certificate of designation filed with respect to any series of Preferred Stock.

C. Each outstanding share of Common Stock shall entitle the holder thereof to one vote on each matter properly submitted to the stockholders of
the Company for their vote; provided, however, that, except as otherwise required by law, holders of Common Stock shall not be entitled to vote on any
amendment to this Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designation filed with respect to any series of Preferred Stock) that relates
solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the holders of such affected series are entitled, either separately or together as
a class with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon by law or pursuant to this Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate
of designation filed with respect to any series of Preferred Stock).
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V.

The name and mailing address of the incorporator are as follows:
 
Name   Address
Gad Soffer

  
1 Palmer Square, Suite 350
Princeton, NJ 08540

VI.

For the management of the business and for the conduct of the affairs of the Company, and in further definition, limitation and regulation
of the powers of the Company, of its directors and of its stockholders or any class thereof, as the case may be, it is further provided that:

A.         MANAGEMENT OF BUSINESS. The management of the business and the conduct of the affairs of the Company shall be vested in its Board
of Directors. The number of directors which shall constitute the Board of Directors shall be fixed exclusively by resolutions adopted by a majority of the
authorized number of directors constituting the Board of Directors.

B.        BOARD OF DIRECTORS. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors under specified
circumstances, upon the filing of this Certificate of Incorporation, the directors shall be divided into three classes designated as Class I, Class II and
Class III, respectively. The Board of Directors is authorized to assign members of the Board of Directors already in office to such classes at the time the
classification becomes effective. At the first annual meeting of stockholders following the initial classification of the Board of Directors, the term of
office of the Class I directors shall expire and Class I directors shall be elected for a full term of three years. At the second annual meeting of
stockholders following such initial classification, the term of office of the Class II directors shall expire and Class II directors shall be elected for a full
term of three years. At the third annual meeting of stockholders following such initial classification, the term of office of the Class III directors shall
expire and Class III directors shall be elected for a full term of three years. At each succeeding annual meeting of stockholders, directors shall be elected
for a full term of three years to succeed the directors of the class whose terms expire at such annual meeting.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section, each director shall serve until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified or
until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal. No decrease in the number of directors constituting the Board of Directors shall shorten the term of
any incumbent director.
 

 C. REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS.

1. Subject to the rights of any series of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors under specified circumstances, neither the Board of
Directors nor any individual director may be removed without cause.

2. Subject to any limitation imposed by applicable law, any individual director or directors may be removed with cause by the affirmative
vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the voting power of all then-outstanding shares of capital stock of the
Company entitled to vote generally at an election of directors.
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D.        VACANCIES. Subject to any limitations imposed by applicable law and subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock,
any vacancies on the Board of Directors resulting from death, resignation, disqualification, removal or other causes and any newly created directorships
resulting from any increase in the number of directors, shall, unless the Board of Directors determines by resolution that any such vacancies or newly
created directorships shall be filled by the stockholders and except as otherwise provided by applicable law, be filled only by the affirmative vote of a
majority of the directors then in office, even though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors, and not by the stockholders. Any director elected in
accordance with the preceding sentence shall hold office for the remainder of the full term of the director for which the vacancy was created or occurred
and until such director’s successor shall have been elected and qualified.
 

 E. BYLAW AMENDMENTS.

1. The Board of Directors is expressly empowered to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Company. Any adoption, amendment or
repeal of the Bylaws of the Company by the Board of Directors shall require the approval of a majority of the directors then in office. The stockholders
shall also have power to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Company; provided, however, that, in addition to any vote of the holders of any class
or series of stock of the Company required by law or by this Certificate of Incorporation, such action by stockholders shall require the affirmative vote
of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the capital stock of the
Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.

2. The directors of the Company need not be elected by written ballot unless the Bylaws so provide.

3. No action shall be taken by the stockholders of the Company except at an annual or special meeting of stockholders called in accordance
with the Bylaws, and no action shall be taken by the stockholders by written consent or electronic transmission.

4. Advance notice of stockholder nominations for the election of directors and of business to be brought by stockholders before any
meeting of the stockholders of the Company shall be given in the manner provided in the Bylaws of the Company.

5. In the event that a member of the Board of Directors of the Company who is not an employee of the Company, or any partner, member,
director, stockholder, employee or agent of such member, other than someone who is an employee of the Company (collectively, the “Covered
Persons”), acquires knowledge of any business opportunity matter, potential transaction, interest or other matter, unless such matter, transaction or
interest is presented to, or acquired, created or developed by, or otherwise comes into the possession of, a Covered Person expressly and solely in
connection with such individual’s service as a member of the Board of Directors of the Company (a ‘ Corporate Opportunity”), then the Company,
pursuant to Section 122(17) of the DGCL and to the maximum extent permitted from time to time under Delaware law, (i) renounces any expectancy
that such Covered Person offer an opportunity to participate in such Corporate Opportunity to the Company and (ii) to the fullest extent permitted by
law, waives any claim that such opportunity constituted a Corporate Opportunity that should have been presented by such Covered Person to the
Company or any of its affiliates. No amendment or repeal of this paragraph shall apply to or have any effect on the liability or alleged liability of any
officer, director or stockholder of the Company for or with respect to any opportunities of which such officer, director or stockholder becomes aware
prior to such amendment or repeal.
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VII.

A. The liability of the directors for monetary damages shall be eliminated to the fullest extent under applicable law.

B. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Company is authorized to provide indemnification of (and advancement of expenses to)
directors, officers and agents of the Company (and any other persons to which applicable law permits the Company to provide indemnification) through
Bylaw provisions, agreements with such agents or other persons, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise in excess of the
indemnification and advancement otherwise permitted by such applicable law. If applicable law is amended after approval by the stockholders of this
Article VI to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of a director to the Company
shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as so amended.

C. Any repeal or modification of this Article VII shall only be prospective and shall not affect the rights or protections or increase the liability of
any director under this Article VII in effect at the time of the alleged occurrence of any act or omission to act giving rise to liability or indemnification.

VIII.

A. Unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if and only
if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any state court located within the State of Delaware or, if and only if
all such state courts lack subject matter jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) and any appellate court therefrom shall be the
sole and exclusive forum for the following claims or causes of action under the Delaware statutory or common law; (A) any derivative claim or cause of
action brought on behalf of the Company; (B) any claim or cause of action for breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer
or other employee of the Company, to the Company or the Company’s stockholders; (C) any claim or cause of action against the Company or any
current or former director, officer or other employee of the Company, arising out of or pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, this Certificate of
Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Company (as each may be amended from time to time); (D) any claim or cause of action seeking to interpret, apply,
enforce or determine the validity of this Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Company (as each may be amended from time to time,
including any right, obligation, or remedy thereunder); (E) any claim or cause of action as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware; and (F) any claim or cause of action against the Company or any current or former director, officer or other
employee of the Company , governed by the internal-affairs doctrine, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the court having
personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. This Section A of Article VIII shall not apply to claims or causes of action
brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”), or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.

B. Unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the federal district courts
of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the 1933 Act,
including all causes of action asserted against any defendant named in such complaint. For the avoidance of doubt, this provision is intended to benefit
and may be enforced by us, our officers and directors, the underwriters to any offering giving rise to such complaint, and any other professional entity
whose profession gives authority to a statement made by that person or entity and who has prepared or certified any part of the documents underlying
the offering.
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C. Any person or entity holding, owning or otherwise acquiring any interest in any security of the Company shall be deemed to have notice of and
consented to the provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation.

IX.

A. The Company reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner
now or hereafter prescribed by statute, except as provided in paragraph B. of this Article IX, and all rights conferred upon the stockholders herein are
granted subject to this reservation.

B. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation or any provision of applicable law which might otherwise permit a
lesser vote or no vote, but in addition to any affirmative vote of the holders of any particular class or series of the capital stock of the Company required
by law or by this Certificate of Incorporation or any certificate of designation filed with respect to a series of Preferred Stock, the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to alter, amend or repeal Articles VI, VII, VIII
and IX.

* * * *
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Surrozen, Inc. has caused this Certificate of Incorporation to be executed this 10th day of August, 2021.
 

SURROZEN, INC.

By:  /s/ Gad Soffer
 Name: Gad Soffer
 Title: Sole Incorporator
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Exhibit 10.5

SURROZEN, INC.

INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT

THIS INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is dated as of August 11, 2021, and is by and among Surrozen, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”) (formerly named Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp.), Consonance Life Sciences, a Cayman Islands limited liability
company (the “Sponsor”), the persons and entities listed on EXHIBIT A (together with their Permitted Transferees that become party hereto, each, a
“Named Investor”) and the persons and entities listed on EXHIBIT B (together with their Permitted Transferees that become party hereto, each, an
“Individual Investor”, and collectively with the Named Investors, the “Investors”).

RECITALS

The Company, Perseverance Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Merger Sub”), and Surrozen Holdings, Inc. (formerly named
Surrozen, Inc. (“Surrozen”) have entered into that certain Business Combination Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2021 (as amended, modified and/or
supplemented from time to time, the “BCA”), pursuant to which, among other things, Merger Sub merged with and into Surrozen, with Surrozen as the
surviving company in the merger and, after giving effect to such merger, became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company;

Pursuant to the BCA, the Company, the Sponsor and the Investors have agreed to enter into this Agreement concurrently with the Closing (as
defined in the BCA), pursuant to which, among other things, the Investors (a) will agree not to effect any sale or distribution of any Equity Securities (as
defined in the BCA) of the Company held by any of them during the lock-up period described therein, and (b) will be granted certain registration rights
with respect to their respective CHFW Shares (as defined in the BCA), in each case, on the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement;

The Company, the Sponsor, the Consonance Investors and certain other Investors are party to that certain Registration and Shareholder Rights
Agreement, dated as of November 18, 2020 (the “Original Agreement”);

Pursuant to Section 6.8 of the Original Agreement, the provisions, covenants and conditions set forth therein may be amended or modified upon
the written consent of the Company and the Holders (as defined in the Original Agreement) of at least a majority in interest of the Registrable Securities
(as defined in the Original Agreement) at the time in question, and the Sponsor, the Consonance Investors and such other Investors are Holders in the
aggregate of all of the Registrable Securities as of the date hereof; and

The Company, the Sponsor and certain of the Named Investors desire to amend and restate the Original Agreement in its entirety and enter into
this Agreement, pursuant to which the Company shall grant the Holders certain registration rights with respect to certain securities of the Company, as
set forth in this Agreement, and terminate the Original Agreement.

The Company and the other parties to this Agreement therefore agree as follows:
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ARTICLE 1

DEFINITIONS

1.1 Certain Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

(a) “Affiliate” means, (i) with respect to any specified Person that is not a natural person, (a) any other Person which directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified Person, and (b) any corporation, trust,
limited liability company, general or limited partnership or other entity advised or managed by, or under common control or management with, such
Person (for the purposes of this definition, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common
control with”), as used with respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management or policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise) and (ii) with respect to any
natural person, any Member of the Immediate Family of such natural person, or any Person that is, directly or indirectly, controlled by such specified
natural person; provided that the Company and each of its subsidiaries shall be deemed not to be Affiliates of any Investor.

(b) “Commission” shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission or any other federal agency at the time administering the
Securities Act (as defined below).

(c) “Common Stock” shall mean the Common Stock of the Company.

(d) “Consonance Investors” shall mean those Named Investors on Exhibit A under the heading “Consonance Investors.”

(e) “Consonance Holders” means, as of any determination time, Consonance Investors who hold Registrable Securities under this
Agreement.

(f) “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any similar successor federal statute and the rules and
regulations thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect from time to time.

(g) “Holder” shall mean any Investor who holds Registrable Securities and any holder of Registrable Securities to whom the registration
rights conferred by this Agreement have been duly and validly transferred in accordance with Section 3.2 of this Agreement.

(h) “Form S-1 Shelf” shall have the meaning given in Section 2.1.

(i) “Form S-3 Shelf” shall have the meaning given in Section 2.1.

(j) “Indemnified Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(c).

(k) “Indemnifying Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(c).

(l) “Individual Investor” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble.

(m) “Individual Investor Shares” means all shares of Common Stock originally issued to, or issued with respect to shares originally
issued to, or held by, an Individual Investor, whenever issued, including all shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise, conversion or exchange
of any options, warrants or convertible securities.

(n) “Individual Holders” means, as of any determination time, Individual Investors who hold Registrable Securities under this Agreement.

(o) “Permitted Transferee” shall mean with respect to each Holder and its Permitted Transferees, (a) prior to the expiration of the Lock-up
Period, any person or entity to whom such Holder is permitted to transfer such Registrable Securities prior to the expiration of the Lock-up Period
pursuant to Section 2.11 and (b) after the expiration of the Lock-up Period, any person or entity to whom such Holder is permitted to transfer such
Registrable Securities, subject to and in accordance with any applicable agreement between such Holder and/or its Permitted Transferees and the
Company and any transferee thereafter.
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(p) “PIPE Securities” shall mean the shares of Common Stock and warrants (including shares of Common Stock issued or issuable upon
exercise or conversion of such warrants) issued in the PIPE Financing (as defined in the BCA).

(q) “Qualified Holders” shall mean the Sponsor or any Consonance Holder or Consonance Holders who in the aggregate hold not less
than 18% of the outstanding Registrable Securities or any Surrozen Holder or Surrozen Holders who in the aggregate hold not less than 30% of the
outstanding Registrable Securities.

(r) “Other Selling Stockholders” shall mean persons other than Holders who, by virtue of agreements with the Company, are entitled to
include their Other Shares in certain registrations hereunder.

(s) “Other Shares” shall mean shares of Common Stock, other than Registrable Securities (as defined below), with respect to which
registration rights have been granted.

(t) “Registrable Securities” shall mean (i) any outstanding shares of Common Stock and any other equity security (including shares of
Common Stock issued or issuable upon the exercise or conversion of any other equity security and including, for the avoidance of doubt, the PIPE
Securities), (ii) any outstanding shares of Common Stock or any other equity security (including warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock and
shares of Common Stock issued or issuable upon the exercise or conversion of any other equity security) of the Company acquired by an Investor
following the date hereof to the extent that such securities are “restricted securities” (as defined in Rule 144) or are otherwise held by an “affiliate” (as
defined in Rule 144) of the Company and (iii) any other equity security of the Company or any of its subsidiaries issued or issuable with respect to any
securities referenced in clause (i) or (ii) above as a dividend or other distribution with respect thereto or in exchange therefor or in replacement thereof;
provided, however, that Registrable Securities shall not include any shares of Common Stock described in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above for which (a) a
registration statement with respect to the sale of such shares of Common Stock has become effective under the Securities Act and such shares have been
sold, transferred, disposed of or exchanged in accordance with such registration statement by the applicable Investor, (b) such shares have been sold to
the public pursuant to Rule 144 (but with no volume or manner of sale or current public information requirement) or (c) such shares have been sold to,
or through, a broker, dealer or underwriter in a public distribution or other public securities transaction.

(u) The terms “register,” “registered” and “registration” shall refer to a registration effected by preparing and filing a registration statement
in compliance with the Securities Act (as defined below) and applicable rules and regulations thereunder, and the declaration or ordering of the
effectiveness of such registration statement.

(v) “Registration Expenses” shall mean all expenses incurred in effecting any registration pursuant to this Agreement, including, without
limitation, all registration, qualification, and filing fees, printing expenses, escrow fees, fees and disbursements of counsel for the Company, reasonable
documented fees and disbursements of one special counsel for the Named Holders not to exceed $75,000 without the consent of the Company, blue sky
fees and expenses, and expenses of any regular or special audits incident to or required by any such registration, but shall not include Selling Expenses,
and the compensation of regular employees of the Company, which shall be paid in any event by the Company.

(w) “Registration Statement” means any registration statement of the Company filed with, or to be filed with, the SEC under the
Securities Act, including the related prospectus, amendments and supplements to such registration statement, including pre- and post-effective
amendments, and all exhibits and all material incorporated by reference in such registration statement other than a registration statement (and related
Prospectus) filed on Form S-4 or Form S-8 or any successor form thereto.

(x) “Restated Certificate” shall mean the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as the same may be amended
from time to time.
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(y) “Restricted Securities” shall mean any Registrable Securities that were not issued to an Investor pursuant to an effective registration
statement in accordance with the Securities Act.

(z) “Rule 144” shall mean Rule 144 as promulgated by the Commission under the Securities Act, as such Rule may be amended from time
to time, or any similar successor rule that may be promulgated by the Commission.

(aa) “Rule 145” shall mean Rule 145 as promulgated by the Commission under the Securities Act, as such Rule may be amended from
time to time, or any similar successor rule that may be promulgated by the Commission

(bb) “Rule 415” shall mean Rule 415 as promulgated by the Commission under the Securities Act, as such Rule may be amended from
time to time, or any similar successor rule that may be promulgated by the Commission.

(cc) “Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any similar successor federal statute and the rules and
regulations thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect from time to time.

(dd) “Selling Expenses” shall mean all underwriting discounts, selling commissions and stock transfer taxes applicable to the sale of
Registrable Securities and fees and disbursements of counsel for any Holder (other than the fees and disbursements of one special counsel to the Holders
included in Registration Expenses).

(ee) “Shelf Registration” shall mean a registration of securities pursuant to a registration statement filed with the Commission in
accordance with and pursuant to Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor rule then in effect).

(ff) “Shelf Takedown” shall mean an Underwritten Shelf Takedown or any proposed transfer or sale using a Registration Statement,
including a Piggyback Registration.

(gg) “Surrozen Holders” means, as of any determination time, Surrozen Investors who hold Registrable Securities under this Agreement.

(hh) “Surrozen Investors” shall mean those Named Investors on Exhibit A under the heading “Surrozen Investors.”

ARTICLE 2

REGISTRATION RIGHTS

2.1 Requested Registration.

(a) Filing. Within thirty (30) calendar days following the Closing Date, the Company shall file with the Commission a Registration
Statement for a Shelf Registration on Form S-1 (the “Form S-1 Shelf”) or a Registration Statement for a Shelf Registration on Form S-3 (the “Form
S-3 Shelf”), if the Company is then eligible to use a Form S-3 Shelf, in each case, covering the resale of all the Registrable Securities (determined as of
two (2) business days prior to such submission or filing) on a delayed or continuous basis and shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to have such
Shelf declared effective as soon as practicable after the filing thereof, but no later than the earlier of (a) sixty (60) calendar days (or ninety (90) calendar
days if the Commission notifies the Company that it will “review” such Shelf Registration) following the initial filing date thereof and (b) ten (10)
business days after the Company is notified (orally or in writing, whichever is earlier) by the SEC that such Shelf Registration will not be “reviewed” or
will not be subject to further review. Such Shelf shall provide for the resale of the Registrable Securities included therein pursuant to any method or
combination of methods legally available (the “Plan
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of Distribution”) to, and requested by, any Holder named therein. The Company shall engage an underwriter or underwriters reasonably acceptable to
the majority-in-interest of the Registerable Securities to participate in the preparation of the Shelf to enable the Holders to resell Registrable Securities
pursuant to the Plan of Distribution. The Company shall maintain a Shelf in accordance with the terms hereof, and shall prepare and file with the
Commission such amendments, including post-effective amendments, and supplements as may be necessary to keep a Shelf continuously effective,
available for use to permit the Holders named therein to sell their Registrable Securities included therein and in compliance with the provisions of the
Securities Act until such time as there are no longer any Registrable Securities. In the event the Company files a Form S-1 Shelf, the Company shall use
its commercially reasonable efforts to convert the Form S-1 Shelf (and any Subsequent Shelf Registration Statement) to a Form S-3 Shelf as soon as
practicable after the Company is eligible to use a Form S-3 Shelf.

(b) Reserved.

(c) Subsequent Shelf Registration. If any Shelf ceases to be effective under the Securities Act for any reason at any time while Registrable
Securities are still outstanding, upon the written request from a Qualified Holder, the Company shall, subject to Section 2.1(e), use its commercially
reasonable efforts to as promptly as practicable cause such Shelf to again become effective under the Securities Act (including using its commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain the prompt withdrawal of any order suspending the effectiveness of such Shelf), and shall use its commercially reasonable
efforts to as promptly as is reasonably practicable amend such Shelf in a manner reasonably expected to result in the withdrawal of any order suspending
the effectiveness of such Shelf or file an additional registration statement as a Shelf Registration (a “Subsequent Shelf Registration Statement”)
registering the resale of all Registrable Securities (determined as of two (2) business days prior to such filing), and pursuant to the Plan of Distribution.
The Company shall engage an underwriter or underwriters reasonably acceptable to the majority-in-interest of the Registerable Securities to participate
in the preparation of the Subsequent Shelf Registration Statement to enable the Holders to resell Registrable Securities pursuant to the Plan of
Distribution. If a Subsequent Shelf Registration Statement is filed, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) cause such
Subsequent Shelf Registration Statement to become effective under the Securities Act as promptly as is reasonably practicable after the filing thereof
and (ii) keep such Subsequent Shelf Registration Statement continuously effective, available for use to permit the Holders named therein to sell their
Registrable Securities included therein and in compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act until such time as there are no longer any Registrable
Securities. Any such Subsequent Shelf Registration Statement shall be on Form S-3 to the extent that the Company is eligible to use such form.
Otherwise, such Subsequent Shelf Registration Statement shall be on another appropriate form.

(d) Additional Registrable Securities. Subject to Section 2.1(e), in the event that any Holder holds Registrable Securities that are not
registered for resale on a delayed or continuous basis, the Company, upon written request of such Holder, shall promptly use its commercially
reasonable efforts to cause the resale of such Registrable Securities to be covered by either, at the Company’s option, any then available Shelf (including
by means of a post-effective amendment) or by filing a Subsequent Shelf Registration Statement and cause the same to become effective as soon as
practicable after such filing and such Shelf or Subsequent Shelf Registration Statement shall be subject to the terms hereof; provided, however, that the
Company shall only be required to cause such additional Registrable Securities to be so covered two per calendar year for each Holder.

(e) Deferral. If (i) in the good faith judgment of the Board of Directors of the Company, the filing of a registration statement covering the
Registrable Securities would be materially detrimental to the Company and the Board of Directors of the Company concludes, as a result, that it is in the
best interests of the Company to defer the filing of such registration statement at such time, and (ii) the Company shall furnish to such Holders a
certificate signed by the President of the Company stating that in the good faith judgment of the Board of Directors of the Company, it would be
materially detrimental to the Company for such registration statement to be filed in the near future and that it is, therefore, in the best interests of the
Company to defer the filing of such registration statement (which notice shall not specify the nature of the event giving rise to such delay or suspension),
then (in addition to the limitations set forth in Section 2.1(b)(v) above) the Company shall have the right to defer such filing for the shortest
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period of time determined in good faith by the Company to be necessary for such purpose, but in no event for a period of more than ninety (90) days
following such good faith determination by the Board of Directors of the Company, and, provided further, that the Company shall not defer its obligation
in this manner more than two (2) times in any twelve-month period.

(f) Underwriting. At any time and from time to time when an effective Shelf is on file with the Commission, a Qualified Holder or
Qualified Holders (an “Initiating Holder” or “Initiating Holders”) may request to sell all or any portion of its Registrable Securities by means of an
underwriting that is registered pursuant to the Shelf (each, an “Underwritten Shelf Takedown”); provided that the Company shall only be obligated to
effect an Underwritten Shelf Takedown if such offering shall include Registrable Securities proposed to be sold by the Initiating Holder, either
individually or together with other Initiating Holders, with a total offering price reasonably expected to exceed, in the aggregate, at least $75 million (the
“Minimum Takedown Threshold”). The Company shall not be required to effect more than two (2) Underwritten Shelf Takedowns for the Consonance
Holders or more than two (2) for the Surrozen Holders. All requests for Underwritten Shelf Takedowns shall be made by giving written notice to the
Company, which shall specify the approximate number of Registrable Securities proposed to be sold in the Underwritten Shelf Takedown. If the
Company shall request inclusion in any underwriting pursuant to this Section 2.1(f) of securities being sold for its own account, or if other persons shall
request inclusion in such underwriting, the Initiating Holders shall, on behalf of all Holders, offer to include such securities in the underwriting and such
offer shall be conditioned upon the participation of the Company or such other persons in such underwriting and the inclusion of the Company’s and
such person’s other securities of the Company and their acceptance of the further applicable provisions of this Section 2 (including Section 2.10). The
Initiating Holders shall (together with all Holders and other persons proposing to distribute their securities through such underwriting) enter into an
underwriting agreement in customary form with the representative of the underwriter or underwriters selected for such underwriting by the Initiating
Holders.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 2.1, if the Initiating Holders are (A) Consonance Holders and the underwriters advise such
Initiating Holders in good faith in writing that marketing factors require a limitation on the number of shares to be underwritten, the number of
Registrable Securities that may be so included shall be allocated as follows: (i) first, among all Consonance Holders requesting to include Registrable
Securities in such registration statement based on the pro rata percentage of Registrable Securities held by such Consonance Holders; (ii) second, to
Surrozen Holders based on the pro rata percentage of Registrable Securities held by such Surrozen Holders; (iii) third, to the other Holders based on the
pro rata percentage of Registrable Securities held by such Holders; and (iii) fourth, to the Company, which the Company may allocate, at its discretion,
for its own account, or for the account of other holders or employees of the Company or (B) Surrozen Holders and the underwriters advise such
Initiating Holders in good faith in writing that marketing factors require a limitation on the number of shares to be underwritten, the number of
Registrable Securities that may be so included shall be allocated as follows: (i) first, among all Surrozen Holders requesting to include Registrable
Securities in such registration statement based on the pro rata percentage of Registrable Securities held by such Surrozen Holders; (ii) second, to
Consonance Holders based on the pro rata percentage of Registrable Securities held by such Consonance Holders; (iii) third, to the other Holders based
on the pro rata percentage of Registrable Securities held by such Holders; and (iii) fourth, to the Company, which the Company may allocate, at its
discretion, for its own account, or for the account of other holders or employees of the Company.

If a person who has requested inclusion in such registration as provided above does not agree to the terms of any such underwriting, such person
shall be excluded therefrom by written notice from the Company, the underwriter or the Initiating Holders. The securities so excluded shall also be
withdrawn from registration. Any Registrable Securities or other securities excluded or withdrawn from such underwriting shall also be withdrawn from
such registration. If shares are so withdrawn from the registration and if the number of shares to be included in such registration was previously reduced
as a result of marketing factors pursuant to this Section 2.1(d), then the Company shall then offer to all Holders and Other Selling Stockholders who
have retained rights to include securities in the registration the right to include additional Registrable Securities or Other Shares in the registration in an
aggregate amount equal to the number of shares so withdrawn, with such shares to be allocated among such Holders and Other Selling Stockholders
requesting additional inclusion, as set forth above.
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2.2 Company Registration.

(a) Company Registration. If the Company or any Holder proposes to conduct a registered offering, or if the Company proposes to
register any of its securities either for its own account or the account of a security holder or holders (or by the Company and by the stockholders of the
Company including, without limitation, an Underwritten Shelf Takedown pursuant to Section 2.1(f)), other than a Registration Statement (or any
registered offering with respect thereto) (i) filed in connection with any employee stock option or other benefit plan, (ii) pursuant to a Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (or similar form that relates to a transaction subject to Rule 145 under the Securities Act or any successor rule thereto), (iii) for
an offering of debt that is convertible into equity securities of the Company, (iv) for a dividend reinvestment plan, (v) a Block Trade or (vi) an Other
Coordinated Offering, the Company will:

(i) give written notice of the proposed registration to all Holders of Registrable Securities as soon as practicable but not less than ten
(10) days before the anticipated filing date of such Registration Statement or, in the case of an Underwritten Offering pursuant to a Shelf Registration,
the applicable “red herring” prospectus or prospectus supplement used for marketing such offering, which notice shall (A) describe the amount and type
of securities to be included in such offering, the intended method(s) of distribution, and the name of the proposed managing Underwriter or
Underwriters, if any, in such offering, and (B) offer to all of the Holders of Registrable Securities the opportunity to include in such registered offering
such number of Registrable Securities as such Holders may request in writing within five (5) days after receipt of such written notice (such registered
offering, a “Piggyback Registration”); and

(ii) include, or, if applicable, use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the managing Underwriter or Underwriters of such
Piggyback Registration to include, in such registration (and any related qualification under blue sky laws or other compliance), except as set forth in
Section 2.2(b) below, in any underwriting involved therein, and to permit the sale or other disposition of such Registrable Securities in accordance with
the intended method(s) of distribution thereof, all of such Registrable Securities as are specified in a written request or requests made by any Holder or
Holders received by the Company within ten (10) days after such written notice from the Company is mailed or delivered. Such written request may
specify all or a part of a Holder’s Registrable Securities.

(b) Underwriting. If the registration of which the Company gives notice is for a registered public offering involving an underwriting, the
Company shall so advise the Holders as a part of the written notice given pursuant to Section 2.2(a)(i). In such event, the right of any Holder to
registration pursuant to this Section 2.2 shall be conditioned upon such Holder’s participation in such underwriting and the inclusion of such Holder’s
Registrable Securities in the underwriting to the extent provided herein. All Holders proposing to distribute their securities through such underwriting
shall (together with the Company and the other holders of securities of the Company with registration rights to participate therein distributing their
securities through such underwriting) enter into an underwriting agreement in customary form with the representative of the underwriter or underwriters
selected by the Company.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 2.2, if the underwriters advise the Company in writing that marketing factors require a
limitation on the number of shares to be underwritten, the underwriters may (subject to the limitations set forth below) exclude all Registrable Securities
from, or limit the number of Registrable Securities to be included in, the registration and underwriting. The Company shall so advise all holders of
securities requesting registration, and the number of shares of securities that are entitled to be included in the registration and underwriting shall be
allocated, as follows: (i) first, to the Company for securities being sold for its own account, (ii) second, to the Holders requesting to include Registrable
Securities in such registration statement based on the pro rata percentage of Registrable Securities held by such Holders, assuming conversion and
(iii) third, to the other Other Selling Stockholders requesting to include Other Shares in such registration statement based on the pro rata percentage of
Other Shares held by such Other Selling Stockholders, assuming conversion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such reduction shall reduce the value of
the Registrable Securities of the Holders included in such registration below twenty five percent (25%) of the total value of securities included in such
registration, unless such registration does not include shares of any Other Selling Stockholders (excluding shares registered for the account of the
Company), in which event any or all of the Registrable Securities of the Holders may be excluded.
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If a person who has requested inclusion in such registration as provided above does not agree to the terms of any such underwriting, such person
shall also be excluded therefrom by written notice from the Company or the underwriter. The Registrable Securities or other securities so excluded shall
also be withdrawn from such registration. Any Registrable Securities or other securities excluded or withdrawn from such underwriting shall be
withdrawn from such registration. If shares are so withdrawn from the registration and if the number of shares of Registrable Securities to be included in
such registration was previously reduced as a result of marketing factors pursuant to Section 2.2(b), the Company shall then offer to all persons who
have retained the right to include securities in the registration the right to include additional securities in the registration in an aggregate amount equal to
the number of shares so withdrawn, with such shares to be allocated among the persons requesting additional inclusion, in the manner set forth above.

(c) Right to Terminate Registration. The Company shall have the right to terminate or withdraw any registration initiated by it under this
Section 2.2 prior to the effectiveness of such registration whether or not any Holder has elected to include securities in such registration. The
Registration Expenses of any such terminated or withdrawn registration shall be borne by the Company, any Piggyback Registration effected pursuant to
this Section 2.2 shall not be counted as an Underwritten Shelf Takedown under Section 2.1(f).

2.3 Block Trades; Other Coordinated Offerings.

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article II, at any time and from time to time when an effective Shelf is on file with the
Commission, if an Initiating Holder notifies the Company that such Initiating Holder wishes to engage in (a) an underwritten registered offering not
involving a “roadshow,” an offer commonly known as a “block trade” (a “Block Trade”), or (b) an “at the market” or similar registered offering through
a broker, sales agent or distribution agent, whether as agent or principal (an “Other Coordinated Offering”), in each case, (x) with a total offering price
reasonably expected to exceed $75 million in the aggregate or (y) with respect to all remaining Registrable Securities held by the Initiating Holder, then
such Initiating Holder only needs to notify the Company of the Block Trade or Other Coordinated Offering at least five (5) business days prior to the day
such offering is to commence and the Company shall, use its reasonable best efforts to facilitate as expeditiously as possible, such Block Trade or Other
Coordinated Offering of the Registrable Securities for which such Initiating Holder has requested such offering, without giving any effect to any
required notice periods or delivery of notices to any other Holders; provided, that the Initiating Holders representing a majority of the Registrable
Securities wishing to engage in the Block Trade or Other Coordinated Offering shall use reasonable best efforts to work with the Company and any
Underwriters, brokers, sales agents or placement agents prior to making such request in order to facilitate preparation of the registration statement,
prospectus and other offering documentation related to the Block Trade or Other Coordinated Offering. Any offering conducted as a Block Trade or
Other Coordinated Offering will not count as an Underwritten Shelf Takedown for the purposes of Section 2.1(f).

(b) Prior to the filing of the applicable “red herring” prospectus or prospectus supplement used in connection with a Block Trade or Other
Coordinated Offering, a majority-in-interest of the Initiating Holders initiating such Block Trade or Other Coordinated Offering shall have the right to
submit a Withdrawal Notice to the Company, the Underwriter or Underwriters (if any) and any brokers, sales agents or placement agents (if any) of their
intention to withdraw from such Block Trade or Other Coordinated Offering. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Company
shall be responsible for the Registration Expenses incurred in connection with a Block Trade or Other Coordinated Offering.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Section 2.2 shall not apply to a Block Trade or Other Coordinated
Offering initiated by an Initiating Holder pursuant to this Agreement.
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(d) The Initiating Holder in a Block Trade or Other Coordinated Offering shall have the right to select the Underwriters and any brokers,
sales agents or placement agents (if any) for such Block Trade or Other Coordinated Offering (in each case, which shall consist of one or more reputable
nationally recognized investment banks).

2.4 Expenses of Registration. All Registration Expenses incurred in connection with registrations pursuant to Sections 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 shall be
borne by the Company; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to pay for any expenses of any registration proceeding begun
pursuant to Sections 2.1 and 2.3 if the registration request is subsequently withdrawn at the request of the Holders of a majority of the Registrable
Securities to be registered or because a sufficient number of Holders shall have withdrawn so that the minimum offering conditions set forth in Sections
2.1 and 2.3 are no longer satisfied (in which case all participating Holders shall bear such expenses pro rata among each other based on the number of
Registrable Securities requested to be so registered), unless the Holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities agree to forfeit their right to a demand
registration pursuant to Section 2.1; provided, however, in the event that a withdrawal by the Holders is based upon material adverse information
relating to the Company that is different from the information known or available (upon request from the Company or otherwise) to the Holders
requesting registration at the time of their request for registration under Section 2.1, such registration shall not be treated as a counted registration for
purposes of Section 2.1, even though the Holders do not bear the Registration Expenses for such registration. All Selling Expenses relating to securities
registered on behalf of the Holders shall be borne by the holders of securities included in such registration pro rata among each other on the basis of the
number of Registrable Securities so registered.

2.5 Registration Procedures. In the case of each registration effected by the Company pursuant to Section 2, the Company will keep each Holder
advised in writing as to the initiation of each registration and as to the completion thereof. Without limiting anything else in this Agreement, at its
expense, the Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to:

(a) Keep such registration continuously effective available for use to permit the Holders named therein to sell their Registrable Securities
included therein and in compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act until such time as there are no longer any Registrable Securities;

(b) Prepare and file with the Commission such amendments and supplements to such registration statement and the prospectus used in
connection with such registration statement as may be necessary to comply with the provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the disposition of all
securities covered by such registration statement for the period set forth in subsection (a) above;

(c) Furnish such number of prospectuses, including any preliminary prospectuses, and other documents incident thereto, including any
amendment of or supplement to the prospectus, as a Holder from time to time may reasonably request;

(d) Use its reasonable best efforts to register and qualify the securities covered by such registration statement under such other securities or
Blue Sky laws of such jurisdiction as shall be reasonably requested by the Holders; provided, that the Company shall not be required in connection
therewith or as a condition thereto to qualify to do business or to file a general consent to service of process in any such states or jurisdictions;

(e) At least five (5) days prior to the filing of any registration or any amendment or supplement to such registration (or such shorter period
of time as may be (a) necessary in order to comply with the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations promulgated under the
Securities Act or Exchange Act, as applicable or (b) advisable in order to reduce the number of days that sales are suspended pursuant to Section 2.11),
furnish a copy thereof to each seller of such Registrable Securities or its counsel (excluding any exhibits thereto and any filing made under the Exchange
Act that is to be incorporated by reference therein);
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(f) Notify each seller of Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement at any time when a prospectus relating thereto is
required to be delivered under the Securities Act of the happening of any event as a result of which the prospectus included in such registration
statement, as then in effect, includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein not misleading or incomplete in light of the circumstances then existing, and following such notification promptly prepare
and furnish to such seller a reasonable number of copies of a supplement to or an amendment of such prospectus as may be necessary so that, as
thereafter delivered to the purchasers of such shares, such prospectus shall not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or incomplete in light of the circumstances then existing;

(g) In the event of an Underwritten Offering, a Block Trade, an Other Coordinated Offering, or sale by a broker, placement agent or sales
agent pursuant to such Registration, in each of the following cases to the extent customary for a transaction of its type, permit a representative of the
Holders, the Underwriters or other financial institutions facilitating such Underwritten Offering, Block Trade, Other Coordinated Offering or other sale
pursuant to such registration, if any, and any attorney, consultant or accountant retained by such Holders or Underwriter to participate, at each such
person’s or entity’s own expense, in the preparation of the registration statement, and cause the Company’s officers, directors and employees to supply
all information reasonably requested by any such representative, Underwriter, financial institution, attorney, consultant or accountant in connection with
the registration; provided, however, that such representatives, Underwriters or financial institutions agree to confidentiality arrangements in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company, prior to the release or disclosure of any such information;

(h) Obtain a “comfort” letter from the Company’s independent registered public accountants in the event of an Underwritten Offering, a
Block Trade, an Other Coordinated Offering or sale by a broker, placement agent or sales agent pursuant to such registration (subject to such broker,
placement agent or sales agent providing such certification or representation reasonably requested by the Company’s independent registered public
accountants and the Company’s counsel) in customary form and covering such matters of the type customarily covered by “comfort” letters for a
transaction of its type as the managing Underwriter may reasonably request, and as reasonably satisfactory to a majority-in-interest of the participating
Holders;

(i) In the event of an Underwritten Offering, a Block Trade, an Other Coordinated Offering or sale by a broker, placement agent or sales
agent pursuant to such registration, on the date the Registrable Securities are delivered for sale pursuant to such registration, to the extent customary for
a transaction of its type, obtain an opinion, dated such date, of counsel representing the Company for the purposes of such registration, addressed to the
participating Holders, the broker, placement agents or sales agent, if any, and the Underwriters, if any, covering such legal matters with respect to the
registration in respect of which such opinion is being given as the participating Holders, broker, placement agent, sales agent or Underwriter may
reasonably request and as are customarily included in such opinions and negative assurance letters;

(j) In the event of any Underwritten Offering, a Block Trade, an Other Coordinated Offering or sale by a broker, placement agent or sales
agent pursuant to such registration, enter into and perform its obligations under an underwriting or other purchase or sales agreement, in usual and
customary form, with the managing Underwriter or the broker, placement agent or sales agent of such offering or sale;

(k) Make available to its security holders, as soon as reasonably practicable, an earnings statement covering the period of at least twelve
(12) months beginning with the first day of the Company’s first full calendar quarter after the effective date of the registration statement which satisfies
the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act and Rule 158 thereunder (or any successor rule then in effect);

(l) With respect to an Underwritten Offering pursuant to Section 2.1(f), use its commercially reasonable efforts to make available senior
executives of the Company to participate in customary “road show” presentations that may be reasonably requested by the Underwriter in such
Underwritten Offering;
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(m) Provide a transfer agent and registrar for all Registrable Securities registered pursuant to such registration statement and a CUSIP
number for all such Registrable Securities, in each case not later than the effective date of such registration;

(n) Advise each seller of Registrable Securities, promptly after it shall receive notice or obtain knowledge thereof, of the issuance of any
stop order by the Commission suspending the effectiveness of any registration or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose and
promptly use its commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the issuance of any stop order or to obtain its withdrawal if such stop order should be issued;

(o) Cause all such Registrable Securities registered pursuant hereunder to be listed on each securities exchange on which similar securities
issued by the Company are then listed;

(p) In connection with any underwritten offering pursuant to a registration statement filed pursuant to Section 2.1, enter into an
underwriting agreement in form reasonably necessary to effect the offer and sale of Common Stock, provided such underwriting agreement contains
reasonable and customary provisions, and provided further, that each Holder participating in such underwriting shall also enter into and perform its
obligations under such an agreement; and

(q) Otherwise, in good faith, cooperate reasonably with, and take such customary actions as may reasonably be requested by the
participating Holders, consistent with the terms of this Agreement, in connection with such Registration.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not be required to provide any documents or information to an Underwriter, broker, sales agent
or placement agent if such Underwriter, broker, sales agent or placement agent has not then been named with respect to the applicable Underwritten
Offering or other offering involving a registration as an Underwriter, broker, sales agent or placement agent, as applicable.

2.6 Removal of Restrictive Legends. The Company shall, if requested by the Holder, use its commercially reasonable best efforts to (i) cause the
removal of any restrictive legend related to compliance with the federal securities laws set forth on the Registrable Securities, (ii) cause its legal counsel
to deliver an opinion, if necessary, to the transfer agent in connection with the instruction under subclause (i) to the effect that removal of such legends
in such circumstances may be effected in compliance under the Securities Act, and (iii) issue Registrable Securities without any such legend in
certificated or book-entry form or by electronic delivery through The Depository Trust Company, at the Holder’s option, within two (2) trading days of
such request, if (A) the Registrable Securities are registered for resale under the Securities Act, (B) the Registrable Securities may be sold by the Holder
without restriction under Rule 144, including without limitation, any volume and manner of sale restrictions, or (C) the Holder has sold or transferred, or
proposes to sell or transfer within five (5) Business Days of such request, Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement or in compliance
with Rule 144. The Company’s obligation to remove legends under this Section 2.6 may be conditioned upon the Holder timely providing such
representations and documentation as are reasonably necessary and customarily required in connection with the removal of restrictive legends related to
compliance with the federal securities laws. If restrictive legends are no longer required for Registrable Securities pursuant to the foregoing, the
Company shall, in accordance with the provisions of this section and within two (2) trading days of any request therefor from the Investor accompanied
by such customary and reasonably acceptable representations and other documentation referred to above establishing that restrictive legends are no
longer required, deliver to the transfer agent irrevocable instructions that the transfer agent shall make a new, non-legended entry for such book entry
Registrable Securities. The Company shall be responsible for the fees of its transfer agent and any DTC fees associated with such issuance.
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2.7 Indemnification.

(a) To the extent permitted by law, the Company will indemnify and hold harmless each Holder, each of its officers, directors, members
and partners, legal counsel and accountants and each person controlling such Holder within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act, with respect
to which registration, qualification or compliance has been effected pursuant to this Section 2, and each underwriter, if any, and each person who
controls within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act any underwriter, against all expenses, claims, losses, damages and liabilities (or actions,
proceedings or settlements in respect thereof) arising out of or based on: (i) any untrue statement (or alleged untrue statement) of a material fact
contained or incorporated by reference in any prospectus, offering circular, or other document (including any related registration statement, notification
or the like) incident to any such registration, qualification or compliance, (ii) any omission (or alleged omission) to state therein a material fact required
to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, or (iii) any violation (or alleged violation) by the Company of the
Securities Act, any state securities laws or any rule or regulation thereunder applicable to the Company and relating to action or inaction required of the
Company in connection with any offering covered by such registration, qualification or compliance, and the Company will reimburse each such Holder,
each of its officers, directors, members, partners, legal counsel and accountants and each person controlling such Holder, each such underwriter and each
person who controls any such underwriter, for any legal and any other expenses reasonably incurred in connection with investigating and defending or
settling any such claim, loss, damage, liability or action; provided that the Company will not be liable in any such case to the extent that any such claim,
loss, damage, liability, or action arises out of or is based on any untrue statement or omission based upon written information furnished to the Company
by such Holder, any of such Holder’s officers, directors, members, partners, legal counsel or accountants, any person controlling such Holder, such
underwriter or any person who controls any such underwriter, and stated to be specifically for use therein; and provided, further that, the indemnity
agreement contained in this Section 2.6(a) shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action if such
settlement is effected without the consent of the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld).

(b) To the extent permitted by law, each Holder will, if Registrable Securities held by such Holder are included in the securities as to
which such registration, qualification or compliance is being effected, indemnify and hold harmless the Company, each of its directors, officers, partners,
legal counsel and accountants and each underwriter, if any, of the Company’s securities covered by such a registration statement, each person who
controls the Company or such underwriter within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act, each other such Holder, and each of their officers,
directors, members and partners, and each person controlling each other such Holder, against all claims, losses, damages and liabilities (or actions in
respect thereof) arising out of or based on: (i) any untrue statement (or alleged untrue statement) of a material fact contained or incorporated by
reference in any prospectus, offering circular or other document (including any related registration statement, notification, or the like) incident to any
such registration, qualification or compliance, or (ii) any omission (or alleged omission) to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and will reimburse the Company and such Holders, officers, directors, members, partners, legal
counsel and accountants, persons, underwriters, or control persons for any legal or any other expenses reasonably incurred in connection with
investigating or defending any such claim, loss, damage, liability or action, in each case to the extent, but only to the extent, that such untrue statement
(or alleged untrue statement) or omission (or alleged omission) is made in such registration statement, prospectus, offering circular or other document in
reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by such Holder and stated to be specifically for use therein;
provided, however, that the obligations of such Holder hereunder shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any such claims, losses, damages or
liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) if such settlement is effected without the consent of such Holder (which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld); and provided that in no event shall any indemnity under this Section 2.6 exceed the net proceeds from the offering received by such Holder,
except in the case of fraud or willful misconduct by such Holder.

(c) Each party entitled to indemnification under this Section 2.6 (the “Indemnified Party”) shall give notice to the party required to
provide indemnification (the “Indemnifying Party”) promptly after such Indemnified Party has actual knowledge of any claim as to which indemnity
may be sought, and shall permit the Indemnifying Party to assume the defense of such claim or any litigation
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resulting therefrom; provided that counsel for the Indemnifying Party, who shall conduct the defense of such claim or any litigation resulting therefrom,
shall be approved by the Indemnified Party (whose approval shall not be unreasonably withheld), and the Indemnified Party may participate in such
defense at such party’s expense; and provided further that the failure of any Indemnified Party to give notice as provided herein shall not relieve the
Indemnifying Party of its obligations under this Section 2.6, to the extent such failure is not prejudicial. No Indemnifying Party, in the defense of any
such claim or litigation, shall, except with the consent of each Indemnified Party, consent to entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement that does
not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or plaintiff to such Indemnified Party of a release from all liability in respect to
such claim or litigation. Each Indemnified Party shall furnish such information regarding itself or the claim in question as an Indemnifying Party may
reasonably request in writing and as shall be reasonably required in connection with defense of such claim and litigation resulting therefrom.

(d) If the indemnification provided for in this Section 2.6 is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unavailable to an Indemnified
Party with respect to any loss, liability, claim, damage, or expense referred to herein, then the Indemnifying Party, in lieu of indemnifying such
Indemnified Party hereunder, shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by such Indemnified Party as a result of such loss, liability, claim, damage,
or expense in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the Indemnifying Party on the one hand and of the Indemnified Party on the
other in connection with the statements or omissions that resulted in such loss, liability, claim, damage, or expense as well as any other relevant
equitable considerations. The relative fault of the Indemnifying Party and of the Indemnified Party shall be determined by reference to, among other
things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the
Indemnifying Party or by the Indemnified Party and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information, and opportunity to correct or prevent
such statement or omission. No person or entity will be required under this Section 2.6(d) to contribute any amount in excess of the net proceeds from
the offering received by such person or entity, except in the case of fraud or willful misconduct by such person or entity. No person or entity guilty of
fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) will be entitled to contribution from any person or entity who
was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.

(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that the provisions on indemnification and contribution contained in the underwriting
agreement entered into in connection with the underwritten public offering are in conflict with the foregoing provisions, the provisions in the
underwriting agreement shall control.

2.8 Information by Holder. Each Holder of Registrable Securities shall furnish to the Company such information regarding such Holder and the
distribution proposed by such Holder as the Company may reasonably request in writing and as shall be reasonably required in connection with any
registration, qualification, or compliance referred to in this Section 2.

2.9 Restrictions on Transfer.

(a) The holder of each certificate representing Registrable Securities by acceptance thereof agrees to comply in all respects with the
provisions of this Section 2.8. Each Holder agrees not to make any sale, assignment, transfer, pledge or other disposition of all or any portion of the
Restricted Securities, or any beneficial interest therein, unless and until the transferee thereof has agreed in writing for the benefit of the Company to
take and hold such Restricted Securities subject to, and to be bound by, the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, including, without
limitation, this Section 2.8 and Section 2.11, and:

(i) there is then in effect a registration statement under the Securities Act covering such proposed disposition and such disposition is
made in accordance with such registration statement; or
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(ii) such Holder shall have given prior written notice to the Company of the Holder’s intention to make such disposition and shall
have furnished the Company with a detailed description of the manner and circumstances of the proposed disposition, and, if requested by the Company,
such Holder shall have furnished the Company, at the Holder’s expense, with (A) an opinion of counsel, reasonably satisfactory to the Company, to the
effect that such disposition will not require registration of such Restricted Securities under the Securities Act or (B) a “no action” letter from the
Commission to the effect that the transfer of such securities without registration will not result in a recommendation by the staff of the Commission that
action be taken with respect thereto, whereupon the holder of such Restricted Securities shall be entitled to transfer such Restricted Securities in
accordance with the terms of the notice delivered by the Holder to the Company.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2.8(a), no such registration statement, opinion of counsel or “no action” letter shall be
necessary for (i) a transfer not involving a change in beneficial ownership, or (ii) transactions involving the distribution without consideration of
Restricted Securities by any Holder to (x) a parent, subsidiary or other affiliate of the Holder, if the Holder is a corporation, (y) any of the Holder’s
partners, members or other equity owners, or retired partners, retired members or other equity owners, or to the estate of any of the Holder’s partners,
members or other equity owners or retired partners, retired members or other equity owners, or (z) a venture capital fund that is controlled by or under
common control with one or more general partners or managing members of, or shares the same management company with, the Holder; provided, in
each case, that the Holder thereof shall give written notice to the Company of such Holder’s intention to effect such disposition and shall have furnished
the Company with a detailed description of the manner and circumstances of the proposed disposition.

(c) Each certificate representing Restricted Securities shall (unless otherwise permitted by the provisions of this Agreement) be stamped or
otherwise imprinted with a legend substantially similar to the following (in addition to any legend required under applicable state securities laws):

THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED (THE “ACT”), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THESE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD
OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND APPLICABLE
STATE SECURITIES LAWS PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR AN EXEMPTION THEREFROM. THE ISSUER OF THESE
SECURITIES MAY REQUIRE AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER THAT SUCH OFFER,
SALE OR TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR HYPOTHECATION OTHERWISE COMPLIES WITH THE ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE
SECURITIES LAWS.

The Holders consent to the Company making a notation on its records and giving instructions to any transfer agent of the Restricted Securities in
order to implement the restrictions on transfer established in this Section 2.8.

(d) Each certificate representing Registrable Securities shall (unless otherwise permitted by the provisions of this Agreement) be stamped
or otherwise imprinted with a legend substantially similar to the following (in addition to any legend required under applicable state securities laws):

THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERABILITY AND RESALE,
INCLUDING A LOCK-UP PERIOD IN THE EVENT OF A PUBLIC OFFERING, AS SET FORTH IN AN INVESTORS’ RIGHTS
AGREEMENT BY AND AMONG THE COMPANY AND THE ORIGINAL HOLDERS OF THESE SHARES, A COPY OF WHICH MAY BE
OBTAINED AT THE PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF THE COMPANY.
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The Holders consent to the Company making a notation on its records and giving instructions to any transfer agent of the Registrable Securities in
order to implement the restrictions on transfer established in this Section 2.8.

(e) The legend referring to federal and state securities laws identified in Section 2.8(c) stamped on a certificate evidencing the Restricted
Securities and the stock transfer instructions and record notations with respect to such Restricted Securities shall be removed and the Company shall
issue a certificate without such legend to the holder of such Restricted Securities if (i) such securities are registered under the Securities Act, or (ii) such
holder provides the Company with an opinion of counsel reasonably acceptable to the Company to the effect that a sale or transfer of such securities
may be made without registration or qualification.

2.10 Rule 144 Reporting. With a view to making available the benefits of certain rules and regulations of the Commission that may permit the
sale of the Restricted Securities to the public without registration, the Company agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to:

(a) Make and keep adequate current public information with respect to the Company available in accordance with Rule 144 under the
Securities Act;

(b) File with the Commission in a timely manner all reports and other documents required of the Company under the Securities Act and
the Exchange Act at any time after it has become subject to such reporting requirements; and

(c) So long as a Holder owns any Restricted Securities, furnish to the Holder forthwith upon written request a written statement by the
Company as to its compliance with the reporting requirements of Rule 144 (at any time from and after ninety (90) days following the effective date of
the first registration statement filed by the Company for an offering of its securities to the general public), and of the Securities Act and the Exchange
Act (at any time after it has become subject to such reporting requirements), a copy of the most recent annual or quarterly report of the Company, and
such other reports and documents so filed as a Holder may reasonably request in availing itself of any rule or regulation of the Commission allowing a
Holder to sell any such securities without registration.

2.11 Market Stand-Off Agreement.

(a) Investor agrees that such Investor shall not transfer any shares of Common Stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or
exchangeable (directly or indirectly) for the shares of Common Stock (excluding the PIPE Securities) until the earlier of one hundred eighty (180)-days
following the Closing Date (as defined in the BCA) and the consummation of a change of control of the Company (the “Lock-up Period”). The
foregoing restriction is expressly agreed to preclude each Investor during such one hundred eighty (180)-day period from engaging in any hedging or
other transaction which is designed to or which reasonably could be expected to lead to or result in a sale or disposition of such Investor’s shares of
Common Stock even if such shares of Common Stock would be disposed of by someone other than the undersigned. Such prohibited hedging or other
transactions during such one hundred eighty (180)-day period would include without limitation any short sale or any purchase, sale or grant of any right
(including, without limitation, any put or call option) with respect to any of the Investor’s shares of Common Stock or with respect to any security that
includes, relates to, or derives any significant part of its value from such shares of Common Stock. The foregoing notwithstanding, (x) each executive
officer and director of the Company shall be permitted to establish a plan to acquire and sell shares of Common Stock pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the
Exchange Act, provided that such plan does not provide for the transfer of shares of Common Stock during the Lock-up Period and (y) to the extent any
Named Investor is granted a release or waiver from the restrictions contained in this Section 2.11 prior to the expiration of the Lock-Up Period, then all
Named Investors shall be automatically granted a release or waiver from the restrictions contained in this Section 2.11 to the same extent, on
substantially the same terms as and on a pro rata basis with, the Named Investor to which such release or waiver is granted. The foregoing restrictions
shall not apply to transfers made: (i) pursuant to a bona fide gift or charitable contribution; (ii) by will or intestate succession upon the death of an
Investor; (iii) to any Affiliate (including, for the avoidance of doubt, pursuant to
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distributions of shares of Common Stock to partners, limited liability company members or stockholders of an Investor, including, for the avoidance of
doubt, where an Investor is a partnership, to its general partner or a successor partnership or fund, or any other funds managed by such partnership); (iv)
pursuant to a court order or settlement agreement related to the distribution of assets in connection with the dissolution of marriage or civil union;
(v) pro rata to the partners, members or shareholders of a Named Investor upon its liquidation or dissolution; or (vi) in the event of the Company’s
completion of a liquidation, merger, share exchange or other similar transaction which results in all of its shareholders having the right to exchange their
Common Stock for cash, securities or other property; provided that in the case of (i), (iii) or (v), the recipient of such transfer must enter into a written
agreement agreeing to be bound by the terms of this Agreement, including the transfer restrictions set forth in this Section 2.11.

(b) Each Named Investor who is participating in the applicable underwritten public offering also agrees, and the Company agrees and shall
cause each director and officer of the Company to agree, that, in connection with each Registration or sale of Registrable Securities conducted as an
underwritten public offering, if requested, to become bound by and to execute and deliver a customary lock-up agreement with the underwriter(s) of
such underwritten public offering restricting such applicable person or entity’s right to (a) transfer, directly or indirectly, any equity securities of the
Company held by such person or entity or (b) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another any of the economic consequences of
ownership of such securities during the period commencing on the date of the final Prospectus relating to the underwritten public offering and ending on
the date specified by the underwriters (such period not to exceed ninety (90) days). The terms of such lock-up agreements shall be negotiated among the
applicable Named Investors requested to enter into lock-up agreements and participating in the underwritten public offering in accordance with the
immediately preceding sentence, the Company and the underwriters, and the terms of such lock-up agreements shall include customary exclusions from
the restrictions on transfer set forth therein, including that such restrictions on the applicable Named Investors shall be conditioned upon all officers and
directors of the Company, as well as all Named Investors participating in the offering, being subject to the same restrictions; provided, that, to the extent
any Named Investor is granted a release or waiver from the restrictions contained in this Section 2.11 and in such Named Investor’s lock-up agreement
prior to the expiration of the period set forth in such Named Investor’s lock-up agreement, then all Named Investors shall be automatically granted a
release or waiver from the restrictions contained in this Section 2.11 and the applicable lock-up agreements to which they are party to the same extent,
on substantially the same terms as and on a pro rata basis with, the Named Investor to which such release or waiver is granted. The provisions of
this Section 2.11 shall not apply to any Named Investor that holds less than one percent (1%) of then total issued and outstanding Common Stock.

ARTICLE 3

MISCELLANEOUS

3.1 Termination and Effect of Termination. This Agreement may be terminated only by an agreement in writing signed by the holders of a
majority of the total Registrable Securities; provided, that the consent of any Holder will be required for any termination of this Agreement which has an
adverse effect on the rights, limitations or obligations of such Holder. Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, the right of any Holder to
request a registration or inclusion of Registrable Securities in any registration pursuant to Section 2.2 shall terminate upon the third anniversary of the
date hereof. Notwithstanding any termination of this Agreement in accordance with the foregoing sentence, the provisions of Sections 2.4, 2.6 and 2.9
shall survive any such termination. No termination under this Agreement shall relieve any Person of liability for breach or Registration Expenses
incurred prior to termination. In the event this Agreement is terminated, each Person entitled to indemnification rights pursuant to Section 2.6 hereof
shall retain such indemnification rights with respect to any matter that (i) may be an indemnified liability thereunder and (ii) occurred prior to such
termination.
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3.2 Permitted Transferees. The rights of a Holder hereunder may be assigned (but only with all related obligations as set forth below) in
connection with a transfer of Registrable Securities to a Permitted Transferee of that Holder. Without prejudice to any other or similar conditions
imposed hereunder with respect to any such transfer, no assignment permitted under the terms of this Section 3.2 will be effective unless the Permitted
Transferee to which the assignment is being made, if not a Holder, has delivered to the Company a written acknowledgment and agreement in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company that the Permitted Transferee will be bound by, and will be a party to, this Agreement. A Permitted
Transferee to whom rights are transferred pursuant to this Section 3.2 may not again transfer those rights to any other Permitted Transferee, other than as
provided in this Section 3.2.

3.3 Amendment. This Agreement may not be orally amended, modified or extended, nor shall any oral waiver of any of its terms be effective.
This Agreement may be amended, modified or extended, and the provisions hereof may be waived, only by an agreement in writing signed by the
Company and the Holders of a majority of the total Registrable Securities. Each such amendment, modification, extension or waiver shall be binding
upon each party hereto; provided that (a) the consent of any Holder shall be required for any amendment, modification, extension or waiver which has
an adverse effect on the rights, limitations or obligations of such Holder and (b) any such amendment, modification, extension or waiver that by its terms
would adversely affect a Holder or group of Holders in a disproportionate manner relative to the Holders generally shall require the written consent of
the Holder (or a majority in interest based on Registrable Securities of such group of Holders) so affected. In addition, each party hereto may waive any
right hereunder (solely as applicable to such party) by an instrument in writing signed by such party.

3.4 Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be mailed by registered or
certified mail, postage prepaid, sent by facsimile or electronic mail (if to an Investor or Holder) or otherwise delivered by hand, messenger or courier
service addressed:

(a) if to an Investor, to the Investor’s address, facsimile number or electronic mail address as shown in the Company’s records, as may be
updated in accordance with the provisions hereof;

(b) if to any Holder, to such address, facsimile number or electronic mail address or facsimile number as shown in the Company’s records,
or, until any such Holder so furnishes an address, facsimile number or electronic mail address to the Company, then to the address, facsimile number or
electronic mail address of the last holder of such shares for which the Company has contact information in its records; or

(c) if to the Company, to the attention of the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company at 171 Oyster Point Blvd, Suite 400,
South San Francisco, CA 94080 or at such other current address as the Company shall have furnished to the Investors or Holders, with a copy (which
shall not constitute notice) to Michael Tenta, Cooley LLP, 3175 Hanover Street, Palo Alto, CA 94304.

Each such notice or other communication shall for all purposes of this Agreement be treated as effective or having been given (i) if delivered by
hand, messenger or courier service, when delivered (or if sent via a nationally-recognized overnight courier service, freight prepaid, specifying
next-business-day delivery, one business day after deposit with the courier), or (ii) if sent via mail, at the earlier of its receipt or five days after the same
has been deposited in a regularly-maintained receptacle for the deposit of the United States mail, addressed and mailed as aforesaid, or (iii) if sent via
facsimile, upon confirmation of facsimile transfer or, if sent via electronic mail, upon confirmation of delivery when directed to the relevant electronic
mail address, if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, or if not sent during normal business hours of the recipient, then on the recipient’s
next business day. In the event of any conflict between the Company’s books and records and this Agreement or any notice delivered hereunder, the
Company’s books and records will control absent fraud or error.

Subject to the limitations set forth in Delaware General Corporation Law §232(e), each Investor and Holder consents to the delivery of any notice
to stockholders given by the Company under the Delaware General Corporation Law or the Company’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws by
(i) facsimile telecommunication to the facsimile number set forth on Exhibit A (or to any other facsimile number for the
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Investor or Holder in the Company’s records), (ii) electronic mail to the electronic mail address set forth on Exhibit A (or to any other electronic mail
address for the Investor or Holder in the Company’s records), (iii) posting on an electronic network together with separate notice to the Investor or
Holder of such specific posting or (iv) any other form of electronic transmission (as defined in the Delaware General Corporation Law) directed to the
Investor or Holder. This consent may be revoked by an Investor or Holder by written notice to the Company and may be deemed revoked in the
circumstances specified in Delaware General Corporation Law §232.

3.5 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the internal laws of the State of Delaware as applied to agreements
entered into among Delaware residents to be performed entirely within Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of law.

3.6 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement, and any and all rights, duties and obligations hereunder, shall not be assigned, transferred,
delegated or sublicensed by any Investor without the prior written consent of the Company. Any attempt by an Investor without such permission to
assign, transfer, delegate or sublicense any rights, duties or obligations that arise under this Agreement shall be void. Subject to the foregoing and except
as otherwise provided herein, the provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the successors, assigns, heirs,
executors and administrators of the parties hereto.

3.7 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the exhibits hereto constitute the full and entire understanding and agreement between the parties
with regard to the subjects hereof, and any other written or oral agreement relating to the subject matter hereof existing between the parties is expressly
canceled. No party hereto shall be liable or bound to any other party in any manner with regard to the subjects hereof or thereof by any warranties,
representations or covenants except as specifically set forth herein. The Sponsor and the other Investors who are party to the Original Agreement hereby
agree that the Original Agreement is hereby terminated and superseded by this Agreement, effective upon the execution of this Agreement.

3.8 Delays or Omissions. Except as expressly provided herein, no delay or omission to exercise any right, power or remedy accruing to any party
to this Agreement upon any breach or default of any other party under this Agreement shall impair any such right, power or remedy of such
non-defaulting party, nor shall it be construed to be a waiver of any such breach or default, or an acquiescence therein, or of or in any similar breach or
default thereafter occurring, nor shall any waiver of any single breach or default be deemed a waiver of any other breach or default theretofore or
thereafter occurring. Any waiver, permit, consent or approval of any kind or character on the part of any party of any breach or default under this
Agreement, or any waiver on the part of any party of any provisions or conditions of this Agreement, must be in writing and shall be effective only to
the extent specifically set forth in such writing. All remedies, either under this Agreement or by law or otherwise afforded to any party to this
Agreement, shall be cumulative and not alternative.

3.9 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, unenforceable or
void, portions of such provision, or such provision in its entirety, to the extent necessary, shall be severed from this Agreement, and such court will
replace such illegal, void or unenforceable provision of this Agreement with a valid and enforceable provision that will achieve, to the extent possible,
the same economic, business and other purposes of the illegal, void or unenforceable provision. The balance of this Agreement shall be enforceable in
accordance with its terms.

3.10 Titles and Subtitles. The titles and subtitles used in this Agreement are used for convenience only and are not to be considered in construing
or interpreting this Agreement. All references in this Agreement to sections, paragraphs and exhibits shall, unless otherwise provided, refer to sections
and paragraphs hereof and exhibits attached hereto.

3.11 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be enforceable against the parties that
execute such counterparts, and all of which together shall constitute one instrument.
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3.12 Telecopy Execution and Delivery. A facsimile, telecopy or other reproduction of this Agreement may be executed by one or more parties
hereto and delivered by such party by facsimile or any similar electronic transmission device pursuant to which the signature of or on behalf of such
party can be seen. Such execution and delivery shall be considered valid, binding and effective for all purposes. At the request of any party hereto, all
parties hereto agree to execute and deliver an original of this Agreement as well as any facsimile, telecopy or other reproduction hereof.

3.13 Jurisdiction; Venue. With respect to any disputes arising out of or related to this Agreement, each of the parties hereto irrevocably consents
to the exclusive jurisdiction of, and venue in, the courts of the State of Delaware and, other than with regard to The Regents of the University of
California, the United States District Court for the District of Delaware.

3.14 Further Assurances. Each party hereto agrees to execute and deliver, by the proper exercise of its corporate, limited liability company,
partnership or other powers, all such other and additional instruments and documents and do all such other acts and things as may be necessary to more
fully effectuate this Agreement.

3.15 Conflict. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the Company’s Restated Certificate or its bylaws, the terms of
the Company’s Restated Certificate or its bylaws, as the case may be, will control.

3.16 Attorney’s Fees. In the event that any suit or action is instituted to enforce any provisions in this Agreement, the prevailing party in such
dispute shall be entitled to recover from the losing party all fees, costs and expenses of enforcing any right of such prevailing party under or with respect
to this Agreement, including without limitation, such reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys and accountants, which shall include, without limitation,
all fees, costs and expenses of appeals.

3.17 Aggregation of Stock. All securities held or acquired by affiliated entities (including affiliated venture capital funds) or persons shall be
aggregated together for purposes of determining the availability of any rights under this Agreement.

(signature page follows)
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The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

COMPANY

CONSONANCE-HFW ACQUISITION CORP.

By:  /s/ Gad Soffer
Name:  Gad Soffer
Title:  Chief Executive Officer

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

SPONSOR

CONSONANCE LIFE SCIENCES

By:  /s/ Gad Soffer
Name:  Gad Soffer
Title:  Member

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

NAMED INVESTORS

THE COLUMN GROUP III, LP

By: The Column Group III GP, LP
Its: General Partner

By: The Column Group, LLC
Its: General Partner

By:  /s/ Tim Kutzkey
Name:  Tim Kutzkey
Title:  Managing Partner

THE COLUMN GROUP III-A, LP

By: The Column Group III GP, LP
Its: General Partner

By: The Column Group, LLC
Its: General Partner

By:  /s/ Tim Kutzkey
Name:  Tim Kutzkey
Title:  Managing Partner

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR

Tim Kutzkey

/s/ Tim Kutzkey
(Signature)

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

NAMED INVESTOR

THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF
CALIFORNIA

By:  /s/ John Beil

Name:  John Beil

Title:  Managing Director
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

NAMED INVESTOR

CONSONANCE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, LP

By:  /s/ Kevin Livingston

Name:  Kevin Livingston

Title:  Partner
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

NAMED INVESTOR

CONSONANCE CAPITAL MASTER ACCOUNT LP

By:  /s/ Kevin Livingston

Name:  Kevin Livingston

Title:  Partner
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

NAMED INVESTOR

CONSONANCE CAPITAL OPPORTUNITY MASTER
FUND, LP

By:  /s/ Kevin Livingston

Name:  Kevin Livingston

Title:  Partner
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR

Christopher Y. Chai

/s/ Christopher Y. Chai
(Signature)

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR

Mace Rothenberg

/s/ Mace Rothenberg
(Signature)

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR

David Woodhouse

/s/ David Woodhouse
(Signature)

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR

Anna Berkenblit

/s/ Anna Berkenblit
(Signature)

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR

Charles Williams

/s/ Charles Williams
(Signature)

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR

Shao-Lee Lin

/s/ Shao-Lee Lin
(Signature)

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR

Mary Haak-Frendscho

/s/ Mary Haak-Frendscho
(Signature)

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR

Craig Parker

/s/ Craig Parker
(Signature)

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR

Geertrui Vanhove

/s/ Geertrui Vanhove
(Signature)

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



The parties are signing this Investors’ Rights Agreement as of the date stated in the introductory clause.
 

INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR

Wen-Chen Yeh

/s/ Wen-Chen Yeh
(Signature)

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE TO THE INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT]



EXHIBIT A

NAMED INVESTORS

Surrozen Investors:

The Column Group III, L.P.

1700 Owens St., Suite 500
San Francisco, CA 94158
Phone: (415) 865-2058
Fax: (415) 255-2048
Email: info@thecolumngroup.net

The Column Group III-A, L.P.
1700 Owens St., Suite 500
San Francisco, CA 94158
Phone: (415) 865-2058
Fax: (415) 255-2048
Email: info@thecolumngroup.net

The Regents of the University of California
Office of the Chief Investment Officer of the Regents
University of California
Office of the President
ATTN: John Beil, Head of Private Equity
1111 Broadway, 21st Floor
Oakland, CA 94607-9828
Phone: (510) 987-9600
Fax: (510) 987-9651

Consonance Investors:

Consonance Capital Management, LP
1 Palmer Square, Suite 305
Princeton, NJ 08540
Phone: (609) 921-233
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EXHIBIT B

INDIVIDUAL INVESTORS
 
 •  Tim Kutzkey
 •  Craig Parker
 •  David Woodhouse
 •  Anna Berkenblit
 •  Shao-Lee Lin
 •  Mary Haak-Frendscho
 •  Trudy Vanhove
 •  Charles Williams
 •  Wen-Chen Yeh
 •  Christopher Haqq
 •  Donald Santel
 •  Jennifer Jarrett
 •  Mace Rothenberg
 •  Chris Chai
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Exhibit 10.6

SURROZEN, INC.
2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS: AUGUST 14, 2021
APPROVED BY THE STOCKHOLDERS: AUGUST 10, 2021

1. GENERAL.

(a) Plan Purpose. The Company, by means of the Plan, seeks to secure and retain the services of Employees, Directors and Consultants, to
provide incentives for such persons to exert maximum efforts for the success of the Company and any Affiliate and to provide a means by which such
persons may be given an opportunity to benefit from increases in value of the Common Stock through the granting of Awards.

(b) Available Awards. The Plan provides for the grant of the following Awards: (i) Incentive Stock Options; (ii) Nonstatutory Stock Options;
(iii) SARs; (iv) Restricted Stock Awards; (v) RSU Awards; (vi) Performance Awards; and (vii) Other Awards.

(c) Adoption Date; Effective Date. The Plan will come into existence on the Adoption Date, but no Award may be granted prior to the Effective
Date.

2. SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN.

(a) Share Reserve. Subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 2(c) and any adjustments as necessary to implement any Capitalization
Adjustments, the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to Awards will not exceed 4,746,682 shares (equal to 10%
of the shares of Fully-Diluted Common Stock as of immediately following closing of the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination
Agreement). In addition, subject to any adjustments as necessary to implement any Capitalization Adjustments, such aggregate number of shares of
Common Stock will automatically increase on January 1 of each year for a period of ten years commencing on January 1, 2022 and ending on (and
including) January 1, 2031, in an amount equal to five percent (5%) of the Fully-Diluted Common Stock on December 31 of the preceding year;
provided, however, that the Board may act prior to January 1st of a given year to provide that the increase for such year will be a lesser number of shares
of Common Stock.

(b) Aggregate Incentive Stock Option Limit. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 2(a) and subject to any adjustments as
necessary to implement any Capitalization Adjustments, the aggregate maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to the
exercise of Incentive Stock Options is 14,240,046 shares.

(c) Share Reserve Operation.

(i) Limit Applies to Common Stock Issued Pursuant to Awards. For clarity, the Share Reserve is a limit on the number of shares of
Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to Awards and does not limit the granting of Awards, except that the Company will keep available at all
times the number of shares of Common Stock reasonably required to satisfy its obligations to issue shares pursuant to such Awards. Shares may be
issued in connection with a merger or acquisition as permitted by, as applicable, Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c), NYSE Listed Company Manual
Section 303A.08, NYSE American Company Guide Section 711 or other applicable rule, and such issuance will not reduce the number of shares
available for issuance under the Plan.



(ii) Actions that Do Not Constitute Issuance of Common Stock and Do Not Reduce Share Reserve. The following actions do not
result in an issuance of shares under the Plan and accordingly do not reduce the number of shares subject to the Share Reserve and available for issuance
under the Plan: (1) the expiration or termination of any portion of an Award without the shares covered by such portion of the Award having been issued,
(2) the settlement of any portion of an Award in cash (i.e., the Participant receives cash rather than Common Stock), (3) the withholding of shares that
would otherwise be issued by the Company to satisfy the exercise, strike or purchase price of an Award; or (4) the withholding of shares that would
otherwise be issued by the Company to satisfy a tax withholding obligation in connection with an Award.

(iii) Reversion of Previously Issued Shares of Common Stock to Share Reserve. The following shares of Common Stock previously
issued pursuant to an Award and accordingly initially deducted from the Share Reserve will be added back to the Share Reserve and again become
available for issuance under the Plan: (1) any shares that are forfeited back to or repurchased by the Company because of a failure to meet a contingency
or condition required for the vesting of such shares; (2) any shares that are reacquired by the Company to satisfy the exercise, strike or purchase price of
an Award; and (3) any shares that are reacquired by the Company to satisfy a tax withholding obligation in connection with an Award.

3. ELIGIBILITY AND LIMITATIONS.

(a) Eligible Award Recipients. Subject to the terms of the Plan, Employees, Directors and Consultants are eligible to receive Awards.

(b) Specific Award Limitations.

(i) Limitations on Incentive Stock Option Recipients. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to Employees of the Company or a
“parent corporation” or “subsidiary corporation” thereof (as such terms are defined in Sections 424(e) and (f) of the Code).

(ii) Incentive Stock Option $100,000 Limitation. To the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined at the time of grant) of
Common Stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by any Optionholder during any calendar year (under all
plans of the Company and any Affiliates) exceeds $100,000 (or such other limit established in the Code) or otherwise does not comply with the rules
governing Incentive Stock Options, the Options or portions thereof that exceed such limit (according to the order in which they were granted) or
otherwise do not comply with such rules will be treated as Nonstatutory Stock Options, notwithstanding any contrary provision of the applicable Option
Agreement(s).

(iii) Limitations on Incentive Stock Options Granted to Ten Percent Stockholders. A Ten Percent Stockholder may not be granted an
Incentive Stock Option unless (i) the exercise price of such Option is at least 110% of the Fair Market Value on the date of grant of such Option and
(ii) the Option is not exercisable after the expiration of five years from the date of grant of such Option.

(iv) Limitations on Nonstatutory Stock Options and SARs. Nonstatutory Stock Options and SARs may not be granted to Employees,
Directors and Consultants unless the stock underlying such Awards is treated as “service recipient stock” under Section 409A or unless such Awards
otherwise comply with the requirements of Section 409A.
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(c) Aggregate Incentive Stock Option Limit. The aggregate maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to the
exercise of Incentive Stock Options is the number of shares specified in Section 2(b).

(d) Non-Employee Director Compensation Limit. The aggregate value of all compensation granted or paid, as applicable, to any individual for
service as a Non-Employee Director with respect to any calendar year, including Awards granted and cash fees paid by the Company to such
Non-Employee Director, will not exceed (i) $750,000 in total value or (ii) in the event such Non-Employee Director is first appointed or elected to the
Board during such calendar year, $1,000,000 in total value, in each case, calculating the value of any equity awards based on the grant date fair value of
such equity awards for financial reporting purposes. The limitations in this Section 3(d) shall apply commencing with the first calendar year that begins
following the Effective Date.

4. OPTIONS AND STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS.

Each Option and SAR will have such terms and conditions as determined by the Board. Each Option will be designated in writing as an Incentive
Stock Option or Nonstatutory Stock Option at the time of grant; provided, however, that if an Option is not so designated or if an Option designated as
an Incentive Stock Option fails to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option, then such Option will be a Nonstatutory Stock Option, and the shares purchased
upon exercise of each type of Option will be separately accounted for. Each SAR will be denominated in shares of Common Stock equivalents. The
terms and conditions of separate Options and SARs need not be identical; provided, however, that each Option Agreement and SAR Agreement will
conform (through incorporation of provisions hereof by reference in the Award Agreement or otherwise) to the substance of each of the following
provisions:

(a) Term. Subject to Section 3(b) regarding Ten Percent Stockholders, no Option or SAR will be exercisable after the expiration of ten years from
the date of grant of such Award or such shorter period specified in the Award Agreement.

(b) Exercise or Strike Price. Subject to Section 3(b) regarding Ten Percent Stockholders, the exercise or strike price of each Option or SAR will
not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value on the date of grant of such Award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an Option or SAR may be granted
with an exercise or strike price lower than 100% of the Fair Market Value on the date of grant of such Award if such Award is granted pursuant to an
assumption of or substitution for another option or stock appreciation right pursuant to a Corporate Transaction and in a manner consistent with the
provisions of Sections 409A and, if applicable, 424(a) of the Code.

(c) Exercise Procedure and Payment of Exercise Price for Options. In order to exercise an Option, the Participant must provide notice of
exercise to the Plan Administrator in accordance with the procedures specified in the Option Agreement or otherwise provided by the Company. The
Board has the authority to grant Options that do not permit all of the following methods of payment (or otherwise restrict the ability to use certain
methods) and to grant Options that require the consent of the Company to utilize a particular method of payment. The exercise price of an Option may
be paid, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law and as determined by the Board, by one or more of the following methods of payment to the extent
set forth in the Option Agreement:

(i) by cash or check, bank draft or money order payable to the Company;

(ii) pursuant to a “cashless exercise” program developed under Regulation T as promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board that, prior to
the issuance of the Common Stock subject to the Option, results in either the receipt of cash (or check) by the Company or the receipt of irrevocable
instructions to pay the exercise price to the Company from the sales proceeds;
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(iii) by delivery to the Company (either by actual delivery or attestation) of shares of Common Stock that are already owned by the
Participant free and clear of any liens, claims, encumbrances or security interests, with a Fair Market Value on the date of exercise that does not exceed
the exercise price, provided that (1) at the time of exercise the Common Stock is publicly traded, (2) any remaining balance of the exercise price not
satisfied by such delivery is paid by the Participant in cash or other permitted form of payment, (3) such delivery would not violate any Applicable Law
or agreement restricting the redemption of the Common Stock, (4) any certificated shares are endorsed or accompanied by an executed assignment
separate from certificate, and (5) such shares have been held by the Participant for any minimum period necessary to avoid adverse accounting treatment
as a result of such delivery;

(iv) if the Option is a Nonstatutory Stock Option, by a “net exercise” arrangement pursuant to which the Company will reduce the number
of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise by the largest whole number of shares with a Fair Market Value on the date of exercise that does not
exceed the exercise price, provided that (1) such shares used to pay the exercise price will not be exercisable thereafter and (2) any remaining balance of
the exercise price not satisfied by such net exercise is paid by the Participant in cash or other permitted form of payment; or

(v) in any other form of consideration that may be acceptable to the Board and permissible under Applicable Law.

(d) Exercise Procedure and Payment of Appreciation Distribution for SARs. In order to exercise any SAR, the Participant must provide
notice of exercise to the Plan Administrator in accordance with the SAR Agreement. The appreciation distribution payable to a Participant upon the
exercise of a SAR will not be greater than an amount equal to the excess of (i) the aggregate Fair Market Value on the date of exercise of a number of
shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Common Stock equivalents that are vested and being exercised under such SAR, over (ii) the strike
price of such SAR. Such appreciation distribution may be paid to the Participant in the form of Common Stock or cash (or any combination of Common
Stock and cash) or in any other form of payment, as determined by the Board and specified in the SAR Agreement.

(e) Transferability. Options and SARs may not be transferred to third party financial institutions for value. The Board may impose such
additional limitations on the transferability of an Option or SAR as it determines. In the absence of any such determination by the Board, the following
restrictions on the transferability of Options and SARs will apply, provided that except as explicitly provided herein, neither an Option nor a SAR may
be transferred for consideration and provided, further, that if an Option is an Incentive Stock Option, such Option may be deemed to be a Nonstatutory
Stock Option as a result of such transfer:

(i) Restrictions on Transfer. An Option or SAR will not be transferable, except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and will
be exercisable during the lifetime of the Participant only by the Participant; provided, however, that the Board may permit transfer of an Option or SAR
in a manner that is not prohibited by applicable tax and securities laws upon the Participant’s request, including to a trust if the Participant is considered
to be the sole beneficial owner of such trust (as determined under Section 671 of the Code and applicable state law) while such Option or SAR is held in
such trust, provided that the Participant and the trustee enter into a transfer and other agreements required by the Company.
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(ii) Domestic Relations Orders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, subject to the execution of transfer documentation in a format acceptable
to the Company and subject to the approval of the Board or a duly authorized Officer, an Option or SAR may be transferred pursuant to a domestic
relations order.

(f) Vesting. The Board may impose such restrictions on or conditions to the vesting and/or exercisability of an Option or SAR as determined by
the Board. Except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement or other written agreement between a Participant and the Company or an Affiliate,
vesting of Options and SARs will cease upon termination of the Participant’s Continuous Service.

(g) Termination of Continuous Service for Cause. Except as explicitly otherwise provided in the Award Agreement or other written agreement
between a Participant and the Company or an Affiliate, if a Participant’s Continuous Service is terminated for Cause, the Participant’s Options and SARs
will terminate and be forfeited immediately upon such termination of Continuous Service, and the Participant will be prohibited from exercising any
portion (including any vested portion) of such Awards on and after the date of such termination of Continuous Service and the Participant will have no
further right, title or interest in such forfeited Award, the shares of Common Stock subject to the forfeited Award, or any consideration in respect of the
forfeited Award.

(h) Post-Termination Exercise Period Following Termination of Continuous Service for Reasons Other than Cause. Subject to Section 4(i),
if a Participant’s Continuous Service terminates for any reason other than for Cause, the Participant may exercise his or her Option or SAR to the extent
vested, but only within the following period of time or, if applicable, such other period of time provided in the Award Agreement or other written
agreement between a Participant and the Company or an Affiliate; provided, however, that in no event may such Award be exercised after the expiration
of its maximum term (as set forth in Section 4(a)):

(i) three months following the date of such termination if such termination is a termination without Cause (other than any termination due
to the Participant’s Disability or death);

(ii) 12 months following the date of such termination if such termination is due to the Participant’s Disability;

(iii) 18 months following the date of such termination if such termination is due to the Participant’s death; or

(iv) 18 months following the date of the Participant’s death if such death occurs following the date of such termination but during the
period such Award is otherwise exercisable (as provided in (i) or (ii) above).

Following the date of such termination, to the extent the Participant does not exercise such Award within the applicable Post-Termination Exercise
Period (or, if earlier, prior to the expiration of the maximum term of such Award), such unexercised portion of the Award will terminate, and the
Participant will have no further right, title or interest in the terminated Award, the shares of Common Stock subject to the terminated Award, or any
consideration in respect of the terminated Award.

(i) Restrictions on Exercise; Extension of Exercisability. A Participant may not exercise an Option or SAR at any time that the issuance of
shares of Common Stock upon such exercise would violate Applicable Law. Except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement or other written
agreement between a Participant and the Company or an Affiliate, if a Participant’s Continuous Service terminates for any reason other than for Cause
and, at any time during the last thirty days of the applicable
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Post-Termination Exercise Period: (i) the exercise of the Participant’s Option or SAR would be prohibited solely because the issuance of shares of
Common Stock upon such exercise would violate Applicable Law, or (ii) the immediate sale of any shares of Common Stock issued upon such exercise
would violate the Company’s Trading Policy, then the applicable Post-Termination Exercise Period will be extended to the last day of the calendar
month that commences following the date the Award would otherwise expire, with an additional extension of the exercise period to the last day of the
next calendar month to apply if any of the foregoing restrictions apply at any time during such extended exercise period, generally without limitation as
to the maximum permitted number of extensions); provided, however, that in no event may such Award be exercised after the expiration of its maximum
term (as set forth in Section 4(a)).

(j) Non-Exempt Employees. No Option or SAR, whether or not vested, granted to an Employee who is a non-exempt employee for purposes of
the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended, will be first exercisable for any shares of Common Stock until at least six months following the date
of grant of such Award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in accordance with the provisions of the Worker Economic Opportunity Act, any vested portion
of such Award may be exercised earlier than six months following the date of grant of such Award in the event of (i) such Participant’s death or
Disability, (ii) a Corporate Transaction in which such Award is not assumed, continued or substituted, (iii) a Change in Control, or (iv) such Participant’s
retirement (as such term may be defined in the Award Agreement or another applicable agreement or, in the absence of any such definition, in
accordance with the Company’s then current employment policies and guidelines). This Section 4(j) is intended to operate so that any income derived by
a non-exempt employee in connection with the exercise or vesting of an Option or SAR will be exempt from his or her regular rate of pay.

(k) Whole Shares. Options and SARs may be exercised only with respect to whole shares of Common Stock or their equivalents.

5. AWARDS OTHER THAN OPTIONS AND STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS.

(a) Restricted Stock Awards and RSU Awards. Each Restricted Stock Award and RSU Award will have such terms and conditions as
determined by the Board; provided, however, that each Restricted Stock Award Agreement and RSU Award Agreement will conform (through
incorporation of the provisions hereof by reference in the Award Agreement or otherwise) to the substance of each of the following provisions:

(i) Form of Award.

(1) Restricted Stock Awards: To the extent consistent with the Company’s Bylaws, at the Board’s election, shares of Common Stock
subject to a Restricted Stock Award may be (i) held in book entry form subject to the Company’s instructions until such shares become vested or any
other restrictions lapse, or (ii) evidenced by a certificate, which certificate will be held in such form and manner as determined by the Board. Unless
otherwise determined by the Board, a Participant will have voting and other rights as a stockholder of the Company with respect to any shares subject to
a Restricted Stock Award.

(2) RSU Awards: An RSU Award represents a Participant’s right to be issued on a future date the number of shares of Common
Stock that is equal to the number of restricted stock units subject to the RSU Award. As a holder of an RSU Award, a Participant is an unsecured creditor
of the Company with respect to the Company’s unfunded obligation, if any, to issue shares of Common Stock in settlement of such Award and nothing
contained in the Plan or any RSU Agreement, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions, will create or be construed to create a trust of any kind or a
fiduciary relationship between a Participant and the Company or an Affiliate or any other person. A Participant will not have voting or any other rights
as a stockholder of the Company with respect to any RSU Award (unless and until shares are actually issued in settlement of a vested RSU Award).
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(ii) Consideration.

(1) Restricted Stock Awards: A Restricted Stock Award may be granted in consideration for (A) cash or check, bank draft or money
order payable to the Company, (B) services to the Company or an Affiliate, or (C) any other form of consideration as the Board may determine and
permissible under Applicable Law.

(2) RSU Awards: Unless otherwise determined by the Board at the time of grant, an RSU Award will be granted in consideration for
the Participant’s services to the Company or an Affiliate, such that the Participant will not be required to make any payment to the Company (other than
such services) with respect to the grant or vesting of the RSU Award, or the issuance of any shares of Common Stock pursuant to the RSU Award. If, at
the time of grant, the Board determines that any consideration must be paid by the Participant (in a form other than the Participant’s services to the
Company or an Affiliate) upon the issuance of any shares of Common Stock in settlement of the RSU Award, such consideration may be paid in any
form of consideration as the Board may determine and permissible under Applicable Law.

(iii) Vesting. The Board may impose such restrictions on or conditions to the vesting of a Restricted Stock Award or RSU Award as
determined by the Board. Except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement or other written agreement between a Participant and the Company or
an Affiliate, vesting of Restricted Stock Awards and RSU Awards will cease upon termination of the Participant’s Continuous Service.

(iv) Termination of Continuous Service. Except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement or other written agreement between a
Participant and the Company or an Affiliate, if a Participant’s Continuous Service terminates for any reason, (i) the Company may receive through a
forfeiture condition or a repurchase right any or all of the shares of Common Stock held by the Participant under his or her Restricted Stock Award that
have not vested as of the date of such termination as set forth in the Restricted Stock Award Agreement and the Participant will have no further right,
title or interest in the Restricted Stock Award, the shares of Common Stock subject to the Restricted Stock Award, or any consideration in respect of the
Restricted Stock Award and (ii) any portion of his or her RSU Award that has not vested will be forfeited upon such termination and the Participant will
have no further right, title or interest in the RSU Award, the shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to the RSU Award, or any consideration in
respect of the RSU Award.

(v) Dividends and Dividend Equivalents. Dividends or dividend equivalents may be paid or credited, as applicable, with respect to any
shares of Common Stock subject to a Restricted Stock Award or RSU Award, as determined by the Board and specified in the Award Agreement.

(vi) Settlement of RSU Awards. An RSU Award may be settled by the issuance of shares of Common Stock or cash (or any combination
thereof) or in any other form of payment, as determined by the Board and specified in the RSU Award Agreement. At the time of grant, the Board may
determine to impose such restrictions or conditions that delay such delivery to a date following the vesting of the RSU Award.

(b) Performance Awards. With respect to any Performance Award, the length of any Performance Period, the Performance Goals to be achieved
during the Performance Period, the other terms and conditions of such Award, and the measure of whether and to what degree such Performance Goals
have been attained will be determined by the Board.
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(c) Other Awards. Other forms of Awards valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on, Common Stock, including the
appreciation in value thereof, may be granted either alone or in addition to Awards provided for under Section 4 and the preceding provisions of this
Section 5. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Board will have sole and complete discretion to determine the persons to whom and the time or
times at which such Other Awards will be granted, the number of shares of Common Stock (or the cash equivalent thereof) to be granted pursuant to
such Other Awards and all other terms and conditions of such Other Awards.

6. ADJUSTMENTS UPON CHANGES IN COMMON STOCK; OTHER CORPORATE EVENTS.

(a) Capitalization Adjustments. In the event of a Capitalization Adjustment, the Board shall appropriately and proportionately adjust: (i) the
class(es) and maximum number of shares of Common Stock subject to the Plan and the maximum number of shares by which the Share Reserve may
annually increase pursuant to Section 2(a), (ii) the class(es) and maximum number of shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of Incentive
Stock Options pursuant to Section 2(b), and (iii) the class(es) and number of securities and exercise price, strike price or purchase price of Common
Stock subject to outstanding Awards. The Board shall make such adjustments, and its determination shall be final, binding and conclusive.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no fractional shares or rights for fractional shares of Common Stock shall be created in order to implement any
Capitalization Adjustment. The Board shall determine an appropriate equivalent benefit, if any, for any fractional shares or rights to fractional shares
that might be created by the adjustments referred to in the preceding provisions of this Section.

(b) Dissolution or Liquidation. Except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, in the event of a dissolution or liquidation of the
Company, all outstanding Awards (other than Awards consisting of vested and outstanding shares of Common Stock not subject to a forfeiture condition
or the Company’s right of repurchase) will terminate immediately prior to the completion of such dissolution or liquidation, and the shares of Common
Stock subject to the Company’s repurchase rights or subject to a forfeiture condition may be repurchased or reacquired by the Company notwithstanding
the fact that the holder of such Award is providing Continuous Service; provided, however, that the Board may determine to cause some or all Awards to
become fully vested, exercisable and/or no longer subject to repurchase or forfeiture (to the extent such Awards have not previously expired or
terminated) before the dissolution or liquidation is completed but contingent on its completion.

(c) Corporate Transaction. The following provisions will apply to Awards in the event of a Corporate Transaction unless otherwise provided in
the instrument evidencing the Award or any other written agreement between the Company or any Affiliate and the Participant or unless otherwise
expressly provided by the Board at the time of grant of an Award.

(i) Awards May Be Assumed. In the event of a Corporate Transaction, any surviving corporation or acquiring corporation (or the
surviving or acquiring corporation’s parent company) may assume or continue any or all Awards outstanding under the Plan or may substitute similar
awards for Awards outstanding under the Plan (including but not limited to, awards to acquire the same consideration paid to the stockholders of the
Company pursuant to the Corporate Transaction), and any reacquisition or repurchase rights held by the Company in respect of Common Stock issued
pursuant to Awards may be assigned by the Company to the successor of the Company (or the successor’s parent company, if any), in connection with
such Corporate Transaction. A surviving corporation or acquiring corporation (or its parent) may choose to assume or continue only a portion of an
Award or substitute a similar award for only a portion of an Award, or may choose to assume or continue the Awards held by some, but not all
Participants. The terms of any assumption, continuation or substitution will be set by the Board.
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(ii) Awards Held by Current Participants. In the event of a Corporate Transaction in which the surviving corporation or acquiring
corporation (or its parent company) does not assume or continue such outstanding Awards or substitute similar awards for such outstanding Awards,
then with respect to Awards that have not been assumed, continued or substituted and that are held by Participants whose Continuous Service has not
terminated prior to the effective time of the Corporate Transaction (referred to as the “Current Participants”), the vesting of such Awards (and, with
respect to Options and Stock Appreciation Rights, the time when such Awards may be exercised) will be accelerated in full to a date prior to the
effective time of such Corporate Transaction (contingent upon the effectiveness of the Corporate Transaction) as the Board determines (or, if the Board
does not determine such a date, to the date that is five days prior to the effective time of the Corporate Transaction), and such Awards will terminate if
not exercised (if applicable) at or prior to the effective time of the Corporate Transaction, and any reacquisition or repurchase rights held by the
Company with respect to such Awards will lapse (contingent upon the effectiveness of the Corporate Transaction). With respect to the vesting of
Performance Awards that will accelerate upon the occurrence of a Corporate Transaction pursuant to this subsection (ii) and that have multiple vesting
levels depending on the level of performance, unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, the vesting of such Performance Awards will
accelerate at 100% of the target level upon the occurrence of the Corporate Transaction in which the Awards are not assumed in accordance with
Section 6(c)(i). With respect to the vesting of Awards that will accelerate upon the occurrence of a Corporate Transaction pursuant to this subsection
(ii) and are settled in the form of a cash payment, such cash payment will be made no later than 30 days following the occurrence of the Corporate
Transaction or such later date as required to comply with Section 409A of the Code.

(iii) Awards Held by Persons other than Current Participants. In the event of a Corporate Transaction in which the surviving
corporation or acquiring corporation (or its parent company) does not assume or continue such outstanding Awards or substitute similar awards for such
outstanding Awards, then with respect to Awards that have not been assumed, continued or substituted and that are held by persons other than Current
Participants, such Awards will terminate if not exercised (if applicable) prior to the occurrence of the Corporate Transaction; provided, however, that any
reacquisition or repurchase rights held by the Company with respect to such Awards will not terminate and may continue to be exercised
notwithstanding the Corporate Transaction.

(iv) Payment for Awards in Lieu of Exercise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event an Award will terminate if not exercised prior
to the effective time of a Corporate Transaction, the Board may provide, in its sole discretion, that the holder of such Award may not exercise such
Award but will receive a payment, in such form as may be determined by the Board, equal in value, at the effective time, to the excess, if any, of (1) the
value of the property the Participant would have received upon the exercise of the Award (including, at the discretion of the Board, any unvested portion
of such Award), over (2) any exercise price payable by such holder in connection with such exercise.

(d) Appointment of Stockholder Representative. As a condition to the receipt of an Award under this Plan, a Participant will be deemed to have
agreed that the Award will be subject to the terms of any agreement governing a Corporate Transaction involving the Company, including, without
limitation, a provision for the appointment of a stockholder representative that is authorized to act on the Participant’s behalf with respect to any escrow,
indemnities and any contingent consideration.
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(e) No Restriction on Right to Undertake Transactions. The grant of any Award under the Plan and the issuance of shares pursuant to any
Award does not affect or restrict in any way the right or power of the Company or the stockholders of the Company to make or authorize any
adjustment, recapitalization, reorganization or other change in the Company’s capital structure or its business, any merger or consolidation of the
Company, any issue of stock or of options, rights or options to purchase stock or of bonds, debentures, preferred or prior preference stocks whose rights
are superior to or affect the Common Stock or the rights thereof or which are convertible into or exchangeable for Common Stock, or the dissolution or
liquidation of the Company, or any sale or transfer of all or any part of its assets or business, or any other corporate act or proceeding, whether of a
similar character or otherwise.

7. ADMINISTRATION.

(a) Administration by Board. The Board will administer the Plan unless and until the Board delegates administration of the Plan to a Committee
or Committees, as provided in subsection (c) below.

(b) Powers of Board. The Board will have the power, subject to, and within the limitations of, the express provisions of the Plan:

(i) To determine from time to time: (1) which of the persons eligible under the Plan will be granted Awards; (2) when and how each Award
will be granted; (3) what type or combination of types of Award will be granted; (4) the provisions of each Award granted (which need not be identical),
including the time or times when a person will be permitted to receive an issuance of Common Stock or other payment pursuant to an Award; (5) the
number of shares of Common Stock or cash equivalent with respect to which an Award will be granted to each such person; (6) the Fair Market Value
applicable to an Award; and (7) the terms of any Performance Award that is not valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on, the
Common Stock, including the amount of cash payment or other property that may be earned and the timing of payment.

(ii) To construe and interpret the Plan and Awards granted under it, and to establish, amend and revoke rules and regulations for its
administration. The Board, in the exercise of this power, may correct any defect, omission or inconsistency in the Plan or in any Award Agreement, in a
manner and to the extent it deems necessary or expedient to make the Plan or Award fully effective.

(iii) To settle all controversies regarding the Plan and Awards granted under it.

(iv) To accelerate the time at which an Award may first be exercised or the time during which an Award or any part thereof will vest,
notwithstanding the provisions in the Award Agreement stating the time at which it may first be exercised or the time during which it will vest.

(v) To prohibit the exercise of any Option, SAR or other exercisable Award during a period of up to 30 days prior to the consummation of
any pending stock dividend, stock split, combination or exchange of shares, merger, consolidation or other distribution (other than normal cash
dividends) of Company assets to stockholders, or any other change affecting the shares of Common Stock or the share price of the Common Stock
including any Corporate Transaction, for reasons of administrative convenience.

(vi) To suspend or terminate the Plan at any time. Suspension or termination of the Plan will not Materially Impair rights and obligations
under any Award granted while the Plan is in effect except with the written consent of the affected Participant.
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(vii) To amend the Plan in any respect the Board deems necessary or advisable; provided, however, that stockholder approval will be
required for any amendment to the extent required by Applicable Law. Except as provided above, rights under any Award granted before amendment of
the Plan will not be Materially Impaired by any amendment of the Plan unless (1) the Company requests the consent of the affected Participant, and
(2) such Participant consents in writing.

(viii) To submit any amendment to the Plan for stockholder approval.

(ix) To approve forms of Award Agreements for use under the Plan and to amend the terms of any one or more Awards, including, but not
limited to, amendments to provide terms more favorable to the Participant than previously provided in the Award Agreement, subject to any specified
limits in the Plan that are not subject to Board discretion; provided however, that, a Participant’s rights under any Award will not be Materially Impaired
by any such amendment unless (1) the Company requests the consent of the affected Participant, and (2) such Participant consents in writing.

(x) Generally, to exercise such powers and to perform such acts as the Board deems necessary or expedient to promote the best interests of
the Company and that are not in conflict with the provisions of the Plan or Awards.

(xi) To adopt such procedures and sub-plans as are necessary or appropriate to permit and facilitate participation in the Plan by, or take
advantage of specific tax treatment for Awards granted to, Employees, Directors or Consultants who are foreign nationals or employed outside the
United States (provided that Board approval will not be necessary for immaterial modifications to the Plan or any Award Agreement to ensure or
facilitate compliance with the laws of the relevant foreign jurisdiction).

(xii) To effect, at any time and from time to time, subject to the consent of any Participant whose Award is Materially Impaired by such
action, (1) the reduction of the exercise price (or strike price) of any outstanding Option or SAR; (2) the cancellation of any outstanding Option or SAR
and the grant in substitution therefor of (A) a new Option, SAR, Restricted Stock Award, RSU Award or Other Award, under the Plan or another equity
plan of the Company, covering the same or a different number of shares of Common Stock, (B) cash and/or (C) other valuable consideration (as
determined by the Board); or (3) any other action that is treated as a repricing under generally accepted accounting principles.

(c) Delegation to Committee.

(i) General. The Board may delegate some or all of the administration of the Plan to a Committee or Committees. If administration of the
Plan is delegated to a Committee, the Committee will have, in connection with the administration of the Plan, the powers theretofore possessed by the
Board that have been delegated to the Committee, including the power to delegate to another Committee or a subcommittee of the Committee any of the
administrative powers the Committee is authorized to exercise (and references in this Plan to the Board will thereafter be to the Committee or
subcommittee), subject, however, to such resolutions, not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan, as may be adopted from time to time by the
Board. Each Committee may retain the authority to concurrently administer the Plan with Committee or subcommittee to which it has delegated its
authority hereunder and may, at any time, revest in such Committee some or all of the powers previously delegated. The Board may retain the authority
to concurrently administer the Plan with any Committee and may, at any time, revest in the Board some or all of the powers previously delegated.

(ii) Rule 16b-3 Compliance. To the extent an Award is intended to qualify for the exemption from Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act that
is available under Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act, the Award will be granted by the Board or a Committee that consists solely of two or more
Non-Employee Directors, as determined under Rule 16b-3(b)(3) of the Exchange Act and thereafter any action establishing or modifying the terms of
the Award will be approved by the Board or a Committee meeting such requirements to the extent necessary for such exemption to remain available.
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(d) Effect of Board’s Decision. All determinations, interpretations and constructions made by the Board or any Committee in good faith will not
be subject to review by any person and will be final, binding and conclusive on all persons.

(e) Delegation to an Officer. The Board or any Committee may delegate to one or more Officers the authority to do one or both of the following
(i) designate Employees who are not Officers to be recipients of Options and SARs (and, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, other types of
Awards) and, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the terms thereof, and (ii) determine the number of shares of Common Stock to be subject to
such Awards granted to such Employees; provided, however, that the resolutions or charter adopted by the Board or any Committee evidencing such
delegation will specify the total number of shares of Common Stock that may be subject to the Awards granted by such Officer and that such Officer
may not grant an Award to himself or herself. Any such Awards will be granted on the applicable form of Award Agreement most recently approved for
use by the Board or the Committee, unless otherwise provided in the resolutions approving the delegation authority. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary herein, neither the Board nor any Committee may delegate to an Officer who is acting solely in the capacity of an Officer (and not also as a
Director) the authority to determine the Fair Market Value.

8. TAX WITHHOLDING

(a) Withholding Authorization. As a condition to acceptance of any Award under the Plan, a Participant authorizes withholding from payroll and
any other amounts payable to such Participant, and otherwise agrees to make adequate provision for (including), any sums required to satisfy any U.S.
federal, state, local and/or foreign tax or social insurance contribution withholding obligations of the Company or an Affiliate, if any, which arise in
connection with the exercise, vesting or settlement of such Award, as applicable. Accordingly, a Participant may not be able to exercise an Award even
though the Award is vested, and the Company shall have no obligation to issue shares of Common Stock subject to an Award, unless and until such
obligations are satisfied.

(b) Satisfaction of Withholding Obligation. To the extent permitted by the terms of an Award Agreement, the Company may, in its sole
discretion, satisfy any U.S. federal, state, local and/or foreign tax or social insurance withholding obligation relating to an Award by any of the following
means or by a combination of such means: (i) causing the Participant to tender a cash payment; (ii) withholding shares of Common Stock from the
shares of Common Stock issued or otherwise issuable to the Participant in connection with the Award; (iii) withholding cash from an Award settled in
cash; (iv) withholding payment from any amounts otherwise payable to the Participant; (v) by allowing a Participant to effectuate a “cashless exercise”
pursuant to a program developed under Regulation T as promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board, or (vi) by such other method as may be set forth in
the Award Agreement.

(c) No Obligation to Notify or Minimize Taxes; No Liability to Claims. Except as required by Applicable Law the Company has no duty or
obligation to any Participant to advise such holder as to the time or manner of exercising such Award. Furthermore, the Company has no duty or
obligation to warn or otherwise advise such holder of a pending termination or expiration of an Award or a possible period in which the Award may not
be exercised. The Company has no duty or obligation to minimize the tax consequences of an Award to the holder of such Award and will not be liable
to any holder of an Award for any adverse tax consequences to such holder in connection with an Award. As a
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condition to accepting an Award under the Plan, each Participant (i) agrees to not make any claim against the Company, or any of its Officers, Directors,
Employees or Affiliates related to tax liabilities arising from such Award or other Company compensation and (ii) acknowledges that such Participant
was advised to consult with his or her own personal tax, financial and other legal advisors regarding the tax consequences of the Award and has either
done so or knowingly and voluntarily declined to do so. Additionally, each Participant acknowledges any Option or SAR granted under the Plan is
exempt from Section 409A only if the exercise or strike price is at least equal to the “fair market value” of the Common Stock on the date of grant as
determined by the Internal Revenue Service and there is no other impermissible deferral of compensation associated with the Award. Additionally, as a
condition to accepting an Option or SAR granted under the Plan, each Participant agrees not make any claim against the Company, or any of its Officers,
Directors, Employees or Affiliates in the event that the Internal Revenue Service asserts that such exercise price or strike price is less than the “fair
market value” of the Common Stock on the date of grant as subsequently determined by the Internal Revenue Service.

(d) Withholding Indemnification. As a condition to accepting an Award under the Plan, in the event that the amount of the Company’s and/or its
Affiliate’s withholding obligation in connection with such Award was greater than the amount actually withheld by the Company and/or its Affiliates,
each Participant agrees to indemnify and hold the Company and/or its Affiliates harmless from any failure by the Company and/or its Affiliates to
withhold the proper amount.

9. MISCELLANEOUS.

(a) Source of Shares. The stock issuable under the Plan will be shares of authorized but unissued or reacquired Common Stock, including shares
repurchased by the Company on the open market or otherwise.

(b) Use of Proceeds from Sales of Common Stock. Proceeds from the sale of shares of Common Stock pursuant to Awards will constitute
general funds of the Company.

(c) Corporate Action Constituting Grant of Awards. Corporate action constituting a grant by the Company of an Award to any Participant will
be deemed completed as of the date of such corporate action, unless otherwise determined by the Board, regardless of when the instrument, certificate,
or letter evidencing the Award is communicated to, or actually received or accepted by, the Participant. In the event that the corporate records (e.g.,
Board consents, resolutions or minutes) documenting the corporate action approving the grant contain terms (e.g., exercise price, vesting schedule or
number of shares) that are inconsistent with those in the Award Agreement or related grant documents as a result of a clerical error in the Award
Agreement or related grant documents, the corporate records will control and the Participant will have no legally binding right to the incorrect term in
the Award Agreement or related grant documents.

(d) Stockholder Rights. No Participant will be deemed to be the holder of, or to have any of the rights of a holder with respect to, any shares of
Common Stock subject to such Award unless and until (i) such Participant has satisfied all requirements for exercise of the Award pursuant to its terms,
if applicable, and (ii) the issuance of the Common Stock subject to such Award is reflected in the records of the Company.

(e) No Employment or Other Service Rights. Nothing in the Plan, any Award Agreement or any other instrument executed thereunder or in
connection with any Award granted pursuant thereto will confer upon any Participant any right to continue to serve the Company or an Affiliate in the
capacity in effect at the time the Award was granted or affect the right of the Company or an Affiliate to terminate at will and without regard to any
future vesting opportunity that a Participant may have with respect to
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any Award (i) the employment of an Employee with or without notice and with or without cause, (ii) the service of a Consultant pursuant to the terms of
such Consultant’s agreement with the Company or an Affiliate, or (iii) the service of a Director pursuant to the Bylaws of the Company or an Affiliate,
and any applicable provisions of the corporate law of the state or foreign jurisdiction in which the Company or the Affiliate is incorporated, as the case
may be. Further, nothing in the Plan, any Award Agreement or any other instrument executed thereunder or in connection with any Award will constitute
any promise or commitment by the Company or an Affiliate regarding the fact or nature of future positions, future work assignments, future
compensation or any other term or condition of employment or service or confer any right or benefit under the Award or the Plan unless such right or
benefit has specifically accrued under the terms of the Award Agreement and/or Plan.

(f) Change in Time Commitment. In the event a Participant’s regular level of time commitment in the performance of his or her services for the
Company and any Affiliates is reduced (for example, and without limitation, if the Participant is an Employee of the Company and the Employee has a
change in status from a full-time Employee to a part-time Employee or takes an extended leave of absence) after the date of grant of any Award to the
Participant, the Board may determine, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, to (i) make a corresponding reduction in the number of shares or cash
amount subject to any portion of such Award that is scheduled to vest or become payable after the date of such change in time commitment, and (ii) in
lieu of or in combination with such a reduction, extend the vesting or payment schedule applicable to such Award. In the event of any such reduction,
the Participant will have no right with respect to any portion of the Award that is so reduced or extended.

(g) Execution of Additional Documents. As a condition to accepting an Award under the Plan, the Participant agrees to execute any additional
documents or instruments necessary or desirable, as determined in the Plan Administrator’s sole discretion, to carry out the purposes or intent of the
Award, or facilitate compliance with securities and/or other regulatory requirements, in each case at the Plan Administrator’s request.

(h) Electronic Delivery and Participation. Any reference herein or in an Award Agreement to a “written” agreement or document will include
any agreement or document delivered electronically, filed publicly at www.sec.gov (or any successor website thereto) or posted on the Company’s
intranet (or other shared electronic medium controlled by the Company to which the Participant has access). By accepting any Award the Participant
consents to receive documents by electronic delivery and to participate in the Plan through any on-line electronic system established and maintained by
the Plan Administrator or another third party selected by the Plan Administrator. The form of delivery of any Common Stock (e.g., a stock certificate or
electronic entry evidencing such shares) shall be determined by the Company.

(i) Clawback/Recovery. All Awards granted under the Plan will be subject to recoupment in accordance with any clawback policy that the
Company is required to adopt pursuant to the listing standards of any national securities exchange or association on which the Company’s securities are
listed or as is otherwise required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or other Applicable Law and any clawback policy
that the Company otherwise adopts, to the extent applicable and permissible under Applicable Law. In addition, the Board may impose such other
clawback, recovery or recoupment provisions in an Award Agreement as the Board determines necessary or appropriate, including but not limited to a
reacquisition right in respect of previously acquired shares of Common Stock or other cash or property upon the occurrence of Cause. No recovery of
compensation under such a clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a Participant’s right to voluntary terminate employment upon a “resignation
for good reason,” or for a “constructive termination” or any similar term under any plan of or agreement with the Company.
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(j) Securities Law Compliance. A Participant will not be issued any shares in respect of an Award unless either (i) the shares are registered under
the Securities Act; or (ii) the Company has determined that such issuance would be exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.
Each Award also must comply with other Applicable Law governing the Award, and a Participant will not receive such shares if the Company
determines that such receipt would not be in material compliance with Applicable Law.

(k) Transfer or Assignment of Awards; Issued Shares. Except as expressly provided in the Plan or the form of Award Agreement, Awards
granted under the Plan may not be transferred or assigned by the Participant. After the vested shares subject to an Award have been issued, or in the case
of Restricted Stock and similar awards, after the issued shares have vested, the holder of such shares is free to assign, hypothecate, donate, encumber or
otherwise dispose of any interest in such shares provided that any such actions are in compliance with the provisions herein, the terms of the Trading
Policy and Applicable Law.

(l) Effect on Other Employee Benefit Plans. The value of any Award granted under the Plan, as determined upon grant, vesting or settlement,
shall not be included as compensation, earnings, salaries, or other similar terms used when calculating any Participant’s benefits under any employee
benefit plan sponsored by the Company or any Affiliate, except as such plan otherwise expressly provides. The Company expressly reserves its rights to
amend, modify, or terminate any of the Company’s or any Affiliate’s employee benefit plans.

(m) Deferrals. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the Board, in its sole discretion, may determine that the delivery of Common Stock or
the payment of cash, upon the exercise, vesting or settlement of all or a portion of any Award may be deferred and may also establish programs and
procedures for deferral elections to be made by Participants. Deferrals will be made in accordance with the requirements of Section 409A.

(n) Section 409A. Unless otherwise expressly provided for in an Award Agreement, the Plan and Award Agreements will be interpreted to the
greatest extent possible in a manner that makes the Plan and the Awards granted hereunder exempt from Section 409A, and, to the extent not so exempt,
in compliance with the requirements of Section 409A. If the Board determines that any Award granted hereunder is not exempt from and is therefore
subject to Section 409A, the Award Agreement evidencing such Award will incorporate the terms and conditions necessary to avoid the consequences
specified in Section 409A(a)(1) of the Code, and to the extent an Award Agreement is silent on terms necessary for compliance, such terms are hereby
incorporated by reference into the Award Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan (and unless the Award Agreement
specifically provides otherwise), if the shares of Common Stock are publicly traded, and if a Participant holding an Award that constitutes “deferred
compensation” under Section 409A is a “specified employee” for purposes of Section 409A, no distribution or payment of any amount that is due
because of a “separation from service” (as defined in Section 409A without regard to alternative definitions thereunder) will be issued or paid before the
date that is six months and one day following the date of such Participant’s “separation from service” or, if earlier, the date of the Participant’s death,
unless such distribution or payment can be made in a manner that complies with Section 409A, and any amounts so deferred will be paid in a lump sum
on the day after such six month period elapses, with the balance paid thereafter on the original schedule.

(o) Choice of Law. This Plan and any controversy arising out of or relating to this Plan shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with,
the internal laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in any application of any law other than the law
of the State of Delaware.
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10. COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY.

(a) Compliance with Law. The Company will seek to obtain from each regulatory commission or agency, as may be deemed to be necessary,
having jurisdiction over the Plan such authority as may be required to grant Awards and to issue and sell shares of Common Stock upon exercise or
vesting of the Awards; provided, however, that this undertaking will not require the Company to register under the Securities Act the Plan, any Award or
any Common Stock issued or issuable pursuant to any such Award. If, after reasonable efforts and at a reasonable cost, the Company is unable to obtain
from any such regulatory commission or agency the authority that counsel for the Company deems necessary or advisable for the lawful issuance and
sale of Common Stock under the Plan, the Company will be relieved from any liability for failure to issue and sell Common Stock upon exercise or
vesting of such Awards unless and until such authority is obtained. A Participant is not eligible for the grant of an Award or the subsequent issuance of
Common Stock pursuant to the Award if such grant or issuance would be in violation of any Applicable Law.

 
11. ADDITIONAL RULES FOR AWARDS SUBJECT TO SECTION 409A.

(a) Application. Unless the provisions of this Section of the Plan are expressly superseded by the provisions in the form of Award Agreement, the
provisions of this Section shall apply and shall supersede anything to the contrary set forth in the Award Agreement for a Non-Exempt Award.

(b) Non-Exempt Awards Subject to Non-Exempt Severance Arrangements. To the extent a Non-Exempt Award is subject to Section 409A
due to application of a Non-Exempt Severance Arrangement, the following provisions of this subsection (b) apply.

(i) If the Non-Exempt Award vests in the ordinary course during the Participant’s Continuous Service in accordance with the vesting
schedule set forth in the Award Agreement, and does not accelerate vesting under the terms of a Non-Exempt Severance Arrangement, in no event will
the shares be issued in respect of such Non-Exempt Award any later than the later of: (i) December 31st of the calendar year that includes the applicable
vesting date, or (ii) the 60th day that follows the applicable vesting date.

(ii) If vesting of the Non-Exempt Award accelerates under the terms of a Non-Exempt Severance Arrangement in connection with
the Participant’s Separation from Service, and such vesting acceleration provisions were in effect as of the date of grant of the Non-Exempt Award and,
therefore, are part of the terms of such Non-Exempt Award as of the date of grant, then the shares will be earlier issued in settlement of such
Non-Exempt Award upon the Participant’s Separation from Service in accordance with the terms of the Non-Exempt Severance Arrangement, but in no
event later than the 60th day that follows the date of the Participant’s Separation from Service. However, if at the time the shares would otherwise be
issued the Participant is subject to the distribution limitations contained in Section 409A applicable to “specified employees,” as defined in
Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, such shares shall not be issued before the date that is six months following the date of such Participant’s
Separation from Service, or, if earlier, the date of the Participant’s death that occurs within such six month period.

(iii) If vesting of a Non-Exempt Award accelerates under the terms of a Non-Exempt Severance Arrangement in connection with a
Participant’s Separation from Service, and such vesting acceleration provisions were not in effect as of the date of grant of the Non-Exempt Award and,
therefore, are not a part of the terms of such Non-Exempt Award on the date of grant, then such acceleration of vesting of the Non-Exempt Award shall
not accelerate the issuance date of the shares, but the shares shall instead be issued on the same schedule as set forth in the Grant Notice as if they had
vested in the ordinary course during the Participant’s Continuous Service, notwithstanding the vesting acceleration of the Non-Exempt Award. Such
issuance schedule is intended to satisfy the requirements of payment on a specified date or pursuant to a fixed schedule, as provided under Treasury
Regulations Section 1.409A-3(a)(4).
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(c) Treatment of Non-Exempt Awards Upon a Corporate Transaction for Employees and Consultants. The provisions of this subsection
(c) shall apply and shall supersede anything to the contrary set forth in the Plan with respect to the permitted treatment of any Non-Exempt Award in
connection with a Corporate Transaction if the Participant was either an Employee or Consultant upon the applicable date of grant of the Non-Exempt
Award.

(i) Vested Non-Exempt Awards. The following provisions shall apply to any Vested Non-Exempt Award in connection with a Corporate
Transaction:

(1) If the Corporate Transaction is also a Section 409A Change in Control then the Acquiring Entity may not assume, continue or
substitute the Vested Non-Exempt Award. Upon the Section 409A Change in Control the settlement of the Vested Non-Exempt Award will automatically
be accelerated and the shares will be immediately issued in respect of the Vested Non-Exempt Award. Alternatively, the Company may instead provide
that the Participant will receive a cash settlement equal to the Fair Market Value of the shares that would otherwise be issued to the Participant upon the
Section 409A Change in Control.

(2) If the Corporate Transaction is not also a Section 409A Change in Control, then the Acquiring Entity must either assume,
continue or substitute each Vested Non-Exempt Award. The shares to be issued in respect of the Vested Non-Exempt Award shall be issued to the
Participant by the Acquiring Entity on the same schedule that the shares would have been issued to the Participant if the Corporate Transaction had not
occurred. In the Acquiring Entity’s discretion, in lieu of an issuance of shares, the Acquiring Entity may instead substitute a cash payment on each
applicable issuance date, equal to the Fair Market Value of the shares that would otherwise be issued to the Participant on such issuance dates, with the
determination of the Fair Market Value of the shares made on the date of the Corporate Transaction.

(ii) Unvested Non-Exempt Awards. The following provisions shall apply to any Unvested Non-Exempt Award unless otherwise
determined by the Board pursuant to subsection (e) of this Section.

(1) In the event of a Corporate Transaction, the Acquiring Entity shall assume, continue or substitute any Unvested Non-Exempt
Award. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, any Unvested Non-Exempt Award will remain subject to the same vesting and forfeiture restrictions
that were applicable to the Award prior to the Corporate Transaction. The shares to be issued in respect of any Unvested Non-Exempt Award shall be
issued to the Participant by the Acquiring Entity on the same schedule that the shares would have been issued to the Participant if the Corporate
Transaction had not occurred. In the Acquiring Entity’s discretion, in lieu of an issuance of shares, the Acquiring Entity may instead substitute a cash
payment on each applicable issuance date, equal to the Fair Market Value of the shares that would otherwise be issued to the Participant on such
issuance dates, with the determination of Fair Market Value of the shares made on the date of the Corporate Transaction.

(2) If the Acquiring Entity will not assume, substitute or continue any Unvested Non-Exempt Award in connection with a Corporate
Transaction, then such Award shall automatically terminate and be forfeited upon the Corporate Transaction with no consideration payable to any
Participant in respect of such forfeited Unvested Non-Exempt Award. Notwithstanding the
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foregoing, to the extent permitted and in compliance with the requirements of Section 409A, the Board may in its discretion determine to elect to
accelerate the vesting and settlement of the Unvested Non-Exempt Award upon the Corporate Transaction, or instead substitute a cash payment equal to
the Fair Market Value of such shares that would otherwise be issued to the Participant, as further provided in subsection (e)(ii) below. In the absence of
such discretionary election by the Board, any Unvested Non-Exempt Award shall be forfeited without payment of any consideration to the affected
Participants if the Acquiring Entity will not assume, substitute or continue the Unvested Non-Exempt Awards in connection with the Corporate
Transaction.

(3) The foregoing treatment shall apply with respect to all Unvested Non-Exempt Awards upon any Corporate Transaction, and
regardless of whether or not such Corporate Transaction is also a Section 409A Change in Control.

(d) Treatment of Non-Exempt Awards Upon a Corporate Transaction for Non-Employee Directors. The following provisions of this
subsection (d) shall apply and shall supersede anything to the contrary that may be set forth in the Plan with respect to the permitted treatment of a
Non-Exempt Director Award in connection with a Corporate Transaction.

(i) If the Corporate Transaction is also a Section 409A Change in Control then the Acquiring Entity may not assume, continue or substitute
the Non-Exempt Director Award. Upon the Section 409A Change in Control the vesting and settlement of any Non-Exempt Director Award will
automatically be accelerated and the shares will be immediately issued to the Participant in respect of the Non-Exempt Director Award. Alternatively,
the Company may provide that the Participant will instead receive a cash settlement equal to the Fair Market Value of the shares that would otherwise be
issued to the Participant upon the Section 409A Change in Control pursuant to the preceding provision.

(ii) If the Corporate Transaction is not also a Section 409A Change in Control, then the Acquiring Entity must either assume, continue or
substitute the Non-Exempt Director Award. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, the Non-Exempt Director Award will remain subject to the same
vesting and forfeiture restrictions that were applicable to the Award prior to the Corporate Transaction. The shares to be issued in respect of the
Non-Exempt Director Award shall be issued to the Participant by the Acquiring Entity on the same schedule that the shares would have been issued to
the Participant if the Corporate Transaction had not occurred. In the Acquiring Entity’s discretion, in lieu of an issuance of shares, the Acquiring Entity
may instead substitute a cash payment on each applicable issuance date, equal to the Fair Market Value of the shares that would otherwise be issued to
the Participant on such issuance dates, with the determination of Fair Market Value made on the date of the Corporate Transaction.

(e) If the RSU Award is a Non-Exempt Award, then the provisions in this Section 11(e) shall apply and supersede anything to the contrary that
may be set forth in the Plan or the Award Agreement with respect to the permitted treatment of such Non-Exempt Award:

(i) Any exercise by the Board of discretion to accelerate the vesting of a Non-Exempt Award shall not result in any acceleration of the
scheduled issuance dates for the shares in respect of the Non-Exempt Award unless earlier issuance of the shares upon the applicable vesting dates
would be in compliance with the requirements of Section 409A.

(ii) The Company explicitly reserves the right to earlier settle any Non-Exempt Award to the extent permitted and in compliance with the
requirements of Section 409A, including pursuant to any of the exemptions available in Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ix).
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(iii) To the extent the terms of any Non-Exempt Award provide that it will be settled upon a Change in Control or Corporate Transaction,
to the extent it is required for compliance with the requirements of Section 409A, the Change in Control or Corporate Transaction event triggering
settlement must also constitute a Section 409A Change in Control. To the extent the terms of a Non-Exempt Award provides that it will be settled upon a
termination of employment or termination of Continuous Service, to the extent it is required for compliance with the requirements of Section 409A, the
termination event triggering settlement must also constitute a Separation From Service. However, if at the time the shares would otherwise be issued to a
Participant in connection with a “separation from service” such Participant is subject to the distribution limitations contained in Section 409A applicable
to “specified employees,” as defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, such shares shall not be issued before the date that is six months following
the date of the Participant’s Separation From Service, or, if earlier, the date of the Participant’s death that occurs within such six month period.

(iv) The provisions in this subsection (e) for delivery of the shares in respect of the settlement of an RSU Award that is a Non-Exempt
Award are intended to comply with the requirements of Section 409A so that the delivery of the shares to the Participant in respect of such Non-Exempt
Award will not trigger the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and any ambiguities herein will be so interpreted.

 
12. SEVERABILITY.

If all or any part of the Plan or any Award Agreement is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or invalid, such
unlawfulness or invalidity shall not invalidate any portion of the Plan or such Award Agreement not declared to be unlawful or invalid. Any Section of
the Plan or any Award Agreement (or part of such a Section) so declared to be unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a manner which will
give effect to the terms of such Section or part of a Section to the fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.

 
13. TERMINATION OF THE PLAN.

The Board may suspend or terminate the Plan at any time. No Incentive Stock Options may be granted after the tenth anniversary of the earlier of:
(i) the Adoption Date, or (ii) the date the Plan is approved by the Company’s stockholders. No Awards may be granted under the Plan while the Plan is
suspended or after it is terminated.
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14. DEFINITIONS.

As used in the Plan, the following definitions apply to the capitalized terms indicated below:

(a) “Acquiring Entity” means the surviving or acquiring corporation (or its parent company) in connection with a Corporate Transaction.

(b) “Adoption Date” means the date the Plan is first approved by the Board or Compensation Committee.

(c) “Affiliate” means, at the time of determination, any “parent” or “subsidiary” of the Company as such terms are defined in Rule 405
promulgated under the Securities Act. The Board may determine the time or times at which “parent” or “subsidiary” status is determined within the
foregoing definition.

(d) “Applicable Law” means any applicable securities, federal, state, foreign, material local or municipal or other law, statute, constitution,
principle of common law, resolution, ordinance, code, edict, decree, rule, listing rule, regulation, judicial decision, ruling or requirement issued, enacted,
adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Body (including under the authority of
any applicable self-regulating organization such as the Nasdaq Stock Market, New York Stock Exchange, or the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority).

(e) “Award” means any right to receive Common Stock, cash or other property granted under the Plan (including an Incentive Stock Option, a
Nonstatutory Stock Option, a Restricted Stock Award, an RSU Award, a SAR, a Performance Award or any Other Award).

(f) “Award Agreement” means a written or electronic agreement between the Company and a Participant evidencing the terms and conditions of
an Award. The Award Agreement generally consists of the Grant Notice and the agreement containing the written summary of the general terms and
conditions applicable to the Award and which is provided, including through electronic means, to a Participant along with the Grant Notice.

(g) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company (or its designee). Any decision or determination made by the Board shall be a decision
or determination that is made in the sole discretion of the Board (or its designee), and such decision or determination shall be final and binding on all
Participants

(h) “Business Combination Agreement” means that certain Business Combination Agreement by and among Consonance-HFW Acquisition
Corp., Perseverance Merger Sub Inc., and Surrozen, Inc., dated as of April 15, 2021.

(i) “Capitalization Adjustment” means any change that is made in, or other events that occur with respect to, the Common Stock subject to the
Plan or subject to any Award after the date the Plan is adopted by the Board without the receipt of consideration by the Company through merger,
consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, reincorporation, stock dividend, dividend in property other than cash, large nonrecurring cash dividend,
stock split, reverse stock split, liquidating dividend, combination of shares, exchange of shares, change in corporate structure or any similar equity
restructuring transaction, as that term is used in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 (or
any successor thereto). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the conversion of any convertible securities of the Company will not be treated as a
Capitalization Adjustment.
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(j) “Cause” has the meaning ascribed to such term in any written agreement between a Participant and the Company defining such term and, in
the absence of such agreement, such term means, with respect to a Participant, the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) the Participant’s
dishonest statements or acts with respect to the Company or any Affiliate of the Company, or any current or prospective customers, suppliers, vendors or
other third parties with which such entity does business; (ii) the Participant’s commission of (A) a felony or (B) any misdemeanor involving moral
turpitude, deceit, dishonesty or fraud; (iii) the Participant’s failure to perform the Participant’s assigned duties and responsibilities to the reasonable
satisfaction of the Company which failure continues, in the reasonable judgment of the Company, after written notice given to the Participant by the
Company; (iv) the Participant’s gross negligence, willful misconduct or insubordination with respect to the Company or any Affiliate of the Company;
or (v) the Participant’s material violation of any provision of any agreement(s) between the Participant and the Company relating to noncompetition,
nonsolicitation, nondisclosure and/or assignment of inventions. The determination that a termination of the Participant’s Continuous Service is either for
Cause or without Cause will be made by the Board with respect to Participants who are executive officers of the Company and by the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer with respect to Participants who are not executive officers of the Company. Any determination by the Company that the Continuous
Service of a Participant was terminated with or without Cause for the purposes of outstanding Awards held by such Participant will have no effect upon
any determination of the rights or obligations of the Company or such Participant for any other purpose.

(k) “Change in Control” or “Change of Control” means the occurrence, in a single transaction or in a series of related transactions, of any one or
more of the following events:

(i) any Exchange Act Person becomes the Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more than 50% of the
combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities other than by virtue of a merger, consolidation or similar transaction.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Change in Control shall not be deemed to occur (A) on account of the acquisition of securities of the Company directly
from the Company, (B) on account of the acquisition of securities of the Company by an investor, any affiliate thereof or any other Exchange Act Person
that acquires the Company’s securities in a transaction or series of related transactions the primary purpose of which is to obtain financing for the
Company through the issuance of equity securities, or (C) solely because the level of Ownership held by any Exchange Act Person (the “Subject
Person”) exceeds the designated percentage threshold of the outstanding voting securities as a result of a repurchase or other acquisition of voting
securities by the Company reducing the number of shares outstanding, provided that if a Change in Control would occur (but for the operation of this
sentence) as a result of the acquisition of voting securities by the Company, and after such share acquisition, the Subject Person becomes the Owner of
any additional voting securities that, assuming the repurchase or other acquisition had not occurred, increases the percentage of the then outstanding
voting securities Owned by the Subject Person over the designated percentage threshold, then a Change in Control shall be deemed to occur;

(ii) there is consummated a merger, consolidation or similar transaction involving (directly or indirectly) the Company and, immediately
after the consummation of such merger, consolidation or similar transaction, the stockholders of the Company immediately prior thereto do not Own,
directly or indirectly, either (A) outstanding voting securities representing more than 50% of the combined outstanding voting power of the Acquiring
Entity in such merger, consolidation or similar transaction or (B) more than 50% of the combined outstanding voting power of the parent of the
Acquiring Entity in such merger, consolidation or similar transaction, in each case in substantially the same proportions as their Ownership of the
outstanding voting securities of the Company immediately prior to such transaction;
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(iii) there is consummated a sale, lease, exclusive license or other disposition of all or substantially all of the consolidated assets of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, other than a sale, lease, license or other disposition of all or substantially all of the consolidated assets of the Company
and its Subsidiaries to an Entity, more than 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of which are Owned by stockholders of the
Company in substantially the same proportions as their Ownership of the outstanding voting securities of the Company immediately prior to such sale,
lease, license or other disposition; or

(iv) individuals who, on the date the Plan is adopted by the Board, are members of the Board (the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any
reason to constitute at least a majority of the members of the Board; provided, however, that if the appointment or election (or nomination for election)
of any new Board member was approved or recommended by a majority vote of the members of the Incumbent Board then still in office, such new
member shall, for purposes of this Plan, be considered as a member of the Incumbent Board.

Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this Plan, (A) the term Change in Control shall not include a sale of assets, merger or other
transaction effected exclusively for the purpose of changing the domicile of the Company, (B) the definition of Change in Control (or any analogous
term) in an individual written agreement between the Company or any Affiliate and the Participant shall supersede the foregoing definition with respect
to Awards subject to such agreement; provided, however, that if no definition of Change in Control or any analogous term is set forth in such an
individual written agreement, the foregoing definition shall apply, and (C) with respect to any nonqualified deferred compensation that becomes payable
on account of the Change in Control, the transaction or event described in clause (i), (ii), (iii), or (iv) also constitutes a Section 409A Change in Control
if required in order for the payment not to violate Section 409A of the Code.

(l) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including any applicable regulations and guidance thereunder.

(m) “Committee” means the Compensation Committee and any other committee of one or more Directors to whom authority has been delegated
by the Board or Compensation Committee in accordance with the Plan.

(n) “Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company.

(o) “Company” means Surrozen, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

(p) “Compensation Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board.

(q) “Consultant” means any person, including an advisor, who is (i) engaged by the Company or an Affiliate to render consulting or advisory
services and is compensated for such services, or (ii) serving as a member of the board of directors of an Affiliate and is compensated for such services.
However, service solely as a Director, or payment of a fee for such service, will not cause a Director to be considered a “Consultant” for purposes of the
Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a person is treated as a Consultant under this Plan only if a Form S-8 Registration Statement under the Securities
Act is available to register either the offer or the sale of the Company’s securities to such person.
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(r) “Continuous Service” means that the Participant’s service with the Company or an Affiliate, whether as an Employee, Director or Consultant,
is not interrupted or terminated. A change in the capacity in which the Participant renders service to the Company or an Affiliate as an Employee,
Director or Consultant or a change in the Entity for which the Participant renders such service, provided that there is no interruption or termination of
the Participant’s service with the Company or an Affiliate, will not terminate a Participant’s Continuous Service; provided, however, that if the Entity for
which a Participant is rendering services ceases to qualify as an Affiliate, as determined by the Board, such Participant’s Continuous Service will be
considered to have terminated on the date such Entity ceases to qualify as an Affiliate. For example, a change in status from an Employee of the
Company to a Consultant of an Affiliate or to a Director will not constitute an interruption of Continuous Service. To the extent permitted by law, the
Board or the chief executive officer of the Company, in that party’s sole discretion, may determine whether Continuous Service will be considered
interrupted in the case of (i) any leave of absence approved by the Board or chief executive officer, including sick leave, military leave or any other
personal leave, or (ii) transfers between the Company, an Affiliate, or their successors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a leave of absence will be treated
as Continuous Service for purposes of vesting in an Award only to such extent as may be provided in the Company’s leave of absence policy, in the
written terms of any leave of absence agreement or policy applicable to the Participant, or as otherwise required by law. In addition, to the extent
required for exemption from or compliance with Section 409A, the determination of whether there has been a termination of Continuous Service will be
made, and such term will be construed, in a manner that is consistent with the definition of “separation from service” as defined under Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h) (without regard to any alternative definition thereunder).

(s) “Corporate Transaction” means the consummation, in a single transaction or in a series of related transactions, of any one or more of the
following events:

(i) a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all, as determined by the Board, of the consolidated assets of the Company and its
Subsidiaries;

(ii) a sale or other disposition of at least 50% of the outstanding securities of the Company;

(iii) a merger, consolidation or similar transaction following which the Company is not the surviving corporation; or

(iv) a merger, consolidation or similar transaction following which the Company is the surviving corporation but the shares of Common
Stock outstanding immediately preceding the merger, consolidation or similar transaction are converted or exchanged by virtue of the merger,
consolidation or similar transaction into other property, whether in the form of securities, cash or otherwise.

Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this Plan, (A) the term Corporate Transaction shall not include a sale of assets, merger or
other transaction effected exclusively for the purpose of changing the domicile of the Company, (B) the definition of Corporate Transaction (or any
analogous term) in an individual written agreement between the Company or any Affiliate and the Participant shall supersede the foregoing definition
with respect to Awards subject to such agreement; provided, however, that if no definition of Corporate Transaction or any analogous term is set forth in
such an individual written agreement, the foregoing definition shall apply, and (C) with respect to any nonqualified deferred compensation that becomes
payable on account of the Corporate Transaction, the transaction or event described in clause (i), (ii), (iii), or (iv) also constitutes a Section 409A Change
in Control if required in order for the payment not to violate Section 409A of the Code.
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(t) “Director” means a member of the Board.

(u) “determine” or “determined” means as determined by the Board or the Committee (or its designee) in its sole discretion.

(v) “Disability” means, with respect to a Participant, such Participant is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any
medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a
continuous period of not less than 12 months, as provided in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, and will be determined by the Board on the basis of such
medical evidence as the Board deems warranted under the circumstances.

(w) “Effective Date” means the effective date of this Plan, which is the date of the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Business
Combination Agreement, provided that this Plan is approved by the Company’s stockholders prior to such date.

(x) “Employee” means any person employed by the Company or an Affiliate. However, service solely as a Director, or payment of a fee for such
services, will not cause a Director to be considered an “Employee” for purposes of the Plan.

(y) “Employer” means the Company or the Affiliate of the Company that employs the Participant.

(z) “Entity” means a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity.

(aa) “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

(bb) “Exchange Act Person” means any natural person, Entity or “group” (within the meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d) of the Exchange Act),
except that “Exchange Act Person” will not include (i) the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, (ii) any employee benefit plan of the Company
or any Subsidiary of the Company or any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company or any Subsidiary
of the Company, (iii) an underwriter temporarily holding securities pursuant to a registered public offering of such securities, (iv) an Entity Owned,
directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their Ownership of stock of the Company, or (v) any
natural person, Entity or “group” (within the meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d) of the Exchange Act) that, as of the Effective Date, is the Owner,
directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more than 50% of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding
securities.

(cc) “Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, unless otherwise determined by the Board, the value of the Common Stock (as determined on a
per share or aggregate basis, as applicable) determined as follows:

(i) If the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or traded on any established market, the Fair Market Value will be the
closing sales price for such stock as quoted on such exchange or market (or the exchange or market with the greatest volume of trading in the Common
Stock) on the date of determination, as reported in a source the Board deems reliable.

(ii) If there is no closing sales price for the Common Stock on the date of determination, then the Fair Market Value will be the closing
selling price on the last preceding date for which such quotation exists.
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(iii) In the absence of such markets for the Common Stock, or if otherwise determined by the Board, the Fair Market Value will be
determined by the Board in good faith and in a manner that complies with Sections 409A and 422 of the Code.

(dd) “Fully-Diluted Common Stock” means, as of any date, the aggregate number of (i) shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding and
(ii) securities convertible into or exercisable for shares of Common Stock (whether vested or unvested).

(ee) “Governmental Body” means any: (a) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or other jurisdiction of
any nature; (b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; (c) governmental or regulatory body, or quasi-governmental body of any
nature (including any governmental division, department, administrative agency or bureau, commission, authority, instrumentality, official, ministry,
fund, foundation, center, organization, unit, body or Entity and any court or other tribunal, and for the avoidance of doubt, any Tax authority) or other
body exercising similar powers or authority; or (d) self-regulatory organization (including the Nasdaq Stock Market, New York Stock Exchange, and the
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority).

(ff) “Grant Notice” means the notice provided to a Participant that he or she has been granted an Award under the Plan and which includes the
name of the Participant, the type of Award, the date of grant of the Award, number of shares of Common Stock subject to the Award or potential cash
payment right, (if any), the vesting schedule for the Award (if any) and other key terms applicable to the Award.

(gg) “Incentive Stock Option” means an option granted pursuant to Section 4 of the Plan that is intended to be, and qualifies as, an “incentive
stock option” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.

(hh) “Materially Impair” means any amendment to the terms of the Award that materially adversely affects the Participant’s rights under the
Award. A Participant’s rights under an Award will not be deemed to have been Materially Impaired by any such amendment if the Board, in its sole
discretion, determines that the amendment, taken as a whole, does not materially impair the Participant’s rights. For example, the following types of
amendments to the terms of an Award do not Materially Impair the Participant’s rights under the Award: (i) imposition of reasonable restrictions on the
minimum number of shares subject to an Option or SAR that may be exercised, (ii) to maintain the qualified status of the Award as an Incentive Stock
Option under Section 422 of the Code, (iii) to change the terms of an Incentive Stock Option in a manner that disqualifies, impairs or otherwise affects
the qualified status of the Award as an Incentive Stock Option under Section 422 of the Code, (iv) to clarify the manner of exemption from, or to bring
the Award into compliance with or qualify it for an exemption from, Section 409A, or (v) to comply with other Applicable Laws.

(ii) “Non-Employee Director” means a Director who either (i) is not a current employee or officer of the Company or an Affiliate, does not
receive compensation, either directly or indirectly, from the Company or an Affiliate for services rendered as a consultant or in any capacity other than
as a Director (except for an amount as to which disclosure would not be required under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K promulgated pursuant to the
Securities Act (“Regulation S-K”)), does not possess an interest in any other transaction for which disclosure would be required under Item 404(a) of
Regulation S-K, and is not engaged in a business relationship for which disclosure would be required pursuant to Item 404(b) of Regulation S-K, or
(ii) is otherwise considered a “non-employee director” for purposes of Rule 16b-3.

(jj) “Non-Exempt Award” means any Award that is subject to, and not exempt from, Section 409A, including as the result of (i) a deferral of the
issuance of the shares subject to the Award which is elected by the Participant or imposed by the Company, or (ii) the terms of any Non-Exempt
Severance Agreement.
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(kk) “Non-Exempt Director Award” means a Non-Exempt Award granted to a Participant who was a Director but not an Employee on the
applicable grant date.

(ll) “Non-Exempt Severance Arrangement” means a severance arrangement or other agreement between the Participant and the Company that
provides for acceleration of vesting of an Award and issuance of the shares in respect of such Award upon the Participant’s termination of employment
or separation from service (as such term is defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code (and without regard to any alternative definition thereunder)
(“Separation from Service”) and such severance benefit does not satisfy the requirements for an exemption from application of Section 409A provided
under Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-1(b)(4), 1.409A-1(b)(9) or otherwise.

(mm) “Nonstatutory Stock Option” means any option granted pursuant to Section 4 of the Plan that does not qualify as an Incentive Stock
Option.

(nn) “Officer” means a person who is an officer of the Company within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

(oo) “Option” means an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option to purchase shares of Common Stock granted pursuant to the
Plan.

(pp) “Option Agreement” means a written or electronic agreement between the Company and the Optionholder evidencing the terms and
conditions of the Option grant. The Option Agreement includes the Grant Notice for the Option and the agreement containing the written summary of
the general terms and conditions applicable to the Option and which is provided, including through electronic means, to a Participant along with the
Grant Notice. Each Option Agreement will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

(qq) “Optionholder” means a person to whom an Option is granted pursuant to the Plan or, if applicable, such other person who holds an
outstanding Option.

(rr) “Other Award” means an award valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on, Common Stock, including the appreciation
in value thereof (e.g., options or stock rights with an exercise price or strike price less than 100% of the Fair Market Value at the time of grant) that is
not an Incentive Stock Option, Nonstatutory Stock Option, SAR, Restricted Stock Award, RSU Award or Performance Award.

(ss) “Other Award Agreement” means a written or electronic agreement between the Company and a holder of an Other Award evidencing the
terms and conditions of an Other Award grant. Each Other Award Agreement will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

(tt) “Own,” “Owned,” “Owner,” “Ownership” means that a person or Entity will be deemed to “Own,” to have “Owned,” to be the “Owner” of, or
to have acquired “Ownership” of securities if such person or Entity, directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship
or otherwise, has or shares voting power, which includes the power to vote or to direct the voting, with respect to such securities.

(uu) “Participant” means an Employee, Director or Consultant to whom an Award is granted pursuant to the Plan or, if applicable, such other
person who holds an outstanding Award.
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(vv) “Performance Award” means an Award that may vest or may be exercised or a cash award that may vest or become earned and paid
contingent upon the attainment during a Performance Period of certain Performance Goals and which is granted under the terms and conditions of
Section 5(b) pursuant to such terms as are approved by the Board. In addition, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law and set forth in the applicable
Award Agreement, the Board may determine that cash or other property may be used in payment of Performance Awards. Performance Awards that are
settled in cash or other property are not required to be valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on, the Common Stock.

(ww) “Performance Criteria” means the one or more criteria that the Board will select for purposes of establishing the Performance Goals for a
Performance Period. The Performance Criteria that will be used to establish such Performance Goals may be based on any one of, or combination of, the
following as determined by the Board: earnings (including earnings per share and net earnings); earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation;
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization; total stockholder return; return on equity or average stockholder’s equity; return on assets,
investment, or capital employed; stock price; margin (including gross margin); income (before or after taxes); operating income; operating income after
taxes; pre-tax profit; operating cash flow; sales or revenue targets; increases in revenue or product revenue; expenses and cost reduction goals;
improvement in or attainment of working capital levels; economic value added (or an equivalent metric); market share; cash flow; cash flow per share;
share price performance; debt reduction; customer satisfaction; stockholders’ equity; capital expenditures; debt levels; operating profit or net operating
profit; workforce diversity; growth of net income or operating income; billings; financing; regulatory milestones; stockholder liquidity; corporate
governance and compliance; intellectual property; personnel matters; progress of internal research; progress of partnered programs; partner satisfaction;
budget management; partner or collaborator achievements; internal controls, including those related to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; investor
relations, analysts and communication; implementation or completion of projects or processes; employee retention; number of users, including unique
users; strategic partnerships or transactions (including in-licensing and out-licensing of intellectual property); establishing relationships with respect to
the marketing, distribution and sale of the Company’s products; supply chain achievements; co-development, co-marketing, profit sharing, joint venture
or other similar arrangements; individual performance goals; corporate development and planning goals; and other measures of performance selected by
the Board or Committee whether or not listed herein.

(xx) “Performance Goals” means, for a Performance Period, the one or more goals established by the Board for the Performance Period based
upon the Performance Criteria. Performance Goals may be based on a Company-wide basis, with respect to one or more business units, divisions,
Affiliates, or business segments, and in either absolute terms or relative to the performance of one or more comparable companies or the performance of
one or more relevant indices. Unless specified otherwise by the Board (i) in the Award Agreement at the time the Award is granted or (ii) in such other
document setting forth the Performance Goals at the time the Performance Goals are established, the Board will appropriately make adjustments in the
method of calculating the attainment of Performance Goals for a Performance Period as follows: (1) to exclude restructuring and/or other nonrecurring
charges; (2) to exclude exchange rate effects; (3) to exclude the effects of changes to generally accepted accounting principles; (4) to exclude the effects
of any statutory adjustments to corporate tax rates; (5) to exclude the effects of items that are “unusual” in nature or occur “infrequently” as determined
under
 

27



generally accepted accounting principles; (6) to exclude the dilutive effects of acquisitions or joint ventures; (7) to assume that any business divested by
the Company achieved performance objectives at targeted levels during the balance of a Performance Period following such divestiture; (8) to exclude
the effect of any change in the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company by reason of any stock dividend or split, stock repurchase,
reorganization, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, spin-off, combination or exchange of shares or other similar corporate change, or any
distributions to common stockholders other than regular cash dividends; (9) to exclude the effects of stock based compensation and the award of
bonuses under the Company’s bonus plans; (10) to exclude costs incurred in connection with potential acquisitions or divestitures that are required to be
expensed under generally accepted accounting principles; and (11) to exclude the goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges that are required to
be recorded under generally accepted accounting principles. In addition, the Board may establish or provide for other adjustment items in the Award
Agreement at the time the Award is granted or in such other document setting forth the Performance Goals at the time the Performance Goals are
established. In addition, the Board retains the discretion to reduce or eliminate the compensation or economic benefit due upon attainment of
Performance Goals and to define the manner of calculating the Performance Criteria it selects to use for such Performance Period. Partial achievement
of the specified criteria may result in the payment or vesting corresponding to the degree of achievement as specified in the Award Agreement or the
written terms of a Performance Cash Award.

(yy) “Performance Period” means the period of time selected by the Board over which the attainment of one or more Performance Goals will be
measured for the purpose of determining a Participant’s right to vesting or exercise of an Award. Performance Periods may be of varying and
overlapping duration, at the sole discretion of the Board.

(zz) “Plan” means this Surrozen, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan.

(aaa) “Plan Administrator” means the person, persons, and/or third-party administrator designated by the Company to administer the day to day
operations of the Plan and the Company’s other equity incentive programs.

(bbb) “Post-Termination Exercise Period” means the period following termination of a Participant’s Continuous Service within which an Option
or SAR is exercisable, as specified in Section 4(h).

(ccc) “Restricted Stock Award” or “RSA” means an Award of shares of Common Stock which is granted pursuant to the terms and conditions of
Section 5(a).

(ddd) “Restricted Stock Award Agreement” means a written or electronic agreement between the Company and a holder of a Restricted Stock
Award evidencing the terms and conditions of a Restricted Stock Award grant. The Restricted Stock Award Agreement includes the Grant Notice for the
Restricted Stock Award and the agreement containing the written summary of the general terms and conditions applicable to the Restricted Stock Award
and which is provided, including by electronic means, to a Participant along with the Grant Notice. Each Restricted Stock Award Agreement will be
subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

(eee) “RSU Award” or “RSU” means an Award of restricted stock units representing the right to receive an issuance of shares of Common Stock
which is granted pursuant to the terms and conditions of Section 5(a).
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(fff) “RSU Award Agreement” means a written or electronic agreement between the Company and a holder of an RSU Award evidencing the
terms and conditions of an RSU Award. The RSU Award Agreement includes the Grant Notice for the RSU Award and the agreement containing the
written summary of the general terms and conditions applicable to the RSU Award and which is provided, including by electronic means, to a
Participant along with the Grant Notice. Each RSU Award Agreement will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

(ggg) “Rule 16b-3” means Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act or any successor to Rule 16b-3, as in effect from time to time.

(hhh) “Rule 405” means Rule 405 promulgated under the Securities Act.

(iii) “Section 409A” means Section 409A of the Code and the regulations and other guidance thereunder.

(jjj) “Section 409A Change in Control” means a change in the ownership or effective control of the Company, or in the ownership of a
substantial portion of the Company’s assets, as provided in Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-3(i)(5)
(without regard to any alternative definition thereunder).

(kkk) “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(lll) “Share Reserve” means the number of shares available for issuance under the Plan as set forth in Section 2(a).

(mmm) “Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” means a right to receive the appreciation on Common Stock that is granted pursuant to the terms
and conditions of Section 4.

(nnn) “SAR Agreement” means a written or electronic agreement between the Company and a holder of a SAR evidencing the terms and
conditions of a SAR grant. The SAR Agreement includes the Grant Notice for the SAR and the agreement containing the written summary of the
general terms and conditions applicable to the SAR and which is provided, including by electronic means, to a Participant along with the Grant Notice.
Each SAR Agreement will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

(ooo) “Subsidiary” means, with respect to the Company, (i) any corporation of which more than 50% of the outstanding capital stock having
ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors of such corporation (irrespective of whether, at the time, stock of any other class or
classes of such corporation will have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency) is at the time, directly or indirectly,
Owned by the Company, and (ii) any partnership, limited liability company or other entity in which the Company has a direct or indirect interest
(whether in the form of voting or participation in profits or capital contribution) of more than 50%.

(ppp) “Ten Percent Stockholder” means a person who Owns (or is deemed to Own pursuant to Section 424(d) of the Code) stock possessing
more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Affiliate.

(qqq) “Trading Policy” means the Company’s policy permitting certain individuals to sell Company shares only during certain “window” periods
and/or otherwise restricts the ability of certain individuals to transfer or encumber Company shares, as in effect from time to time.

(rrr) “Unvested Non-Exempt Award” means the portion of any Non-Exempt Award that had not vested in accordance with its terms upon or prior
to the date of any Corporate Transaction.

(sss) “Vested Non-Exempt Award” means the portion of any Non-Exempt Award that had vested in accordance with its terms upon or prior to the
date of a Corporate Transaction.
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SURROZEN, INC.

STOCK OPTION GRANT NOTICE
(2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN)

Surrozen, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to its 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (as may be amended and/or restated as of the Date of Grant set forth below,
the “Plan”), has granted to Optionholder an option to purchase the number of shares of the Common Stock set forth below (the “Option”). The Option is
subject to all of the terms and conditions as set forth in this Stock Option Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) and in the Plan, the Option Agreement, and
the Notice of Exercise, all of which are attached to this Grant Notice and incorporated into this Grant Notice in their entirety. Capitalized terms not
explicitly defined in this Grant Notice but defined in the Plan or the Option Agreement shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan or the Option
Agreement, as applicable. If the Company uses an electronic capitalization table system (such as Carta or Shareworks) and the fields below are blank or
the information is otherwise provided in a different format electronically, the blank fields and other information (such as exercise schedule and type of
grant) shall be deemed to come from the electronic capitalization system and is considered part of this Grant Notice.
 
     Optionholder:    

 Date of Grant:    
 Vesting Commencement Date:    
 Number of Shares Subject to Option:    
 Exercise Price (Per Share)1:    
 Total Exercise Price:    
 Expiration Date:    
 Exercise Schedule:   [Same as Vesting Schedule]
 Type of Grant2:   [Incentive Stock Option] [Nonstatutory Stock Option]

 
Vesting Schedule:

  

[Sample of standard vesting. 12/48ths of the total shares will vest on the one-year anniversary of the Vesting Commencement
Date, and 1/48th of the total shares will vest each month thereafter on the same day of the month as the Vesting Commencement
Date (or if there is no corresponding day, on the last day of the month), subject to Optionholder’s Continuous Service as of each
such date.]

 
 
1 The exercise price may be paid by one or a combination of the methods permitted in the Option Agreement.
2 If this is an Incentive Stock Option, it (plus other outstanding Incentive Stock Options) cannot be first exercisable for more than $100,000 in value

(measured by exercise price) in any calendar year. Any excess over $100,000 is a Nonstatutory Stock Option.



Optionholder Acknowledgements: By Optionholder’s signature below or by electronic acceptance or authentication in a form authorized by the
Company, Optionholder understands and agrees that the Option is governed by this Stock Option Grant Notice, and the provisions of the Plan and the
Option Agreement and the Notice of Exercise, all of which are made a part of this document.

By accepting this Option, Optionholder consents to receive this Grant Notice, the Option Agreement, the Plan, and any other Plan-related documents by
electronic delivery and to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third
party designated by the Company. Optionholder represents that he or she has read and is familiar with the provisions of the Plan and the Option
Agreement. Optionholder acknowledges and agrees that this Grant Notice and the Option Agreement may not be modified, amended or revised except
in writing signed by Optionholder and a duly authorized officer of the Company.

Optionholder further acknowledges that in the event of any conflict between the provisions in this Grant Notice, the Option Agreement, the Notice of
Exercise and the terms of the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall control. Optionholder further acknowledges that the Option Agreement sets forth the
entire understanding between Optionholder and the Company regarding the acquisition of Common Stock and supersedes all prior oral and written
agreements, promises and/or representations on that subject with the exception of other equity awards previously granted to Optionholder and any
written employment agreement, offer letter, severance agreement, written severance plan or policy, or other written agreement between the Company
and Optionholder in each case that specifies the terms that should govern this Option.

Optionholder further acknowledges that this Grant Notice has been prepared on behalf of the Company by Cooley LLP, counsel to the Company and that
Cooley LLP does not represent, and is not acting on behalf of, Optionholder in any capacity. Optionholder has been provided with an opportunity to
consult with Optionholder’s own counsel with respect to this Grant Notice.

This Grant Notice may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one
and the same instrument. Counterparts may be delivered via facsimile, electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the
U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, Uniform Electronic Transactions Act or other applicable law) or other transmission method and any counterpart so
delivered will be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.
 
Surrozen, Inc.   Optionholder:

By:     By:   
 (Signature)    (Signature)

Title:    Email:  
Date:    Date:  

Attachments: Option Agreement, 2021Equity Incentive Plan and Notice of Exercise



ATTACHMENT I

OPTION AGREEMENT



SURROZEN, INC.
2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

OPTION AGREEMENT
(INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION OR NONSTATUTORY STOCK OPTION)

Pursuant to your Stock Option Grant Notice (“Grant Notice”) and this Option Agreement, Surrozen, Inc. (the “Company”) has granted you an
option under its 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) to purchase the number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock indicated in your Grant
Notice at the exercise price indicated in your Grant Notice. The option is granted to you effective as of the date of grant set forth in the Grant Notice (the
“Date of Grant”). If there is any conflict between the terms in this Option Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the Plan will control. Capitalized terms
not explicitly defined in this Option Agreement or in the Grant Notice but defined in the Plan will have the same definitions as in the Plan.

The details of your option, in addition to those set forth in the Grant Notice and the Plan, are as follows:

1. Vesting. Your option will vest as provided in your Grant Notice. Vesting will cease upon the termination of your Continuous Service.

2. Number of Shares and Exercise Price. The number of shares of Common Stock subject to your option and your exercise price per share in
your Grant Notice will be adjusted for Capitalization Adjustments.

3. Exercise Restriction for Non-Exempt Employees. If you are an Employee eligible for overtime compensation under the Fair Labor Standards
Act of 1938, as amended (that is, a “Non-Exempt Employee”), and except as otherwise provided in the Plan, you may not exercise your option until you
have completed at least six months of Continuous Service measured from the Date of Grant, even if you have already been an employee for more than
six months. Consistent with the provisions of the Worker Economic Opportunity Act, you may exercise your option as to any vested portion prior to
such six month anniversary in the case of (i) your death or disability, (ii) a Corporate Transaction in which your option is not assumed, continued or
substituted, (iii) a Change in Control or (iv) your termination of Continuous Service on your “retirement” (as defined in the Company’s benefit plans).

4. Exercise prior to Vesting (“Early Exercise”). If permitted in your Grant Notice (i.e., the “Exercise Schedule” indicates “Early Exercise
Permitted”) and subject to the provisions of your option, you may elect at any time that is both (i) during the period of your Continuous Service and
(ii) during the term of your option, to exercise all or part of your option, including the unvested portion of your option; provided, however, that:

(a) a partial exercise of your option will be deemed to cover first vested shares of Common Stock and then the earliest vesting installment
of unvested shares of Common Stock;

(b) any shares of Common Stock so purchased from installments that have not vested as of the date of exercise will be subject to the
purchase option in favor of the Company as described in the Company’s form of Early Exercise Stock Purchase Agreement;
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(c) you will enter into the Company’s form of Early Exercise Stock Purchase Agreement with a vesting schedule that will result in the
same vesting as if no early exercise had occurred; and

(d) if your option is an Incentive Stock Option, then, to the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined at the Date of Grant)
of the shares of Common Stock with respect to which your option plus all other Incentive Stock Options you hold are exercisable for the first time by
you during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and its Affiliates) exceeds $100,000, your option(s) or portions thereof that exceed such
limit (according to the order in which they were granted) will be treated as Nonstatutory Stock Options.

5. Method of Payment. You must pay the full amount of the exercise price for the shares you wish to exercise. The permitted methods of payment
are as follows:

(a) by cash, check, bank draft, electronic funds transfer or money order payable to the Company;

(b) subject to Company and/or Board consent at the time of exercise and provided that at the time of exercise the Common Stock is
publicly traded, pursuant to a program developed under Regulation T as promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board that, prior to the issuance of
Common Stock, results in either the receipt of cash (or check) by the Company or the receipt of irrevocable instructions to pay the aggregate exercise
price to the Company from the sales proceeds. This manner of payment is also known as a “broker-assisted exercise”, “same day sale”, or “sell to
cover”;

(c) subject to Company and/or Board consent at the time of exercise and provided that at the time of exercise the Common Stock is
publicly traded, by delivery to the Company (either by actual delivery or attestation) of already-owned shares of Common Stock that are owned free and
clear of any liens, claims, encumbrances or security interests, and that are valued at Fair Market Value on the date of exercise. “Delivery” for these
purposes, in the sole discretion of the Company at the time you exercise your option, will include delivery to the Company of your attestation of
ownership of such shares of Common Stock in a form approved by the Company. You may not exercise your option by delivery to the Company of
Common Stock if doing so would violate the provisions of any law, regulation or agreement restricting the redemption of the Company’s stock;

(d) subject to Company and/or Board consent at the time of exercise, and provided that the Option is a Nonstatutory Stock Option, by a
“net exercise” arrangement pursuant to which the Company will reduce the number of shares of Common Stock issued upon exercise of the Option by
the largest whole number of shares with a Fair Market Value that does not exceed the aggregate exercise price plus, to the extent permitted by the
Company and/or Board at the time of exercise, the aggregate withholding obligations in respect of the Option exercise; provided, further that you must
pay any remaining balance of the aggregate exercise price not satisfied by the “net exercise” in cash or other permitted form of payment. Shares of
Common Stock will no longer be subject to the Option and will not be exercisable thereafter to the extent that (A) shares issuable upon exercise are used
to pay the exercise price pursuant to the “net exercise,” (B) shares are delivered to you as a result of such exercise, and (C) shares are withheld to satisfy
tax withholding obligations;

(e) subject to the consent of the Company and/or Board at the time of exercise, according to a deferred payment or similar arrangement
with you; provided, however, that interest will compound at least annually and will be charged at the minimum rate of interest necessary to avoid (A) the
imputation of interest income to the Company and compensation income to the Optionholder under any applicable provisions of the Code, and (B) the
classification of the Option as a liability for financial accounting purposes; or
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(f) in any other form of legal consideration that may be acceptable to the Board.

6. Whole Shares. You may exercise your option only for whole shares of Common Stock.

7. Securities Law Compliance. In no event may you exercise your option unless the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise are then
registered under the Securities Act or, if not registered, the Company has determined that your exercise and the issuance of the shares would be exempt
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The exercise of your option also must comply with all other applicable laws and regulations
governing your option, and you may not exercise your option if the Company determines that such exercise would not be in material compliance with
such laws and regulations (including any restrictions on exercise required for compliance with Treas. Reg. 1.401(k)-1(d)(3), if applicable).

8. Term. You may not exercise your option before the Date of Grant or after the expiration of the option’s term. Except as set forth in your Grant
Notice, the term of your option expires, subject to the provisions of Section 5(h) of the Plan, upon the earliest of the following:

(a) immediately upon the termination of your Continuous Service for Cause;

(b) three months after the termination of your Continuous Service for any reason other than Cause, your Disability or your death (except as
otherwise provided in Section 8(d) below); provided, however, that if during any part of such three month period your option is not exercisable solely
because of the condition set forth in the section above relating to “Securities Law Compliance,” your option will not expire until the earlier of the
Expiration Date or until it has been exercisable for an aggregate period of three months after the termination of your Continuous Service; provided
further, that if (i) you are a Non-Exempt Employee, (ii) your Continuous Service terminates within six months after the Date of Grant, and (iii) you have
vested in a portion of your option at the time of your termination of Continuous Service, your option will not expire until the earlier of (x) the later of
(A) the date that is seven months after the Date of Grant, and (B) the date that is three months after the termination of your Continuous Service, and
(y) the Expiration Date;

(c) 12 months after the termination of your Continuous Service due to your Disability (except as otherwise provided in Section 8(d))
below;

(d) 18 months after your death if you die either during your Continuous Service or within three (3) months after your Continuous Service
terminates for any reason other than Cause;

(e) the Expiration Date indicated in your Grant Notice; or

(f) the day before the 10th anniversary of the Date of Grant.

If your option is an Incentive Stock Option, note that to obtain the federal income tax advantages associated with an Incentive Stock Option, the
Code requires that at all times beginning on the Date of Grant and ending on the day three months before the date of your option’s exercise, you must be
an employee of the Company or an Affiliate, except in the event of your death or Disability. The Company has provided for extended exercisability of
your option under certain circumstances for your benefit but cannot guarantee that your option will necessarily be treated as an Incentive Stock Option if
you continue to provide services to the Company or an Affiliate as a Consultant or Director after your employment terminates or if you otherwise
exercise your option more than three months after the date your employment with the Company or an Affiliate terminates.
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9. Exercise.

(a) You may exercise the vested portion of your option (and the unvested portion of your option if your Grant Notice so permits) during its
term by delivering a Notice of Exercise (in a form designated by the Company) together with the exercise price to the Secretary of the Company, or to
such other person as the Company may designate, during regular business hours. If required by the Company, your exercise may be made contingent on
your execution of any additional documents specified by the Company (including, without limitation, any voting agreement or other agreement between
the Company and some or all of its stockholders).

(b) By exercising your option you agree that, as a condition to any exercise of your option, the Company may require you to enter into an
arrangement providing for the payment by you to the Company of any tax withholding obligation of the Company arising by reason of (i) the exercise of
your option, (ii) the lapse of any substantial risk of forfeiture to which the shares of Common Stock are subject at the time of exercise, or (iii) the
disposition of shares of Common Stock acquired upon such exercise.

(c) If your option is an Incentive Stock Option, by exercising your option you agree that you will notify the Company in writing within 15
days after the date of any disposition of any of the shares of the Common Stock issued upon exercise of your option that occurs within two years after
the Date of Grant or within one year after such shares of Common Stock are transferred upon exercise of your option.

(d) By exercising your option you agree that you will not sell, dispose of, transfer, make any short sale of, grant any option for the
purchase of, or enter into any hedging or similar transaction with the same economic effect as a sale with respect to any shares of Common Stock or
other securities of the Company held by you, for a period of 180 days following the effective date of a registration statement of the Company filed under
the Securities Act or such longer period as the underwriters or the Company will request to facilitate compliance with applicable FINRA rules (the
“Lock-Up Period”); provided, however, that nothing contained in this section will prevent the exercise of a repurchase option, if any, in favor of the
Company during the Lock-Up Period. You further agree to execute and deliver such other agreements as may be reasonably requested by the Company
or the underwriters that are consistent with the foregoing or that are necessary to give further effect thereto. In order to enforce the foregoing covenant,
the Company may impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to your shares of Common Stock until the end of such period. You also agree that any
transferee of any shares of Common Stock (or other securities) of the Company held by you will be bound by this Section 9(d). The underwriters of the
Company’s stock are intended third party beneficiaries of this Section 9(d) and will have the right, power and authority to enforce the provisions hereof
as though they were a party hereto. You further agree that the obligations contained in this Section 9(d) shall also, if so determined by the Company’s
Board of Directors, apply if and when the Company’s shares of Common Stock become publicly traded on a national securities exchange, including
without limitation pursuant to the Company’s initial listing of its Common Stock on a national securities exchange by means of a registration statement
on Form S-1 under the Securities Act (or any successor registration form under the Securities Act subsequently adopted by the Securities and Exchange
Commission) filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission that registers shares of existing capital stock of the Company for
resale (a “Direct Listing”), provided that all holders of at least 5% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock (after giving effect to the conversion
into Common Stock of any outstanding Preferred Stock of the Company) are subject to substantially similar obligations with respect to such Direct
Listing.
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10. Transferability. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 10, your option is not transferable, except by will or by the laws of descent and
distribution, and is exercisable during your life only by you.

(a) Certain Trusts. Upon receiving written permission from the Board or its duly authorized designee, you may transfer your option to a
trust if you are considered to be the sole beneficial owner (determined under Section 671 of the Code and applicable state law) while the option is held
in the trust. You and the trustee must enter into transfer and other agreements required by the Company.

(b) Domestic Relations Orders. Upon receiving written permission from the Board or its duly authorized designee, and provided that you
and the designated transferee enter into transfer and other agreements required by the Company, you may transfer your option pursuant to the terms of a
domestic relations order, official marital settlement agreement or other divorce or separation instrument as permitted by Treasury Regulation
1.421-1(b)(2) that contains the information required by the Company to effectuate the transfer. You are encouraged to discuss the proposed terms of any
division of this option with the Company prior to finalizing the domestic relations order or marital settlement agreement to help ensure the required
information is contained within the domestic relations order or marital settlement agreement. If this option is an Incentive Stock Option, this option may
be deemed to be a Nonstatutory Stock Option as a result of such transfer.

(c) Beneficiary Designation. Upon receiving written permission from the Board or its duly authorized designee, you may, by delivering
written notice to the Company, in a form approved by the Company and any broker designated by the Company to handle option exercises, designate a
third party who, on your death, will thereafter be entitled to exercise this option and receive the Common Stock or other consideration resulting from
such exercise. In the absence of such a designation, your executor or administrator of your estate will be entitled to exercise this option and receive, on
behalf of your estate, the Common Stock or other consideration resulting from such exercise.

11. Right of First Refusal. Shares of Common Stock that you acquire upon exercise of your option are subject to any right of first refusal that
may be described in the Company’s bylaws in effect at such time the Company elects to exercise its right; provided, however, that if there is no right of
first refusal described in the Company’s bylaws at such time, the right of first refusal described below will apply. The Company’s right of first refusal
will expire on the first date upon which any security of the Company is listed (or approved for listing) upon notice of issuance on a national securities
exchange or quotation system (the “Listing Date”).

(a) Prior to the Listing Date, you may not validly Transfer (as defined below) any shares of Common Stock acquired upon exercise of your
option, or any interest in such shares, unless such Transfer is made in compliance with the following provisions:

(i) Before there can be a valid Transfer of any shares of Common Stock or any interest therein, the record holder of the shares of
Common Stock to be transferred (the “Offered Shares”) will give written notice (by registered or certified mail) to the Company. Such notice will
specify the identity of the proposed transferee, the cash price offered for the Offered Shares by the proposed transferee (or, if the proposed Transfer is
one in which the holder will not receive cash, such as an involuntary transfer, gift, donation or pledge, the holder will state that no purchase price is
being proposed), and the other terms and conditions of the proposed Transfer. The date such notice is mailed will be hereinafter referred to as the
“Notice Date” and the record holder of the Offered Shares will be hereinafter referred to as the “Offeror.” If, from time to time, there is any stock
dividend, stock split or other change in the character or amount of any of the outstanding Common Stock which is subject to the provisions of your
option, then in such event any and all new, substituted or additional securities to which you are entitled
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by reason of your ownership of the shares of Common Stock acquired upon exercise of your option will be immediately subject to the Company’s Right
of First Refusal (as defined below) with the same force and effect as the shares subject to the Right of First Refusal immediately before such event.

(ii) For a period of 30 calendar days after the Notice Date, or such longer period as may be required to avoid the classification of
your option as a liability for financial accounting purposes, the Company will have the option to purchase all (but not less than all) of the Offered Shares
at the purchase price and on the terms set forth in Section 11(a)(iii) (the Company’s “Right of First Refusal”). In the event that the proposed Transfer is
one involving no payment of a purchase price, the purchase price will be deemed to be the Fair Market Value of the Offered Shares as determined in
good faith by the Board in its discretion. The Company may exercise its Right of First Refusal by mailing (by registered or certified mail) written notice
of exercise of its Right of First Refusal to the Offeror prior to the end of said 30 days (including any extension required to avoid classification of the
option as a liability for financial accounting purposes).

(iii) The price at which the Company may purchase the Offered Shares pursuant to the exercise of its Right of First Refusal will be
the cash price offered for the Offered Shares by the proposed transferee (as set forth in the notice required under Section 11(a)(i)), or the Fair Market
Value as determined by the Board in the event no purchase price is involved. To the extent consideration other than cash is offered by the proposed
transferee, the Company will not be required to pay any additional amounts to the Offeror other than the cash price offered (or the Fair Market Value, if
applicable). The Company’s notice of exercise of its Right of First Refusal will be accompanied by full payment for the Offered Shares and, upon such
payment by the Company, the Company will acquire full right, title and interest to all of the Offered Shares.

(iv) If, and only if, the option given pursuant to Section 11(a)(ii) is not exercised, the Transfer proposed in the notice given pursuant
to Section 11(a)(i) may take place; provided, however, that such Transfer must, in all respects, be exactly as proposed in said notice except that such
Transfer may not take place either before the 10th calendar day after the expiration of the 30 day option exercise period or after the ninetieth 90th
calendar day after the expiration of the 30 day option exercise period, and if such Transfer has not taken place prior to said 90th day, such Transfer may
not take place without once again complying with this Section 11(a). The option exercise periods in this Section 11(a)(iv) will be adjusted to include any
extension required to avoid the classification of your option as a liability for financial accounting purposes.

(b) As used in this Section 11, the term “Transfer” means any sale, encumbrance, pledge, gift or other form of disposition or transfer of
shares of Common Stock or any legal or equitable interest therein; provided, however, that the term Transfer does not include a transfer of such shares or
interests by will or intestacy to your Immediate Family (as defined below). In such case, the transferee or other recipient will receive and hold the shares
of Common Stock so transferred subject to the provisions of this Section, and there will be no further transfer of such shares except in accordance with
the terms of this Section 11. As used herein, the term “Immediate Family” will mean your spouse, the lineal descendant or antecedent, father, mother,
brother or sister, child, adopted child, grandchild or adopted grandchild of you or your spouse, or the spouse of any child, adopted child, grandchild or
adopted grandchild of you or your spouse.

(c) None of the shares of Common Stock purchased on exercise of your option will be transferred on the Company’s books nor will the
Company recognize any such Transfer of any such shares or any interest therein unless and until all applicable provisions of this Section 11 have been
complied with in all respects. The certificates of stock evidencing shares of Common Stock purchased on exercise of your option will bear an
appropriate legend referring to the transfer restrictions imposed by this Section 11.
 

6.



(d) To ensure that the shares subject to the Company’s Right of First Refusal will be available for repurchase by the Company, the
Company may require you to deposit the certificates evidencing the shares that you purchase upon exercise of your option with an escrow agent
designated by the Company under the terms and conditions of an escrow agreement approved by the Company. If the Company does not require such
deposit as a condition of exercise of your option, the Company reserves the right at any time to require you to so deposit the certificates in escrow. As
soon as practicable after the expiration of the Company’s Right of First Refusal, the agent will deliver to you the shares and any other property no longer
subject to such restriction. In the event the shares and any other property held in escrow are subject to the Company’s exercise of its Right of First
Refusal, the notices required to be given to you will be given to the escrow agent, and any payment required to be given to you will be given to the
escrow agent. Within 30 days after payment by the Company for the Offered Shares, the escrow agent will deliver the Offered Shares that the Company
has repurchased to the Company and will deliver the payment received from the Company to you.

12. Option not a Service Contract. Your option is not an employment or service contract, and nothing in your option will be deemed to create in
any way whatsoever any obligation on your part to continue in the employ of the Company or an Affiliate, or of the Company or an Affiliate to continue
your employment. In addition, nothing in your option will obligate the Company or an Affiliate, their respective stockholders, boards of directors,
officers or employees to continue any relationship that you might have as a Director or Consultant for the Company or an Affiliate.

13. Withholding Obligations.

(a) At the time you exercise your option, in whole or in part, and at any time thereafter as requested by the Company, you hereby authorize
withholding from payroll and any other amounts payable to you, and otherwise agree to make adequate provision for (including by means of a “same
day sale” pursuant to a program developed under Regulation T as promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board to the extent permitted by the Company),
any sums required to satisfy the federal, state, local and foreign tax withholding obligations of the Company or an Affiliate, if any, which arise in
connection with the exercise of your option.

(b) If this option is a Nonstatutory Stock Option, then upon your request and subject to approval by the Company, and compliance with
any applicable legal conditions or restrictions, the Company may withhold from fully vested shares of Common Stock otherwise issuable to you upon
the exercise of your option a number of whole shares of Common Stock having a Fair Market Value, determined by the Company as of the date of
exercise, not in excess of the minimum amount of tax required to be withheld by law (or such lower amount as may be necessary to avoid classification
of your option as a liability for financial accounting purposes). If the date of determination of any tax withholding obligation is deferred to a date later
than the date of exercise of your option, share withholding pursuant to the preceding sentence will not be permitted unless you make a proper and timely
election under Section 83(b) of the Code, covering the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock acquired upon such exercise with respect to which
such determination is otherwise deferred, to accelerate the determination of such tax withholding obligation to the date of exercise of your option.
Notwithstanding the filing of such election, shares of Common Stock will be withheld solely from fully vested shares of Common Stock determined as
of the date of exercise of your option that are otherwise issuable to you upon such exercise. Any adverse consequences to you arising in connection with
such share withholding procedure will be your sole responsibility.

(c) You may not exercise your option unless the tax withholding obligations of the Company and/or any Affiliate are satisfied.
Accordingly, you may not be able to exercise your option when desired even though your option is vested, and the Company will have no obligation to
issue a certificate for such shares of Common Stock or release such shares of Common Stock from any escrow provided for herein, if applicable, unless
such obligations are satisfied.
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14. Tax Consequences. You hereby agree that the Company does not have a duty to design or administer the Plan or its other compensation
programs in a manner that minimizes your tax liabilities. You will not make any claim against the Company, or any of its Officers, Directors, Employees
or Affiliates related to tax liabilities arising from your option or your other compensation. In particular, you acknowledge that this option is exempt from
Section 409A of the Code only if the exercise price per share specified in the Grant Notice is at least equal to the “fair market value” per share of the
Common Stock on the Date of Grant and there is no other impermissible deferral of compensation associated with the option. Because the Common
Stock is not traded on an established securities market, the Fair Market Value is determined by the Board, perhaps in consultation with an independent
valuation firm retained by the Company. You acknowledge that there is no guarantee that the Internal Revenue Service will agree with the valuation as
determined by the Board, and you will not make any claim against the Company, or any of its Officers, Directors, Employees or Affiliates in the event
that the Internal Revenue Service asserts that the valuation determined by the Board is less than the “fair market value” as subsequently determined by
the Internal Revenue Service.

15. Notices. Any notices provided for in your option or the Plan will be given in writing (including electronically) and will be deemed effectively
given upon receipt or, in the case of notices delivered by mail by the Company to you, five days after deposit in the United States mail, postage prepaid,
addressed to you at the last address you provided to the Company. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to
participation in the Plan and this option by electronic means or to request your consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means. By accepting this
option, you consent to receive such documents by electronic delivery and to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established
and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.

16. Governing Plan Document. Your option is subject to all the provisions of the Plan, the provisions of which are hereby made a part of your
option, and is further subject to all interpretations, amendments, rules and regulations, which may from time to time be promulgated and adopted
pursuant to the Plan. If there is any conflict between the provisions of your option and those of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan will control.
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ATTACHMENT II

2021 Equity Incentive Plan



ATTACHMENT III

NOTICE OF EXERCISE



SURROZEN, INC.
NOTICE OF EXERCISE

This constitutes notice to Surrozen, Inc. (the “Company”) under my stock option that I elect to purchase the below number of shares of Common Stock
of the Company (the “Shares”) for the price set forth below. Use of certain payment methods is subject to Company and/or Board consent and certain
additional requirements set forth in the Option Agreement and the Plan. If the Company uses an electronic capitalization table system (such as Carta or
Shareworks) and the fields below are blank, the blank fields shall be deemed to come from the electronic capitalization system and is considered part of
this Notice of Exercise.
 
Option Information   

Type of option (check one):   Incentive ☐     Nonstatutory ☐
Stock option dated:    
Number of Shares as to which option is exercised:    
Certificates to be issued in name of:1    

Exercise Information   

Date of Exercise:    
Total exercise price:    

Cash:2    
Regulation T Program (cashless exercise):3    
Value of _________ Shares delivered with this notice:4    
Value of _________ Shares pursuant to net exercise:5    

By this exercise, I agree (i) to provide such additional documents as you may require pursuant to the terms of the Surrozen, Inc. 2021 Equity
Incentive Plan, (ii) to provide for the payment by me to you (in the manner designated by you) of your withholding obligation, if any, relating to the
exercise of this option, and (iii) if this exercise relates to an incentive stock option, to notify you in writing within 15 days after the date of any
disposition of any of the Shares issued upon exercise of this option that occurs within two years after the date of grant of this option or within one year
after such Shares are issued upon exercise of this option. I further agree that this Notice of Exercise may be delivered via facsimile, electronic mail
(including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, Uniform Electronic Transactions Act or other applicable
law) or other transmission method and will be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.

I hereby make the following certifications and representations with respect to the number of Shares listed above, which are being acquired by me
for my own account upon exercise of the option as set forth above:

I acknowledge that the Shares have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and are deemed to
constitute “restricted securities” under Rule 701 and Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act. I warrant and represent to the Company that I have
no present intention of distributing or selling said Shares, except as permitted under the Securities Act and any applicable state securities laws.
 
1 If left blank, will be issued in the name of the option holder.
2 Cash may be in the form of cash, check, bank draft, electronic funds transfer or money order payment.
3 Subject to Company and/or Board consent and must meet the public trading and other requirements set forth in the Option Agreement.
4 Subject to Company and/or Board consent and must meet the public trading and other requirements set forth in the Option Agreement. Shares

must be valued in accordance with the terms of the option being exercised, and must be owned free and clear of any liens, claims, encumbrances
or security interests. Certificates must be endorsed or accompanied by an executed assignment separate from certificate.

5 Subject to Company and/or Board consent and must be a Nonstatutory Option.



I further acknowledge and agree that, except for such information as required to be delivered to me by the Company pursuant to the option or the
Plan (if any), I will have no right to receive any information from the Company by virtue of the grant of the option or the purchase of shares of Common
Stock through exercise of the option, ownership of such shares of Common Stock, or as a result of my being a holder of record of stock of the Company.
Without limiting the foregoing, to the fullest extent permitted by law, I hereby waive all inspection rights under Section 220 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law and all such similar information and/or inspection rights that may be provided under the law of any jurisdiction, or any federal, state or
foreign regulation, that are, or may become, applicable to the Company or the Company’s capital stock (the “Inspection Rights”). I hereby covenant and
agree never to directly or indirectly commence, voluntarily aid in any way, prosecute, assign, transfer, or cause to be commenced any claim, action,
cause of action, or other proceeding to pursue or exercise the Inspection Rights.

I further acknowledge that I will not be able to resell the Shares for at least 90 days after the stock of the Company becomes publicly traded (i.e.,
subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) under Rule 701 and that more restrictive conditions
apply to affiliates of the Company under Rule 144.

I further acknowledge that all certificates representing any of the Shares subject to the provisions of the option will have endorsed thereon
appropriate legends reflecting the foregoing limitations, as well as any legends reflecting restrictions pursuant to the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation, Bylaws and/or applicable securities laws.

I further agree that, if required by the Company (or a representative of the underwriters) in connection with the first underwritten registration of
the offering of any securities of the Company under the Securities Act, I will not sell, dispose of, transfer, make any short sale of, grant any option for
the purchase of, or enter into any hedging or similar transaction with the same economic effect as a sale with respect to any shares of Common Stock or
other securities of the Company for a period of 180 days following the effective date of a registration statement of the Company filed under the
Securities Act (or such longer period as the underwriters or the Company will request to facilitate compliance with applicable FINRA rules) (the
“Lock-Up Period”). I further agree to execute and deliver such other agreements as may be reasonably requested by the Company or the underwriters
that are consistent with the foregoing or that are necessary to give further effect thereto. In order to enforce the foregoing covenant, the Company may
impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to securities subject to the foregoing restrictions until the end of such period. I further agree that the
obligations contained in this paragraph shall also, if so determined by the Company’s Board of Directors, apply if and when the Company’s shares of
Common Stock become publicly traded on a national securities exchange, including without limitation pursuant to the Company’s initial listing of its
Common Stock on a national securities exchange by means of a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act (or any successor
registration form under the Securities Act subsequently adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission) filed by the Company with the Securities
and Exchange Commission that registers shares of existing capital stock of the Company for resale (a “Direct Listing”), provided that all holders of at
least 5% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock (after giving effect to the conversion into Common Stock of any outstanding Preferred Stock of
the Company) are subject to substantially similar obligations with respect to such Direct Listing.

Very truly yours,                                                             
 

   
  (Signature)

   
  Name (Please Print)

Address of Record:   
   
   

Email:   



SURROZEN, INC.
STOCK OPTION GRANT NOTICE
(2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN)

Surrozen, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to its 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (as may be amended and/or restated as of the Date of Grant set forth below,
the “Plan”), has granted to Optionholder an option to purchase the number of shares of the Common Stock set forth below (the “Option”). The Option is
subject to all of the terms and conditions as set forth in this Stock Option Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) and in the Plan, the Option Agreement, and
the Notice of Exercise, all of which are attached to this Grant Notice and incorporated into this Grant Notice in their entirety. Capitalized terms not
explicitly defined in this Grant Notice but defined in the Plan or the Option Agreement shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan or the Option
Agreement, as applicable. If the Company uses an electronic capitalization table system (such as Carta or Shareworks) and the fields below are blank or
the information is otherwise provided in a different format electronically, the blank fields and other information (such as exercise schedule and type of
grant) shall be deemed to come from the electronic capitalization system and is considered part of this Grant Notice.
 
     Optionholder:    

 Date of Grant:    
 Vesting Commencement Date:    
 Number of Shares Subject to Option:    
 Exercise Price (Per Share)1:    
 Total Exercise Price:    
 Expiration Date:    
 Exercise Schedule:   [Same as Vesting Schedule]
 Type of Grant2:   [Incentive Stock Option] [Nonstatutory Stock Option]

 
Vesting Schedule:

  

[Sample of standard vesting. 12/48ths of the total shares will vest on the one-year anniversary of the Vesting Commencement
Date, and 1/48th of the total shares will vest each month thereafter on the same day of the month as the Vesting Commencement
Date (or if there is no corresponding day, on the last day of the month), subject to Optionholder’s Continuous Service as of each
such date.]

 
 
1 The exercise price may be paid by one or a combination of the methods permitted in the Option Agreement.
2 If this is an Incentive Stock Option, it (plus other outstanding Incentive Stock Options) cannot be first exercisable for more than $100,000 in value

(measured by exercise price) in any calendar year. Any excess over $100,000 is a Nonstatutory Stock Option.



Optionholder Acknowledgements: By Optionholder’s signature below or by electronic acceptance or authentication in a form authorized by the
Company, Optionholder understands and agrees that the Option is governed by this Stock Option Grant Notice, and the provisions of the Plan and the
Option Agreement and the Notice of Exercise, all of which are made a part of this document.

By accepting this Option, Optionholder consents to receive this Grant Notice, the Option Agreement, the Plan, and any other Plan-related documents by
electronic delivery and to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third
party designated by the Company. Optionholder represents that he or she has read and is familiar with the provisions of the Plan and the Option
Agreement. Optionholder acknowledges and agrees that this Grant Notice and the Option Agreement may not be modified, amended or revised except
in writing signed by Optionholder and a duly authorized officer of the Company.

Optionholder further acknowledges that in the event of any conflict between the provisions in this Grant Notice, the Option Agreement, the Notice of
Exercise and the terms of the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall control. Optionholder further acknowledges that the Option Agreement sets forth the
entire understanding between Optionholder and the Company regarding the acquisition of Common Stock and supersedes all prior oral and written
agreements, promises and/or representations on that subject with the exception of other equity awards previously granted to Optionholder and any
written employment agreement, offer letter, severance agreement, written severance plan or policy, or other written agreement between the Company
and Optionholder in each case that specifies the terms that should govern this Option.

Optionholder further acknowledges that this Grant Notice has been prepared on behalf of the Company by Cooley LLP, counsel to the Company and that
Cooley LLP does not represent, and is not acting on behalf of, Optionholder in any capacity. Optionholder has been provided with an opportunity to
consult with Optionholder’s own counsel with respect to this Grant Notice.

This Grant Notice may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one
and the same instrument. Counterparts may be delivered via facsimile, electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the
U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, Uniform Electronic Transactions Act or other applicable law) or other transmission method and any counterpart so
delivered will be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.
 
Surrozen, Inc.   Optionholder:

By:     By:   
 (Signature)    (Signature)

Title:    Email:  
Date:    Date:  

Attachments: Option Agreement, 2021Equity Incentive Plan and Notice of Exercise



ATTACHMENT I

OPTION AGREEMENT



SURROZEN, INC.
2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

OPTION AGREEMENT
(INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION OR NONSTATUTORY STOCK OPTION)

Pursuant to your Stock Option Grant Notice (“Grant Notice”) and this Option Agreement, Surrozen, Inc. (the “Company”) has granted you an
option under its 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) to purchase the number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock indicated in your Grant
Notice at the exercise price indicated in your Grant Notice. The option is granted to you effective as of the date of grant set forth in the Grant Notice (the
“Date of Grant”). If there is any conflict between the terms in this Option Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the Plan will control. Capitalized terms
not explicitly defined in this Option Agreement or in the Grant Notice but defined in the Plan will have the same definitions as in the Plan.

The details of your option, in addition to those set forth in the Grant Notice and the Plan, are as follows:

1. Vesting. Your option will vest as provided in your Grant Notice. Vesting will cease upon the termination of your Continuous Service.

2. Number of Shares and Exercise Price. The number of shares of Common Stock subject to your option and your exercise price per share in
your Grant Notice will be adjusted for Capitalization Adjustments.

3. Exercise Restriction for Non-Exempt Employees. If you are an Employee eligible for overtime compensation under the Fair Labor Standards
Act of 1938, as amended (that is, a “Non-Exempt Employee”), and except as otherwise provided in the Plan, you may not exercise your option until you
have completed at least six months of Continuous Service measured from the Date of Grant, even if you have already been an employee for more than
six months. Consistent with the provisions of the Worker Economic Opportunity Act, you may exercise your option as to any vested portion prior to
such six month anniversary in the case of (i) your death or disability, (ii) a Corporate Transaction in which your option is not assumed, continued or
substituted, (iii) a Change in Control or (iv) your termination of Continuous Service on your “retirement” (as defined in the Company’s benefit plans).

4. Exercise prior to Vesting (“Early Exercise”). If permitted in your Grant Notice (i.e., the “Exercise Schedule” indicates “Early Exercise
Permitted”) and subject to the provisions of your option, you may elect at any time that is both (i) during the period of your Continuous Service and
(ii) during the term of your option, to exercise all or part of your option, including the unvested portion of your option; provided, however, that:

(a) a partial exercise of your option will be deemed to cover first vested shares of Common Stock and then the earliest vesting installment
of unvested shares of Common Stock;

(b) any shares of Common Stock so purchased from installments that have not vested as of the date of exercise will be subject to the
purchase option in favor of the Company as described in the Company’s form of Early Exercise Stock Purchase Agreement;
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(c) you will enter into the Company’s form of Early Exercise Stock Purchase Agreement with a vesting schedule that will result in the
same vesting as if no early exercise had occurred; and

(d) if your option is an Incentive Stock Option, then, to the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined at the Date of Grant)
of the shares of Common Stock with respect to which your option plus all other Incentive Stock Options you hold are exercisable for the first time by
you during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and its Affiliates) exceeds $100,000, your option(s) or portions thereof that exceed such
limit (according to the order in which they were granted) will be treated as Nonstatutory Stock Options.

5. Method of Payment. You must pay the full amount of the exercise price for the shares you wish to exercise. The permitted methods of payment
are as follows:

(a) by cash, check, bank draft, electronic funds transfer or money order payable to the Company;

(b) subject to Company and/or Board consent at the time of exercise and provided that at the time of exercise the Common Stock is
publicly traded, pursuant to a program developed under Regulation T as promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board that, prior to the issuance of
Common Stock, results in either the receipt of cash (or check) by the Company or the receipt of irrevocable instructions to pay the aggregate exercise
price to the Company from the sales proceeds. This manner of payment is also known as a “broker-assisted exercise”, “same day sale”, or “sell to
cover”;

(c) subject to Company and/or Board consent at the time of exercise and provided that at the time of exercise the Common Stock is
publicly traded, by delivery to the Company (either by actual delivery or attestation) of already-owned shares of Common Stock that are owned free and
clear of any liens, claims, encumbrances or security interests, and that are valued at Fair Market Value on the date of exercise. “Delivery” for these
purposes, in the sole discretion of the Company at the time you exercise your option, will include delivery to the Company of your attestation of
ownership of such shares of Common Stock in a form approved by the Company. You may not exercise your option by delivery to the Company of
Common Stock if doing so would violate the provisions of any law, regulation or agreement restricting the redemption of the Company’s stock;

(d) subject to Company and/or Board consent at the time of exercise, and provided that the Option is a Nonstatutory Stock Option, by a
“net exercise” arrangement pursuant to which the Company will reduce the number of shares of Common Stock issued upon exercise of the Option by
the largest whole number of shares with a Fair Market Value that does not exceed the aggregate exercise price plus, to the extent permitted by the
Company and/or Board at the time of exercise, the aggregate withholding obligations in respect of the Option exercise; provided, further that you must
pay any remaining balance of the aggregate exercise price not satisfied by the “net exercise” in cash or other permitted form of payment. Shares of
Common Stock will no longer be subject to the Option and will not be exercisable thereafter to the extent that (A) shares issuable upon exercise are used
to pay the exercise price pursuant to the “net exercise,” (B) shares are delivered to you as a result of such exercise, and (C) shares are withheld to satisfy
tax withholding obligations;

(e) subject to the consent of the Company and/or Board at the time of exercise, according to a deferred payment or similar arrangement
with you; provided, however, that interest will compound at least annually and will be charged at the minimum rate of interest necessary to avoid (A) the
imputation of interest income to the Company and compensation income to the Optionholder under any applicable provisions of the Code, and (B) the
classification of the Option as a liability for financial accounting purposes; or
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(f) in any other form of legal consideration that may be acceptable to the Board.

6. Whole Shares. You may exercise your option only for whole shares of Common Stock.

7. Securities Law Compliance. In no event may you exercise your option unless the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise are then
registered under the Securities Act or, if not registered, the Company has determined that your exercise and the issuance of the shares would be exempt
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The exercise of your option also must comply with all other applicable laws and regulations
governing your option, and you may not exercise your option if the Company determines that such exercise would not be in material compliance with
such laws and regulations (including any restrictions on exercise required for compliance with Treas. Reg. 1.401(k)-1(d)(3), if applicable).

8. Term. You may not exercise your option before the Date of Grant or after the expiration of the option’s term. Except as set forth in your Grant
Notice, the term of your option expires, subject to the provisions of Section 5(h) of the Plan, upon the earliest of the following:

(a) immediately upon the termination of your Continuous Service for Cause;

(b) three months after the termination of your Continuous Service for any reason other than Cause, your Disability or your death (except as
otherwise provided in Section 8(d) below); provided, however, that if during any part of such three month period your option is not exercisable solely
because of the condition set forth in the section above relating to “Securities Law Compliance,” your option will not expire until the earlier of the
Expiration Date or until it has been exercisable for an aggregate period of three months after the termination of your Continuous Service; provided
further, that if (i) you are a Non-Exempt Employee, (ii) your Continuous Service terminates within six months after the Date of Grant, and (iii) you have
vested in a portion of your option at the time of your termination of Continuous Service, your option will not expire until the earlier of (x) the later of
(A) the date that is seven months after the Date of Grant, and (B) the date that is three months after the termination of your Continuous Service, and
(y) the Expiration Date;

(c) 12 months after the termination of your Continuous Service due to your Disability (except as otherwise provided in Section 8(d))
below;

(d) 18 months after your death if you die either during your Continuous Service or within three (3) months after your Continuous Service
terminates for any reason other than Cause;

(e) the Expiration Date indicated in your Grant Notice; or

(f) the day before the 10th anniversary of the Date of Grant.

If your option is an Incentive Stock Option, note that to obtain the federal income tax advantages associated with an Incentive Stock Option, the
Code requires that at all times beginning on the Date of Grant and ending on the day three months before the date of your option’s exercise, you must be
an employee of the Company or an Affiliate, except in the event of your death or Disability. The Company has provided for extended exercisability of
your option under certain circumstances for your benefit but cannot guarantee that your option will necessarily be treated as an Incentive Stock Option if
you continue to provide services to the Company or an Affiliate as a Consultant or Director after your employment terminates or if you otherwise
exercise your option more than three months after the date your employment with the Company or an Affiliate terminates.
 

3.



9. Exercise.

(a) You may exercise the vested portion of your option (and the unvested portion of your option if your Grant Notice so permits) during its
term by delivering a Notice of Exercise (in a form designated by the Company) together with the exercise price to the Secretary of the Company, or to
such other person as the Company may designate, during regular business hours. If required by the Company, your exercise may be made contingent on
your execution of any additional documents specified by the Company (including, without limitation, any voting agreement or other agreement between
the Company and some or all of its stockholders).

(b) By exercising your option you agree that, as a condition to any exercise of your option, the Company may require you to enter into an
arrangement providing for the payment by you to the Company of any tax withholding obligation of the Company arising by reason of (i) the exercise of
your option, (ii) the lapse of any substantial risk of forfeiture to which the shares of Common Stock are subject at the time of exercise, or (iii) the
disposition of shares of Common Stock acquired upon such exercise.

(c) If your option is an Incentive Stock Option, by exercising your option you agree that you will notify the Company in writing within 15
days after the date of any disposition of any of the shares of the Common Stock issued upon exercise of your option that occurs within two years after
the Date of Grant or within one year after such shares of Common Stock are transferred upon exercise of your option.

(d) By exercising your option you agree that you will not sell, dispose of, transfer, make any short sale of, grant any option for the
purchase of, or enter into any hedging or similar transaction with the same economic effect as a sale with respect to any shares of Common Stock or
other securities of the Company held by you, for a period of 180 days following the effective date of a registration statement of the Company filed under
the Securities Act or such longer period as the underwriters or the Company will request to facilitate compliance with applicable FINRA rules (the
“Lock-Up Period”); provided, however, that nothing contained in this section will prevent the exercise of a repurchase option, if any, in favor of the
Company during the Lock-Up Period. You further agree to execute and deliver such other agreements as may be reasonably requested by the Company
or the underwriters that are consistent with the foregoing or that are necessary to give further effect thereto. In order to enforce the foregoing covenant,
the Company may impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to your shares of Common Stock until the end of such period. You also agree that any
transferee of any shares of Common Stock (or other securities) of the Company held by you will be bound by this Section 9(d). The underwriters of the
Company’s stock are intended third party beneficiaries of this Section 9(d) and will have the right, power and authority to enforce the provisions hereof
as though they were a party hereto. You further agree that the obligations contained in this Section 9(d) shall also, if so determined by the Company’s
Board of Directors, apply if and when the Company’s shares of Common Stock become publicly traded on a national securities exchange, including
without limitation pursuant to the Company’s initial listing of its Common Stock on a national securities exchange by means of a registration statement
on Form S-1 under the Securities Act (or any successor registration form under the Securities Act subsequently adopted by the Securities and Exchange
Commission) filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission that registers shares of existing capital stock of the Company for
resale (a “Direct Listing”), provided that all holders of at least 5% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock (after giving effect to the conversion
into Common Stock of any outstanding Preferred Stock of the Company) are subject to substantially similar obligations with respect to such Direct
Listing.
 

4.



10. Transferability. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 10, your option is not transferable, except by will or by the laws of descent and
distribution, and is exercisable during your life only by you.

(a) Certain Trusts. Upon receiving written permission from the Board or its duly authorized designee, you may transfer your option to a
trust if you are considered to be the sole beneficial owner (determined under Section 671 of the Code and applicable state law) while the option is held
in the trust. You and the trustee must enter into transfer and other agreements required by the Company.

(b) Domestic Relations Orders. Upon receiving written permission from the Board or its duly authorized designee, and provided that you
and the designated transferee enter into transfer and other agreements required by the Company, you may transfer your option pursuant to the terms of a
domestic relations order, official marital settlement agreement or other divorce or separation instrument as permitted by Treasury Regulation
1.421-1(b)(2) that contains the information required by the Company to effectuate the transfer. You are encouraged to discuss the proposed terms of any
division of this option with the Company prior to finalizing the domestic relations order or marital settlement agreement to help ensure the required
information is contained within the domestic relations order or marital settlement agreement. If this option is an Incentive Stock Option, this option may
be deemed to be a Nonstatutory Stock Option as a result of such transfer.

(c) Beneficiary Designation. Upon receiving written permission from the Board or its duly authorized designee, you may, by delivering
written notice to the Company, in a form approved by the Company and any broker designated by the Company to handle option exercises, designate a
third party who, on your death, will thereafter be entitled to exercise this option and receive the Common Stock or other consideration resulting from
such exercise. In the absence of such a designation, your executor or administrator of your estate will be entitled to exercise this option and receive, on
behalf of your estate, the Common Stock or other consideration resulting from such exercise.

11. Right of First Refusal. Shares of Common Stock that you acquire upon exercise of your option are subject to any right of first refusal that
may be described in the Company’s bylaws in effect at such time the Company elects to exercise its right; provided, however, that if there is no right of
first refusal described in the Company’s bylaws at such time, the right of first refusal described below will apply. The Company’s right of first refusal
will expire on the first date upon which any security of the Company is listed (or approved for listing) upon notice of issuance on a national securities
exchange or quotation system (the “Listing Date”).

(a) Prior to the Listing Date, you may not validly Transfer (as defined below) any shares of Common Stock acquired upon exercise of your
option, or any interest in such shares, unless such Transfer is made in compliance with the following provisions:

(i) Before there can be a valid Transfer of any shares of Common Stock or any interest therein, the record holder of the shares of
Common Stock to be transferred (the “Offered Shares”) will give written notice (by registered or certified mail) to the Company. Such notice will
specify the identity of the proposed transferee, the cash price offered for the Offered Shares by the proposed transferee (or, if the proposed Transfer is
one in which the holder will not receive cash, such as an involuntary transfer, gift, donation or pledge, the holder will state that no purchase price is
being proposed), and the other terms and conditions of the proposed Transfer. The date such notice is mailed will be hereinafter referred to as the
“Notice Date” and the record holder of the Offered Shares will be hereinafter referred to as the “Offeror.” If, from time to time, there is any stock
dividend, stock split or other change in the character or amount of any of the outstanding Common Stock which is subject to the provisions of your
option, then in such event any and all new, substituted or additional securities to which you are entitled by reason of your ownership of the shares of
Common Stock acquired upon exercise of your option will be immediately subject to the Company’s Right of First Refusal (as defined below) with the
same force and effect as the shares subject to the Right of First Refusal immediately before such event.
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(ii) For a period of 30 calendar days after the Notice Date, or such longer period as may be required to avoid the classification of
your option as a liability for financial accounting purposes, the Company will have the option to purchase all (but not less than all) of the Offered Shares
at the purchase price and on the terms set forth in Section 11(a)(iii) (the Company’s “Right of First Refusal”). In the event that the proposed Transfer is
one involving no payment of a purchase price, the purchase price will be deemed to be the Fair Market Value of the Offered Shares as determined in
good faith by the Board in its discretion. The Company may exercise its Right of First Refusal by mailing (by registered or certified mail) written notice
of exercise of its Right of First Refusal to the Offeror prior to the end of said 30 days (including any extension required to avoid classification of the
option as a liability for financial accounting purposes).

(iii) The price at which the Company may purchase the Offered Shares pursuant to the exercise of its Right of First Refusal will be
the cash price offered for the Offered Shares by the proposed transferee (as set forth in the notice required under Section 11(a)(i)), or the Fair Market
Value as determined by the Board in the event no purchase price is involved. To the extent consideration other than cash is offered by the proposed
transferee, the Company will not be required to pay any additional amounts to the Offeror other than the cash price offered (or the Fair Market Value, if
applicable). The Company’s notice of exercise of its Right of First Refusal will be accompanied by full payment for the Offered Shares and, upon such
payment by the Company, the Company will acquire full right, title and interest to all of the Offered Shares.

(iv) If, and only if, the option given pursuant to Section 11(a)(ii) is not exercised, the Transfer proposed in the notice given pursuant
to Section 11(a)(i) may take place; provided, however, that such Transfer must, in all respects, be exactly as proposed in said notice except that such
Transfer may not take place either before the 10th calendar day after the expiration of the 30 day option exercise period or after the ninetieth 90th
calendar day after the expiration of the 30 day option exercise period, and if such Transfer has not taken place prior to said 90th day, such Transfer may
not take place without once again complying with this Section 11(a). The option exercise periods in this Section 11(a)(iv) will be adjusted to include any
extension required to avoid the classification of your option as a liability for financial accounting purposes.

(b) As used in this Section 11, the term “Transfer” means any sale, encumbrance, pledge, gift or other form of disposition or transfer of
shares of Common Stock or any legal or equitable interest therein; provided, however, that the term Transfer does not include a transfer of such shares or
interests by will or intestacy to your Immediate Family (as defined below). In such case, the transferee or other recipient will receive and hold the shares
of Common Stock so transferred subject to the provisions of this Section, and there will be no further transfer of such shares except in accordance with
the terms of this Section 11. As used herein, the term “Immediate Family” will mean your spouse, the lineal descendant or antecedent, father, mother,
brother or sister, child, adopted child, grandchild or adopted grandchild of you or your spouse, or the spouse of any child, adopted child, grandchild or
adopted grandchild of you or your spouse.

(c) None of the shares of Common Stock purchased on exercise of your option will be transferred on the Company’s books nor will the
Company recognize any such Transfer of any such shares or any interest therein unless and until all applicable provisions of this Section 11 have been
complied with in all respects. The certificates of stock evidencing shares of Common Stock purchased on exercise of your option will bear an
appropriate legend referring to the transfer restrictions imposed by this Section 11.
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(d) To ensure that the shares subject to the Company’s Right of First Refusal will be available for repurchase by the Company, the
Company may require you to deposit the certificates evidencing the shares that you purchase upon exercise of your option with an escrow agent
designated by the Company under the terms and conditions of an escrow agreement approved by the Company. If the Company does not require such
deposit as a condition of exercise of your option, the Company reserves the right at any time to require you to so deposit the certificates in escrow. As
soon as practicable after the expiration of the Company’s Right of First Refusal, the agent will deliver to you the shares and any other property no longer
subject to such restriction. In the event the shares and any other property held in escrow are subject to the Company’s exercise of its Right of First
Refusal, the notices required to be given to you will be given to the escrow agent, and any payment required to be given to you will be given to the
escrow agent. Within 30 days after payment by the Company for the Offered Shares, the escrow agent will deliver the Offered Shares that the Company
has repurchased to the Company and will deliver the payment received from the Company to you.

12. Option not a Service Contract. Your option is not an employment or service contract, and nothing in your option will be deemed to create in
any way whatsoever any obligation on your part to continue in the employ of the Company or an Affiliate, or of the Company or an Affiliate to continue
your employment. In addition, nothing in your option will obligate the Company or an Affiliate, their respective stockholders, boards of directors,
officers or employees to continue any relationship that you might have as a Director or Consultant for the Company or an Affiliate.

13. Withholding Obligations.

(a) At the time you exercise your option, in whole or in part, and at any time thereafter as requested by the Company, you hereby authorize
withholding from payroll and any other amounts payable to you, and otherwise agree to make adequate provision for (including by means of a “same
day sale” pursuant to a program developed under Regulation T as promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board to the extent permitted by the Company),
any sums required to satisfy the federal, state, local and foreign tax withholding obligations of the Company or an Affiliate, if any, which arise in
connection with the exercise of your option.

(b) If this option is a Nonstatutory Stock Option, then upon your request and subject to approval by the Company, and compliance with
any applicable legal conditions or restrictions, the Company may withhold from fully vested shares of Common Stock otherwise issuable to you upon
the exercise of your option a number of whole shares of Common Stock having a Fair Market Value, determined by the Company as of the date of
exercise, not in excess of the minimum amount of tax required to be withheld by law (or such lower amount as may be necessary to avoid classification
of your option as a liability for financial accounting purposes). If the date of determination of any tax withholding obligation is deferred to a date later
than the date of exercise of your option, share withholding pursuant to the preceding sentence will not be permitted unless you make a proper and timely
election under Section 83(b) of the Code, covering the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock acquired upon such exercise with respect to which
such determination is otherwise deferred, to accelerate the determination of such tax withholding obligation to the date of exercise of your option.
Notwithstanding the filing of such election, shares of Common Stock will be withheld solely from fully vested shares of Common Stock determined as
of the date of exercise of your option that are otherwise issuable to you upon such exercise. Any adverse consequences to you arising in connection with
such share withholding procedure will be your sole responsibility.

(c) You may not exercise your option unless the tax withholding obligations of the Company and/or any Affiliate are satisfied.
Accordingly, you may not be able to exercise your option when desired even though your option is vested, and the Company will have no obligation to
issue a certificate for such shares of Common Stock or release such shares of Common Stock from any escrow provided for herein, if applicable, unless
such obligations are satisfied.
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14. Tax Consequences. You hereby agree that the Company does not have a duty to design or administer the Plan or its other compensation
programs in a manner that minimizes your tax liabilities. You will not make any claim against the Company, or any of its Officers, Directors, Employees
or Affiliates related to tax liabilities arising from your option or your other compensation. In particular, you acknowledge that this option is exempt from
Section 409A of the Code only if the exercise price per share specified in the Grant Notice is at least equal to the “fair market value” per share of the
Common Stock on the Date of Grant and there is no other impermissible deferral of compensation associated with the option. Because the Common
Stock is not traded on an established securities market, the Fair Market Value is determined by the Board, perhaps in consultation with an independent
valuation firm retained by the Company. You acknowledge that there is no guarantee that the Internal Revenue Service will agree with the valuation as
determined by the Board, and you will not make any claim against the Company, or any of its Officers, Directors, Employees or Affiliates in the event
that the Internal Revenue Service asserts that the valuation determined by the Board is less than the “fair market value” as subsequently determined by
the Internal Revenue Service.

15. Notices. Any notices provided for in your option or the Plan will be given in writing (including electronically) and will be deemed effectively
given upon receipt or, in the case of notices delivered by mail by the Company to you, five days after deposit in the United States mail, postage prepaid,
addressed to you at the last address you provided to the Company. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to
participation in the Plan and this option by electronic means or to request your consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means. By accepting this
option, you consent to receive such documents by electronic delivery and to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established
and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.

16. Governing Plan Document. Your option is subject to all the provisions of the Plan, the provisions of which are hereby made a part of your
option, and is further subject to all interpretations, amendments, rules and regulations, which may from time to time be promulgated and adopted
pursuant to the Plan. If there is any conflict between the provisions of your option and those of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan will control.
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ATTACHMENT II

2021 Equity Incentive Plan



ATTACHMENT III

NOTICE OF EXERCISE



SURROZEN, INC.
NOTICE OF EXERCISE

This constitutes notice to Surrozen, Inc. (the “Company”) under my stock option that I elect to purchase the below number of shares of Common Stock
of the Company (the “Shares”) for the price set forth below. Use of certain payment methods is subject to Company and/or Board consent and certain
additional requirements set forth in the Option Agreement and the Plan. If the Company uses an electronic capitalization table system (such as Carta or
Shareworks) and the fields below are blank, the blank fields shall be deemed to come from the electronic capitalization system and is considered part of
this Notice of Exercise.
 
Option Information   
Type of option (check one):   Incentive ☐     Nonstatutory ☐
Stock option dated:    
Number of Shares as to which option is exercised:    
Certificates to be issued in name of:1    

Exercise Information   

Date of Exercise:    
Total exercise price:    

Cash:2    
Regulation T Program (cashless exercise):3    
Value of _________ Shares delivered with this notice:4    
Value of _________ Shares pursuant to net exercise:5    

By this exercise, I agree (i) to provide such additional documents as you may require pursuant to the terms of the Surrozen, Inc. 2021 Equity
Incentive Plan, (ii) to provide for the payment by me to you (in the manner designated by you) of your withholding obligation, if any, relating to the
exercise of this option, and (iii) if this exercise relates to an incentive stock option, to notify you in writing within 15 days after the date of any
disposition of any of the Shares issued upon exercise of this option that occurs within two years after the date of grant of this option or within one year
after such Shares are issued upon exercise of this option. I further agree that this Notice of Exercise may be delivered via facsimile, electronic mail
(including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, Uniform Electronic Transactions Act or other applicable
law) or other transmission method and will be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.

I hereby make the following certifications and representations with respect to the number of Shares listed above, which are being acquired by me
for my own account upon exercise of the option as set forth above:

I acknowledge that the Shares have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and are deemed to
constitute “restricted securities” under Rule 701 and Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act. I warrant and represent to the Company that I have
no present intention of distributing or selling said Shares, except as permitted under the Securities Act and any applicable state securities laws.
 
1 If left blank, will be issued in the name of the option holder.
2 Cash may be in the form of cash, check, bank draft, electronic funds transfer or money order payment.
3 Subject to Company and/or Board consent and must meet the public trading and other requirements set forth in the Option Agreement.
4 Subject to Company and/or Board consent and must meet the public trading and other requirements set forth in the Option Agreement. Shares

must be valued in accordance with the terms of the option being exercised, and must be owned free and clear of any liens, claims, encumbrances
or security interests. Certificates must be endorsed or accompanied by an executed assignment separate from certificate.

5 Subject to Company and/or Board consent and must be a Nonstatutory Option.



I further acknowledge and agree that, except for such information as required to be delivered to me by the Company pursuant to the option or the
Plan (if any), I will have no right to receive any information from the Company by virtue of the grant of the option or the purchase of shares of Common
Stock through exercise of the option, ownership of such shares of Common Stock, or as a result of my being a holder of record of stock of the Company.
Without limiting the foregoing, to the fullest extent permitted by law, I hereby waive all inspection rights under Section 220 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law and all such similar information and/or inspection rights that may be provided under the law of any jurisdiction, or any federal, state or
foreign regulation, that are, or may become, applicable to the Company or the Company’s capital stock (the “Inspection Rights”). I hereby covenant and
agree never to directly or indirectly commence, voluntarily aid in any way, prosecute, assign, transfer, or cause to be commenced any claim, action,
cause of action, or other proceeding to pursue or exercise the Inspection Rights.

I further acknowledge that I will not be able to resell the Shares for at least 90 days after the stock of the Company becomes publicly traded (i.e.,
subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) under Rule 701 and that more restrictive conditions
apply to affiliates of the Company under Rule 144.

I further acknowledge that all certificates representing any of the Shares subject to the provisions of the option will have endorsed thereon
appropriate legends reflecting the foregoing limitations, as well as any legends reflecting restrictions pursuant to the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation, Bylaws and/or applicable securities laws.

I further agree that, if required by the Company (or a representative of the underwriters) in connection with the first underwritten registration of
the offering of any securities of the Company under the Securities Act, I will not sell, dispose of, transfer, make any short sale of, grant any option for
the purchase of, or enter into any hedging or similar transaction with the same economic effect as a sale with respect to any shares of Common Stock or
other securities of the Company for a period of 180 days following the effective date of a registration statement of the Company filed under the
Securities Act (or such longer period as the underwriters or the Company will request to facilitate compliance with applicable FINRA rules) (the
“Lock-Up Period”). I further agree to execute and deliver such other agreements as may be reasonably requested by the Company or the underwriters
that are consistent with the foregoing or that are necessary to give further effect thereto. In order to enforce the foregoing covenant, the Company may
impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to securities subject to the foregoing restrictions until the end of such period. I further agree that the
obligations contained in this paragraph shall also, if so determined by the Company’s Board of Directors, apply if and when the Company’s shares of
Common Stock become publicly traded on a national securities exchange, including without limitation pursuant to the Company’s initial listing of its
Common Stock on a national securities exchange by means of a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act (or any successor
registration form under the Securities Act subsequently adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission) filed by the Company with the Securities
and Exchange Commission that registers shares of existing capital stock of the Company for resale (a “Direct Listing”), provided that all holders of at
least 5% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock (after giving effect to the conversion into Common Stock of any outstanding Preferred Stock of
the Company) are subject to substantially similar obligations with respect to such Direct Listing.

Very truly yours,                                                             
 

   
  (Signature)

   
  Name (Please Print)

Address of Record:   
   
   

Email:   



Exhibit 10.7

SURROZEN, INC.
2021 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

ADOPTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS: AUGUST 14, 2021
APPROVED BY THE STOCKHOLDERS: AUGUST 10, 2021

 
1. GENERAL; PURPOSE.

(a) The Plan provides a means by which Eligible Employees of the Company and certain Designated Companies may be given an opportunity to
purchase shares of Common Stock. The Plan permits the Company to grant a series of Purchase Rights to Eligible Employees under an Employee Stock
Purchase Plan. In addition, the Plan permits the Company to grant a series of Purchase Rights to Eligible Employees that do not meet the requirements
of an Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

(b) The Plan includes two components: a 423 Component and a Non-423 Component. The Company intends (but makes no undertaking or
representation to maintain) the 423 Component to qualify as an Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The provisions of the 423 Component, accordingly, will
be construed in a manner that is consistent with the requirements of Section 423 of the Code. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or determined by
the Board, the Non-423 Component will operate and be administered in the same manner as the 423 Component.

(c) The Company, by means of the Plan, seeks to retain the services of Eligible Employees, to secure and retain the services of new Employees
and to provide incentives for such persons to exert maximum efforts for the success of the Company and its Related Corporations.
 

2. ADMINISTRATION.

(a) The Board or the Committee will administer the Plan. References herein to the Board shall be deemed to refer to the Committee except where
context dictates otherwise.

(b) The Board will have the power, subject to, and within the limitations of, the express provisions of the Plan:

(i) To determine how and when Purchase Rights will be granted and the provisions of each Offering (which need not be identical).

(ii) To designate from time to time (A) which Related Corporations will be eligible to participate in the Plan as Designated 423
Corporations, (B) which Related Corporations or Affiliates will be eligible to participate in the Plan as Designated Non-423 Corporations, and (C) which
Designated Companies will participate in each separate Offering (to the extent that the Company makes separate Offerings).

(iii) To construe and interpret the Plan and Purchase Rights, and to establish, amend and revoke rules and regulations for its administration.
The Board, in the exercise of this power, may correct any defect, omission or inconsistency in the Plan, in a manner and to the extent it deems necessary
or expedient to make the Plan fully effective.

(iv) To settle all controversies regarding the Plan and Purchase Rights granted under the Plan.

(v) To suspend or terminate the Plan at any time as provided in Section 12.



(vi) To amend the Plan at any time as provided in Section 12.

(vii) Generally, to exercise such powers and to perform such acts as it deems necessary or expedient to promote the best interests of the
Company and its Related Corporations and to carry out the intent that the Plan be treated as an Employee Stock Purchase Plan with respect to the 423
Component.

(viii) To adopt such rules, procedures and sub-plans as are necessary or appropriate to permit or facilitate participation in the Plan by
Employees who are foreign nationals or employed or located outside the United States. Without limiting the generality of, and consistent with, the
foregoing, the Board specifically is authorized to adopt rules, procedures, and sub-plans regarding, without limitation, eligibility to participate in the
Plan, the definition of eligible “earnings,” handling and making of Contributions, establishment of bank or trust accounts to hold Contributions, payment
of interest, conversion of local currency, obligations to pay payroll tax, determination of beneficiary designation requirements, withholding procedures
and handling of share issuances, any of which may vary according to applicable requirements, and which, if applicable to a Designated Non-423
Corporation, do not have to comply with the requirements of Section 423 of the Code.

(c) The Board may delegate some or all of the administration of the Plan to a Committee or Committees. If administration is delegated to a
Committee, the Committee will have, in connection with the administration of the Plan, the powers theretofore possessed by the Board that have been
delegated to the Committee, including the power to delegate to a subcommittee any of the administrative powers the Committee is authorized to exercise
(and references in this Plan to the Board will thereafter be to the Committee or subcommittee), subject, however, to such resolutions, not inconsistent
with the provisions of the Plan, as may be adopted from time to time by the Board. Further, to the extent not prohibited by Applicable Law, the Board or
Committee may, from time to time, delegate some or all of its authority under the Plan to one or more officers of the Company or other persons or
groups of persons as it deems necessary, appropriate or advisable under conditions or limitations that it may set at or after the time of the delegation. The
Board may retain the authority to concurrently administer the Plan with the Committee and may, at any time, revest in the Board some or all of the
powers previously delegated. Whether or not the Board has delegated administration of the Plan to a Committee, the Board will have the final power to
determine all questions of policy and expediency that may arise in the administration of the Plan.

(d) All determinations, interpretations and constructions made by the Board in good faith will not be subject to review by any person and will be
final, binding and conclusive on all persons.
 

3. SHARES OF COMMON STOCK SUBJECT TO THE PLAN.

(a) Subject to the provisions of Section 11(a) relating to Capitalization Adjustments, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may
be issued under the Plan will not exceed 474,669 shares (equal to 1% of the shares of Fully-Diluted Common Stock as of immediately following
completion of the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement), plus the number of shares of Common Stock that are
automatically added on January 1st of each year for a period of ten years commencing on January 1, 2022 and ending on (and including) January 1,
2031, in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 1% of the Fully-Diluted Common Stock on December 31st of the preceding calendar year, and (ii) 474,669
shares of Common Stock. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may act prior to the first day of any calendar year to provide that there will be no
January 1st increase in the share reserve for such calendar year or that the increase in the share reserve for such calendar year will be a lesser number of
shares of Common Stock than would otherwise occur pursuant to the preceding sentence. For the avoidance of doubt, up to the maximum number of
shares of Common Stock reserved under this Section 3(a) may be used to satisfy purchases of Common Stock under the 423 Component and any
remaining portion of such maximum number of shares may be used to satisfy purchases of Common Stock under the Non-423 Component.
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(b) If any Purchase Right granted under the Plan terminates without having been exercised in full, the shares of Common Stock not purchased
under such Purchase Right will again become available for issuance under the Plan.

(c) The stock purchasable under the Plan will be shares of authorized but unissued or reacquired Common Stock, including shares repurchased by
the Company on the open market.
 

4. GRANT OF PURCHASE RIGHTS; OFFERING.

(a) The Board may from time to time grant or provide for the grant of Purchase Rights to Eligible Employees under an Offering (consisting of one
or more Purchase Periods) on an Offering Date or Offering Dates selected by the Board. Each Offering will be in such form and will contain such terms
and conditions as the Board will deem appropriate, and, with respect to the 423 Component, will comply with the requirement of Section 423(b)(5) of
the Code that all Employees granted Purchase Rights will have the same rights and privileges. The terms and conditions of an Offering shall be
incorporated by reference into the Plan and treated as part of the Plan. The provisions of separate Offerings need not be identical, but each Offering will
include (through incorporation of the provisions of this Plan by reference in the document comprising the Offering or otherwise) the period during
which the Offering will be effective, which period will not exceed 27 months beginning with the Offering Date, and the substance of the provisions
contained in Sections 5 through 8, inclusive.

(b) If a Participant has more than one Purchase Right outstanding under the Plan, unless he or she otherwise indicates in forms delivered to the
Company or a third party designated by the Company (each, a “Company Designee”): (i) each form will apply to all of his or her Purchase Rights under
the Plan, and (ii) a Purchase Right with a lower exercise price (or an earlier-granted Purchase Right, if different Purchase Rights have identical exercise
prices) will be exercised to the fullest possible extent before a Purchase Right with a higher exercise price (or a later-granted Purchase Right if different
Purchase Rights have identical exercise prices) will be exercised.

(c) The Board will have the discretion to structure an Offering so that if the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the first Trading
Day of a new Purchase Period within that Offering is less than or equal to the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the Offering Date for
that Offering, then (i) that Offering will terminate immediately as of that first Trading Day, and (ii) the Participants in such terminated Offering will be
automatically enrolled in a new Offering beginning on the first Trading Day of such new Purchase Period.
 

5. Eligibility.

(a) Purchase Rights may be granted only to Employees of the Company or, as the Board may designate in accordance with Section 2(b), to
Employees of a Related Corporation or an Affiliate. Except as provided in Section 5(b) or as required by Applicable Law, an Employee will not be
eligible to be granted Purchase Rights unless, on the Offering Date, the Employee has been in the employ of the Company, a Related Corporation or an
Affiliate, as the case may be, for such continuous period preceding such Offering Date as the Board may require, but in no event will the required period
of continuous employment be equal to or greater than two years. In addition, the Board may (unless prohibited by Applicable Law) provide that no
Employee will be eligible to be granted Purchase Rights under the Plan unless, on the Offering Date, such Employee’s customary employment with the
Company, the Related
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Corporation, or the Affiliate is more than 20 hours per week and more than five months per calendar year or such other criteria as the Board may
determine consistent with Section 423 of the Code with respect to the 423 Component. The Board may also exclude from participation in the Plan or any
Offering Employees who are “highly compensated employees” (within the meaning of Section 423(b)(4)(D) of the Code) of the Company or a Related
Corporation or a subset of such highly compensated employees.

(b) The Board may provide that each person who, during the course of an Offering, first becomes an Eligible Employee will, on a date or dates
specified in the Offering which coincides with the day on which such person becomes an Eligible Employee or which occurs thereafter, receive a
Purchase Right under that Offering, which Purchase Right will thereafter be deemed to be a part of that Offering. Such Purchase Right will have the
same characteristics as any Purchase Rights originally granted under that Offering, as described herein, except that:

(i) the date on which such Purchase Right is granted will be the “Offering Date” of such Purchase Right for all purposes, including
determination of the exercise price of such Purchase Right;

(ii) the period of the Offering with respect to such Purchase Right will begin on its Offering Date and end coincident with the end of such
Offering; and

(iii) the Board may provide that if such person first becomes an Eligible Employee within a specified period of time before the end of the
Offering, he or she will not receive any Purchase Right under that Offering.

(c) No Employee will be eligible for the grant of any Purchase Rights under the 423 Component if, immediately after any such Purchase Rights
are granted, such Employee owns stock possessing five percent or more of the total combined voting power or value of all classes of stock of the
Company or of any Related Corporation. For purposes of this Section 5(c), the rules of Section 424(d) of the Code will apply in determining the stock
ownership of any Employee, and stock which such Employee may purchase under all outstanding Purchase Rights and options will be treated as stock
owned by such Employee.

(d) As specified by Section 423(b)(8) of the Code, an Eligible Employee may be granted Purchase Rights under the 423 Component only if such
Purchase Rights, together with any other rights granted under all Employee Stock Purchase Plans of the Company and any Related Corporations, do not
permit such Eligible Employee’s rights to purchase stock of the Company or any Related Corporation to accrue at a rate which, when aggregated,
exceeds US $25,000 of Fair Market Value of such stock (determined at the time such rights are granted, and which, with respect to the Plan, will be
determined as of their respective Offering Dates) for each calendar year in which such rights are outstanding at any time.

(e) Officers of the Company and any Designated Company, if they are otherwise Eligible Employees, will be eligible to participate in Offerings
under the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may (unless prohibited by Applicable Law) provide in an Offering that Employees who are
highly compensated Employees within the meaning of Section 423(b)(4)(D) of the Code will not be eligible to participate.

(f) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 5 to the contrary, in the case of an Offering under the Non-423 Component, an Eligible Employee (or
group of Eligible Employees) may be excluded from participation in the Plan or an Offering if the Board has determined, in its sole discretion, that
participation of such Eligible Employee(s) is not advisable or practical for any reason.
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6. PURCHASE RIGHTS; PURCHASE PRICE.

(a) On each Offering Date, each Eligible Employee, pursuant to an Offering made under the Plan, will be granted a Purchase Right to purchase up
to that number of shares of Common Stock purchasable either with a percentage of earnings or with a maximum dollar amount, as designated by the
Board, during the period that begins on the Offering Date (or such later date as the Board determines for a particular Offering) and ends on the date
stated in the Offering, which date will be no later than the end of the Offering.

(b) The Board will establish one or more Purchase Dates during an Offering on which Purchase Rights granted for that Offering will be exercised
and shares of Common Stock will be purchased in accordance with such Offering.

(c) In connection with each Offering made under the Plan, the Board may specify (i) a maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be
purchased by any Participant on any Purchase Date during such Offering, (ii) a maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be
purchased by all Participants pursuant to such Offering and/or (iii) a maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be purchased by
all Participants on any Purchase Date under the Offering. If the aggregate purchase of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Purchase
Rights granted under the Offering would exceed any such maximum aggregate number, then, in the absence of any Board action otherwise, a pro rata
(based on each Participant’s accumulated Contributions) allocation of the shares of Common Stock (rounded down to the nearest whole share) available
will be made in as nearly a uniform manner as will be practicable and equitable.

(d) The purchase price of shares of Common Stock acquired pursuant to Purchase Rights will be specified by Board prior to the commencement
of an Offering and will not be less than the lesser of:

(i) an amount equal to 85% of the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock on the Offering Date; or

(ii) an amount equal to 85% of the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock on the applicable Purchase Date.
 

7. PARTICIPATION; WITHDRAWAL; TERMINATION.

(a) An Eligible Employee may elect to participate in an Offering and authorize payroll deductions as the means of making Contributions by
completing and delivering to the Company or a Company Designee, within the time specified for the Offering, an enrollment form provided by the
Company or Company Designee. The enrollment form will specify the amount of Contributions not to exceed the maximum amount specified by the
Board. Each Participant’s Contributions will be credited to a bookkeeping account for such Participant under the Plan and will be deposited with the
general funds of the Company except where Applicable Law requires that Contributions be deposited with a third party. If permitted in the Offering, a
Participant may begin such Contributions with the first payroll occurring on or after the Offering Date (or, in the case of a payroll date that occurs after
the end of the prior Offering but before the Offering Date of the next new Offering, Contributions from such payroll will be included in the new
Offering). If permitted in the Offering, a Participant may thereafter reduce (including to zero) or increase his or her Contributions. If required under
Applicable Law or if specifically provided in the Offering and to extent permitted by Section 423 of the Code with respect to the 423 Component, in
addition to or instead of making Contributions by payroll deductions, a Participant may make Contributions through payment by cash, check or wire
transfer prior to a Purchase Date.
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(b) During an Offering, a Participant may cease making Contributions and withdraw from the Offering by delivering to the Company or a
Company Designee a withdrawal form provided by the Company. The Company may impose a deadline before a Purchase Date for withdrawing. Upon
such withdrawal, such Participant’s Purchase Right in that Offering will immediately terminate and the Company will distribute as soon as practicable to
such Participant all of his or her accumulated but unused Contributions and such Participant’s Purchase Right in that Offering shall thereupon terminate.
A Participant’s withdrawal from that Offering will have no effect upon his or her eligibility to participate in any other Offerings under the Plan, but such
Participant will be required to deliver a new enrollment form to participate in subsequent Offerings.

(c) Unless otherwise required by Applicable Law, Purchase Rights granted pursuant to any Offering under the Plan will terminate immediately if
the Participant either (i) is no longer an Employee for any reason or for no reason (subject to any post-employment participation period required by
Applicable Law) or (ii) is otherwise no longer eligible to participate. The Company will distribute as soon as practicable to such individual all of his or
her accumulated but unused Contributions.

(d) Unless otherwise determined by the Board, a Participant whose employment transfers or whose employment terminates with an immediate
rehire (with no break in service) by or between the Company and a Designated Company or between Designated Companies will not be treated as
having terminated employment for purposes of participating in the Plan or an Offering; however, if a Participant transfers from an Offering under the
423 Component to an Offering under the Non-423 Component, the exercise of the Participant’s Purchase Right will be qualified under the 423
Component only to the extent such exercise complies with Section 423 of the Code. If a Participant transfers from an Offering under the Non-423
Component to an Offering under the 423 Component, the exercise of the Purchase Right will remain non-qualified under the Non-423 Component. The
Board may establish different and additional rules governing transfers between separate Offerings within the 423 Component and between Offerings
under the 423 Component and Offerings under the Non-423 Component.

(e) During a Participant’s lifetime, Purchase Rights will be exercisable only by such Participant. Purchase Rights are not transferable by a
Participant, except by will, by the laws of descent and distribution, or, if permitted by the Company, by a beneficiary designation as described in
Section 10.

(f) Unless otherwise specified in the Offering or as required by Applicable Law, the Company will have no obligation to pay interest on
Contributions.
 

8. EXERCISE OF PURCHASE RIGHTS.

(a) On each Purchase Date, each Participant’s accumulated Contributions will be applied to the purchase of shares of Common Stock, up to the
maximum number of shares of Common Stock permitted by the Plan and the applicable Offering, at the purchase price specified in the Offering. No
fractional shares will be issued unless specifically provided for in the Offering.

(b) Unless otherwise provided in the Offering, if any amount of accumulated Contributions remains in a Participant’s account after the purchase of
shares of Common Stock on the final Purchase Date of an Offering, then such remaining amount will not roll over to the next Offering and will instead
be distributed in full to such Participant after the final Purchase Date of such Offering without interest (unless otherwise required by Applicable Law).
 

6



(c) No Purchase Rights may be exercised to any extent unless the shares of Common Stock to be issued upon such exercise under the Plan are
covered by an effective registration statement pursuant to the Securities Act and the Plan is in material compliance with all applicable U.S. federal and
state, foreign and other securities, exchange control and other laws applicable to the Plan. If on a Purchase Date the shares of Common Stock are not so
registered or the Plan is not in such compliance, no Purchase Rights will be exercised on such Purchase Date, and, subject to Section 423 of the Code
with respect to the 423 Component, the Purchase Date will be delayed until the shares of Common Stock are subject to such an effective registration
statement and the Plan is in material compliance, except that the Purchase Date will in no event be more than 27 months from the Offering Date. If, on
the Purchase Date, as delayed to the maximum extent permissible, the shares of Common Stock are not registered and the Plan is not in material
compliance with all Applicable Laws, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, no Purchase Rights will be exercised and all accumulated but
unused Contributions will be distributed to the Participants without interest (unless the payment of interest is otherwise required by Applicable Law).
 

9. COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY.

The Company will seek to obtain from each U.S. federal or state, foreign or other regulatory commission, agency or other Governmental Body
having jurisdiction over the Plan such authority as may be required to grant Purchase Rights and issue and sell shares of Common Stock thereunder
unless the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that doing so is not practical or would cause the Company to incur costs that are unreasonable. If,
after commercially reasonable efforts, the Company is unable to obtain the authority that counsel for the Company deems necessary for the grant of
Purchase Rights or the lawful issuance and sale of Common Stock under the Plan, and at a commercially reasonable cost, the Company will be relieved
from any liability for failure to grant Purchase Rights and/or to issue and sell Common Stock upon exercise of such Purchase Rights.
 

10. DESIGNATION OF BENEFICIARY.

(a) The Company may, but is not obligated to, permit a Participant to submit a form designating a beneficiary who will receive any shares of
Common Stock and/or Contributions from the Participant’s account under the Plan if the Participant dies before such shares and/or Contributions are
delivered to the Participant. The Company may, but is not obligated to, permit the Participant to change such designation of beneficiary. Any such
designation and/or change must be on a form approved by the Company.

(b) If a Participant dies, and in the absence of a valid beneficiary designation, the Company will deliver any shares of Common Stock and/or
Contributions to the executor or administrator of the estate of the Participant. If no executor or administrator has been appointed (to the knowledge of
the Company), the Company, in its sole discretion, may deliver such shares of Common Stock and/or Contributions, without interest (unless the
payment of interest is otherwise required by Applicable Law), to the Participant’s spouse, dependents or relatives, or if no spouse, dependent or relative
is known to the Company, then to such other person as the Company may designate.
 

11. ADJUSTMENTS UPON CHANGES IN COMMON STOCK; CORPORATE TRANSACTIONS.

(a) In the event of a Capitalization Adjustment, the Board will appropriately and proportionately adjust: (i) the class(es) and maximum number of
securities subject to the Plan pursuant to Section 3(a), (ii) the class(es) and maximum number of securities by which the share reserve is to increase
automatically each year pursuant to Section 3(a), (iii) the class(es) and number of securities subject to, and the purchase price applicable to outstanding
Offerings and Purchase Rights, and (iv) the class(es) and number of securities that are the subject of the purchase limits under each ongoing Offering.
The Board will make these adjustments, and its determination will be final, binding and conclusive.
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(b) In the event of a Corporate Transaction, then: (i) any surviving corporation or acquiring corporation (or the surviving or acquiring
corporation’s parent company) may assume or continue outstanding Purchase Rights or may substitute similar rights (including a right to acquire the
same consideration paid to the stockholders in the Corporate Transaction) for outstanding Purchase Rights, or (ii) if any surviving or acquiring
corporation (or its parent company) does not assume or continue such Purchase Rights or does not substitute similar rights for such Purchase Rights,
then the Participants’ accumulated Contributions will be used to purchase shares of Common Stock (rounded down to the nearest whole share) within
ten business days (or such other period specified by the Board) prior to the Corporate Transaction under the outstanding Purchase Rights, and the
Purchase Rights will terminate immediately after such purchase.
 

12. AMENDMENT, TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE PLAN.

(a) The Board may amend the Plan at any time in any respect the Board deems necessary or advisable. However, except as provided in
Section 11(a) relating to Capitalization Adjustments, stockholder approval will be required for any amendment of the Plan for which stockholder
approval is required by Applicable Law.

(b) The Board may suspend or terminate the Plan at any time. No Purchase Rights may be granted under the Plan while the Plan is suspended or
after it is terminated.

Any benefits, privileges, entitlements and obligations under any outstanding Purchase Rights granted before an amendment, suspension or
termination of the Plan will not be materially impaired by any such amendment, suspension or termination except (i) with the consent of the person to
whom such Purchase Rights were granted, (ii) as necessary to facilitate compliance with any laws, listing requirements, or governmental regulations
(including, without limitation, the provisions of Section 423 of the Code and the regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder relating to
Employee Stock Purchase Plans) including without limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be issued or amended after the date the
Plan is adopted by the Board, or (iii) as necessary to obtain or maintain favorable tax, listing, or regulatory treatment. To be clear, the Board may amend
outstanding Purchase Rights without a Participant’s consent if such amendment is necessary to ensure that the Purchase Right and/or the Plan complies
with the requirements of Section 423 of the Code with respect to the 423 Component or with respect to other Applicable Laws. Notwithstanding
anything in the Plan or any Offering Document to the contrary, the Board will be entitled to: (i) establish the exchange ratio applicable to amounts
withheld in a currency other than U.S. dollars; (ii) permit Contributions in excess of the amount designated by a Participant in order to adjust for
mistakes in the Company’s processing of properly completed Contribution elections; (iii) establish reasonable waiting and adjustment periods and/or
accounting and crediting procedures to ensure that amounts applied toward the purchase of Common Stock for each Participant properly correspond
with amounts withheld from the Participant’s Contributions; (iv) amend any outstanding Purchase Rights or clarify any ambiguities regarding the terms
of any Offering to enable the Purchase Rights to qualify under and/or comply with Section 423 of the Code with respect to the 423 Component; and
(v) establish other limitations or procedures as the Board determines in its sole discretion advisable that are consistent with the Plan. The actions of the
Board pursuant to this paragraph will not be considered to alter or impair any Purchase Rights granted under an Offering as they are part of the initial
terms of each Offering and the Purchase Rights granted under each Offering.
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13. TAX QUALIFICATION; TAX WITHHOLDING.

(a) Although the Company may endeavor to (i) qualify a Purchase Right for special tax treatment under the laws of the United States or
jurisdictions outside of the United States or (ii) avoid adverse tax treatment, the Company makes no representation to that effect and expressly disavows
any covenant to maintain special or to avoid unfavorable tax treatment, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan. The Company will be
unconstrained in its corporate activities without regard to the potential negative tax impact on Participants.

(b) Each Participant will make arrangements, satisfactory to the Company and any applicable Related Corporation, to enable the Company or the
Related Corporation to fulfill any withholding obligation for Tax-Related Items. Without limitation to the foregoing, in the Company’s sole discretion
and subject to Applicable Law, such withholding obligation may be satisfied in whole or in part by (i) withholding from the Participant’s salary or any
other cash payment due to the Participant from the Company or a Related Corporation; (ii) withholding from the proceeds of the sale of shares of
Common Stock acquired under the Plan, either through a voluntary sale or a mandatory sale arranged by the Company; or (iii) any other method deemed
acceptable by the Board. The Company shall not be required to issue any shares of Common Stock under the Plan until such obligations are satisfied.

(c) The 423 Component is exempt from the application of Section 409A of the Code, and any ambiguities herein shall be interpreted to so be
exempt from Section 409A of the Code. The Non-423 Component is intended to be exempt from the application of Section 409A of the Code under the
short-term deferral exception and any ambiguities shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent. In furtherance of the foregoing and
notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, if the Committee determines that an option granted under the Plan may be subject to
Section 409A of the Code or that any provision in the Plan would cause an option under the Plan to be subject to Section 409A, the Committee may
amend the terms of the Plan and/or of an outstanding option granted under the Plan, or take such other action the Committee determines is necessary or
appropriate, in each case, without the participant’s consent, to exempt any outstanding option or future option that may be granted under the Plan from
or to allow any such options to comply with Section 409A of the Code, but only to the extent any such amendments or action by the Committee would
not violate Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall have no liability to a participant or any other party if the option
under the Plan that is intended to be exempt from or compliant with Section 409A of the Code is not so exempt or compliant or for any action taken by
the Committee with respect thereto.
 

14. EFFECTIVE DATE OF PLAN.

The Plan will become effective immediately prior to and contingent upon the Effective Date. No Purchase Rights will be exercised unless and
until the Plan has been approved by the stockholders of the Company, which approval must be within 12 months before or after the date the Plan is
adopted (or if required under Section 12(a) above, materially amended) by the Board.
 

15. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.

(a) Proceeds from the sale of shares of Common Stock pursuant to Purchase Rights will constitute general funds of the Company.

(b) A Participant will not be deemed to be the holder of, or to have any of the rights of a holder with respect to, shares of Common Stock subject
to Purchase Rights unless and until the Participant’s shares of Common Stock acquired upon exercise of Purchase Rights are recorded in the books of
the Company (or its transfer agent).
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(c) The Plan and Offering do not constitute an employment contract. Nothing in the Plan or in the Offering will in any way alter the at will nature
of a Participant’s employment or amend a Participant’s employment contract, if applicable, or be deemed to create in any way whatsoever any obligation
on the part of any Participant to continue in the employ of the Company or a Related Corporation or an Affiliate, or on the part of the Company, a
Related Corporation or an Affiliate to continue the employment of a Participant.

(d) The provisions of the Plan will be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware without resort to that state’s conflicts of laws rules.

(e) If any particular provision of the Plan is found to be invalid or otherwise unenforceable, such provision will not affect the other provisions of
the Plan, but the Plan will be construed in all respects as if such invalid provision were omitted.

(f) If any provision of the Plan does not comply with Applicable Law, such provision shall be construed in such a manner as to comply with
Applicable Law.
 

16. DEFINITIONS.

As used in the Plan, the following definitions will apply to the capitalized terms indicated below:

(a) “423 Component” means the part of the Plan, which excludes the Non-423 Component, pursuant to which Purchase Rights that satisfy the
requirements for an Employee Stock Purchase Plan may be granted to Eligible Employees.

(b) “Affiliate” means any entity, other than a Related Corporation, whether now or subsequently established, which is at the time of
determination, a “parent” or “subsidiary” of the Company as such terms are defined in Rule 405 promulgated under the Securities Act. The Board may
determine the time or times at which “parent” or “subsidiary” status is determined within the foregoing definition.

(c) “Applicable Law” means shall mean the Code and any applicable securities, federal, state, foreign, material local or municipal or other law,
statute, constitution, principle of common law, resolution, ordinance, code, edict, decree, rule, listing rule, regulation, judicial decision, ruling or
requirement issued, enacted, adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Body (or
under the authority of the NASDAQ Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange or the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority).

(d) “Board” means the board of directors of the Company.

(e) “Business Combination Agreement” means that certain Business Combination Agreement by and among Consonance-HFW Acquisition
Corp., Perseverance Merger Sub Inc., and Surrozen, Inc., dated as of April 15, 2021.

(f) “Capitalization Adjustment” means any change that is made in, or other events that occur with respect to, the Common Stock subject to the
Plan or subject to any Purchase Right after the date the Plan is adopted by the Board without the receipt of consideration by the Company through
merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, reincorporation, stock dividend, dividend in property other than cash, large nonrecurring cash
dividend, stock split, liquidating dividend, combination of shares, exchange of shares, change in corporate structure or other similar equity restructuring
transaction, as that term is used in Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 (or any successor thereto).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the conversion of any convertible securities of the Company will not be treated as a Capitalization Adjustment.
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(g) “Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including any applicable regulations and guidance thereunder.

(h) “Committee” means a committee of one or more members of the Board to whom authority has been delegated by the Board in accordance with
Section 2(c).

(i) “Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company.

(j) “Company” means Surrozen, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

(k) “Contributions” means the payroll deductions and other additional payments specifically provided for in the Offering that a Participant
contributes to fund the exercise of a Purchase Right. A Participant may make additional payments into his or her account if specifically provided for in
the Offering, and then only if the Participant has not already had the maximum permitted amount withheld during the Offering through payroll
deductions and, with respect to the 423 Component, to the extent permitted by Section 423 of the Code.

(l) “Corporate Transaction” means the consummation, in a single transaction or in a series of related transactions, of any one or more of the
following events:

(i) a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all, as determined by the Board in its sole discretion, of the consolidated assets of the
Company and its subsidiaries;

(ii) a sale or other disposition of more than 50% of the outstanding securities of the Company;

(iii) a merger, consolidation or similar transaction following which the Company is not the surviving corporation; or

(iv) a merger, consolidation or similar transaction following which the Company is the surviving corporation but the shares of Common
Stock outstanding immediately preceding the merger, consolidation or similar transaction are converted or exchanged by virtue of the merger,
consolidation or similar transaction into other property, whether in the form of securities, cash or otherwise.

(m) “Designated 423 Corporation” means any Related Corporation selected by the Board to participate in the 423 Component.

(n) “Designated Company” means any Designated Non-423 Corporation or Designated 423 Corporation, provided, however, that at any given
time, a Related Corporation participating in the 423 Component shall not be a Related Corporation participating in the Non-423 Component.

(o) “Designated Non-423 Corporation” means any Related Corporation or Affiliate selected by the Board to participate in the Non-423
Component.

(p) “Director” means a member of the Board.

(q) “Effective Date” means the effective date of this Plan, which is the date of the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Business
Combination Agreement, provided that this Plan is approved by the Company’s stockholders prior to such date.
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(r) “Eligible Employee” means an Employee who meets the requirements set forth in the document(s) governing the Offering for eligibility to
participate in the Offering, provided that such Employee also meets the requirements for eligibility to participate set forth in the Plan.

(s) “Employee” means any person, including an Officer or Director, who is “employed” for purposes of Section 423(b)(4) of the Code by the
Company or a Related Corporation, or solely with respect to the Non-423 Component, an Affiliate. However, service solely as a Director, or payment of
a fee for such services, will not cause a Director to be considered an “Employee” for purposes of the Plan.

(t) “Employee Stock Purchase Plan” means a plan that grants Purchase Rights intended to be options issued under an “employee stock purchase
plan,” as that term is defined in Section 423(b) of the Code.

(u) “Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

(v) “Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, the value of the Common Stock determined as follows:

(i) If the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or traded on any established market, the Fair Market Value of a share
of Common Stock will be the closing sales price for such stock as quoted on such exchange or market (or the exchange or market with the greatest
volume of trading in the Common Stock) on the date of determination, as reported in such source as the Board deems reliable. Unless otherwise
provided by the Board, if there is no closing sales price for the Common Stock on the date of determination, then the Fair Market Value will be the
closing sales price on the last preceding date for which such quotation exists.

(ii) In the absence of such markets for the Common Stock, the Fair Market Value will be determined by the Board in good faith in
compliance with Applicable Laws and regulations and, to the extent applicable as determined in the sole discretion of the Board, in a manner that
complies with Sections 409A of the Code

(w) “Fully-Diluted Common Stock” means, as of any date, the aggregate number of (i) shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding and
(ii) securities convertible into or exercisable for shares of Common Stock (whether vested or unvested).

(x) “Governmental Body” means any: (a) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or other jurisdiction of
any nature; (b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; (c) governmental or regulatory body, or quasi-governmental body of any
nature (including any governmental division, department, administrative agency or bureau, commission, authority, instrumentality, official, ministry,
fund, foundation, center, organization, unit, body or entity and any court or other tribunal, and for the avoidance of doubt, any tax authority) or other
body exercising similar powers or authority; or (d) self-regulatory organization (including the NASDAQ Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange
and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority).

(y) “Non-423 Component” means the part of the Plan, which excludes the 423 Component, pursuant to which Purchase Rights that are not
intended to satisfy the requirements for an Employee Stock Purchase Plan may be granted to Eligible Employees.
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(z) “Offering” means the grant to Eligible Employees of Purchase Rights, with the exercise of those Purchase Rights automatically occurring at
the end of one or more Purchase Periods. The terms and conditions of an Offering will generally be set forth in the “Offering Document” approved by
the Board for that Offering.

(aa) “Offering Date” means a date selected by the Board for an Offering to commence.

(bb) “Officer” means a person who is an officer of the Company or a Related Corporation within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

(cc) “Participant” means an Eligible Employee who holds an outstanding Purchase Right.

(dd) “Plan” means this Surrozen, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended from time to time, including both the 423 Component
and the Non-423 Component.

(ee) “Purchase Date” means one or more dates during an Offering selected by the Board on which Purchase Rights will be exercised and on
which purchases of shares of Common Stock will be carried out in accordance with such Offering.

(ff) “Purchase Period” means a period of time specified within an Offering, generally beginning on the Offering Date or on the first Trading Day
following a Purchase Date, and ending on a Purchase Date. An Offering may consist of one or more Purchase Periods.

(gg) “Purchase Right” means an option to purchase shares of Common Stock granted pursuant to the Plan.

(hh) “Related Corporation” means any “parent corporation” or “subsidiary corporation” of the Company whether now or subsequently
established, as those terms are defined in Sections 424(e) and (f), respectively, of the Code.

(ii) “Securities Act” means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(jj) “Tax-Related Items” means any income tax, social insurance, payroll tax, fringe benefit tax, payment on account or other tax-related items
arising out of or in relation to a Participant’s participation in the Plan, including, but not limited to, the exercise of a Purchase Right and the receipt of
shares of Common Stock or the sale or other disposition of shares of Common Stock acquired under the Plan.

(kk) “Trading Day” means any day on which the exchange(s) or market(s) on which shares of Common Stock are listed, including but not limited
to the New York Stock Exchange, Nasdaq Global Select Market, the Nasdaq Global Market, the Nasdaq Capital Market or any successors thereto, is
open for trading.
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Exhibit 10.8

INDEMNITY AGREEMENT

THIS INDEMNITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) dated as of [____________], is made by and between SURROZEN, INC., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company” or “Surrozen” ), and ____________ (“Indemnitee” ).

RECITALS

A. The Company desires to attract and retain the services of highly qualified individuals as directors, officers, employees and agents.

B. The Company’s bylaws (the “Bylaws”) require that the Company indemnify its directors and officers, and empowers the Company to
indemnify its employees and agents, as authorized by the Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended (the “Code”), under which the Company is
organized and such Bylaws expressly provide that the indemnification provided therein is not exclusive and contemplates that the Company may enter
into separate agreements with its directors, officers and other persons to set forth specific indemnification provisions.

C. Indemnitee does not regard the protection currently provided by applicable law, the Bylaws, the Company’s other governing documents, and
available insurance as adequate under the present circumstances, and the Company has determined that Indemnitee and other directors, officers,
employees and agents of the Company may not be willing to serve or continue to serve in such capacities without additional protection.

D. The Company desires and has requested Indemnitee to serve or continue to serve as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company, as
the case may be, and has proffered this Agreement to Indemnitee as an additional inducement to serve in such capacity.

E. Indemnitee is willing to serve, or to continue to serve, as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company, as the case may be, if
Indemnitee is furnished the indemnity provided for herein by the Company.

AGREEMENT

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound,
hereby agree as follows:

1. Definitions.

(a) Agent. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Agent” of the Company means any person who: (i) is or was a director, officer,
employee, agent, or other fiduciary of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company; or (ii) is or was serving at the request or for the convenience of, or
representing the interests of, the Company or a subsidiary of the Company, as a director, officer, employee, agent, or other fiduciary of a foreign or
domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise.

(b) Change in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if (i) any “person” (as
such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), other than a trustee or other fiduciary holding
securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company or a corporation owned directly or indirectly by the stockholders of the Company in
substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of the Company, is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under
said Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 20% or more of the total voting power represented by the Company’s then
outstanding Voting Securities, (ii) individuals who on the date of this Agreement are members of the Board (the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any
reason to constitute at least a majority of
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the members of the Board (provided, however, that if the appointment or election (or nomination for election) of any new Board member was approved
or recommended by a majority vote of the members of the Incumbent Board then still in office, such new member shall be considered as a member of
the Incumbent Board), or (iii) the stockholders of the Company approve a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other
than a merger or consolidation which would result in the Voting Securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to
represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into Voting Securities of the surviving entity) at least 80% of the total voting power
represented by the Voting Securities of the Company or such surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation, or the
stockholders of the Company approve a plan of complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the sale or disposition by the Company of (in
one transaction or a series of transactions) all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.

(c) Expenses. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Expenses” shall be broadly construed and shall include, without limitation, all
direct and indirect costs of any type or nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, all attorneys’, witness, or other professional fees and related
disbursements, and other out-of-pocket costs of whatever nature) actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the investigation,
defense or appeal of a proceeding or establishing or enforcing a right to indemnification under this Agreement, the Code or otherwise.

(d) Enterprise. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Enterprise” means any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership,
joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other entity for which Indemnitee is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer,
employee, or Agent

(e) Independent Counsel. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Independent Counsel” means a law firm, or a partner (or, if
applicable, member) of such a law firm, that is experienced in matters of corporation law and neither presently is, nor in the past five (5) years has been,
retained to represent: (i) the Company or Indemnitee in any matter material to either such party, or (ii) any other party to the proceeding giving rise to a
claim for indemnification hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term “Independent Counsel” shall not include any person who, under the
applicable standards of professional conduct then prevailing, would have a conflict of interest in representing either the Company or Indemnitee in an
action to determine Indemnitee’s rights under this Agreement. The Company will pay the reasonable fees and expenses of the Independent Counsel
referred to above and to fully indemnify such counsel against any and all expenses, claims, liabilities and damages arising out of or relating to this
Agreement or its engagement pursuant hereto.

(f) Liabilities. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Liabilities” shall be broadly construed and shall include, without limitation,
judgments, damages, deficiencies, liabilities, losses, penalties, excise taxes, fines, assessments and amounts paid in settlement, including any interest
and any federal, state, local or foreign taxes imposed as a result of the actual or deemed receipt of any payment under this Agreement.

(g) Proceedings. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “proceeding” shall be broadly construed and shall include, without limitation,
any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, claim, counterclaim, cross claim, arbitration, mediation, alternate dispute resolution mechanism,
investigation, inquiry, administrative hearing, or any other actual, threatened or completed proceeding, whether brought in the right of the Company or
otherwise and whether of a civil, criminal, administrative or investigative nature, and whether formal or informal in any case, in which Indemnitee was,
is or will be involved as a party, potential party, non-party witness, or otherwise by reason of: (i) the fact that Indemnitee is or was a director or officer of
the Company; (ii) the fact that any action taken by Indemnitee (or a failure to take action by Indemnitee) or of any action (or failure to act) on
Indemnitee’s part while acting as an Agent; or (iii) the fact that Indemnitee is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer,
employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan, or other enterprise, and in any such case described
above, whether or not serving in any such capacity at the time any liability or Expense is incurred for which indemnification, reimbursement, or
advancement of Expenses may be provided under this Agreement. If the Indemnitee believes in good faith that a given situation may lead to or
culminate in the institution of a proceeding, this shall be considered a proceeding under this paragraph.
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(h) Subsidiary. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “subsidiary” means any corporation, limited liability company, or other entity, of
which more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities or equity interests are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company and one or more of its
subsidiaries, and any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise of which
Indemnitee is or was serving at the request of the Company as an Agent.

(i) Voting Securities. For purposes of this Agreement, “Voting Securities” shall mean any securities of the Company that vote generally in
the election of directors.

2. Agreement to Serve. Indemnitee will serve, or continue to serve, as the case may be, as an Agent, faithfully and to the best of his or her ability,
at the will of such entity designated by the Company and at the request of the Company (or under separate agreement, if such agreement exists), in the
capacity Indemnitee currently serves such entity, so long as Indemnitee is duly appointed or elected and qualified in accordance with the applicable
provisions of the governance documents of such entity, or until such time as Indemnitee tenders his or her resignation in writing; provided, however, that
nothing contained in this Agreement is intended as an employment agreement between Indemnitee and the Company or any of its subsidiaries or to
create any right to continued employment of Indemnitee with the Company or any of its subsidiaries in any capacity.

The Company acknowledges that it has entered into this Agreement and assumes the obligations imposed on it hereby, in addition to and separate
from its obligations to Indemnitee under the Bylaws, to induce Indemnitee to serve, or continue to serve, as an Agent, and the Company acknowledges
that Indemnitee is relying upon this Agreement in serving as an Agent.

3. Indemnification.

(a) Indemnification in Third Party Proceedings. Subject to Section 10 below, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee to the fullest
extent permitted by the Code, as the same may be amended from time to time (but, to the fullest extent of the law, only to the extent that such
amendment permits Indemnitee to broader indemnification rights than the Code permitted prior to adoption of such amendment), if Indemnitee is a party
to or threatened to be made a party to or otherwise involved in any proceeding, other than a proceeding by or in the right of the Company to procure a
judgment in its favor, for any and all Expenses and Liabilities (including all interest, assessments and other charges paid or payable in connection with
or in respect of such Expenses and Liabilities) incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the investigation, defense, settlement or appeal of such
proceeding, if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
Company and, in the case of a criminal proceeding had no reasonable cause to believe that Indemnitee’s conduct was unlawful. The parties hereto intend
that this Agreement shall provide to the fullest extent permitted by law for indemnification in excess of that expressly permitted by statute, including,
without limitation, any indemnification provided by the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, the Bylaws, vote of its stockholders or
disinterested directors, or applicable law.

(b) Indemnification in Derivative Actions and Direct Actions by the Company. Subject to Section 10 below, the Company shall
indemnify Indemnitee to the fullest extent permitted by the Code, as the same may be amended from time to time (but, fullest extent permitted by
applicable law, only to the extent that such amendment permits Indemnitee to broader indemnification rights than the Code permitted prior to adoption
of such amendment), if Indemnitee is a party to or threatened to be made a party to or otherwise involved in any proceeding by or in the right of the
Company to procure a judgment in its favor, against any and all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the
investigation, defense, settlement, or appeal of such proceedings, if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner Indemnitee reasonably believed to be
in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company. No indemnification for Expenses shall be made under this Section 3(b) in respect of any claim,
issue or matter
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as to which Indemnitee shall have been finally adjudged by a court competent jurisdiction to be liable to the Company, unless and only to the extent that
the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware or any court in which the proceeding was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the
adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification.

4. Indemnification of Expenses of Successful Party. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all
Expenses in connection with a proceeding to the extent that Indemnitee has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any proceeding or
in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, in whole or part, including the dismissal of any action without prejudice. If Indemnitee is not wholly
successful in such proceeding but is successful, on the merits or otherwise, as to one or more but less than all claims, issues or matters in such
proceeding, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses incurred by Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection with or
related to each successfully resolved claim, issue or matter to the fullest extent permitted by law.

5. Partial Indemnification; Witness Indemnification. If Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Agreement to indemnification by the
Company for some or a portion of any Expenses and Liabilities incurred by Indemnitee in the investigation, defense, settlement or appeal of a
proceeding, but is precluded by applicable law or the specific terms of this Agreement to indemnification for the total amount thereof, the Company
shall nevertheless indemnify Indemnitee for the portion thereof to which Indemnitee is entitled. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement,
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law and to the extent that Indemnitee is, by reason of Indemnitee’s acting as an Agent, a witness or
otherwise asked to participate in any proceeding to which Indemnitee is not a party, Indemnitee shall be indemnified against all Expenses incurred by
Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection therewith.

6. Advancement of Expenses. To the extent not prohibited by law, the Company shall advance the Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in
connection with any proceeding, and such advancement shall be made within twenty (30) days after the receipt by the Company of a statement or
statements requesting such advances (which shall include invoices received by Indemnitee in connection with such Expenses but, in the case of invoices
in connection with legal services, any references to legal work performed or to expenditures made that would cause Indemnitee to waive any privilege
accorded by applicable law shall not be included with the invoice). Advances shall be unsecured, interest free and without regard to Indemnitee’s ability
to repay the Expenses. Advances shall include any and all Expenses incurred by Indemnitee pursuing an action to enforce Indemnitee’s right to
indemnification under this Agreement or otherwise and this right of advancement, including expenses incurred preparing and forwarding statements to
the Company to support the advances claimed. Indemnitee acknowledges that the execution and delivery of this Agreement shall constitute an
undertaking providing that Indemnitee shall, to the fullest extent required by law, repay the advance (without interest) if and to the extent that it is
ultimately determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final judgment, not subject to appeal, that Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by
the Company. The right to advances under this Section shall continue until final disposition of any proceeding, including any appeal therein. This
Section 6 shall not apply to any claim made by Indemnitee for which indemnity is excluded pursuant to Section 10(b).

7. Notice and Other Indemnification Procedures.

(a) Notification of Proceeding. Indemnitee will notify the Company in writing promptly upon being served with any summons, citation,
subpoena, complaint, indictment, information or other document relating to any proceeding or matter which may be subject to indemnification or
advancement of Expenses covered hereunder. The written notification to the Company shall include a description of the nature of the proceeding and the
facts underlying the proceeding. The failure of Indemnitee to so notify the Company shall not relieve the Company of any obligation which it may have
to Indemnitee under this Agreement or otherwise and any delay in so notifying the Company shall not constitute a waiver by Indemnitee of any rights
under this Agreement. The Company will be entitled to participate in the proceeding at its own expense.
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(b) Request for Indemnification Payments. To obtain indemnification under this Agreement, Indemnitee shall submit to the Company a
written request, including therein or therewith such documentation and information as is reasonably available to Indemnitee and is reasonably necessary
to determine whether and to what extent Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification under the terms of this Agreement, and shall request payment thereof
by the Company.

(c) Determination of Right to Indemnification Payments. Upon written request by Indemnitee for indemnification pursuant to the
Section 7(b) hereof, a determination with respect to Indemnitee’s entitlement thereto shall be made in the specific case by one of the following four
methods, which shall be at the election of the Board of Directors: (1) by a majority vote of the disinterested directors, even though less than a quorum,
(2) by a committee of disinterested directors designated by a majority vote of the disinterested directors, even though less than a quorum, (3) if there are
no disinterested directors or if the disinterested directors so direct, by Independent Counsel in a written opinion to the Board of Directors, a copy of
which shall be delivered to the Indemnitee, or (4) if so directed by the Board of Directors, by the stockholders of the Company; provided, however, that
if there has been a Change in Control, then such determination shall be made by Independent Counsel selected by Indemnitee and approved by the
Company (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld). For purposes hereof, disinterested directors are those members of the board of directors
of the Company who are not parties to the action, suit or proceeding in respect of which indemnification is sought by Indemnitee. Indemnification
payments requested by Indemnitee under Section 3 hereof shall be made by the Company within sixty (60) days after the later or (1) receipt of the
written request of Indemnitee and (2) the final disposition of the Proceeding for which Indemnification is sought. Claims for advancement of Expenses
shall be made under the provisions of Section 6 herein.

(d) Application for Enforcement. In the event the Company fails to make timely payments as set forth in Sections 6 or 7(c) above,
Indemnitee shall have the right to apply to the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware for the purpose of enforcing Indemnitee’s right to
indemnification or advancement of Expenses pursuant to this Agreement. In such an enforcement hearing or proceeding, the burden of proof shall be on
the Company to prove that indemnification or advancement of Expenses to Indemnitee is not required under this Agreement or permitted by applicable
law. Any determination by the Company (including its Board of Directors, a committee thereof, Independent Counsel) or stockholders, that Indemnitee
is not entitled to indemnification hereunder, shall not be a defense by the Company to the action nor create any presumption that Indemnitee is not
entitled to indemnification or advancement of Expenses hereunder.

(e) Indemnification of Certain Expenses. The Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses incurred in connection with
any hearing or proceeding under this Section 7 unless the Company prevails in such hearing or proceeding on the merits in all material respects.

8. Presumptions and Effect of Certain Proceedings.

(a) In making a determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification hereunder, the person or persons or entity making such
determination will, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, presume Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification under this Agreement if Indemnitee has
submitted a request for indemnification in accordance with Section 7 of this Agreement, and the Company will, to the fullest extent not prohibited by
law, have the burden of proof to overcome that presumption. Neither the failure of the Company (including by its directors or Independent Counsel) to
have made a determination prior to the commencement of any action pursuant to this Agreement that indemnification is proper in the circumstances
because Indemnitee has met the applicable standard of conduct, nor an actual determination by the Company (including by its directors or Independent
Counsel) that Indemnitee has not met such applicable standard of conduct, will be a defense to the action or create a presumption that Indemnitee has
not met the applicable standard of conduct.
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(b) If the determination of the Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification has not made pursuant to Section 7 within sixty (60) days after
the later of (i) receipt by the Company of Indemnitee’s request for indemnification pursuant to Section 7 and (ii) the final disposition of the Proceeding
for which Indemnitee requested Indemnification (the “Determination Period”), the requisite determination of entitlement to indemnification will, to the
fullest extent not prohibited by law, be deemed to have been made and Indemnitee will be entitled to such indemnification, absent (i) a misstatement by
Indemnitee of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make Indemnitee’s statement not materially misleading, in connection with
the request for indemnification, or (ii) a prohibition of such indemnification under applicable law. The Determination Period may be extended for a
reasonable time, not to exceed an additional thirty (30) days, if the person, persons or entity making the determination with respect to entitlement to
indemnification in good faith requires such additional time for the obtaining or evaluating of documentation and/or information relating thereto; and
provided, further, the Determination Period may be extended an additional fifteen (15) days if the determination of entitlement to indemnification is to
be made by the stockholders pursuant to Section 7(c) of this Agreement.

(c) The termination of any Proceeding or of any claim, issue or matter therein, by judgment, order, settlement or conviction, or upon a plea
of nolo contendere or its equivalent, will not (except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement) of itself adversely affect the right of Indemnitee
to indemnification or create a presumption that Indemnitee did not act in good faith and in a manner which Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or
not opposed to the best interests of the Company or, with respect to any criminal Proceeding, that Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe that
Indemnitee’s conduct was unlawful.

(d) For purposes of any determination of good faith, Indemnitee will be deemed to have acted in good faith if Indemnitee acted based on
the records or books of account of the Company, its subsidiaries, or an Enterprise, including financial statements, or on information supplied to
Indemnitee by the directors or officers of the Company, its subsidiaries, or an Enterprise in the course of their duties, or on the advice of legal counsel
for the Company, its subsidiaries, or an Enterprise or on information or records given or reports made to the Company or an Enterprise by an
independent certified public accountant or by an appraiser, financial advisor or other expert selected with reasonable care by or on behalf of the
Company, its subsidiaries, or an Enterprise. Further, Indemnitee will be deemed to have acted in a manner “not opposed to the best interests of the
Company,” as referred to in this Agreement if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in the best interests
of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan. The provisions of this Section 8(d) is not exclusive and does not limit in any way the
other circumstances in which the Indemnitee may be deemed to have met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in this Agreement.

(e) The knowledge and/or actions, or failure to act, of any director, officer, trustee, partner, managing member, fiduciary, agent or
employee of the Enterprise may not be imputed to Indemnitee for purposes of determining Indemnitee’s right to indemnification under this Agreement.

9. Insurance. To the extent that the Company maintains an insurance policy or policies providing liability insurance for Agents or for agents of
any other Enterprise, Indemnitee shall be covered by such policy or policies in accordance with its or their terms to the maximum extent of the coverage
available for any such Agent or agent under such policy or policies. If, at the time of the receipt of a notice of a claim pursuant to the terms hereof, the
Company has director and officer liability insurance in effect or otherwise potentially available, the Company shall give prompt notice of the
commencement of such proceeding to the insurers in accordance with the procedures set forth in the respective policies. The Company shall thereafter
take all necessary or desirable action to cause such insurers to pay, on behalf of the Indemnitee, all amounts payable as a result of such proceeding in
accordance with the terms of such policies.

10. Exceptions.

(a) Certain Matters. Any provision herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company shall not be obligated pursuant to the terms of
this Agreement to indemnify Indemnitee on account of any proceeding with respect to: (i) remuneration paid to Indemnitee if it is determined by final
judgment or other final adjudication that such remuneration was in violation of law (and, in this respect, both the Company and Indemnitee have been
advised that the Securities and Exchange Commission believes
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that indemnification for liabilities arising under the federal securities laws is against public policy and is, therefore, unenforceable and that claims for
indemnification should be submitted to appropriate courts for adjudication, as indicated in Section 10(d) below); (ii) a final judgment rendered against
Indemnitee for an accounting, disgorgement or repayment of profits made from the purchase or sale by Indemnitee of securities of the Company against
Indemnitee pursuant to the provisions of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or other provisions of any federal, state or
local statute or rules and regulations thereunder; or (iii) a final judgment or other final adjudication that Indemnitee’s conduct was in bad faith,
knowingly fraudulent or deliberately dishonest or constituted willful misconduct (but only to the extent of such specific determination); or (iv) on
account of conduct that is established by a final judgment as constituting a breach of Indemnitee’s duty of loyalty to the Company or resulting in any
personal profit or advantage to which Indemnitee is not legally entitled. For purposes of the foregoing sentence, a final judgment or other adjudication
may be reached in either the underlying proceeding or action in connection with which indemnification is sought or a separate proceeding or action to
establish rights and liabilities under this Agreement.

(b) Claims Initiated by Indemnitee. Any provision herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company shall not be obligated to
indemnify or advance Expenses to Indemnitee with respect to proceedings or claims initiated or brought by Indemnitee against the Company or its
Agents and not by way of defense, except (i) with respect to proceedings brought to establish or enforce a right to indemnification or advancement under
this Agreement or under any other agreement, provision in the Bylaws or Certificate of Incorporation or applicable law, or (ii) with respect to any other
proceeding initiated by Indemnitee that is either approved by the Board of Directors or Indemnitee’s participation is required by applicable law.
However, indemnification or advancement of Expenses may be provided by the Company in specific cases if the Board of Directors determines it to be
appropriate.

(c) Unauthorized Settlements. Any provision herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company shall not be obligated pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement to indemnify Indemnitee under this Agreement for any amounts paid in settlement of a proceeding effected without the
Company’s written consent. Neither the Company nor Indemnitee shall unreasonably withhold consent to any proposed settlement; provided, however,
that the Company may in any event decline to consent to (or to otherwise admit or agree to any liability for indemnification hereunder in respect of) any
proposed settlement if the Company is also a party in such proceeding and determines in good faith that such settlement is not in the best interests of the
Company and its stockholders.

(d) Securities Act Liabilities. Any provision herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company shall not be obligated pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement to indemnify Indemnitee or otherwise act in violation of any undertaking appearing in and required by the rules and regulations
promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act” ), or in any registration statement filed with the SEC under the Act. Indemnitee
acknowledges that paragraph (h) of Item 512 of Regulation S-K currently generally requires the Company to undertake in connection with any
registration statement filed under the Act to submit the issue of the enforceability of Indemnitee’s rights under this Agreement in connection with any
liability under the Act on public policy grounds to a court of appropriate jurisdiction and to be governed by any final adjudication of such issue.
Indemnitee specifically agrees that any such undertaking shall supersede the provisions of this Agreement and to be bound by any such undertaking.

(e) Prior Payments. The Company shall not be obligated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement to indemnify or advance Expenses to
Indemnitee under this Agreement for which payment has actually been made to or on behalf of Indemnitee under any insurance policy or other
indemnity provision, except to the extent made by the Associated Party (as defined below) as provided in Section 13 and except with respect to any
excess beyond the amount paid under any insurance policy or indemnity policy.

11. Nonexclusivity and Survival of Rights. The provisions for indemnification and advancement of Expenses set forth in this Agreement shall
not be deemed exclusive of any other rights which Indemnitee may at any time be entitled under any provision of applicable law, the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws or other agreements, both as to action in, Indemnitee’s official capacity and Indemnitee’s action as an Agent, in any
court in which a proceeding is brought, and Indemnitee’s rights
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hereunder shall continue after Indemnitee has ceased acting as an Agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, administrators and assigns
of Indemnitee. The obligations and duties of the Company to Indemnitee under this Agreement shall be binding on the Company and its successors and
assigns until terminated in accordance with its terms. The Company shall require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger,
consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company, expressly to assume and agree to perform this Agreement
in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform if no such succession had taken place.

No amendment, alteration or repeal of this Agreement or of any provision hereof shall limit or restrict any right of Indemnitee under this
Agreement in respect of any action taken or omitted by such Indemnitee in his or her corporate status prior to such amendment, alteration or repeal. To
the extent that a change in the Code, whether by statute or judicial decision, permits greater indemnification or advancement of Expenses than would be
afforded currently under the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and this Agreement, it is the intent of the parties hereto that Indemnitee
shall enjoy by this Agreement the greater benefits so afforded by such change. No right or remedy herein conferred is intended to be exclusive of any
other right or remedy, and every other right and remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to every other right and remedy given hereunder or now or
hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise. The assertion or employment of any right or remedy hereunder, or otherwise, by Indemnitee shall not
prevent the concurrent assertion or employment of any other right or remedy by Indemnitee.

12. Term. This Agreement shall continue until and terminate upon the later of: (a) ten (10) years after the date that Indemnitee shall have ceased
to serve as an Agent; or (b) one (1) year after the final termination of any proceeding, including any appeal then pending, in respect to which Indemnitee
was granted rights of indemnification or advancement of Expenses hereunder.

13. Other Rights to Indemnification or Advancement; Subrogation.

(a) The Company hereby acknowledges that Indemnitee may have certain rights to indemnification, advancement of Expenses and/or
insurance provided by one or more other Persons, other than an Enterprise, with whom or which Indemnitee may be associated (including, without
limitation, [__________], (the “Associated Party”)). The relationship between the Company and such other Persons with respect to the Indemnitee’s
rights to indemnification, advancement of Expenses, and insurance is described by this subsection, subject to the provisions of subsection (b) of this
Section 13 with respect to a proceeding concerning Indemnitee’s status with an Enterprise.

(i) The Company hereby acknowledges and agrees:

(1) the Company is the indemnitor of first resort with respect to any request for indemnification or advancement of Expenses
made pursuant to this Agreement concerning any proceeding;

(2) the Company is primarily liable for all indemnification and indemnification or advancement of Expenses obligations for
any Proceeding, whether created by law, organizational or constituent documents, contract (including this Agreement) or otherwise;

(3) any obligation of any other Persons with whom or which Indemnitee may be associated (including, without limitation,
the Associated Party) to indemnify Indemnitee and/or advance Expenses to Indemnitee in respect of any proceeding are secondary to the obligations of
the Company’s obligations;

(4) the Company will indemnify Indemnitee and advance Expenses to Indemnitee hereunder to the fullest extent provided
herein without regard to any rights Indemnitee may have against any other Person with whom or which Indemnitee may be associated (including, the
Associated Party) or insurer of any such Person; and
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(ii) the Company irrevocably waives, relinquishes and releases (A) any other Person with whom or which Indemnitee may be
associated (including, without limitation, the Associated Party) from any claim of contribution, subrogation, reimbursement, exoneration or
indemnification, or any other recovery of any kind in respect of amounts paid by the Company to Indemnitee pursuant to this Agreement and (B) any
right to participate in any claim or remedy of Indemnitee against any Person (including, without limitation, the Associated Party), whether or not such
claim, remedy or right arises in equity or under contract, statute or common law, including, without limitation, the right to take or receive from any
Person (including, without limitation, the Associated Party), directly or indirectly, in cash or other property or by set-off or in any other manner,
payment or security on account of such claim, remedy or right.

(iii) In the event any other Person with whom or which Indemnitee may be associated (including, without limitation, the Associated
Party) or their insurers advances or extinguishes any liability or loss for Indemnitee, the payor has a right of subrogation against the Company or its
insurers for all amounts so paid which would otherwise be payable by the Company or its insurers under this Agreement. In no event will payment by
any other Person with whom or which Indemnitee may be associated (including, without limitation, the Associated Party) or their insurers affect the
obligations of the Company hereunder or shift primary liability for the Company’s obligation to indemnify or advance of Expenses to any other Person
with whom or which Indemnitee may be associated (including, without limitation, the Associated Party).

(iv) Any indemnification or advancement of Expenses provided by any other Person with whom or which Indemnitee may be
associated (including, without limitation, the Associated Party) is specifically in excess over the Company’s obligation to indemnify and advance
Expenses or any valid and collectible insurance (including but not limited to any malpractice insurance or professional errors and omissions insurance)
provided by the Company.

(b) The Company’s obligation to indemnify or advance Expenses hereunder to Indemnitee for any proceeding concerning Indemnitee’s
status with an Enterprise will be reduced by any amount Indemnitee has actually received as indemnification or advancement of Expenses from such
Enterprise. The Company and Indemnitee intend that any such Enterprise (and its insurers) be the indemnitor of first resort with respect to
indemnification and advancement of Expenses for any proceeding related to or arising from Indemnitee’s status with such Enterprise. The Company’s
obligation to indemnify and advance Expenses to Indemnitee is secondary to the obligations the Enterprise or its insurers owe to Indemnitee. Indemnitee
agrees to take all reasonably necessary and desirable action to obtain from an Enterprise indemnification and advancement of Expenses for any
Proceeding related to or arising from Indemnitee’s corporate status with such Enterprise.

(c) In the event of payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the rights of
recovery of Indemnitee from any insurance carrier or Enterprise. Indemnitee shall, at the request and expense of the Company, execute all papers
required and shall do everything that may be reasonably necessary to secure such rights, including the execution of such documents necessary to enable
the Company effectively to bring suit to enforce such rights.

14. Interpretation of Agreement. It is understood that the parties hereto intend this Agreement to be interpreted and enforced so as to provide
indemnification and advancement of Expenses to Indemnitee to the fullest extent now or hereafter permitted by law.

15. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever, (a) the
validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of the Agreement (including without limitation, all portions of any paragraphs of this
Agreement containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that are not themselves invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not
in any way be affected or impaired thereby; and (b) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Agreement (including, without limitation, all
portions of any paragraph of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that are not themselves invalid,
illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give effect to the intent manifested by the provision held invalid, illegal or unenforceable and to give
effect to Section 14 hereof.
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16. Amendment and Waiver. No supplement, modification, amendment, or cancellation of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in
writing by the parties hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provision
hereof (whether or not similar) nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver.

17. Notice. Except as otherwise provided herein, any notice or demand which, by the provisions hereof, is required or which may be given to or
served upon the parties hereto shall be in writing and, if by electronic transmission, shall be deemed to have been validly served, given or delivered
when sent, if by overnight delivery, courier or personal delivery, shall be deemed to have been validly served, given or delivered upon actual delivery
and, if mailed, shall be deemed to have been validly served, given or delivered three (3) business days after deposit in the United States mail, as
registered or certified mail, with proper postage prepaid and addressed to the party or parties to be notified at the addresses set forth on the signature
page of this Agreement (or such other address(es) as a party may designate for itself by like notice). If to the Company, notices and demands shall be
delivered to the attention of the Secretary of the Company.

18. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed exclusively by and construed according to the laws of the State of Delaware, as applied to
contracts between Delaware residents entered into and to be performed entirely within Delaware.

19. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall for all purposes be deemed to be an original
but all of which together shall constitute but one and the same Agreement. Only one such counterpart need be produced to evidence the existence of this
Agreement.

20. Headings. The headings of the sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute part of this
Agreement or to affect the construction hereof.

21. Entire Agreement. Subject to Section 11 hereof, this Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the
subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements, understandings and negotiations, written and oral, between the parties with respect to the
subject matter of this Agreement; provided, however, that this Agreement is a supplement to and in furtherance of the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation, Bylaws, the Code and any other applicable law, and shall not be deemed a substitute therefor, and does not diminish or abrogate any
rights of Indemnitee thereunder.

22. Contribution. To the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, if the indemnification provided for in this Agreement is unavailable to
Indemnitee for any reason whatsoever, the Company, in lieu of indemnifying Indemnitee, shall contribute to the amount incurred by Indemnitee,
whether for judgments, fines, penalties, excise taxes, amounts paid or to be paid in settlement and/or for Expenses, in connection with any claim relating
to an indemnifiable event under this Agreement, in such proportion as is deemed fair and reasonable in light of all of the circumstances of such
proceeding in order to reflect (i) the relative benefits received by the Company and Indemnitee as a result of the event(s) and/or transaction(s) giving
cause to such proceeding; and/or (ii) the relative fault of the Company and Indemnitee in connection with such event(s) and/or transaction(s).

23. Consent to Jurisdiction. This Agreement and the legal relations among the parties shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in
accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to its conflict of laws rules. The Company and Indemnitee hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally (i) agree that any action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with this Agreement shall be brought only in the Chancery Court
of the State of Delaware (the “Delaware Court”), and not in any other state or federal court in the United States of America or any court in any other
country, (ii) consent to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Delaware Court for purposes of any action or proceeding arising out of or in
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connection with this Agreement, (iii) agree to appoint, to the extent such party is not otherwise subject to service of process in the State of Delaware, an
agent in the State of Delaware as such party’s agent for acceptance of legal process in connection with any such action or proceeding against such party
with the same legal force and validity as if served upon such party personally within the State of Delaware, (iv) waive any objection to the laying of
venue of any such action or proceeding in the Delaware Court, and (v) waive, and agree not to plead or to make, any claim that any such action or
proceeding brought in the Delaware Court has been brought in an improper or inconvenient forum.

[Signature Page to Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Agreement effective as of the date first above written.
 

SURROZEN, INC.

By:      
 CRAIG PARKER
 Chief Executive Officer

INDEMNITEE

 
 

Signature of Indemnitee

 
 

Print or Type Name of Indemnitee

[Signature Page to Indemnity Agreement]



 

August 17, 2021

Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, N.E.
Washington, DC 20549

Commissioners:

We have read the statements made by Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp. under Item 4.01 of its Form 8-K dated August 17, 2021. We agree with the
statements concerning our Firm in such Form 8-K; we are not in a position to agree or disagree with other statements of Consonance-HFW Acquisition
Corp. contained therein.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Marcum LLP

Marcum LLP
 

 



EXHIBIT 21.1

SURROZEN, INC.
List of Subsidiaries

 
Subsidiary   Jurisdiction
Surrozen Operating, Inc.   Delaware



Exhibit 99.1

SURROZEN OPERATING, INC.
INDEX TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED
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SURROZEN OPERATING, INC.
Condensed Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 
   June 30,   December 31, 
   2021   2020  
   (Unaudited)    
Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 18,850  $ 34,982 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    1,789   1,042 
Short-term investments    6,598   14,200 

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    27,237   50,224 
Property and equipment, net    5,393   5,836 
Operating lease right-of-use assets    4,928   5,556 
Other assets    1,384   39 
Restricted cash    405   405 

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 39,347  $ 62,060 
    

 

   

 

Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 1,405  $ 1,776 
Accrued liabilities    6,558   3,394 
Lease liabilities, current portion    2,009   2,108 

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    9,972   7,278 
Lease liabilities, noncurrent portion    6,553   7,489 

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities    16,525   14,767 
    

 
   

 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 5 and Note 10)    
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 95,289,938 shares authorized as of June 30, 2021 and

December 31, 2020; 95,289,932 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020;
liquidation preference of $133,300 as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020    133,097   133,097 

Stockholders’ deficit:    
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 120,000,000 shares authorized as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020;

10,368,999 and 8,648,718 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively    1   1 

Additional paid-in-capital    3,400   2,196 
Accumulated deficit    (113,676)   (88,001) 

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ deficit    (110,275)   (85,804) 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit   $ 39,347  $ 62,060 
    

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed interim financial statements
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SURROZEN OPERATING, INC.
Condensed Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 
   Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
   2021   2020   2021   2020  
Operating expenses:      

Research and development   $ 10,265  $ 5,424  $ 18,866  $ 10,076 
General and administrative    2,395   1,545   6,825   3,254 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    12,660   6,969   25,691   13,330 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (12,660)   (6,969)   (25,691)   (13,330) 
Other income    7   2   16   76 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss and comprehensive loss   $ (12,653)  $ (6,967)  $ (25,675)  $ (13,254) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted   $ (1.50)  $ (0.95)  $ (3.11)  $ (1.85) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic and diluted    8,424,379   7,318,370   8,244,336   7,180,539 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed interim financial statements
 

2



SURROZEN OPERATING, INC.
Condensed Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit

(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share amounts)

 
   Redeemable convertible           Additional     Total  
   preferred stock    Common stock    paid-in   Accumulated  stockholders’ 
   Shares    Amount    Shares   Amount   capital   deficit   deficit  
Balance at December 31, 2020    95,289,932   $133,097    8,648,718  $ 1   $ 2,196  $ (88,001)  $ (85,804) 

Exercises of stock options    —      —      434,811   —      196   —     196 
Restricted stock granted    —      —      500,000   —      —     —     —   
Reclassification to liability for early exercised

stock options    —      —      —     —      (120)   —     (120) 
Vesting of early exercised stock options    —      —      —     —      30   —     30 
Stock-based compensation expense    —      —      —     —      475   —     475 
Net loss    —      —      —     —      —     (13,022)   (13,022) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at March 31, 2021    95,289,932    133,097    9,583,529   1    2,777   (101,023)   (98,245) 
Exercises of stock options    —      —      285,720   —      109   —     109 
Restricted stock granted    —      —      400,000   —      —     —     —   
Restricted stock forfeited    —      —      (93,750)   —      —     —     —   
Reclassification to liability for early exercised

stock options    —      —      —     —      (65)   —     (65) 
Vesting of early exercised stock options    —      —      —     —      47   —     47 
Repurchase of early exercised stock options    —      —      (6,500)   —      —     —     —   
Stock-based compensation expense    —      —      —     —      532   —     532 
Net loss    —      —      —     —      —     (12,653)   (12,653) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at June 30, 2021    95,289,932   $133,097    10,168,999  $ 1   $ 3,400  $ (113,676)  $ (110,275) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

 
   Redeemable convertible          Additional     Total  
   preferred stock   Common stock    paid-in   Accumulated  stockholders’ 
   Shares    Amount   Shares   Amount   capital   deficit   deficit  
Balance at December 31, 2019    66,718,509   $ 83,211   8,178,290  $ 1   $ 1,459  $ (55,285)  $ (53,825) 

Issuance costs of Series C redeemable
convertible preferred stock    —      (7)   —     —      —     —     —   

Exercises of stock options    —      —     224,583   —      84   —     84 
Reclassification to liability for early exercised

stock options    —      —     —     —      (75)   —     (75) 
Vesting of early exercised stock options    —      —     —     —      22   —     22 
Restricted stock forfeited    —      —     (29,167)   —      —     —     —   
Stock-based compensation expense    —      —     —     —      180   —     180 
Net loss    —      —     —     —      —     (6,287)   (6,287) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at March 31, 2020    66,718,509    83,204   8,373,706   1    1,670   (61,572)   (59,901) 
Issuance of Series C redeemable convertible

preferred stock, net of issuance costs of $106    28,571,423    49,893   —     —      —     —     —   
Exercises of stock options    —      —     37,000   —      8   —     8 
Reclassification to liability for early exercised

stock options    —      —     —     —      (3)   —     (3) 
Vesting of early exercised stock options    —      —     —     —      20   —     20 
Stock-based compensation expense    —      —     —     —      128   —     128 
Net loss    —      —     —     —      —     (6,967)   (6,967) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at June 30, 2020    95,289,932   $133,097   8,410,706  $ 1   $ 1,823  $ (68,539)  $ (66,715) 
    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed interim financial statements
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SURROZEN OPERATING, INC.

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

(In thousands)
 
   Six Months Ended June 30,  
   2021   2020  
Operating activities:    

Net loss   $ (25,675)  $ (13,254) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:    

Depreciation    1,003   1,017 
Stock-based compensation    1,007   308 
Non-cash lease expense    628   403 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Prepaid expenses and other current assets    (747)   (438) 
Other assets    (1)   10 
Accounts payable    (637)   (228) 
Accrued liabilities    2,245   676 
Lease liabilities    (1,035)   (719) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (23,212)   (12,225) 
    

 
   

 

Investing activities:    
Purchases of property and equipment    (404)   (167) 
Purchases of marketable securities    (1,098)   —   
Maturities of marketable securities    8,700   —   

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    7,198   (167) 
    

 
   

 

Financing activities:    
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs    —     49,887 
Payments of deferred transaction costs    (422)   —   
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    305   92 
Repurchase of early exercised stock options    (1)   —   

    
 

   
 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities    (118)   49,979 
    

 
   

 

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash    (16,132)   37,587 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period    35,387   29,509 

    
 

   
 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period   $ 19,255  $ 67,096 
    

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:    
Capital expenditures in accounts payable   $ 156  $ —   

    

 

   

 

Vesting of early exercises of stock options   $ 77  $ 42 
    

 

   

 

Reclassification to liability for early exercised stock options   $ 185  $ 78 
    

 

   

 

Right-of-use asset obtained in exchange for lease liabilities   $ —    $ 563 
    

 

   

 

Deferred transaction costs included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities   $ 922  $ —   
    

 

   

 

The following table presents a reconciliation of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash in the Company’s condensed balance
sheets:
 

 
  June 30,    June 30,  
  2021    2020  

Cash and cash equivalents   $18,850   $66,691 
Restricted cash    405    405 

    
 

    
 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   $19,255   $67,096 
    

 

    

 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed interim financial statements
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SURROZEN OPERATING, INC.
Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements

Note 1. Organization

Description of Business

Surrozen Operating, Inc. (the “Company” also referred to as “Legacy Surrozen”) is a preclinical stage biotechnology company committed to discovering
and developing drug candidates to selectively modulate the Wnt pathway, a critical mediator of tissue repair, in a broad range of organs and tissues. The
Company is located in South San Francisco, California and was incorporated in the state of Delaware on August 12, 2015.

Business Combination and Private Investment in Public Entity Financing

On April 15, 2021, the Company entered into a business combination agreement with Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp, a Cayman Islands exempted
company (“CHFW”) and Perseverance Merger Sub Inc., a subsidiary of CHFW (“Merger Sub”). Upon closing of the business combination, CHFW will
become a Delaware corporation and will be renamed to Surrozen, Inc. (“New Surrozen”), and Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company, with
the Company as the surviving company and, after giving effect to such merger, continuing as a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Surrozen. Pursuant to
the business combination agreement, the Company’s outstanding equity shares and equity awards (whether vested or unvested) as of closing will be
exchanged for shares of New Surrozen’s common stock or comparable equity awards that are settled or are exercisable for shares of New Surrozen’s
common stock. Additionally, immediately after the consummation of the business combination, certain investors, including certain of the Company’s
existing stockholders, committed to subscribe for and purchase an aggregate of 12,020,000 units for a purchase price of $10.00 per unit through a
private investment in public entity financing (“PIPE Financing”). Each unit consists of one share of New Surrozen’s common stock and one-third of one
redeemable warrant for one share of New Surrozen’s common stock.

On August 11, 2021, the Company received gross proceeds of $144.7 million in connection with the consummation of the business combination with
CHFW and PIPE Financing (see Note 11).

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Going Concern

The Company has incurred net operating losses each period since inception. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company
incurred a net loss of $12.7 million and $25.7 million, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company used $23.2 million of cash
in operations. As of June 30, 2021, the Company had an accumulated deficit of approximately $113.7 million. The Company expects operating losses to
continue in the foreseeable future because of additional costs and expenses related to the research and development activities. To date, the Company has
been able to fund its operations through private placements of redeemable convertible preferred stock. As of June 30, 2021, the Company had cash and
cash equivalents of $18.9 million and short-term investments of $6.6 million.

Management believes that the existing cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments, together with net proceeds from the business combination and
PIPE Financing are sufficient for the Company to continue operating activities for at least the next 12 months from the date of issuance of its condensed
interim financial statements.

The Company plans to continue to fund its operations through public or private equity financings, debt financings or other capital sources, including
government grants, potential collaborations with other companies or other strategic transactions. The Company’s ultimate success depends on the
outcome of its research and development activities. Failure to generate sufficient cash flows from operations, raise additional capital and reduce
discretionary spending could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to achieve its intended business objectives. These factors would
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future financial results, financial position and cash flows.

The Company’s business has been and could continue to be adversely affected by the evolving Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. For
example, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in and could result in delays to the Company’s preclinical studies of its product pipeline. At this time,
the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts the Company’s business will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and
cannot be predicted.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The Company’s condensed interim financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) as determined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) and pursuant to the regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The Company has no subsidiaries.
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SURROZEN
OPERATING,

INC.
Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements

 
Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed interim financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the condensed
interim financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions made in the
accompanying condensed interim financial statements include, but are not limited to, certain accruals for research and development activities, the fair
value of common stock, stock-based compensation expense, uncertain tax positions and lease liabilities. Management bases its estimates on historical
experience and on various other market-specific and relevant assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results could materially differ from those estimates.

Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements

The accompanying condensed balance sheet as of June 30, 2021, the condensed statements of redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’
deficit and the condensed statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the
condensed statements of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are unaudited. The unaudited condensed interim financial
statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited annual financial statements and, in management’s opinion, include all adjustments
consisting of only normal recurring adjustments necessary for the fair statement of the Company’s financial position as of June 30, 2021, its results of
operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and its cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. The
financial data and the other financial information disclosed in the notes to these condensed interim financial statements related to the six-month periods
are also unaudited. The condensed balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 was derived from the audited financial statements as of that date. The results
of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full fiscal year or any
other period.

These condensed interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Deferred Transaction Costs

The Company capitalizes transaction costs consisting of direct, incremental legal, accounting and other fees in connection with the anticipated business
combination with CHFW (see Note 1). The deferred transaction costs will be offset against the proceeds from the transaction upon the consummation of
the business combination. Should the business combination be abandoned, the deferred transaction costs will be expensed immediately as a charge to
operating expenses in the condensed statements of operations and comprehensive loss. As of June 30, 2021, the Company incurred $1.3 million of
deferred transaction costs, which were included in other assets on the condensed balance sheet. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had not
incurred any such costs.
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Restricted Cash

As of both June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had $0.4 million of restricted cash in the form of a letter of credit for the Company’s
facility lease. The restricted cash is classified as noncurrent asset as the Company is required to maintain the letter of credit for the benefit of landlord
until the end of the lease term in April 2025.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to significant concentration of credit risk, consist of cash, cash equivalents, short-term
investments and restricted cash. The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of default to the extent recorded in the condensed balance sheets.
The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. Management believes that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk due to
the financial position of the depository institution in which its bank deposits are held. To manage credit risks related to short-term investments, the
Company invests in various highly rated corporate bonds and commercial paper securities.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs consist of external and internal expenses directly attributable
to the conduct of research and development programs. The external expenses include the cost of services provided by outside contractors, clinical
research organizations and contract manufacturing organizations. The internal expenses include the cost of salaries, payroll taxes, stock-based
compensation, employee benefits, materials, supplies, depreciation on and maintenance of research equipment, and the facility costs for laboratory space
used for research and development activities, such as rent, utilities, insurance, repairs and maintenance, and general support services.

The Company has entered into and may continue to enter into licensing or subscription arrangements to access and utilize certain technology. In each
case, the Company evaluates if the license agreement results in the acquisition of an asset or a business. To date, none of the Company’s license
agreements have been considered an acquisition of a business. For asset acquisitions, the upfront payments to acquire such licenses, as well as any future
milestone payments made before product approval that do not meet the definition of a derivative, are immediately recognized as research and
development expense when they are paid or become payable, provided there is no alternative future use of the rights in other research and development
projects.
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Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common shares by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock
outstanding for the period, without consideration for potential dilutive securities. Since the Company was in a loss position for the periods presented,
basic net loss per share is the same as diluted net loss per share since the effects of potentially dilutive securities are antidilutive. The following table
presents the potential common shares outstanding that were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share of common stock as of the
periods presented because including them would have been antidilutive:
 

   June 30,  
    

 

   2021    2020  
Redeemable convertible preferred stock    95,289,932    95,289,932 
Options outstanding    8,429,189    4,704,000 
Unvested RSAs    1,114,586    347,397 
Unvested common stock subject to repurchase    615,938    741,032 

    
 

    
 

Total    105,449,645    101,082,361 
    

 

    

 

Emerging Growth Company Status

The Company is an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act,
emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such
time as those standards apply to private companies. The Company has elected to use this extended transition period for complying with certain new or
revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that it is (i) no longer an
emerging growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, these
condensed interim financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting pronouncements as of
public company effective dates.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which amends the
existing guidance relating to the accounting for income taxes. This standard is intended to simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain
exceptions to the general principles of accounting for income taxes and to improve the consistent application of U.S. GAAP for other areas of
accounting for income taxes by clarifying and amending existing guidance. The standard is effective for public business entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2020 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The standard is effective for entities other than public business entities
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company early adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2021, with no material impact on the
condensed interim financial statements upon adoption.
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Note 3. Fair Value Measurement

The following tables summarize the Company’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):
 

   As of June 30, 2021  
   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3   Total  
Money market funds (1)   $ 8,416   $ —     $ —     $ 8,416 
Commercial paper    —      6,598    —      6,598 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total financial assets measured at fair value   $ 8,416   $ 6,598   $ —     $15,014 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   As of December 31, 2020  
   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3   Total  
Money market funds (1)   $31,896   $ —   $ —     $31,896 
Corporate bonds    —      1,115    —      1,115 
Commercial paper(2)    —      15,285    —      15,285 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total financial assets measured at fair value   $31,896   $16,400   $ —     $48,296 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) Money market funds are included in cash and cash equivalents on the condensed balance sheets as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020.
(2) As of December 31, 2020, marketable securities with original maturities of three months or less, in the amount of $2.2 million, are included in

cash and cash equivalents on the condensed balance sheet.

There have been no changes to the valuation methods utilized during the six months ended June 30, 2021. The Company’s financial instruments include
cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, restricted cash, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The carrying amount of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturities.

Investments in corporate bonds and commercial paper are classified as Level 2 as they were valued based upon quoted market prices for similar
instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for
which all significant inputs are observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets.
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The following tables provide the Company’s marketable securities by security type (in thousands):
 

   As of June 30, 2021  

   
Amortized

Cost    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    
Estimated
Fair Value 

Commercial paper   $ 6,598   $ —     $ —     $ 6,598 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total   $ 6,598   $ —     $ —     $ 6,598 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   As of December 31, 2020  

   
Amortized

Cost    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    
Estimated
Fair Value 

Corporate bonds   $ 1,115   $ —     $ —     $ 1,115 
Commercial paper    15,285    —      —      15,285 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 16,400   $ —     $ —     $ 16,400 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, $6.6 million and $14.2 million, respectively, of marketable securities are included in short-term
investments. As of June 30, 2021, all marketable securities had maturities of one year or less. Gains and losses on marketable security transactions are
reported on the specific-identification method. As of June 30, 2021, no investments were in an unrealized loss position.

Note 4. Balance Sheet Components

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
 

   June 30,   December 31, 
   2021    2020  
Payroll and related expenses   $1,557   $ 1,673 
Accrued research and development expenses    3,569    1,305 
Accrued professional service fees    889    —   
Liability for early exercised stock options    296    188 
Other accrued expenses    247    228 

    
 

    
 

Accrued liabilities   $6,558   $ 3,394 
    

 

    

 

Other assets

Other assets consist of the following (in thousands):
 

   
June 30,

2021    
December 31,

2020  
Deferred transaction costs   $1,344   $ —   
Other    40    39 

    
 

    
 

Other assets   $1,384   $ 39 
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Note 5. Leases

In August 2016, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office space, which consists of approximately 32,813 square feet of rental space in
South San Francisco, California. The office space lease is classified as an operating lease. The initial lease term commenced in May 2017 and ends in
April 2025, with rent payments escalating each year. The Company has options to extend the lease for additional years, but the exercise of the option
was not reasonably certain. The landlord provided the Company with a tenant improvement allowance of up to $4.6 million. In connection with the
lease, the Company maintains a letter of credit for the benefit of the landlord in the amount of $0.4 million, which is recorded as restricted cash on the
condensed balance sheets.

In January 2020, the Company entered into a new lease agreement for a term of 18 months for approximately 6,478 square feet of space. The new office
space lease is classified as an operating lease. The new lease commenced in June 2020 and rent payments escalate after 14 months.

Operating lease expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 was $0.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively. Operating lease expense
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 was $0.4 million and $0.8 million, respectively.

Aggregate future minimum rental payments under operating leases as of June 30, 2021, were as follows (in thousands):
 

Six months ending December 31, 2021   $ 1,405 
Year ending December 31, 2022    2,486 
Year ending December 31, 2023    2,564 
Year ending December 31, 2024    2,646 
Year ending December 31, 2025    891 

    
 

Total lease payments    9,992 
Less: Imputed interest    (1,430) 

    
 

Operating lease liabilities   $ 8,562 
    

 

Note 6. License Agreements

Stanford License Agreements

In March 2016, the Company entered into a license agreement with Stanford, or the 2016 Stanford Agreement, which was amended in July 2016,
October 2016 and January 2021, pursuant to which the Company obtained from Stanford, a worldwide, exclusive, sublicensable license under certain
patents, rights, or licensed patents and technology related to its engineered Wnt surrogate molecules to make, use, import, offer to sell and sell products
that are claimed by the licensed patents or that use or incorporate such technology, or licensed products, for the treatment, diagnosis and prevention of
human and veterinary diseases. In consideration for this license, the Company paid Stanford a nominal upfront fee and issued an aggregate of 241,688
shares of our common stock to Stanford, the University of Washington and two co-inventors of the licensed patents. In addition, the Company agreed to
pay Stanford nominal annual license maintenance fees which are creditable against earned royalties owed to Stanford for the same year, an aggregate of
up to $0.9 million for the achievement of specified development and regulatory milestones, and an aggregate of up to $5.0 million for achievement of
specified sales milestones. Stanford is also entitled to receive royalties from the Company equal to a very low single digit percentage of the Company’s
and its sublicensees’ net sales of licensed products that are covered by a valid claim of a licensed patent. Additionally, the Company agreed to pay
Stanford a sub-teen double digit percentage of certain consideration the Company receives as a result of granting sublicenses to the licensed patents and,
if the
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Company acquired, a one-time change of control fee in the low six figures. Stanford retains the right under the 2016 Stanford Agreement, on behalf of
itself, Stanford Hospital and Clinics, the University of Washington and all other non-profit research institutions, to practice the licensed patents and
technology for any non-profit purpose. The licensed patents and technology are additionally subject to a non-exclusive, irrevocable, worldwide license
held by the Howard Hughes Medical Institute to practice the licensed patents and technology for its research purposes, but with no right to assign or
sublicense.

In June 2018, the Company entered into another license agreement with Stanford, or the 2018 Stanford Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
obtained from Stanford, a worldwide, exclusive, sublicensable license under certain patent rights related to its surrogate R-spondin proteins, or the
licensed patents, to make, use, import, offer to sell and sell products that are claimed by the licensed patents, or licensed products, for the treatment,
diagnosis and prevention of human and veterinary diseases, or the exclusive field. Additionally, Stanford granted the Company a worldwide, non-
exclusive, sublicensable license under the licensed patents to make and use licensed products for research and development purposes in furtherance of
the exclusive field and a worldwide, non-exclusive license to make, use and import, but not to offer to sell or sell, licensed products in any other field of
use. In consideration of these licenses, the Company paid Stanford a nominal upfront fee. The Company also agreed to pay Stanford nominal annual
license maintenance fees which are creditable against earned royalties owed to Stanford for the same year, and an aggregate of up to $0.425 million for
the achievement of specified development and regulatory milestones. Stanford is also entitled to receive royalties from the Company equal to a
sub-single digit percentage of the Company’s and its sublicensees’ net sales of licensed products. Additionally, the Company agreed to pay Stanford a
one-time payment in the low six figures for each sublicense of the licensed patents that the Company grants to a third party and, if the Company is
acquired, a one-time nominal change of control fee. Stanford retains the right under the 2018 Stanford Agreement, on behalf of itself, Stanford Health
Care, Lucile Packard Children’s Hospital at Stanford and all other non-profit research institutions, to practice the licensed patents for any non-profit
purpose. The licensed patents are additionally subject to a non-exclusive, irrevocable, worldwide license held by the Howard Hughes Medical Institute
to exercise any intellectual property rights with respect to the licensed patents for research purposes, including the right to sublicense to non-profit and
governmental entities but with no other rights to assign or sublicense.

Under each of the 2016 Stanford Agreement and the 2018 Stanford Agreement, or Stanford Agreements, the Company agreed to use commercially
reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize licensed products and the Company agreed to achieve certain funding and development milestones by
certain dates. Unless earlier terminated, each Stanford Agreement will continue until the expiration of the patents licensed under such Stanford
Agreement. The Company may terminate either Stanford Agreement at any time for any reason by providing at least 30 days’ written notice to Stanford.
Stanford may terminate either Stanford Agreement if the Company breaches certain provisions of that Stanford Agreement and fail to remedy such
breach within 90 days after written notice of the breach by Stanford.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company paid approximately $45,000 and $50,000 research and development expenses related to
the Stanford Agreements. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company paid approximately $10,000 and $40,000 research and
development expenses related to the Stanford Agreements. No milestone payments or earned royalties were paid by the Company to Stanford as of
June 30, 2021 pursuant to the Stanford Agreements.
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UCSF License and Option Agreements

In September and October 2016, the Company entered into two separate license and option agreements with The Regents of the University of California,
or UCSF, pursuant to which the Company obtained non-exclusive licenses from UCSF for internal research and antibody discovery purposes and an
option to negotiate with UCSF to obtain a non-exclusive license under UCSF’s rights in the applicable library to make, use, sell, offer for sale and
import products incorporating antibodies identified or resulting from the Company’s use of such library, or licensed products. In consideration of the
license and option rights under the UCSF Agreement, the Company paid UCSF a nominal option issue fee and agreed to pay UCSF a nominal annual
option maintenance fee.

In January 2020, the Company amended and restated its license and option agreements with UCSF, or UCSF Agreement, to provide non-exclusive
licenses to make and use a certain human Fab naïve phage display library and to make and use a certain phage display llama VHH single domain
antibody library for internal research and antibody discovery purposes and an option to negotiate with UCSF to obtain a non-exclusive license under
UCSF’s rights in the applicable library to make, use, sell, offer for sale and import products incorporating antibodies identified or resulting from the
Company’s use of such library, or licensed products. If the Company exercises the option under the UCSF Agreement, the Company and UCSF will
negotiate in good faith the terms of a commercial license agreement in addition to the pre-agreed terms which include payment to UCSF of a nominal
license issue fee, nominal annual license maintenance fees, nominal to low six figure milestone payments for the achievement of a specified regulatory
milestone event for each licensed product, nominal annual minimum royalties, which are creditable against earned royalties for the same year, and
earned royalties equal to a sub-single digit percentage of the Company’s and the Company’s sublicensees’ net sales of licensed products. As of
December 31, 2020, the Company has not exercised the option.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company paid zero and $25,000 for the annual license maintenance fee. No annual license
maintenance fee was paid for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020. For both the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company paid
no research and development expenses related to the UCSF agreements. No milestone payments or earned royalties were paid by the Company to UCSF
as of June 30, 2021 pursuant to the UCSF agreements.

Unless earlier terminated, the UCSF Agreement will continue until four years from its effective date, and the Company may exercise the option to
negotiate a commercial license at any time during that term. Additionally, the Company may extend the UCSF Agreement for any additional four years
by paying UCSF a nominal term extension fee. The Company may terminate the UCSF Agreement at any time for any reason by providing at least 60
days’ written notice to UCSF. UCSF may terminate the UCSF Agreement if UCSF reasonably believes the Company is in material breach of the UCSF
Agreement and the Company fails to remedy such breach within 60 days after written notice of such breach by UCSF. Additionally, the UCSF
Agreement will automatically terminate in the event of the Company’s bankruptcy.

Distributed Bio Subscription Agreement

In September 2016, the Company entered into, and in January 2019 the Company amended, an antibody library subscription agreement with Distributed
Bio, or the Distributed Bio Agreement, in which the Company obtained from Distributed Bio a non-exclusive license to use Distributed Bio’s antibody
library to identify antibodies directed to an unlimited number of the Company’s proprietary targets and to make, use, sell, offer for sale, import and
exploit products incorporating the antibodies that the Company identifies, or licensed products. In consideration for the rights granted to the Company
under the Distributed Bio Agreement, the Company paid Distributed Bio a nominal upfront fee and an additional nominal fee upon entering into the
amendment. The Company agreed to pay Distributed Bio an annual fee in the low six figures after the first three years. Additionally, the Company
agreed to pay Distributed Bio an aggregate of $5.9 million for each licensed product that achieves specified development, regulatory and commercial
milestones and royalties equal to a very low single digit percentage of the Company’s and its sublicensees’ net sales of licensed products. The
Company’s obligation to pay royalties will end for each licensed product ten years after its first commercial sale.
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For both the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company did not make any payments related to the Distributed Bio Agreement.
No milestone payments or earned royalties were paid by the Company to Distributed Bio as of June 30, 2021 pursuant to the Distributed Bio Agreement.

Unless earlier terminated, the Distributed Bio Agreement will continue for an initial four-year term and will thereafter automatically renew for
additional one-year terms. The Company may terminate the Distributed Bio Agreement for convenience at any time by providing written notice to
Distributed Bio. The Company and Distributed Bio may terminate the Distributed Bio Agreement for the other party’s material breach and failure to
cure such breach within 60 days after notice of such breach.

Note 7. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

The following table summarizes the redeemable convertible preferred stock as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020:
 

   Shares      

  

Aggregate
Liquidation Preference

(In thousands)     Authorized    Issued    Original Issue Price 
Series A    33,555,555    33,555,555   $ 1.00   $ 33,556 
Series B    33,162,954    33,162,954    1.50    49,744 
Series C    28,571,429    28,571,423    1.75    50,000 

    
 

    
 

      
 

   95,289,938    95,289,932     $ 133,300 
    

 

    

 

      

 

The rights, preferences and privileges of the Series A, Series B and Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock (together, the “Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock”) are as follows:

(a) Dividend Rights

Through June 30, 2021, no dividends have been declared, authorized, or paid. From and after the date of issuance of the shares of Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock, the holders of the outstanding shares of Series A, Series B and Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock are entitled
to receive, when and if declared by the Board of Directors, and prior and in preference to dividends on the Company’s common stock, a noncumulative
cash dividend at the rate of $0.08, $0.12, and $0.14, respectively, per share per annum. The preferred stockholders also participate in any additional
dividends on an as-if converted basis with common stockholders.

(b) Redemption Rights

The Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock is not redeemable as of June 30, 2021. Upon certain change in control events that are outside of the
Company’s control, including liquidation, sale or transfer of control of the Company, the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock is contingently
redeemable. As such, the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock is classified as temporary equity. The redemption price of the Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock is equal to their respective original issue price per share plus any declared but unpaid dividends. Any discount to liquidation
preference of the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock is not being accreted as a deemed dividend, as it not currently probable that the Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Stock will become redeemable. Subsequent adjustments to increase the carrying values to the ultimate redemption values will be
made only when it becomes probable that such a liquidation event will occur.
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(c) Conversion Rights

Each share of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock is, at the option of the holder, convertible into the number of fully paid and nonassessable shares
of common stock as determined by dividing the original issue price applicable to such series of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock by the
conversion price in effect at that time with respect to such series. The conversion price for the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock is the original
issue price of such series of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and shall be adjusted in accordance with conversion provisions contained in the
Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

Each share of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock shall automatically be converted into fully paid, nonassessable shares of common stock at the
then effective conversion rate for such share (i) immediately prior to the closing of a firm commitment underwritten initial public offering pursuant to an
effective registration statement filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), covering the offer and sale of the Company’s
common stock, provided that the public offering price represents a pre-money valuation of at least $250.0 million and the aggregate gross proceeds to
the Company are not less than $40.0 million, or (ii) upon the receipt by the Company of a written request for such conversion from the holders of a
majority of the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock then outstanding (voting as a single class and on an as-if converted basis), or, if later, the
effective date for conversion specified in such requests.

(d) Voting Rights

Each holder of a share of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock is entitled to the number of votes, with respect to such share, equal to the number of
shares of common stock into which such share of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock could be converted on the record date for the vote or consent
of stockholders, except as otherwise required by law, and has voting rights and powers equal to the voting rights and powers of the holders of common
stock voting as a single class.

As of June 30, 2021, the Board of Directors was comprised of eight members, one of whom was designated by the holders of Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock, voting exclusively and as a separate class, and one of whom is the then current Chief Executive Officer of the Company and is elected
by the holders of common stock, voting exclusively and as a separate class. The holders of common stock and Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock,
voting as a single class on an as-if converted basis, were entitled to elect the remaining balance of the total number of directors.

(e) Liquidation Rights

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, either voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the assets of the Company to the holders of the common
stock by reason of their ownership of such stock, an amount per share for each share of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock held by them equal to
the sum of (i) the liquidation preference of $1.00, $1.50, and $1.75 per share of Series A, Series B, and Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock,
respectively, and (ii) all declared but unpaid dividends (if any) on such share of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, or such lesser amount as may
be approved by the holders of the majority of the then-outstanding shares of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, voting as a single class and on an
as-converted basis. If upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the assets of the Company legally available for distribution to the
holders of the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock are insufficient to permit the payment to such holders of the full amounts, then the entire assets
of the Company legally available for distribution shall be distributed with equal priority and pro rata among the holders of the Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock in proportion to the full amounts they would otherwise be entitled to receive.
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After the payment or setting aside for payment to the holders of the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock of the full amounts specified above, the
remaining assets of the Company legally available for distribution shall be distributed with equal priority and ratably to the holders of the common stock
in proportion to the number of shares of common stock held by them.

Note 8. Common Stock

The holder of each share of common stock is entitled to one vote in respect of each share of stock held. The holders of common stock are also entitled to
receive dividends whenever funds and assets are legally available and when declared by the Board of Directors, subject to the prior rights of holders of
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding. No dividends have been declared as of June 30, 2021.

The Company had reserved the following shares of common stock for future issuance as follows:
 

   
June 30,

2021  
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, as converted   

Issued    95,289,932 
Unissued    6 

Options outstanding    8,429,189 
Shares available for future stock option grants    443,500 

    
 

Total    104,162,627 
    

 

Note 9. Stock-Based Compensation Plan

The Company maintains the 2015 Stock Plan (the “Plan”) with the authorized shares of 17,450,000 as of June 30, 2021. The Plan provides for the
issuance of options to purchase shares of common stock to officers, employees, directors, consultants and key persons who provide services to the
Company. Stock options granted under the Plan may be either incentive stock options (“ISOs”) or nonqualified stock options (“NSOs”). According to
the Plan, stock options are exercisable in whole or in part and common stock is issued upon the option exercise. The Plan also allows for the grant of
restricted stock awards (“RSAs”). As of June 30, 2021, the Company had 443,500 shares of common stock available for issuance under the Plan. Such
issuances are subject to vesting, forfeiture and other restrictions as deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors.

Options under the Plan may be granted for periods of up to 10 years. All options issued to date have a 10-year contractual life. To date, options granted
generally vest over four years and vest at a rate of 25% upon the first anniversary of the issuance date and 1/48th per month thereafter. The exercise
price of an ISO and NSO shall not be less than 100% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant, respectively, as determined by the
Board of Directors. The exercise price of an ISO and NSO granted to a 10% shareholder shall not be less than 110% of the estimated fair value of the
shares on the date of grant, respectively, as determined by the Board of Directors.
 

16



SURROZEN
OPERATING,

INC.
Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements

 
A summary of stock option activity is as follows:
 

   Options Outstanding  
           Weighted    Aggregate  
       Weighted   Average    Intrinsic  
       Average    Remaining    Value  

   
Number of

Options    
Exercise

Price    
Contractual Life

(In years)    
(In

thousands) 
Outstanding – December 31, 2020    6,093,611   $  0.40    8.43   

Granted    3,094,625    1.85     
Exercised    (720,531)    0.40     
Canceled    (38,516)    0.85     

    
 

      

Outstanding – June 30, 2021    8,429,189    0.93    8.60   $  7,332 
    

 

      

Options outstanding and exercisable as of June 30, 2021    8,429,189    0.93    8.60    7,332 
    

 

      

Options vested and expect to vest as of June 30, 2021    8,429,189    0.93    8.60    7,332 
    

 

      

The aggregate intrinsic values of options outstanding, exercisable, vested and expected to vest is the difference between the exercise price of the options
and the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock for financial reporting purposes as of June 30, 2021.

The intrinsic value of options exercised during the six months ended June 30, 2021 was $1.0 million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company granted options with a weighted-average grant-date fair value of $1.08 per share.

The Company’s Board of Directors granted equity awards in the form of RSAs for certain of the Company’s employees and directors under the Plan. In
April 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors approved equity awards in the form of RSAs outside of the Plan. The Company’s outstanding RSAs
began vesting one month after the grant date and vest 1/48th per month over four years.

The following table summarizes the Company’s RSA activity:
 

       Weighted  
       Average  
   Number of    Grant Date 
   Shares    Fair Value  
RSAs, unvested at December 31, 2020    263,022   $ 0.69 

Granted    1,100,000    1.75 
Vested    (154,686)    1.13 
Canceled    (93,750)    1.71 

    
 

  

RSAs, unvested at June 30, 2021    1,114,586    1.59 
    

 

  

The fair value of RSAs vested during the six months ended June 30, 2021 was $0.3 million.
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SURROZEN
OPERATING,

INC.
Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements

 
(a) Fair Value of Employee Stock Options

The fair value of employee options is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions:
 

   Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
   2021(1)    2020   2021   2020  
Expected term (in years)    —      6.05   5.95   5.99 
Expected volatility    —      61.95%   63.43%   59.24% 
Risk-free rate    —      0.54%   0.78%   1.36% 
Dividend yield    —      —     —     —   

 
(1) No options were granted during the three months ended June 30, 2021.

(b) Stock-Based Compensation

Total stock-based compensation recorded in the condensed statements of operations and comprehensive loss related to options and RSAs was as
follows (in thousands):
 

   Three Months Ended June 30,    Six Months Ended June 30,  
   2021    2020    2021    2020  
Research and development   $ 172   $ 92   $ 347   $ 201 
General and administrative    360    36    660    107 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total stock-based compensation expense   $ 532   $ 128   $ 1,007   $ 308 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

As of June 30, 2021, there was approximately $6.6 million of stock-based compensation expense to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
approximately 3.34 years.

(c) Early Exercise of Stock Options

The Plan allows for the granting of options that may be exercised before the options have vested. Shares issued as a result of early exercise that have not
vested are subject to repurchase by the Company upon termination of the purchaser’s employment or services, at the price paid by the purchaser. The
Company’s right to repurchase these shares generally lapses 1/48th of the original grant date amount per month over four years. The proceeds initially
are recorded in a liability for early exercised stock options and are reclassified to common stock and additional paid-in capital as the Company’s
repurchase right lapses. At June 30, 2021, there were 615,938 shares of common stock outstanding, subject to the Company’s right of repurchase at a
weighted average exercise price of $0.48 per share.

Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies

Indemnification

From time to time, the Company enters into certain types of contracts that contingently require the Company to indemnify various parties against claims
from third parties. These contracts primarily relate to (i) the Company’s bylaws, under which the Company must indemnify directors and executive
officers, and may indemnify other officers and employees, for liabilities arising out of their relationship with the Company, (ii) contracts under which
the Company must indemnify directors and certain officers for liabilities arising out of their relationship with the Company, (iii) contracts under which
the Company may be required to indemnify customers or partners against certain claims, including claims from third parties asserting, among other
things, infringement of their intellectual property rights and (iv) procurement, consulting, or license agreements under which the Company may be
required to indemnify vendors, consultants or licensors for certain claims, including claims that may be brought against them arising from acts or
omissions with respect to the supplied products, technology or services. From time to time, the Company may receive indemnification claims under
these contracts in the normal course of business. In addition, under these contracts the Company may have to modify the accused infringing intellectual
property and/or refund amounts received.
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SURROZEN
OPERATING,

INC.
Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements

 
In the event that one or more of these matters were to result in a claim against the Company, an adverse outcome, including a judgment or settlement,
may cause a material adverse effect on the Company’s future business, operating results or financial condition. It is not possible to determine the
maximum potential amount under these contracts due to the limited history of prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances
involved in each particular agreement.

The Company maintains director and officer insurance, which may cover certain liabilities arising from the Company’s obligation to indemnify its
directors and certain officers.

To the date the condensed interim financial statements were issued, the Company has not incurred any material costs or accrued any liabilities in the
condensed interim financial statements as a result of these provisions.

Litigation

The Company’s industry is characterized by frequent claims and litigation, including claims regarding intellectual property. As a result, the Company
may be subject to various legal proceedings from time to time. The results of any future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of
the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on the Company because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and
other factors. Management is not aware of any pending or threatened litigation.

Note 11. Subsequent Events

The Company has completed an evaluation of all subsequent events through August 16, 2021, the date the condensed interim financial statements were
issued, to ensure that these condensed interim financial statements include appropriate disclosure of events both recognized in the condensed interim
financial statements and events that occurred but were not recognized in the condensed interim financial statements. The Company is unaware of any
specific event or circumstance that would require it to update its estimates, judgments or revise the carrying value of its assets or liabilities. These
estimates may change, as new events occur and as additional information related to the COVID-19 pandemic and other information is obtained, the
impact of which would be recognized in the condensed interim financial statements as soon as such information becomes known. Actual results could
differ from those estimates and any such differences may be material to the Company’s condensed interim financial statements. Except as described
below, the Company has concluded that no subsequent event has occurred that requires disclosure.

On August 11, 2021, the Company completed the business combination with CHFW. Simultaneously, the PIPE Financing was closed (see Note 1). In
connection with the consummation of the business combination and PIPE Financing, the Company received gross proceeds of $144.7 million, and the
Company’s outstanding shares of common and preferred stock were converted into shares of New Surrozen’s common stock based on the exchange ratio
of 0.1757. The business combination is expected to be accounted for as a reverse recapitalization; the Company will be considered the accounting
predecessor and CHFW will be treated as the acquired company for financial statement reporting purposes.
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Exhibit 99.2

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Defined terms included below have the same meaning as terms defined and included elsewhere in the Current Report on Form 8-K (the
“Form 8-K”) filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on August 17, 2021. Unless the context otherwise
requires, the “Company” refers to Surrozen, Inc. (“New Surrozen”) (f/k/a Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp.) and its subsidiaries after the Closing,
and Consonance-HFW Acquisition Corp. (“CHFW”) prior to the Closing.

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information presents the combination of the financial information of Legacy
Surrozen and CHFW adjusted to give effect to the Business Combination. The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 combines the historical balance sheets of Legacy Surrozen and
CHFW on a pro forma basis as if the Business Combination had been consummated on June 30, 2021. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined
statements of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and year ended December 31, 2020 combine the historical statements of operations of
Legacy Surrozen and CHFW for such periods on a pro forma basis as if the Business Combination had been consummated on January 1, 2020, the
beginning of the earliest period presented. The Business Combination contemplated in the Business Combination Agreement are as follows:
 

 •  the Domestication;
 

 •  the Business Combination; and
 

 •  the PIPE Financing.

The pro forma condensed combined financial information may not be useful in predicting the future financial condition and results of operations
of the post-combination company. The actual financial position and results of operations may differ significantly from the pro forma amounts reflected
herein due to a variety of factors.

In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, public shareholders were able to exercise their pre-existing right to redeem shares of
CHFW Class A ordinary shares then held by them for cash equal to their pro rata share of the aggregate amount on deposit (as of two business days prior
to the Closing) in the trust account. The unaudited condensed combined pro forma financial information reflect actual redemptions of 6,754,242 shares
of Class A ordinary shares at approximately $10.00 per share.

Legacy Surrozen was determined to be the accounting acquirer in the Business Combination based on the following predominate factors:
 

 •  Legacy Surrozen’s existing stockholders have the greatest voting interest in the combined entity with over 50% of the voting interest;
 

 •  Legacy Surrozen has the ability to nominate a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the combined entity;
 

 •  Legacy Surrozen’s senior management is the senior management of the combined entity; and
 

 •  Legacy Surrozen is the larger entity based on historical operating activity and has the larger employee base.

The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with GAAP, whereby CHFW was treated as the acquired
company and Legacy Surrozen was treated as the acquirer. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the Business Combination was treated as the
equivalent of Legacy Surrozen issuing stock for the net assets of CHFW, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of CHFW are stated at
historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Subsequently, results of operations presented for the period prior to the Business
Combination are those of Legacy Surrozen.
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Assumptions and estimates underlying the unaudited pro forma adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements are described in the accompanying notes. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been presented for
illustrative purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of the operating results and financial position that would have been achieved had the
Business Combination occurred on the dates indicated. Further, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements do not purport to
project the future operating results or financial position of the Company following the completion of the Business Combination. The unaudited pro
forma adjustments represent management’s estimates based on information available as of the date of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial statements and are subject to change as additional information becomes available and analyses are performed.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021

(in thousands)
 
   As of June 30, 2021  

  

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments
(Note 3)  

 
As of

June 30, 2021 

   
Legacy Surrozen

(Historical)    
CHFW

(Historical)  
Pro Forma
Combined  

Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 18,850   $ 391   $ 92,029 (a)  $ 141,938 

       (3,220) (b)  
       (18,748) (c)  
       120,200 (d)  
       (67,564) (f)  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets    1,789    527    —     2,316 
Short-term investments    6,598    —      —     6,598 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    27,237    918    122,697   150,852 
Cash and marketable securities held in Trust Account    —      92,029    (92,029) (a)   —   
Property and equipment, net    5,393    —      —     5,393 
Operating lease right-of-use assets    4,928    —      —     4,928 
Other assets    1,384    —      (1,344) (c)   40 
Restricted cash    405    —      —     405 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total assets    39,347    92,947    29,324   161,618 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Liabilities        
Accounts payable    1,405    —      (110) (c)   1,295 
Accrued liabilities    6,558    1,545    (2,121) (c)   5,982 
Lease liability, current portion    2,009    —      —     2,009 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    9,972    1,545    (2,231)   9,286 
Lease liability, noncurrent portion    6,553    —       6,553 
Warrant liability    —      5,138    (4,753) (i)   385 
Deferred underwriting fee payable    —      3,220    (3,220) (b)   —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities    16,525    9,903    (10,204)   16,224 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Commitments and contingencies        
Class A ordinary shares subject to possible redemption    —      78,044    (78,044) (e)   —   
Redeemable convertible preferred stock    133,097    —      (133,097) (h)   —   
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)        
Preference shares    —      —      —     —   
Ordinary shares        

Class A    —      —      1 (e)   —   
       (1) (f)  
       —  (g)  

Class B    —      —      —   (g)   —   
Common Stock    1    —      1 (d)   3 

       —  (g)  
       1 (h)  

Additional paid-in capital    3,400    10,939    (17,816) (c)   259,112 
       120,199 (d)  
       78,043 (e)  
       (67,563) (f)  
       133,096 (h)  
       4,753 (i)  
       (5,939) (j)  

Accumulated deficit    (113,676)    (5,939)    5,939 (j)   (113,721) 
       (45) (c)  
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)    (110,275)    5,000    250,669   145,394 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities, redeemable stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)   $ 39,347   $ 92,947   $ 29,324  $ 161,618 
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
 

   
Six Months Ended

June 30, 2021  

  

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments
(Note 3)  

 

Six Months
Ended

June 30,
2021  

   
Legacy Surrozen

(Historical)    
CHFW

(Historical)  
Pro Forma
Combined  

Operating expenses:        
Research and development   $ 18,866   $ —     $ —    $ 18,866 
General and administrative    6,825    2,115    (330) (aa)   7,301 

       (1,309) (ee)  
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Total operating expenses    25,691    2,115    (1,639)   26,167 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (25,691)    (2,115)    1,639   (26,167) 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Other income (expense)        
Other income    16    —      —     16 
Interest earned on marketable securities held in Trust Account    —      32    (32) (bb)   —   
Change in fair value of warrant liability    —      (1,734)    1,503 (cc)   (231) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total other income (expense)    16    (1,702)    1,471   (215) 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Net loss   $ (25,675)   $ (3,817)   $ 3,110  $ (26,382) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding    8,244,336       34,659,886 
Basic and diluted net loss per share   $ (3.11)      $ (0.76) 
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

 

   
Year Ended

December 31, 2020   

For the period
from

August 21, 2020
(inception)

through
December 31, 2020 

  

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments
(Note 3)  

 

Year Ended
December 31,

2020  

   
Legacy Surrozen

(Historical)    
CHFW

(Historical)   
Pro Forma
Combined  

Operating expenses:        
Research and development   $ 25,684   $ —     $ —    $ 25,684 
General and administrative    7,123    439    (55) (aa)   7,507 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    32,807    439    (55)   33,191 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (32,807)    (439)    55   (33,191) 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Other income (expense)        
Other income    91    —       91 
Interest earned on marketable securities held in Trust

Account    —      6    (6) (bb)   —   
Unrealized loss on marketable securities held in Trust

Account    —      (8)    8 (bb)   —   
Change in fair value of warrant liability    —      (1,574)    1,503 (cc)   (71) 
Transaction costs      (108)    (45) (dd)   (153) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total other income (expense)    91    (1,684)    1,460   (133) 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Net loss   $ (32,716)   $ (2,123)   $  1,515  $ (33,324) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding    7,394,290       34,659,886 
Basic and diluted net loss per share   $ (4.42)      $ (0.96) 
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
1. Basis of Presentation

The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with GAAP, whereby CHFW was treated as the acquired
company and Legacy Surrozen was treated as the acquirer. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the Business Combination was treated as the
equivalent of Legacy Surrozen issuing stock for the net assets of CHFW, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of CHFW were stated at
historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 gives pro forma effect to the Business Combination as if it had
been consummated on June 30, 2021. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2021
and year ended December 31, 2020 give pro forma effect to the Business Combination as if it had been consummated on January 1, 2020.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 has been prepared using, and should be read in conjunction with,
the following:
 

 •  Legacy Surrozen’s unaudited condensed balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 and the related notes incorporated by reference into the Form
8-K; and

 

 •  CHFW’s unaudited condensed balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 and the related notes included in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC on August 9, 2021.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2021 has been prepared using, and
should be read in conjunction with, the following:
 

 •  Legacy Surrozen’s unaudited condensed statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the
related notes incorporated by reference into the Form 8-K; and

 

 •  CHFW’s unaudited condensed statement of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the related notes included in its
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 9, 2021.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 has been prepared using, and should
be read in conjunction with, the following:
 

 •  Legacy Surrozen’s audited statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the related notes incorporated by reference
into the Form 8-K. ; and

 

 •  CHFW’s audited statement of operations for the period August 21, 2020 (inception) through December 31, 2020 and the related notes
included in the in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus.

Management has made significant estimates and assumptions in its determination of the pro forma adjustments. As the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial information has been prepared based on these preliminary estimates, the final amounts recorded may differ materially
from the information presented.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not give effect to any anticipated synergies, operating efficiencies, tax
savings or cost savings that may be associated with the Business Combination.

The pro forma adjustments reflecting the completion of the Business Combination are based on currently available information and assumptions
and methodologies that management believes are reasonable under the circumstances. The unaudited condensed pro forma adjustments, which are
described in the accompanying notes, may be revised as additional information becomes available and is evaluated. Therefore, it is likely that the
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actual adjustments will differ from the pro forma adjustments and it is possible the difference may be material. Management believes that its
assumptions and methodologies provide a reasonable basis for presenting all of the significant effects of the Business Combination based on information
available to management at the current time and that the pro forma adjustments give appropriate effect to those assumptions and are properly applied in
the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is not necessarily indicative of what the actual results of operations and
financial position would have been had the Business Combination taken place on the dates indicated, nor are they indicative of the future consolidated
results of operations or financial position of the post-combination company. They should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements
and notes thereto of Legacy Surrozen and CHFW.

 
2. Accounting Policies and Reclassifications

Following the completion of the Business Combination, management will perform a comprehensive review of Legacy Surrozen’s and CHFW’s
accounting policies. As a result of the review, management may identify differences between the accounting policies of the two entities which, when
conformed, could have a material impact on the financial statements of the post-combination company. Based on its initial analysis, management did not
identify any differences that would have a material impact on the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.

 
3. Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation
S-X. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared to illustrate the effect of the Business Combination and has
been prepared for informational purposes only.

The pro forma combined provision for income taxes does not necessarily reflect the amounts that would have resulted had the post-combination
company filed consolidated income tax returns during the periods presented.

The pro forma basic and diluted earnings per share amounts presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated statement of
operations are based upon the number of the Company’s shares outstanding, assuming the Business Combination occurred on January 1, 2020.

Transaction Accounting Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet

The pro forma adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of June 30, 2021, are as follows:
 

 (a) Reflects the reclassification of cash and marketable securities held in the trust account that became available following the Business
Combination.

 (b) Reflects the settlement of $3.2 million in deferred underwriting fee payable.
 

 
(c) Represents estimated transaction costs incurred in the Business Combination of approximately $19.2 million, for legal, financial advisory

and other professional fees. These estimated transaction costs exclude the deferred underwriting fee payable as described in Note 3(b)
above. Of these costs:

 

 •  $0.4 million was deferred in other assets and paid by Legacy Surrozen as of June 30, 2021;
 

 •  $0.9 million was deferred in other assets and accrued in accounts payable ($0.1 million) or accrued liabilities ($0.8 million) by
Legacy Surrozen as of June 30, 2021;

 

 •  $1.3 million was accrued by CHFW in accrued liabilities and recognized in expense as of June 30, 2021;
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 •  $18.7 million was reflected as a reduction of cash, which represents the total estimated transaction costs less the amounts previously
paid by Legacy Surrozen;

 

 

•  $0.05 million was not capitalized as part of the Business Combination and reflected as a decrease in accumulated deficit. The costs,
which include amounts allocated to the private placement warrant liabilities assumed as part of the Business Combination, are
expensed through accumulated deficit and included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2020 as discussed in Note 3(dd) below; and

 

 

•  $17.8 million were capitalized and offset against the proceeds from the Business Combination and reflected as a decrease in
additional paid-in capital. This amount represents total estimated transaction costs less: $1.3 million recognized in expense by
CHFW and reclassified to additional paid-in capital in Note 3(j) below; and $0.05 million that was not capitalized as part of the
Business Combination and reflected as a decrease in accumulated deficit.

 

 

(d) Reflects proceeds of $120.2 million from the issuance and sale of 12,020,000 units, each consisting of one share of New Surrozen
Common Stock and one-third of one redeemable warrant for one share of New Surrozen Common Stock, for a purchase price of $10.00
per unit in the PIPE Financing. The PIPE Warrants are expected to be equity classified under Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (“ASC
815-40”) after considering, amongst other factors, the post-combination company will have a single class equity structure.

 

 (e) Reflects the reclassification of $78.0 million of Class A ordinary shares subject to possible redemption to permanent equity.
 

 (f) Represents redemptions of 6,754,242 Class A ordinary shares for $67.6 million allocated to Class A ordinary shares and additional paid-in
capital using par value of $0.0001 per share and at a redemption price of approximately $10.00 per share.

 

 (g) Reflects the conversion of Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares, on a one-for-one basis, into shares of New Surrozen
Common Stock upon the Domestication.

 

 (h) Reflects the recapitalization of Legacy Surrozen equity comprised of 95,289,932 shares of Legacy Surrozen redeemable convertible
preferred stock and 10,527,728 shares of Legacy Surrozen Common Stock into 18,586,717 shares of New Surrozen Common Stock.

 

 
(i) Reflects adjustment to reclassify CHFW’s public warrants from liabilities to additional paid-in capital. Upon consummation of the

Business Combination, CHFW’s public warrants are expected to be equity classified under ASC 815-40 after considering, amongst other
factors, the post-combination company will have a single class equity structure.

 

 (j) Reflects the elimination of CHFW’s historical accumulated deficit.

Transaction Accounting Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations

The pro forma adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the six months ended June 30,
2021 and year ended December 31, 2020 are as follows:
 

 (aa) Represents pro forma adjustment to eliminate historical expenses related to CHFW’s office space and administrative support services paid
to the Sponsor, which terminated upon consummation of the Business Combination.

 

 (bb) Represents pro forma adjustment to eliminate interest and unrealized losses on marketable securities held in the trust account.
 

 
(cc) Reflects the elimination of the change in fair value of warrant liability associated with CHFW’s public warrants. Upon consummation of

the Business Combination, CHFW’s public warrants are expected to be equity classified under ASC 815-40 after considering, amongst
other factors, the post-combination company will have a single class equity structure.
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(dd) Reflects estimated transaction costs allocated to the private placement warrant liabilities that were assumed as part of the Business

Combination. These costs are reflected as if incurred on January 1, 2020, the date the Business Combination occurred for the purposes of
the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations. This is a non-recurring item.

 

 

(ee) Represents adjustment to eliminate transaction costs expensed by CHFW during the six months ended June 30, 2021. These costs are
considered equity issuance costs of the post-combination company and are either capitalized as a reduction of additional paid-in capital or
recognized in expense at the Closing. Transaction costs recognized in expense at Closing are reflected as if incurred on January 1, 2020,
the date the Business Combination occurred for the purposes of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations,
and accordingly, have been eliminated from the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the six months ended
June 30, 2021.

 
4. Loss per Share

Represents the net loss per share calculated using the historical weighted average shares outstanding, and the issuance of additional shares in
connection with the Business Combination, assuming the shares were outstanding since January 1, 2020. As the Business Combination is being reflected
as if it had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented, the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding for basic and diluted net loss per
share assumes that the shares issuable relating to the Business Combination have been outstanding for the entire periods presented.
 

   

Six Months
Ended June

30, 2021    

Year Ended
December 31,

2020  
Pro forma net loss (in thousands)   $ (26,382)   $ (33,324) 
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted    34,659,886    34,659,886 
Net loss per share, basic and diluted (1)   $ (0.76)   $ (0.96) 
Weighted average shares calculation, basic and diluted     
CHFW’s public shareholders (2)    2,445,758    2,445,758 
Sponsor (3)    4,472,500    4,472,500 
PIPE Investors (excluding Legacy Surrozen stockholders and Sponsor) (4)    6,400,000    6,400,000 
Legacy Surrozen stockholders (5)    21,341,628    21,341,628 

    
 

    
 

   34,659,886    34,659,886 
    

 

    

 

 

(1) The pro forma basic and diluted shares exclude the following because including them would be antidilutive:
 

 •  1,413,283 unexercised Legacy Surrozen stock options
 

 •  367,589 Legacy Surrozen restricted stock awards subject to future service conditions
 

 •  7,217,988 unexercised New Surrozen warrants
 

(2) Includes 1,000,000 shares purchased by affiliates of Consonance Capital Management in the CHFW IPO. Does not reflect impact of any PIPE
shares subscribed for by CHFW public shareholders.
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(3) Calculated as the sum of the following: (i) 1,541,000 founder’s shares, which is net of the forfeiture of 759,000 founder’s shares; (ii) 434,000
shares underlying the private placement units; and (iii) 2,497,500 shares subscribed for by Sponsor in the PIPE Financing.

 

(4) Calculated as 12,020,000 PIPE shares, less subscriptions from existing Legacy Surrozen stockholders (3,122,500 shares) and Sponsor (2,497,500
shares).

 

(5) Calculated as the sum of the following: (i) 18,219,128 shares issued as consideration for Legacy Surrozen outstanding common stock not subject
to future service conditions and Legacy Surrozen redeemable convertible preferred stock; and (ii) 3,122,500 shares subscribed for by Legacy
Surrozen stockholders in the PIPE.
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